

Official journal of the Polish Medical Association

VOLUME LXXV, ISSUE 4 PART 2, APRIL 2022



Memory of dr Władysław Biegański

Since 1928



Wiadomości Lekarskie is abstracted and indexed in: PUBMED/MEDLINE, SCOPUS, EMBASE, INDEX COPERNICUS, POLISH MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND SCIENCE, POLISH MEDICAL BIBLIOGRAPHY

Copyright: © ALUNA Publishing House.

Articles published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Wiadomości Lekarskie monthly journal

You can order the subscription for the journal from Wydawnictwo Aluna by:

prenumerata@wydawnictwo-aluna.pl Wydawnictwo Aluna Z.M. Przesmyckiego 29 05-510 Konstancin-Jeziorna Poland

Place a written order first.

If you need, ask for an invoice. Payment should be done to the following account of the Publisher: **account number for Polish customers (PLN):** 82 1940 1076 3010 7407 0000 0000 Credit Agricole Bank Polska S. A., SWIFT: AGRIPLPR

> account number for foreign customers (EURO): 57 2490 0005 0000 4600 7604 3035 Alior Bank S. A.: SWIFT: ALBPPLPW

> Subscription of twelve consecutive issues (1-12): Customers in Poland: 480 PLN/year Customers from other countries: 360 EURO/year



Editor in-Chief: Prof. Władysław Pierzchała

Deputy Editor in-Chief: Prof. Aleksander Sieroń

Statistical Editor: Dr Lesia Rudenko

Managing Editor: Agnieszka Rosa – amarosa@wp.pl International Editorial Office: Nina Radchenko (editor) - n.radchenko@wydawnictwo-aluna.pl

Polish Medical Association (Polskie Towarzystwo Lekarskie):

Prof. Waldemar Kostewicz – President PTL Prof. Jerzy Woy-Wojciechowski – Honorary President PTL

International Editorial Board – in-Chief:

Marek Rudnicki

Chicago, USA

International Editorial Board – Members:

Kris Bankiewicz	San Francisco, USA	George Krol	New York, USA
Christopher Bara	Hannover, Germany	Krzysztof Łabuzek	Katowice, Poland
Krzysztof Bielecki	Warsaw, Poland	Jerzy Robert Ładny	Bialystok, Poland
Zana Bumbuliene	Vilnius, Lithuania	Henryk Majchrzak	Katowice, Poland
Ryszarda Chazan	Warsaw, Poland	Ewa Małecka-Tendera	Katowice, Poland
Stanislav Czudek	Ostrava, Czech Republic	Stella Nowicki	Memphis, USA
Jacek Dubiel	Cracow, Poland	Alfred Patyk	Gottingen, Germany
Zbigniew Gasior	Katowice, Poland	Palmira Petrova	Yakutsk, Russia
Mowafaq Muhammad Ghareeb	Baghdad, Iraq	Krystyna Pierzchała	Katowice, Poland
Andrzej Gładysz	Wroclaw, Poland	Tadeusz Płusa	Warsaw, Poland
Nataliya Gutorova	Kharkiv, Ukraine	Waldemar Priebe	Houston, USA
Marek Hartleb	Katowice, Poland	Maria Siemionow	Chicago, USA
Roman Jaeschke	Hamilton, Canada	Vladyslav Smiianov	Sumy, Ukraine
Andrzej Jakubowiak	Chicago, USA	Tomasz Szczepański	Katowice, Poland
Oleksandr Katrushov	Poltava, Ukraine	Andrzej Witek	Katowice, Poland
Peter Konturek	Saalfeld, Germany	Zbigniew Wszolek	Jacksonville, USA
Jerzy Korewicki	Warsaw, Poland	Vyacheslav Zhdan	Poltava, Ukraine
Jan Kotarski	Lublin, Poland	Jan Zejda	Katowice, Poland

Distribution and Subscriptions:

Bartosz Guterman prenumerata@wydawnictwo-aluna.pl Graphic design / production: Grzegorz Sztank

www.red-studio.eu

Publisher:

ALUNA Publishing House ul. Przesmyckiego 29, 05-510 Konstancin – Jeziorna www.wydawnictwo-aluna.pl www.wiadomoscilekarskie.pl www.wiadlek.pl

FOR AUTHORS

- 1. The monthly "Wiadomości Lekarskie" Journal is the official journal of the Polish Medical Association. Original studies, review papers as well as case reports are published.
- 2. In 2022, the cost of publishing the manuscript is PLN 1,500 plus 23% VAT. From 2022, the publication costs for foreign authors amount to EUR 450, of which EUR 50 is payable with the submission of the article (includes the costs of review, anti-plagiarism system, English language level assessment, checking the compliance of the manuscript with the regulations of the publishing house, etc.), and the remaining EUR 400 after accepting the article for publication. Thanks to obtaining funding for authors from Ukraine, the cost of publication for Ukrainian authors is EUR 350. EUR 50 is payable together with the submission of the article, and EUR 300 after accepting the article for publication. The publisher issues invoices. If the first author of the manuscript is a member of the Editorial Board, we do not charge a fee for printing the manuscript. Membership of the Polish Medical Association with documented paid membership fees for the last 3 years is also the exempt from publication fee.
- Only papers in English are accepted for publication. The editors can help in finding the right person for translation or proofreading.
- 4. Papers should be sent to the editor via the editorial panel (Editorial System), available on the journal's website at https://www.wiadlek.pl. In order to submit an article, free registration in the system is necessary. After registration, the author should follow the instructions on the computer screen.
- 5. All editorial work is under control and using the editorial panel. This applies in particular to sending manuscripts, correspondence between the editor and author and the review process. In special cases, the editor may agree to contact outside the panel, especially in case of technical problems.
- 6. Acceptable formats for individual elements of the article are as follows:
 - A) Content of the article doc, docx, rtf, odt.
 - B) Tables doc, docx, rtf, odt
 - C) Figures JPG, GIF, TIF, PNG with a resolution of at least 300 dpi
 - D) Captions for figures and tables.

These elements are sent to the editor separately using the editorial panel. References and article metadata such as titles, keywords, abstracts etc. are supplemented by the author manually in the editorial panel in appropriate places.

- The volume of original papers including figures and references must not exceed 21,600 characters (12 pages of typescript), and review papers – up to 28,800 characters (16 pages).
- The original manuscript should have the following structure: Introduction, Aims, Material and methods, Results, Discussion and Conclusions which cannot be a summary of the manuscript.

9. When using abbreviations, it is necessary to provide the full wording at the first time they are used.

- 10. In experimental manuscripts in which studies on humans or animals have been carried out, as well as in clinical studies, information about obtaining the consent of the Ethics Committee should be included.
- 11. The Editorial Board follow the principles contained in the Helsinki Declaration as well as in the Interdisciplinary Principles and Guidelines for the Use of Animals in Research, Testing and Education, published by the New York Academy of Sciences Ad Hoc Committee on Animal Research. All papers relating to animals or humans must comply with ethical principles set out by the Ethics Committee.
- 12. The abstract should contain 150-250 words. Abstracts of original, both clinical and experimental, papers should have the following structure: Aims, Material and methods, Results, Conclusions. Do not use abbreviations in the title or the abstract. The abstract is pasted or rewritten by the authors into the appropriate field in the application form in the editorial panel.
- Keywords (3-5) should be given according to MeSH (Medical Subject Headings Index Medicus catalogs – http://www.nim.nih.gov.mesh/MBrower.html). Keywords cannot be a repetition of the title of the manuscript.
- 14. Illustrative material may be black and white or color photographs, clearly contrasting or drawings carefully made on a white background. With the exception of selected issues, the Journal is printed in shades of gray (black and white illustrations).
- 15. The content of the figures, if present (e.g. on the charts), should also be in English
- 16. Links to all tables and figures (round brackets) as well as references (square brackets) the author must place in the text of the article.

- 17. Only references to which the author refers in the text should be included in the list of references ordered by citation. There should be no more than 30 items in original papers and no more than 40 items in review papers. Each item should contain: last names of all authors, first letters of first names, the title of the manuscript, the abbreviation of the journal title (according to Index Medicus), year, number, start and end page. For book items, please provide: author's (authors') last name, first letter of the first name, chapter title, book title, publisher, place and year of publication. It is allowed to cite websites with the URL and date of use of the article, and if possible the last names of the authors. Each literature item should have a reference in the text of the manuscript placed in square brackets, e.g. [1], [3-6]. Items should be organized as presented in Annex 1 to these Regulations.
- 18. When submitting the article to the editor, the authors encloses a statement that the work was not published or submitted for publication in another journal and that they take full responsibility for its content, and the information that may indicate a conflict of interest, such as:
 - 1. financial dependencies (employment, paid expertise, consulting, ownership of shares, fees),
 - 2. personal dependencies,
 - 3. academic and other competition that may affect the substantive side of the work,
 - 4. sponsorship of all or part of the research at the stage of design, collection, analysis and interpretation of data, or report writing.
- 19. The authors in the editorial panel define their contribution to the formation of scientific work according to the following key:
 - A Work concept and design
 - B Data collection and analysis
 - C Responsibility for statistical analysis
 - D Writing the article
 - E Critical review
 - F Final approval of the article.
- 20. In the editorial panel along with the affiliation, the author also gives her or his ORCID number.
- 21. The Journal is reviewed in double, blind review mode. The submitted papers are evaluated by two independent reviewers and then qualified for publishing by the Editor-in-Chief. Reviews are anonymous. The authors receive critical reviews with a request to correct the manuscript or with a decision not to qualify it for publishing. The procedure for reviewing articles is in line with the recommendations of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education contained in the paper "Good practices in review procedures in science" (Warsaw 2011). Detailed rules for dealing with improper publishing practices are in line with COPE guidelines. The publishing review rules are in the Review Rules section.
- 22. Each manuscript is subject to verification in the anti-plagiarism system.
- 23. Manuscripts are sent for the author's approval. The author's corrections should be sent within the time limit indicated in the system. No response within the given deadline is tantamount to the author's acceptance of the submitted material. In special cases, it is possible to set dates individually.
- 24. Acceptance of the manuscript for publishing means the transfer of copyright to the Aluna Publishing House (Aluna Anna Łuczyńska, NIP 5251624918).
- 25. Articles published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.
- 26. The authors receive a free PDF of the issue in which their mansucript is enclosed, and on request a printed copy. The printed copy is sent to the address indicated by the authors as the correspondence address.
- 27. Manuscripts not concordant with the above instructions will be returned to be corrected.
- 28. The editors do not return papers which have not been commissioned.
- 29. The editors take no responsibility for the contents of the advertisements.

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL ARTICLES Anatoliy M. Potapchuk, Yevhen L. Onipko, Vasyl M. Almashi, Csaba Hegedűs COMPARATIVE EVALUATION OF CLINICAL ARRIVATION OF MONOLITHIC AND FOLDING IMPLANTS IN REHARILITATION OF ELDERLY DATIENTS WITH VARIOUS	
COMPARATIVE EVALUATION OF CLINICAL APPLICATION OF MONOLITHIC AND FOLDING IMPLANTS IN REHABILITATION OF ELDERLY PATIENTS WITH VARIOUS DEGREES OF ATROPHY OF ALVEOLAR PROCESSES	921
Mahmood J. Jawad, Mohammed J. Jawad, Iman Sabeeh Hasan, Saif M. Hassan, Ghizal Fatima, Najah R. Hadi EVALUATION OF COVID-19 VACCINES EFFICACY IN IRAQI PEOPLES	929
Maria M. Prokopiv, Svitlana V. Rohoza, Olena Ye. Fartushna LATERAL MEDULLARY INFARCTION: A PROSPECTIVE HOSPITAL-BASED COHORT STUDY OF CLINICAL AND IMAGING FEATURES AND A CASE REPORT IN A WHITE ADULT	938
Ksenija Y. Petrik, Oksana P. Kritschfalushii ADAPTIVE CAPABILITIES OF MIDDLE SCHOOL-AGED GIRLS DEPENDING ON THE RATIO OF ADIPOSE AND MUSCLE TISSUE	944
Kateryna A. Maliarchuk, Andrey V. Ganul, Bogdan O. Borisyuk, Leonid B. Bororov, Anatoly I. Shevchenko, Vladimir M. Sovenko CORRELATION OF RELAPSE-FREE SURVIVAL WITH NEOADJUVANT TREATMENT IN PATIENTS WITH STAGE IIIA NON-SMALL CELL LUNG CANCER	949
Svitlana Yu. Karatieieva, Oleksandr M. Slobodian, Halyna I. Honchar, Volodymyr S. Nazarevych, Kseniya V. Slobodian, Andriy V. Korelianchuk ESTABLISHMENT OF TYPES OF THE CONSTITUTIONS IN STUDENTS-ATHLETES AND IN STUDENTS-MEDICISTS WITH THEIR FURTHER ANALYSIS	955
Valentyna Psarova, Maryna Kochuieva, Inna Gogunska, Olha Shchur, Gennadii Kochuiev, Hanna Tymchenko THE RELATIONSHIPS OF IRS-1 POLYMORPHISM WITH HEMODYNAMIC DISORDERS IN HYPERTENSIVE PATIENTS DEPENDING ON BODY WEIGHT AND METABOLIC COMORBIDITY	959
Vasil I. Rusin, Serhii O. Boiko, Fedir V. Horlenko, Vasil V. Rusin, Serhii Shandor S. Boiko, Oleksandr V. Syma SURGICAL TECHNIQUE IN LEIOMYOSARCOMA OF THE INFERIOR VENA CAVA DEPENDING ON ITS LOCATION	965
Liliya S. Babinets, Iryna M. Halabitska, Iryna O. Borovyk, Olena V. Redkva EFFECTIVENESS OF HEPATOPROTECTOR IN THE COMPLEX CORRECTION OF CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS OF CHRONIC PANCREATITIS AND TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS COMORBIDITY	970
Olesya M. Horlenko, Yuriy Yu. Chuhran, Lyubomyra B. Prylypko, Gabriella B. Kossey, Olena V. Debraetseni, Marianna I. Peresta, Iryna Yu. Pikina INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE STATUS IN INFANTS WITH INTRAUTERINE INFECTION FROM MOTHERS WITH IDENTIFIED TORCH INFECTION	974
Yelyzaveta S. Sirchak, Stanislav A. Tsioka, Andrij S. Chobej, Nelli V. Bedey, Inna S. Borisova CHANGES IN SERUM GHRELIN AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH OF BODY MASS INDEX IN PATIENTS WITH GASTROESOPHAGEAL REFLUX DISEASE AND SPONDYLOARTHRITIS	982
Marianna V. Savenko, Maryna V. Kryvtsova, Ivan I. Skliar, Inesa I. Fohel POTENTIAL RISKS OF THE SPREAD OF ANTIBIOTIC-RESISTANT MICROORGANISMS AND ANTIBIOTIC-RESISTANCE GENES IN POTABLE WATER — HUMAN ORGANISM CHAIN	987
Marianna I. Nemesh, Olga S. Palamarchuk, Oksana P. Krichfalushii, Volodymyr P. Feketa, Vasyl V. Kaliy IMPROVEMENT OF CARDIAC FUNCTION AFTER WEIGHT LOSS PROGRAM AMONG YOUNG WOMEN	993
Viktor Yu. Kovchun, Vladyslav A. Smiianov , Anna V. Kovchun , Vladyslava V. Kachkovska, Vitalii Z. Sikora ULTRAMORPHOMETRIC CHARACTERISTICS OF ACINI AND MICROVASCULATURE OF THE PANCREAS IN THE PRESENCE OF MODERATE DEHYDRATION	998
Eugene I. Shorikov, Olena V. Zaliavska, Dina V. Shorikova, Olga M. Nika, Pavlo E. Shorikov, Oksana S. Khukhlina ASSOCIATIONS OF POLYMORPHISMS NOS3-T-786C, MTHFR-C667T, P2RY12-T-744C, (GPIBA) -C482T AND GENE INTERACTIONS IN MACROANGIOPATHIES IN PATIENTS WITH COMBINED HYPERTENSION AND TYPE DIABETES MELLITUS 2	1002
REVIEW ARTICLES Anatolii V. Ivaniuk, Borys M.Todurov RESOURCES OF CARDIOLOGICAL CARE (ON THE EXAMPLE OF THE KYIV REGION OF UKRAINE)	1009
Tereziia P. Popovych, Anatoliy M. Potapchuk, Oleksandr Ya. Rogach, Volodymyr V. Dzhuhan LEGAL OBLIGATIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF HUMAN ORGANS AND TISSUES TRANSPLANTATION	1013

Lilia S. Babinets, Iryna O. Borovyk, Bogdan O. Migenko, Natalia Ye. Botsyuk, Neonila I. Korylchuk, Iryna M. Halabitska HOLISTIC APPROACH IN COMMUNICATION SKILLS TEACHING OF MEDICAL STUDENTS	1019
Taras I. Pupin, Zoriana M. Honta, Ihor V. Shylivskyy, Oksana M. Nemesh, Khrystyna B. Burda THE ROLE OF ADAPTIVE-STRESS RESPONSE IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF PERIODONTAL DISEASES	1022
Olga M. Gorbatyuk CURRENT APPROACHES TO DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF HIRSCHSPRUNG DISEASE IN NEWBORNS AND INFANTS (LITERATURE REVIEW AND FIRST-HAND EXPERIENCE	E) 1026
Viktoriia V. Yevsieieva, Ivan M. Todurov, Olexandr V. Perekhrestenko, Sergiy V. Kosiukhno IMPLEMENTATION OF ENHANCED RECOVERY AFTER SURGERY PROTOCOL FOR METABOLIC SURGERY PATIENTS (LITERATURE REVIEW)	1031
CASE STUDIES Olexii I. Dronov, Inna O. Kovalska, Andrii I. Horlach, Lyudmila V. Levchenko, Ivanna A. Shchyhel CASE STUDY: MAJOR DUODENAL PAPILLA CANCER COMPLICATED BY ACUTE PARACANCROTIC NECROTIZING PANCREATITIS	1039
Olena Ye. Fartushna, Maria M. Prokopiv, Victoria Y. Krylova, Svitlana V. Rohoza, Hanna V. Palahuta, Yana Y. Hnepa, Yevhen M. Fartushnyi ASEPTIC MENINGITIS AS AN EXTRAHEPATIC MANIFESTATION OF HEPATITIS C: A CLINICAL CASE PRESENTATIONIN A WHITE YOUNG FEMALE EUROPEAN ADULT	1043

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

COMPARATIVE EVALUATION OF CLINICAL APPLICATION OF MONOLITHIC AND FOLDING IMPLANTS IN REHABILITATION OF ELDERLY PATIENTS WITH VARIOUS DEGREES OF ATROPHY OF ALVEOLAR PROCESSES

DOI: 10.36740/WLek202204201

Anatoliy M. Potapchuk¹, Yevhen L. Onipko¹, Vasyl M. Almashi¹, Csaba Hegedűs²

¹UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, UZHHOROD, UKRAINE ²UNIVERSITY OF DEBRECEN, DEBRECEN, HUNGARY

ABSTRACT

The aim: Comparative evaluation of long-term results of clinical application of one- and two-stage surgical protocols of dental implantation with the use of monolithic and collapsible implants in the rehabilitation of elderly patients.

Materials and methods: Under clinical observation were 46 patients with various clinical diagnoses of dentition defects aged 60 to 70 years. The following methods were used in the study: one - stage surgical protocol of dental implantation operation with non - detachable implants of ART IMPLANT system with subsequent temporary splint fixed prosthesis and immediate occlusive functional load, mechanical oscillatory - resonance method, questionnaire and statistical analysis.

Results: The duration of surgical stages of treatment and complete rehabilitation showed statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) and was significantly less when using a single-stage protocol of dental implant surgery and non-detachable implants and averaged 3.9 ± 0.8 , p < 0.05 months against 7.3 ± 1.2 , p < 0.05 months in implants according to the two-stage protocol. Assessment of patient satisfaction with the treatment was directly correlated with his timing.

Conclusions: Thus, it should be noted that the clinical use of one-stage surgical protocol of implantation and non-detachable (monolithic) dental implants of the system «ART IMPLANT» in the rehabilitation of elderly patients with varying degrees of atrophy of the alveolar processes of the jaws is clinically justified.

KEY WORDS: monolithic implants, single-stage implantation, elderly patients, stability index, ART IMPLANT system

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):921-928

INTRODUCTION

Studies by the World Health Organization (WHO) indicate that there is a huge unmet need for restorative dental care, especially among the elderly [1,2]. And one of the difficult problems of dentistry is still the problem of prosthetics for elderly and senile patients who have completely lost their teeth. Atrophic processes occurring in the jaws often lead to such unfavorable clinical conditions in the oral cavity, in which rehabilitation of this group of patients by traditional methods is not always possible. It should be noted that the share of elderly and senile people in our country is quite large and is in different regions up to 30% of the total population [1-17]. Due to the trend of steady aging of the population in the developed world and due to the accumulation of unmet needs for dental restoration, many researchers see the opportunity to develop these promising and sophisticated methods of dental care. According to research by leading analytical agencies in Europe and the United States, the demand for orthopedic structures on implants exceeds the demand for all other types of dental care. And the market for dental implants and bone and plastic materials is the fastest growing segment in the field of dental. Today, implantology is one of the most dynamically developing areas of modern dentistry, the use of modern technologies has allowed to approach the problem of treatment of complete and partial absence of teeth at a new level. The vast majority of modern dental implant designs are collapsible. The collapsible structure is always less durable than the monolithic one, and the joint area is a constantly infected area. A significant amount of modern research has been devoted to the problem of connecting the intraosseous and extraosseous parts of the implant and ways to increase its strength and sealing. At the same time, the classic two-stage method of dental implantation has a number of significant disadvantages, the negative consequences of which may not be detected immediately, but in the long term after treatment. To date, a well-established and increasingly widespread in world practice single-stage surgical protocol using new one-component designs of dental implants, which allows their use in cases of insufficient volume and quality of bone tissue. Installation of single-stage monolithic implants in the treatment of patients with atrophy of the alveolar processes of the jaws is recognized by various authors as the best, simplest and most gentle, with a high percentage of long-term

survival [13,14,18,19]. The use of single-stage implants can reduce the duration of prosthetics from 1 to 30 days with immediate implantation and reduce atrophy of the alveolar process after tooth extraction. 97.8% of patients maintained a long-term good functional result of prosthetics, and the success of osseointegration of direct and delayed loading of implants depended on the primary stability during their installation [1,3-5,20]. In modern implantology, the requirements for the formation of stable secondary stability of dental implants (osteointegration) have been studied in detail, which allows to predict with a high level of confidence a satisfactory result of prosthetics. At the same time, the primary stability of the installed implants is one of the main (if not the main) conditions for the success of their osteointegration [6-8,21,22].In recent years, the most important indicators of the effectiveness of dental treatment are the criteria of quality of life based on the patient's emotional perception of the results of treatment. The use of these indicators in dentistry is becoming an urgent strategic task. Traditional dental examination does not allow to assess how the result of dental treatment affects the mental and emotional well-being of the patient [9,10,12]. The use of questionnaires at the dental reception allows doctors to optimize the choice of treatment, monitor and evaluate the treatment process, which increases the effectiveness of rehabilitation. In accordance with the requirements of the International Association for the Assessment of Quality of Life (IQOLA), the choice of dental questionnaire should be mediated by a personalized clinical situation. Therefore, the rehabilitation of elderly patients with partial and complete defects of the dentition with varying degrees of atrophy of the alveolar processes using single-stage protocols and one-component dental implants is today an important and priority medical and social task.

THE AIM

Comparative evaluation of long-term results of clinical application of one- and two-stage surgical protocols of dental implantation using monolithic and collapsible implants in the rehabilitation of elderly patients with dentition defects and varying degrees of atrophy of alveolar processes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The clinical study was conducted on the basis of the Department of Postgraduate Dentistry, Uzhhorod National University and the Dental Clinic Art Dentistry (Zaporizhzhya, Ukraine). 46 patients with various clinical diagnoses of dentition defects were under clinical observation. At diagnosis the generally accepted classification MKH-10 was used. The first group (table I) of the study included: 15 patients (32.61%) with dentition defects with sufficient bone volume, who used a one-stage surgical protocol of dental implant surgery with non-detachable implants Solidum system "ART IMPLANT" followed by temporary splinting fixed prosthesis and immediate occlusive functional load [18,23,24]. The Solidum implant is a monolithic self-tapping implant (d = 3.2-4.5 mm). Due to its design features, this implant is installed subcrystalline in a wide alveolar ridge. In the process of bone remodulation, it forms the effect of a "displaced wound canal", which prevents precervical resorption of the cortical bone and recession of the mucous membrane. The second group included patients with dentition defects with insufficient bone volume, who used a one-stage surgical protocol of dental implant surgery with non-detachable Simplex implants of the ART IMPLANT system, followed by a temporary splint fixed prosthesis and immediate occlusive function.Simplex implant is a monolithic self-tapping cone-shaped implant (d = 2.8 mm), allows to use this implant in conditions of insufficient bone volume in a narrow alveolar ridge by minimally invasive protocol and cylindrical narrow heat-treated neck. This group included 15 people (32.61%). The third (comparative) group included patients with dentition defects with insufficient bone volume, who used the traditional two-stage surgical protocol of dental implant surgery with a detachable implant Virtus (d = 3.5-5.0) system "ART IMPLANT"). This group also included 16 people (34.78%). The distribution of patients into groups was carried out randomly and was not fundamental.

Table I. Distribution of patients by age, gender and type of surgical protocol

	QUANTITY (abs.,%)	
	46	
For	Men	23 (50%)
Sex	Women	23 (50%)
	60 – 70	
Stu	3	
One-stage surgical	2 groups	
The first group	15 (32,61%)	
Second group (i	15 (32,61%)	
Тwo	1 group	
Third (insu	16 (34,78%).	

	Implant Mobility Index (IMI)							
Research groups	Post- operative	1 week	2 weeks	4 weeks	8 weeks	3 months	6 months	12 months
The first group (sufficient bone volume, one-stage surgical protocol "Solidum")	-6,4	+0,1*	+1,2*	-2,6*	-5,5	-6,4	-6,6	-6,8
The second group (insufficient bone volume, one-stage surgical protocol "Simplex")	-2,8	+1,6*	+2,2*	+1,8*	-0,7	-2,2	-2,6	-3,1
Third (insufficient bone volume, two-stage surgical protocol "Virtus")	+1,7	+5,9*	+8,7*	+4,1*	+3,8*	+1,1	-1,1	-1,5*

Table II. The results of the assessment of the mobility index of installed dental implants in the study groups at different control times

*Note. $p \le 0.05$ statistically significant changes relative to the original data.

Table III. Duration of surgical treatment and complete rehabilitation depending on the types of dental implants and surgical protocols used

Average terms of treatment	One-stage pro	Two-stage implantation protocol	
of patients (months)	Non-detachable implants "Solidum" (group 1)	"Simplex" non-demountable implants (group 2)	Collapsible implants "Virtus" (group 3)
Surgical stages of treatment	3,9±0,8**	4,4±0,9*/**	7,3±1,2
Duration of complete rehabilitation	4,5±0,9**	5,5±1,3*/**	9,8±1,4

Note. * p < 0.05 statistically significant difference between non-detachable and collapsible implants. ** p < 0.05 statistically significant differences between one- and two-stage implantation protocol.

Table IV. Assessment of patients' satisfaction with the treatment depending on the types of installed dental implants, the timing of complete treatment and the methods of dental implantation used

Surgical	Type of implant system	Patien	Average			
protocol	"ART IMPLANT"	Unsatisfactorily	Satisfactorily	Good	Excellent	rating
One-stage	Solidum	-	-	4 (8,7%)	11 (23,91%)	4,73±0,14, p<0,05
protocol	Simplex	-	1 (2,7%)	5 (10,87%)	9 (19,56%)	4,53±0,12, p<0,05
Two-stage implantation protocol	Virtus	6 (13,05%)	3 (6,52%)	6 (13,05%)	1 (2,7%)	3,69±0,11, p<0,05
	TOTAL:	6 (13,05%)	4 (8,69%)	15 (32,62%)	21 (45,64%)	4,32±0,12, p<0,05

The study was carried out taking into account the main provisions of the GCP ICH and the Helsinki Declaration on Biomedical Research, the Council of Europe Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine (2007) and the recommendations of the Bioethics Committee of the Presidium of the NAMS of Ukraine (2002). The age of patients ranged from 60 to 70 years, including men - 23 people (50%), women - 23 people (50%). At the same time, the timing of healing, the condition of dental implants, their stability and satisfaction of patients with the treatment and psycho-emotional well-being in relation to treatment using the method of dental implants were studied. In some clinical cases, patients underwent immediate implantation with passive occlusive loading [18,22,24] according to traditional one-(Fig. 1) and two-stage surgical protocols (Schwartz-Arad D.

et al., 2007) under local anesthesia Sol. Articaini 4% with vasoconstrictor 1: 100000. Measurement of the degree of stability of the installed dental implants was performed using a mechanical oscillatory - resonance method using the device Periotest M (Gulden Medizintechnik, Germany).The scale of measurements of the mobility index (IP - PTV) ranges from -8 to +50 and the lower this value, the higher the stability of the implant. Interpretations of values of the mobility index: a) from -8 to 0 good osseointegration, complete immobility: implant and can be loaded; b) from +1 to +9 further clinical observation is required, usually loading is not desirable, but possible at the discretion of the physician in the associated multi-support structures; c) from +10 to +50 osteointegration is insufficient, the implant is mobile and cannot be loaded.







A significant increase in the values of the mobility index, in the remote period after implantation, is evidence that the implant is unstable, one of its screws is untwisted or loosened, or there is destruction of peri-implant tissues (peri-implantitis). Therefore, it is recommended to record all the measurements that allow you to control the treat-

1 group Solidum

2 group Simplex

- 3 group Virtus

ment process in the dynamics. The obtained results were included in the "Questionnaire for assessing the clinical capacity of dental implants" developed by us, compiled on the basis of the above-mentioned criteria, taking into account the features and priorities of the study. The main emphasis was on the stability of the clinical outcome, the timing of



Non-detachable SIMPLEX implant

Fig. 3. Duration of surgical treatment and complete rehabilitation depending on the types of installed dental implants of the «ART IMPLANT» system



the surgical stage of treatment and the whole rehabilitation in general, the type of dental implants. To assess the satisfaction and psycho-emotional attitude of patients to the treatment, we used a special questionnaire developed by us with a 5-point scale. The results of laboratory and clinical studies were processed by methods of variation statistics to determine the average value, its errors, Student's t-test for multiple comparisons, using Excel (MS Office 2010,

Surgical stages of treatment, months

Non-detachable implant SOLIDUM

0

Microsoft, USA) and STATISTICA 6.0 (StatSoft, USA). Differences in indicators at the level of significance p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

0

RESULTS

Full rehabilitation, months

Collapsible implant VIRTUS

In the study, one of the indicators of osseointegration and reliability of functional load in patients with atrophy of the

alveolar processes of the jaws was the degree of mobility (stability) of the installed dental implants before the final orthopedic stage. The results of these measurements after the surgical phase and the healing period showed that the index of mobility (IP) of installed dental implants in patients with alveolar atrophy of varying degrees corresponded to that in patients with sufficient bone volume and quality and uncomplicated clinical conditions (Table II).

The mobility index (mobility index) of the installed implants indicated its initial increase within 2 weeks and subsequent gradual decrease. Starting from 4 weeks, the mobility of the implants in all study groups gradually decreased and showed little further regression after 6 months, sometimes there was a slight decrease during 6-12 months (Fig. 2).

In patients of the first group with sufficient bone volume of the alveolar processes of the jaws and the use of a single-stage surgical protocol of implantation of the system «Solidum» all follow-up, starting from the end of the 2nd week. . The rate of mobility in this group after 4 weeks showed statistically significant changes compared to baseline and averaged -2.6 \pm 0.08, p≤0.05 relative units, after 3 months this figure increased 2.5 times and amounted to -6.4 \pm 0.06, p≤0.05. Subsequently, there was a slight progressive increase in the level of resistance of dental implants up to 1 year. In patients of the second group of the study with insufficient bone volume of the alveolar processes of the jaws and the use of a single-stage surgical protocol of implantation of the system «Simplex», also from 2 to 4 weeks we observe an increase in \pm 1.02, p \leq 0.05 relative units, after 3 months this indicator increased 3 times and amounted to -2.2 ± 0.08 , p ≤ 0.05 . Subsequently, there was a slight progressive increase in the level of resistance of dental implants up to 1 year. In patients of the third group of the study with insufficient bone volume of the alveolar processes of the jaws and the use of two-stage surgical protocol of implantation of the system «Virtus» only 3 months there is a positive dynamics of stability of dental implants, which after 6 months averages -1.1 ± 0.09 , p ≤ 0.05 and slightly increases up to 1 year -1.5 \pm 0.08, p≤0.05.When assessing the duration of treatment of patients based on the analysis of implantation maps, there was a statistically significant difference between non-detachable and collapsible implant structures, as well as between one- and two-stage surgical implantation protocol in favor of non-detachable (monolithic) implants and one-stage surgical protocol.

In patients of study group 1 with sufficient bone volume and the use of non-detachable implants, the duration of surgical stages of treatment was 3.9 ± 0.8 , p <0.05, which is 1.9 times shorter than the study group 3 with insufficient bone volume and using a collapsible implant, where the duration of the surgical stages of treatment was 7.3 ± 1.2 , p <0.05. Regarding the duration of complete rehabilitation, it is 2.2 shorter in the first group of study 4.5 ± 0.9 , p <0.05, than in the third - 9.8 ± 1.4 , p <0.05.

Based on the study, there is a direct relationship between the timing of treatment and the degree of satisfaction of patients with the used protocol of dental implant surgery and the type of dental implants (table 4). A comparative assessment of patients' satisfaction with the treatment showed a statistically significant difference in the assessment of treatment as «excellent» in the group of patients who used a one-stage surgical protocol of dental implant surgery. The lowest number of higher assessments of patient satisfaction with the treatment was found in the group of patients who used a two-stage surgical protocol of dental implant surgery (Fig. 4).

DISCUSSION

Due to the widespread use of dental implantation in outpatient practice and the high frequency of atrophy of the alveolar processes of the jaws in elderly patients, much attention is paid to the problems of using this technique in complex anatomical conditions. Despite some successes in the use of various osteoplastic techniques and materials, one of the most difficult problems of such interventions remains complexity, trauma, unpredictability of results and duration. At the same time, the patient's satisfaction with the treatment is directly dependent on these factors and the degree of restoration of masticatory function and aesthetics. Currently, extensive clinical experience in the use of single-stage (monolithic) intraosseous dental implants.Numerous experimental studies of different types of surface and design of the intraosseous part of implants, biomechanical interactions of the implant with the surrounding bone tissue, large-scale randomized studies of long-term results and their condition. Since the patients were carefully selected, and the surgery was performed by the same operator under standard conditions, the higher MBL around implants installed through a two-stage approach can be attributed to the histological process of bone repair after trauma and the surgical procedure done for submerge fixtures [Sharon M Compton, Danielle Clark, Stephanie Chan, Iris Kuc, Berhanu A Wubie, Liran Levin]. The analysis of clinical and experimental studies allows us to conclude that the use of single-stage dental implants in the rehabilitation of patients with atrophy of the alveolar processes of the jaws of various degrees is a reasonable method and creates favorable conditions for functional prosthetics. However, the complex of factors influencing the duration of permanent prosthetics after single-stage dental implantation in this category of patients, in particular the condition of the surrounding bone and soft tissues, the degree of stability (mobility) of implants and its dynamics, the objective duration of treatment and its criteria, the degree of patient satisfaction with treatment [11]. One of the tasks of improving the effectiveness of rehabilitation of patients is to clarify the clinical indications for the use of single-stage dental implantation in the treatment of patients with dentition defects and varying degrees of atrophy of the alveolar processes of the jaws [Cavallaro JS Jr, Greenstein G.].In this regard, we studied the long-term results of treatment after surgery based on observation of patients. Improving the effectiveness of rehabilitation of patients using the

method of dental implantation is the formulation of the principles of postoperative management and rehabilitation of patients using the method of single-stage implantation. It was found that the main condition for a favorable prognosis of treatment is sufficient primary stability of the installed dental implant, the index of mobility, measured using a mechanical oscillatory-resonance method with the device Periotest M, and should not exceed +10. 97.8% of patients maintained a long-term good functional result of prosthetics, and the success of osseointegration of direct and delayed loading of implants depended on the primary stability during its installation (Yaremenko AI et al., 2013; Testori T., Bianchi F. et al., 2003; Ersanli S., Karabuda C. et al., 2005; Fischer K., Stenberg T., 2006; Zhou W., Han C. et al., 2009). It was found that the reduction in the number of stages and duration of treatment is directly related to increasing patient satisfaction with treatment. As a result, we performed the task of developing and implementing in clinical practice an algorithm of treatment using the methods of single-stage dental implantation in the treatment of patients with varying degrees of atrophy of alveolar processes. The duration of surgical stages of treatment and complete rehabilitation showed statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) and was significantly less when using a single-stage protocol of dental implant surgery and non-detachable implants and averaged 3.9 \pm 0.8, p <0.05 months against 7.3 \pm 1.2, p <0.05 months in implants according to the twostage protocol. Assessment of patient satisfaction with the treatment was directly correlated with his timing. Collapsible dental implants did not statistically show patient satisfaction with the treatment (p > 0.05) compared with the installed non-collapsible dental implants (mean score 3.69 ± 0.11 , p < 0.05 vs. 4.63 ± 0.13 , p < 0.05 on a five-point scale).

CONCLUSIONS

Thus, it should be noted that the clinical use of one-stage surgical protocol of implantation and non-demountable (monolithic) dental implants of the ART IMPLANT system in the rehabilitation of elderly patients with varying degrees of atrophy of the alveolar processes of the jaws demonstrates implants, reduces the waiting period for permanent prosthetics, as well as reduce the duration of the entire treatment, which ultimately leads to increased optimization of treatment effectiveness and patient satisfaction. The use of single-stage conception and single-stage implants is an alternative to the generally accepted two-stage protocol technique and allows in many clinical cases to successfully avoid bone grafting, which is quite traumatic, lengthy, expensive and unpredictable procedure. One-stage (monolithic) implants are free from the disadvantages of two-stage (collapsible), simpler in prosthetics, but at the same time, require a more accurate positioning from the doctor during the operation. They are not an expensive choice, especially in complex clinical cases that require simple solutions.

REFERENCES

- Kandelman D., Petersen P.E., Arpin S., Ogawa H. Global oral health of older people – call for public health action. Community Dental Health. 2010; 27 (2): 257-268.
- 2. Compton Sh.M., Clark D., Chan S. et al. Dental Implants in the Elderly Population: A Long-Term Follow-up. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2017;32(1):164-170.
- Sokolova Y.Y., Savel'eva N.N. Stomatolohycheskaya zabolevaemost' pozhylykh bol'nykh. Eksperym. i klin. medytsyna. 2013;(3):150-156.
- Sokolova I.I., Herman S.I., Herman S.A. Deyaki pytannya rozpovsyudzhenosti i struktury defektiv zubnykh ryadiv u naselennya Ukrayiny. Ukr. stomatol. al'manakh. 2013;(6):116-119.
- 5. Napivpan P.V. Implantatsiya: perezavantazhennya. Odnoetapnyy protokol ta monolitni implantaty. Problemy stomatolohiyi. 2014;2:48-53.
- 6. Napivpan P.V. Odnoetapna kontseptsiya: filosofiya, osoblyvosti ta protokol implantatsiyi. Medychnyy alfavit. 2014; 2(7):18-24.
- 7. Esposito M., Ardebili Y., Worthington H.V. Interventions for replacing missing teeth: different types of dental implants. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 2014; 22: 7.
- 8. Barrachina-Diez J.M., Tashkandi E., Stampf S., Att W. Long-term відодного-день implants. Part I: implant characteristics and loading protocols. Ha systematic literature review with meta-analysis. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2013; 28(2): 503-518.
- 9. Dias D.R., Leles C.R., Lindh C., Ribeiro-Rotta R.F. The effect of marginal bone level changes on the stability of dental implants in a short-term evaluation. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2015; 26: 1185–1190.
- Benic G.I. et al. Dimensions of buccal bone and mucosa at immediately placed implants after 7 years: a clinical and cone beam computed tomography study. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2012;23(5):560.
- 11. Thoma D.S. et al. Efficacy of lateral bone augmentation performed simultaneously with dental implant placement: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Periodontol. 2019;46(21):257.
- Schrott A., Riggi-Heiniger M., Maruo K., Gallucci G.O. Implant loading protocols for partially edentulous patients with extended edentulous sites--a systematic review and metaanalysis. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2014; 29: 239-255.
- Yaremenko O.I., Kotenko M.V., Rozdors'kyy V.V., Snizhko V.V. Porivnyal'nyy analiz efektyvnosti metodiv nehaynoyi implantatsiyi (Chastyna II). Instytut stomatolohiyi. 2013;4(58):36-37.
- 14. Jaramillo R., Santos R., Lazaro P. et al. Comparative analysis of 2 resonance frequency measurement devices: Osstell Mentor and Osstell ISQ. Implant Dent. 2014; 23: 351–356.
- Herrero-Climent M., Ruiz R.M.M., Diaz-Castro C.M. et al. Influence of two different machined-collar heights on crestal bone loss. Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Implants. 2014;29: 1374–1379.
- Ebler S., Ioannidis A., Jung R.E. et al. Prospective randomized controlled clinical study comparing two types of two-piece dental implants supporting fixed reconstructions—Results at 1 year of loading. Clin. Oral Implants Res. 2016; 27: 1169–1177.
- Vayron R., Soffer E., Anagnostou F., Haiat G. Ultrasonic evaluation of dental implant osseointegration. Journal of Biomechanics. 2014; 47 (14): 3562-3568.
- Gheisari R., Eatemadi H., Alavian A. Comparison of the Marginal Bone Loss in One-stage versus Two-stage Implant Surgery. J Dent (Shiraz). 2017; 18(4): 272–276.
- 19. Beschnidt S.M., Cacaci C., Dedeoglu K. et al. Implant success and survival rates in daily dental practice: 5-year results of a non-interventional study using CAMLOG SCREW-LINE implants with or without platform-switching abutments. Int. J. Implant Dent. 2018; 4: 33.

- 20. Nakajim K. et al. Development of a Functional Biohybrid Implant Formed from Periodontal Tissue Utilizing Bioengineering Technology. Tissue Eng A. 2016;22:1108–1115.
- P'yetursson B.Y.E., Karoussis Y., Byurhin U. et al. Zadovolenist' patsiyenta vid likuvannya implantatamy (rezul'taty dovhotryvaloho 10-richnoho hrupovoho doslidzhennya). Dental Magazine. 2013;10(118):110-116.
- 22. Potapchuk A., Rusyn V., Goncharuk-Khomyn M., Hegedus V. Prognosis of possible implant loss after immediate placement by the laboratorial blood analysis and evaluation of intraoperatively derived bone samples. Journal of International Dental and Medical Research. 2019; 12(1):143-150.
- Potapchuk A.M., Onipko Ye.L., Almashi V.M. et al. Experimental study of bone rebuilding in the periimplantation area under immediate loading on dental implants. Wiad Lek. 2021;74(4):992-997.
- 24. Potapchuk A.M., Onipko Ye.L., Almashi V.M. et al. Immediate implantation and aesthetic component as a result of successful forecast treatment. Wiad Lek. 2021;74(2):2614-2619.

ORCID and contributionship:

Anatoliy M. Potapchuk: 0000-0001-9857-1407 ^{A,E,F} Ievgen L. Onipko: 0000-0002-3086-4657 ^{A,B,D} Vasyl M. Almashi: 0000-0002-2943-4844 ^{B,C,E} Csaba Hegedűs: 0000-0003-4143-2507 ^E

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Anatoliy M. Potapchuk Uzhhgorod National University 60a Station St., 88000 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel: +380509399457 e-mail: anatoliy.potapchuk@uzhnu.edu.ua

Received: 02.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

- $\label{eq:action} \textbf{A} \mbox{-Work concept and design}, \textbf{B} \mbox{-Data collection and analysis}, \textbf{C} \mbox{-Responsibility for statistical analysis},$
- ${\bf D}-{\rm Writing}$ the article, ${\bf E}-{\rm Critical}$ review, ${\bf F}-{\rm Final}$ approval of the article



ORIGINAL ARTICLE

EVALUATION OF COVID-19 VACCINES EFFICACY IN IRAQI PEOPLES

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420102

Mahmood J. Jawad¹, Mohammed J. Jawad², Iman Sabeeh Hasan¹, Saif M. Hassan¹, Ghizal Fatima³, Najah R. Hadi⁴

¹AL-ZAHRAWI UNIVERSITY COLLEGE, KARBALA, IRAQ ²UNIVERSITY OF KARBALA, KARBALA, IRAQ ³ERA'S LUCKNOW MEDICAL COLLEGE AND HOSPITAL, LUCKNOW, INDIA ⁴UNIVERSITY OF KUFA, KUFA, IRAQ

ABSTRACT

The aim: The present study was carried out on patients recovered from COVID-19, including those patients who have taken vaccine and those who have not. Materials and methods: The patients were recruited via an online panel and surveyed at different regions of Iraq from June 1, 2021, to August 30, 2021.

Results: Our results demonstrated that the highest percentage of people recommended Pfizer vaccine followed by Sinopharm, while AstraZeneca vaccine was least recommended. **Conclusions**: The efficacy of different vaccines differed significantly; the highest effectiveness was observed with Pfizer vaccine followed by AstraZeneca and Sinopharm with effectiveness ranging from 94%, 89%, and 74%, respectively. Further, the highest percentage of re-infected patients was observed with Sinopharm vaccine followed by AstraZeneca and Pfizer vaccine, respectively. Also, the highest percent of re-infection with masking used was seen in the case of Sinopharm vaccine followed by AstraZeneca and Pfizer vaccine. Although, we observed that post-vaccination symptoms were lowest than pre-vaccination symptoms, the percent of asymptomatic cases post-vaccination was highest than pre-vaccination cases for all vaccines.

KEY WORDS: COVID-19, Pfizer vaccine, Astra Zeneca vaccine, Sinopharm, post-vaccination symptoms

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):929-937

INTRODUCTION

The past two years have been the most difficult years of the modern era because of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 is caused by novel strain of coronavirus known as severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) [1]. SARS-CoV-2 was first detected in December 2019 in Wuhan, China [2]. Coronaviruses are enveloped, positive-sense single-stranded RNA viruses with a helical nucleocapsid. They belong to the Coronaviridae family in the order Nidovirales, subfamily Orthocoronaviridae and are divided into four genera namely alpha, beta, delta, and gamma coronavirus [3]. Several vaccines have been developed during the past one and half year. The mRNA-based vaccine has been developed by *BioNTech /Pfizer* company under the name BNT162 [4]. The efficacy of this vaccine was investigated in a total of 45 healthy volunteers, which were divided into 4 groups, the first two groups received two doses of 10 and 30 µg intramuscularly, 20 days apart, and the third group received 100 µg dosage but did not receive a second dose and a fourth group of 9 participants received a placebo [5]. Seven days after the second dose, the first two groups showed increased IgG levels and it remained elevated even after 14 days. While in the third group, the IgG levels peaked at 21 days after the first dose and did not increase thereafter [5]. Non-replicating Viral Vector Vaccines has been developed by Astra Zeneca in collaboration with the University of Oxford, under the name ChAdOx1 and now designated as AZD1222 [6]. The efficacy of AZD1222has been checked in 1077 healthy participants recruited in the UK. The participants who received vaccine were divided into two groups; the AZD1222 vaccine group received a dose of vaccine particles (n = 543), 10 participants received a second booster dose of the vaccine after 28 days interval or a placebo group received meningococcal vaccine Men ACWY (n =534) [7]. The AZD1222 vaccine group showed elevated antibodies and these levels remained until day 56. Additionally, the 10 participants who received a booster dose, a much higher specific antibody response was noted after day 56 and also, T cell response observed in all participants, peaked at day 14 and remained elevated through day 56 for both single or two doses [7]. Sinopharm has developed inactivated vaccine in collaboration with Wuhan Institute of Biological Products and Beijing Institute of Biological Products [8]. The efficacy of this vaccine has been tested in 224 participants divided into one of two dual-dose programs - days 0 and 14 or days 0 and 21 days interval, the both schedules showed high antibodies response, however, 97.6% (41 out of 42) seroconversion noted for both. Additionally, for the specific antibody response, a much higher response was shown with the 0- and 21-day schedule 100% than the 0- and 14-day schedule 85.7% [9].

ומטוב ו. וטנמו וועוווטבו מווע עבונבוונמעב טו עבטעוב נמגבוו טו ווטג נמגבוו אמגנווובא, מואט נווב וועוווטבו מווע עבונבווג טו גווב גאט עבוועי
--

Vaccine type		%	Ger	Gender		Gender %	
	IN		Male	Female	Male	Female	
Pfizer	96	38.4	58	38	60	40	
AstraZeneca	64	25.6	34	30	53	47	
Sinopharm	68	27.2	43	25	63	37	
Not take vaccine	22	8.8	8	14	36	64	
Total	250	100.0	143 (57.2%)	107 (42.8%)			

Table II. The Total and percent of different age that participate in this study

Age	Frequency	Percent
20-30	144	57.6
31-40	75	30.0
41-50	23	9.2
51-60	5	2.0
>60	3	1.2
Total	250	100.0

Table III. The total and percent of participates in this study that previously infected or not, also the percent of people symptoms and need

	Ν	Percent	Symptoms	Percent
			Mild	24.0
			Moderate	14.8
			Sever	1.6
Vez	125	E A	Asymptomatic	59.6
Tes 155 5	54	Need	Percent	
		Hospital admission	2.4	
			02	2.4
			NON	95.2
No	115	46.0		
Total	250	100.0		

THE AIM

The present study was carried out on patients recovered from COVID-19, including those patients who have taken vaccine and those who have not.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This was a prospective study of patients recovered from COVID-19 including those who took vaccines or those who did not take vaccine. The respondents were recruited via an online panel and surveyed at different regions of Iraq from June 1, 2021, to August 30; 2021. Verbal informed consents were obtained from patients or their surrogates for the urgent need to collect data. Data was collected by direct individual interview through questionnaire. Medical records, demographic and clinical data were obtained including age, gender, clinical symptoms, admission to hospital, taken the vaccine or not, type of vaccine, re-infected and symptoms after vaccination were collected from the patients' medical records. All cases withCOVID-19 enrolled in this study

were diagnosed on the basis of World Health Organization by RT–PCR (Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction) and the diagnostic and vaccinated guideline for COVID-19 issued by the Ministry of Health (MOH) and update protocol supported by World Health organization (WHO) [10].

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The counts and percentage were used to calculate the descriptive and categorical variables. The association between gender groups, type of vaccines, clinical symptoms and severity of disease were analyzed by application of chi square (x^2) test, used as appropriate, at level of significance $\alpha = 0.05$. All statistical analyses were applied using SPSS 26.0 for Windows and graphs were draw by Graph Pad prism 8.02 v.

VACCINE TYPES

The results of this study revealed that the percentage of people taking vaccines was more than those who were not taking vaccines. However, the highest percentage of people gave preference to the Pfizer vaccine followed by Sinopharm and the last one was AstraZeneca vaccine (38.4%, 27.2%, and 25.6%, respectively).

There is a difference between the total numbers of people taking the vaccine. Moreover, there is a significant difference (p<0.05) between the Pfizer and other vaccines, while there is an insignificant difference (p>0.05) between Sinopharm and AstraZeneca vaccines. There is a significant difference (p<0.05) between the gender to take the vaccine depend on the percentages; however, the male gender has highest percent as compared with female gender, see table I, and figure (1).

AGE

According to age, we found that the total number and the percentage of people taking vaccines was highest for age 20-30 years, followed by 31-40 years, and the lowest percentage taking vaccine was for the age group 60 years and older (57.6%, 30.0%, and 1.2%, respectively), see table II and figure (2).

PREVIOUSLY INFECTED WITH COVID-19

We found that the total no. and the percentage of people previously infected with COVID-19. The highest percentages of infected people were asymptomatic and the lowest percent had severe symptoms. However, about 95% of infected cases did not need hospital admission, see table III and figure (3).









Fig. 2. The total and percent of different age that participate in this study according to age



INFECTION AFTER VACCINATION

We found that the percentage of patients infected after vaccination was less than that not vaccinated. However, the highest percentage of re-infected patients was notified in Sinopharm followed by AstraZeneca and lastly the Pfizer vaccine. We noticed that most of patients were re-infected after two doses. There is a difference between the re-infected patients and not infected. Moreover,

Commony		Re-infected %	
Company	Infected %	After one dose	After Two doses
Pfizer	6.25	16.6	83.4
AstraZeneca	11	43	57
Sinopharm	26.5	5.5	94.5
	Not infected %		
Pfizer	93.75		
AstraZeneca	89		
Sinopharm	73.5		

Table IV. The percent of re-infection and protection efficacy after vaccination and after the doses, also show that the difference between vaccines

Table V. The percent of re-infection after vaccination at different duration for three companies P < 0.05

Duration	2-5	days	6-9	days	10-14	4 days	>	14	
Company/doses	One dose	Two doses	P value						
Pfizer	0	0	0	20	0	40	0	40	*
AstraZeneca	14	14	0	14	14	0	14	29	*
Sinopharm	0	33	0	6	0	0	6	56	*

Table VI. The relationship between masking used and re-infection for all companies

	Masking used	No Masking used	Re-infection	P value
Company/percent	61.6	29.6		
Pfizer	67	33	6.25	*
AstraZeneca	57	43	11	*
Sinopharm	78	22	26.5	*

Table VII. The difference in percent between the pre- and post-vaccination of totally and three companies

Comm laumatoma	Tot	al %	Pfi	zer	Astraz	Zeneca	Sinop	oharm
Comp./symptoms	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Mild	24	11.6	23	17	43	53	28	6
Moderate	14.8	5.2	50	17	29	0	28	88
Sever	1.6	0.8	17	17	0	0	6	6
Asymptomatic	59.6	82.4	10	49	28	47	38	0
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Fig VIII. The difference in percent between the pre- and post-vaccination of totally and three companies

	Percent	Pfizer	AstraZeneca	Sinopharm
Same	4.4	17	53	0
less	8.4	50	0	28
more sever	2.4	17	0	11
Asymptomatic	76.0	17	47	61
Not take vaccine	8.8			
Total	100.0			

the re-infected data showed that there is a significant difference (p < 0.05) between the Pfizer and Sinopharm, while there is an insignificant difference (p > 0.05) between Pfizer and AstraZeneca vaccines, and also between Sinopharm and AstraZeneca vaccines, see table IV, and figures 4 and 5.

DURATION OF INFECTION TIME AFTER VACCINATION

When we compared the percent of the re-infection after one dose with those after two doses at different duration, we observed that the patients infected after two dose vaccination was highest than that after patients after one dose. However, the highest percentage of re-infected patients was notified



Fig. 4. The percent of re-infection and protection efficacy of different vaccines





Fig. 5. The percent of re-infection after one and two doses of different vaccines



at duration more than 14 days and after two doses for all vaccines. Our results showed that there is significant difference (p>0.05) among the companies; the highest percent of

re-infection was seen in the Sinopharm followed by Pfizer and lastly AstraZeneca vaccine. Table 5 and figure 6



Fig. 7. The percentage of masking used and re-infection for all vaccines

Table IX. The difference in hospital admission of three vaccines as compared with pre-vaccination

vaccine	Pfizer		AstraZeneca		Sinopharm	
	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post
%	2	1	5	0	11	6

USE OF MASKING WEARING AFTER VACCINATION

We found that the percent of the patients used mask after vaccination was highest than those not used mask. Our results showed that there was a significant difference (p<0.05) between vaccines; the highest percentage of re-infected people with mask used was seen in the Sinopharm followed by Pfizer and the least percentage seen with AstraZeneca vaccine. Table VI and figure 7

SYMPTOMS OF INFECTION AFTER VACCINATION SYMPTOMS

The percent of the different symptoms pre- and post-vaccination are shown in table VII and figure 8. There was a significant difference (p<0.05) between total percent of mild, moderate, and sever symptoms. However, we noticed that these post-vaccination symptoms were lowest than pre-vaccination, while the percent of asymptomatic of post-vaccination was highest than pre-vaccination. Our results showed that there is significant difference (p<0.05) between pre- and post-vaccination of all companies, the Pfizer company reduced the post mild, moderate, and sever symptoms while the asymptomatic increased as compared with pre-vaccination. The AstraZeneca shows that there is insignificant difference (P>0.05) in mild symptom between pre- and post-vaccination, while there is significant difference (P<0.05) in moderate symptom and asymptomatic, moreover, the post mild and asymptomatic showed highest percent as compared with pre-vaccination as well as the moderate shows lowest than pre-vaccination. The Sinopharm shows lowest mild and asymptomatic pre-vaccination as compared with post-vaccination.

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN SYMPTOMS AFTER AND BEFORE VACCINATION

We found significant differences (p<0.05) in symptoms between vaccines. However, we noticed that those patients who took Pfizer vaccine, have less symptoms as compared with pre-vaccination while AstraZeneca showed that about 50% of patients had both same symptoms and asymptomatic as compared with pre-vaccination. The patient taken Sinopharm vaccine, most of them had asymptomatic (61%) and about 28% had fewer symptoms as compared with pre-vaccination, table VIII and figure (9).

ADMISSION TO HOSPITAL

According to our results, we found significant difference (p<0.05) between vaccines. However, we noticed that the patient taken the Pfizer and Sinopharm vaccines have had lower hospital admission to half percent as compared with pre-vaccination while AstraZeneca showed that about 100% of patients lowered as compared with pre-vaccination. Table IX and figure 10.

DISCUSSION

There are many strategies that have been recommended to improve vaccine effectiveness depending on disease awareness, clinical symptoms, hospital admission and increase vaccine accessibility [11]. The introduction of corona virus vaccines in a clinical practice demonstrated as a factor that influence the pathological and the progression course of diseases and can contribute favorably







Fig. 8. The difference in percent between the pre- and post-vac-cination of totally and three companies

Fig. 9. The similarity in symptoms of three vaccines as compared with pre-vaccination

Fig. 10. The difference in hospital admission of three vaccines as compared with pre-vaccination

to the prevention, and treatment strategies, making health services more effective and efficient [12,13]. The present study demonstrated that vaccines evaluation is a crucial determinant in the management of COVID-19 to stratify the population and organize targeted approaches to monitoring vaccination compliance. Furthermore, the overall results of this study indicate that the type of vaccine, age and gender of recipients were potential modulators of the efficacy of COVID-19 vaccines. According to our results, the people taking vaccines had higher percent as compared with that not taken it which indicated that the effectiveness of vaccines or awareness from the complications of disease itself. However, the Pfizer vaccine has more acceptance rates in Iraqi people followed by Sinopharm and the AstraZeneca vaccine. Also, as we note that the male gender had more acceptance than female one which may be due to the fear behaviors of the female. In addition to that the 20-30 years old has highest percent than other age groups and lower one was ages less than 60 years old, which may be due to Know agent of these groups than others groups. N. Dagan et al. were found that vaccine is effective for a wide range of Covid-19-related outcomes [14]. Shyh Poh Teo was observed that Pfizer-BioNTech and AstraZeneca demonstrated high efficacy and immunogenicity [15]. The percentage of patients that participates in our study and previously infected with COVID-19 was 54% that's indicated about half of participates suffer from the disease with different symptoms, however, about 60 % of them were asymptomatic, 24% mild, 15% moderate, and 1% sever symptoms while those who not need hospital admission and O₂ about 95%. We found that the percentage of patients infected after vaccination was less than that not vaccinated. However, the highest percentage of re-infected patients was notified in Sinopharm followed by AstraZeneca and lastly the Pfizer vaccine. We noticed that most of patients were re-infected after two doses after different duration; however, most re-infected time was after 14 days. The efficacy of vaccines was differed; the highest effectiveness was shown by Pfizer vaccine followed by AstraZeneca and the lowest one was Sinopharm vaccine (94%, 89%, and 74% respectively). Moreover, the percentage of patients who were vaccinated with Sinopharm vaccine and used mask higher than the patients vaccinated with other vaccines. We found that the symptoms after vaccination were low as compared with pre-vaccination in all vaccines. However, the Pfizer vaccine showed the mild and moderate symptoms, which were reduced after vaccination and also most patients become asymptomatic, moreover, 50% of cases showed less symptoms. Also, when we look to AstraZeneca vaccine data, it reduced moderate and sever symptoms and increased asymptomatic cases as compared with pre-vaccinated. Also about 50% of cases had either same symptoms or were asymptomatic that indicated the effectiveness of the vaccine.

CONCLUSIONS

The efficacy of different vaccines differed significantly; the highest effectiveness was observed with Pfizer vaccine followed by AstraZeneca and Sinopharm with effectiveness ranging from 94%, 89%, and 74%, respectively. Further, the highest percentage of re-infected patients was observed with Sinopharm vaccine followed by Astra Zeneca and Pfizer vaccine, respectively. Also, the highest percent of re-infection with masking used was seen in the case of Sinopharm vaccine followed by AstraZeneca and Pfizer vaccine. Although, we observed that post-vaccination symptoms were lowest than pre-vaccination symptoms, the percent of asymptomatic cases post-vaccination was highest than pre-vaccination cases for all vaccines.

REFERENCES

- 1. Zimmer C., Corum J., Wee S-L. Coronavirus Vaccine Tracker. The New York Times. 2020, 5p.
- Sharma O., Sultan A.A., Ding H., Triggle C.R. A Review of the Progress and Challenges of Developing a Vaccine for COVID-19. Front Immunol. 2020; 11: 585354. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.585354.
- Yu F., Du L., Ojcius D.M. et al. Measures for diagnosing and treating infections by a novel coronavirus responsible for a pneumonia outbreak originating in Wuhan, China. Microbes Infect. 2020; 22(2): 74-79. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2020.01.003.
- 4. Talbot L.R., Romeiser J.L., Spitzer E.D. et al. Prevalence of IgM and IgG antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 in health care workers at a tertiary care New York hospital during the Spring COVID-19 surge. Perioper Med (Lond). 2021; 10(1): 7. doi:10.1186/s13741-021-00177-5.
- Mulligan M.J., Lyke K.E., Kitchin N. et al. Phase I/II study of COVID-19 RNA vaccine BNT162b1 in adults. Nature. 2020; 586(7830): 589-593. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2639-4.
- Arashkia A., Jalilvand S., Mohajel N. et al. Severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 spike (S) protein based vaccine candidates: State of the art and future prospects. Rev Med Virol. 2021; 31(3): e2183. doi: 10.1002/rmv.2183.
- Folegatti P.M., Ewer K.J., Aley P.K. et al. Safety and immunogenicity of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2: a preliminary report of a phase 1/2, single-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2020; 396(10249): 467-78.
- Gao Q., Bao L., Mao H. et al. Development of an inactivated vaccine candidate for SARS-CoV-2. Science. 2020; 369(6499): 77-81.
- Palacios R., Patiño E.G., de Oliveira Piorelli R. et al. Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Phase III Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of treating Healthcare Professionals with the Adsorbed COVID-19 (Inactivated) Vaccine Manufactured by Sinovac-PROFISCOV: A structured summary of a study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2020; 21(1): 853.
- Chan J.F., Choi G.K., Tsang A.K. et al. Development and Evaluation of Novel Real-Time Reverse Transcription-PCR Assays with Locked Nucleic Acid Probes Targeting Leader Sequences of Human-Pathogenic Coronaviruses. J Clin Microbiol. 2015; 53(8): 2722-6.
- 11. Organization W.H. Summary of WHO position papers-immunization of health care workers. World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland. 2017.
- 12. Day S., Mason R., Lagosky S., Rochon P.A. Integrating and evaluating sex and gender in health research. Health research policy and systems. 2016; 14(1):1-5.
- Calzetta L., Ritondo B.L., Coppola A. et al. Factors Influencing the Efficacy of COVID-19 Vaccines: A Quantitative Synthesis of Phase III Trials. Vaccines (Basel). 2021; 9(4): 341.
- Dagan N., Barda N., Kepten E. et al. BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine in a Nationwide Mass Vaccination Setting. New England Journal of Medicine. 2021; 384(15): 1412-23.
- 15. Teo S.P. Review of COVID-19 Vaccines and Their Evidence in Older Adults. Ann Geriatr Med Res. 2021; 25(1): 4-9.

ORCID and contributionship:

Mahmood J. Jawad: 0000-0001-6542-7230 ^{A-F} Mohammed J. Jawad: 0000-0002-6096-945X ^{A-F} Iman Sabeeh Hasan: 0000-0002-9514-9101 ^{A-F} Saif M. Hassan: 0000-0003-4655-8045 ^{A-F} Ghizal Fatima: 0000-0001-7355-4854 ^{A-F} Najah R. Hadi: 0000-0001-9084-591X ^{A-F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Najah R. Hadi University of Kufa 29CG+62H, Kufa, Iraq e-mail: drnajahhadi@yahoo.com

Received: 18.10.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B - Data collection and analysis, C - Responsibility for statistical analysis,

D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

LATERAL MEDULLARY INFARCTION: A PROSPECTIVE HOSPITAL-BASED COHORT STUDY OF CLINICAL AND IMAGING FEATURES AND A CASE REPORT IN A WHITE ADULT

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420103

Maria M. Prokopiv¹, Svitlana V. Rohoza¹, Olena Ye. Fartushna² ¹0. O. BOGOMOLETS NATIONAL MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, KYIV, UKRAINE

² UKRAINIAN MILITARY MEDICAL ACADEMY, KYIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: The purpose of this study is to determine clinical and imaging features of lateral medullary infarction in a prospective hospital-based cohort study, illustrated with a clinical case presentation in a white adult.

Materials and methods: We prospectively recruited 120 acute posterior circulation stroke patients, admitted to the Neurological Center of the University Hospital (Oleksandrivska Clinical Hospital) in Kyiv, Ukraine, within 6 to 24 hours from the onset of the stroke symptoms. Comprehensive neurological, clinical, laboratory, ultrasound, and imaging examination was performed on all patients.

Results: Out of 120 adult patients (68 men, 52 women aged 28 to 89 years; average age 60.7 ± 12.1 years) with an acute ischemic MRI/CT-proven posterior circulation stroke, 22 (18.3%) patients have acute medulla oblongata infarctions. We provided a complex clinical, neurological, laboratory, and instrumental analysis of lateral medullary infarction illustrated with a clinical case presentation.

Conclusions: Specific clinical and imaging features of lateral medullary infarction were determined, analyzed, compared, and described.

KEY WORDS: stroke; posterior circulation stroke; lateral medullary infarction; lateral medullary syndrome; imaging; prospective study; case report

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):938-943

INTRODUCTION

Posterior circulation stroke is a life-threatening condition that is less represented in thescientific literature, is more difficult to diagnose, has a more severe clinical course, and has higher mortality compared to anterior circulation stroke [1-5]. Consequently, posterior circulation stroke is misdiagnosed 30-60% of the time [6].

The lateral medullary infarction (LMI) is the most common form of posterior ischemic stroke that is often misdiagnosed or missed. Failure to rapidly diagnose LMI delays time-sensitive treatments, resulting in higher risks of disability and mortality [7]. That is why it is critical to promptly determine clinical and imaging features of LMI to prevent its severe consequences promptly.

THE AIM

We aimed to determine clinical and imaging features of lateral medullary infarction in a prospective hospital-based cohort study, illustrated with a clinical case presentation in a white adult.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

STUDY SETTING AND PATIENTS

We have conducted a prospective, hospital-based, cohort study of acute posterior circulation stroke patients. All

study participants were admitted to the Neurological Center of the University Hospital (Oleksandrivska Clinical Hospital, Kyiv, Ukraine), within the first 6 to 24 h since the first stroke symptoms occurred.

Oleksandrivska Clinical Hospital represents the largest tertiary care center in the capital of Ukraine, Kyiv. Started its work on November 26, 1875, as the city hospital named after Royal Tsarevich Oleksandr, it become the highest scientific and pedagogical institution with a catchment population of approximately two million [8]. There are 27 specialized departments with over a thousand beds in the Hospital. Cardiological, cardiovascular, neurological, surgical, neurosurgical, urological, otolaryngological, ophthalmological, gynecological, infectious diseases, and hemodialysis departments work around a clock, admitting patients and providing urgent care. The Neurological Center of Oleksandrivska Clinical Hospital consists of an admission department, clinical department of neurology, department of cerebrovascular pathology with intensive care/stroke unit, and a research department of neurology. Healthcare is provided free of charge to all citizens and registered long-term residents.

Study subjects were recruited from the hospital's emergency departments and in-hospital wards between 2011 and 2020. All stroke patients were reviewed by at least two board-certified neurologists with training in cerebrovascular diseases. Clinical history, 12-lead electrocardiogram, blood testing, carotid ultrasound (Toshiba, Japan), head CT and/or brain MRI (Siemens, USA, 1.5 T) were obtained for all study participants.

PATIENT INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION

The methods of the study, inclusion and exclusion criteria have been reported in detail previously [9-11]. In brief, only acute PCS patients aged 18 years or older were included.

STUDY ENDPOINTS AND RISK FACTORS DEFINITIONS

Study endpoints of interest were acute ischemic PCS. Stroke and TIA were defined according to the criteria of the World Health Organization, AHA/ASA guidelines for adult stroke, and was confirmed by imaging [12, 13]. The etiology of stroke was classified according to the TOAST criteria [14]. The National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale, the Modified Rankin Scale, the Barthel index, and the Charlson Comorbidity Index were determined for all participants. Secondary stroke prevention was prescribed according to the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association and the European Stroke Organization Guidelines, immediately after the stroke diagnosis was made [15, 16]. Stroke education programs were provided to all study participants [9, 17-21].

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Parametric and non-parametric statistic methods were applied. The log-rank test was used for univariate comparisons of event-free survival between groups. A two-sided p<0.05 was considered significant for all analyses. All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics, Version 24.

ETHICS

Institutional ethics board approval was obtained and written informed consent was received from all participants or legally authorized representatives for this study.

RESULTS

BASIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE STUDY POPULATION

In total, 120 adult patients (68 men, 52 women aged 28 to 89 years; average age 60.7 ± 12.1 years) with an acute ischemic MRI/CT-proven PCS were screened. The breakdown for study group by stroke type was as follows:

- 10.9% (n=13) of patients were diagnosed with acute midbrain infarctions;
- 18.3% (n=22) of patients diagnosed with acute medulla oblongata infarctions;
- 18.3% (n=22) of patients diagnosed with acute thalamic infarctions;

- 20.8% (n=25) of patients were diagnosed with acute cerebellar infarctions;
- 31.7% (n=38) of patients have a proven diagnosis of acute pons infarctions.

In this article, we are focused on 22 patients diagnosed with acute medullary infarction.

ANATOMICAL FEATURES OF MEDULLARY INFARCTION

According to our data, out of 22 patients with acute medulla oblongata infarctions, LMI was identified in 15 (68.2%) patients, medial medullary infarction - in five (22.7%) subjects, combined lesions of the medial and lateral parts of the medulla oblongata were diagnosed in two (9.1%) patients. Therefore, isolated medullary infarcts were identified in 14 (63.6%) examined patients, combined - in eight (36.4%). Out of these eight patients with combined lesions, additional ischemic focus in the cerebellar hemispheres was diagnosed in sixout of eight patients, in the thalamus - in one patient, andthe cerebral peduncles- in another one patient [9]. In eight (53%) patients with LMI, neurogenic oropharyngeal dysphagia was detected as a component of the bulbar syndrome, which negatively affected the oral and pharyngeal phases of the swallowing process.

CLINICAL FEATURES OF LATERAL MEDULLARY INFARCTION

In the study patients, LMI most often manifested by systemic dizziness, nausea, vomiting (80%), nystagmus (80%), cerebellar ataxia on the affected side (80%), Bernard-Horner syndrome (73%) on the side of the lesion (dysfunction of the descending sympathetic fibers), impaired sensitivity on the face (60%) by the segmental dissociated type in the areas of Zelder that is located on the stroke side (due to damage to the descending tract and the spinal nuclei of V pair of cranial nerves), and hypoesthesia of pain and temperature sensitivity by the Hemi type (60%) on the opposite to the stroke side (due to dysfunction of the spinal-thalamic pathway). These neurological symptoms are part of the alternating Wallenberg syndrome.

We found the *classic alternating Wallenberg syndrome* in 9 (60%) patients with LMI, ie this syndrome was pathognomonic for this clinical form of cerebral infarction. In another 6 (40%) patients, the neurological status corresponded to the *incomplete Wallenberg syndrome*, that the most often manifested with systemic dizziness, nystagmus, cerebellar ataxia, and bulbardisorders. Such neurological symptoms occurred when the paramedian branches of the lower BA, medial or lateral branches of PICA were occluded with the following development of the small lesions (4–6 mm3) in the medulla oblongata.

IMAGING FEATURES OF LATERAL MEDULLARY INFARCTION

In study patients, MRI of the brain, performed after 12-24 hours from the beginning of the stroke, revealed isolated



Fig. 1a,b,c. Magnetic resonance imaging of the brain of patient P., 72 years old, with acute lateral ischemic infarction of the medulla oblongata, in diffusion-weighted mode (axial projection). The MRI was done within 8 hours after the symptom's onset. The right posterolateral region of the medulla oblongata revealed hyper-intensive acute ischemia with a reduced diffusion coefficient.

lesions of the medulla oblongata in 3 patients, combined lesions of the medulla oblongata and cerebellum - in 6 patients. Most lateral medullary round infarcts were localized in the middle part of the medulla oblongata (75%), less often - in the upper and lower (25%). Their average size was 45.6 mm3. In 6 patients, the focus of ischemia was not visualized, although they had a typical neurological clinical picture of medullary lateral infarction. False-negative results, in this case, are explained by the presence of small infarct foci that are not visualized in the spatial image [22].

CLINICAL CASE PRESENTATION

To illustrate the features of a clinical course LMI, we present our clinical case observation. Patient P., 72 years old, was hospitalized in the neurology department of the University Hospital (Oleksandrivska Clinical Hospital, Kyiv, Ukraine) in June 2019, with complaints of severe systemic dizziness, nausea, repeated vomiting, impaired coordination of movements (inability to walk and stand with a tendency to fall to the right). All symptoms developed suddenly during the elevation of the blood pressure to 170/120 mm Hg. Since 2003, pt monitored for hypertension. However, antihypertensive prescriptions have not been taken systematically.

Findings: pulse - 72 beats/min, rhythmic, blood pressure - 160-80 mm Hg. Bernard-Horner syndrome on the right, horizontal nystagmus, segmental anesthesia of pain and temperature sensitivity on the right part of the face, pronounced dysphagia, dysphonia, dysarthria, stuck out tongue not deviating, decreased pharyngeal reflex. Paresis of the extremities was not detected, tendon reflexes on the hands - symmetrical, knee reflexes are S>D, Achilles reflexes are D = S, a positive symptom of Strumpel bilateral. Decreased muscle tone in the right extremities. Left-sided hemihypesthesia of pain and temperature sensitivity by the conductive type, intentional tremor when performing finger, heel-knee tests. The volume of the neurological deficit on the NIHSS scale is 9 points. The average severity of impairment on the scale of B. Hoffenberth and co-authors is 22 points (severe impairment).

Ultrasound examination of the main vessels of the head and transcranial Doppler revealed intracranial stenosis of the lumen of the right VA up to 86%, stenosis of PICA - 72%. MRI of the brain is presented in Figure 1. The neurological deficit in this clinical observation is due to the lesions of laterally localized structures of the medulla oblongata.

Diagnosis: lateral cerebral infarction with alternating Wallenberg syndrome in a patient with subcortical hypertensive and arteriosclerotic encephalopathy of III stages.

DISCUSSION

LMI causes a range of symptoms due to ischemia in the lateral part of the medulla oblongata in the brainstem. The most prevalent etiological factor is an occlusion of the intracranial portion of the vertebral artery (VA) followed by the posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA) and its branches [23-25]. Cerebral embolism, hypoplastic vertebral artery, or vertebral artery dissection is the commonest cause of LMI in young patients.

ANATOMICAL FEATURES OF LATERAL MEDULLARY INFARCTION

According to the anatomical topography and features of its blood supply, the medulla oblongata is referred to the proximal intracranial area of the brain stem [9]. The blood supply of this area is carried out by arterial branches, which successively depart from the intracranial VA. These branches are anterior and posterior spinal arteries, as well as PICA, and its numerous branches. The small paramedian arterial branches of VA and PICA supply blood to the lateral part of the medulla oblongata. There are lateral, medial (paramedian), and dorsal branches of the posterior circulation arteries and the corresponding areas of the medulla oblongata, which correspond to the location of the infarct in the case of acute cerebrovascular accident [26]. Accordingly, there are lateral, medial infarctions of the medulla oblongata, as well as combinations of lateral and medial infarctions [27-29].

J. S. Kim and co-authors (1999) [30] in a clinical study reported that by the localization, 75% of medulla oblongata strokes are lateral and only 25% are medial. According to other authors [31], the frequency of lateral and medial infarctions is 78 and 19%, respectively, ie, their ratio is 4:1. Dorsal medulla oblongata stroke is quite rare [2, 9].

LMI occurs in the area of its lateral parts due to occlusive lesions of small paramedian arteries and lateral branches, which depart from VA, PICA, lower divisions of the basal artery, rarely anterior inferior cerebellar artery [9]. Therefore, such concepts as the "lateral medullar syndrome" and "dorsolateral cerebral infarction" are still used as synonyms for LMI.

CLINICAL FEATURES OF LATERAL MEDULLARY INFARCTION

The clinical manifestation of LMI was first described in 1895 by the famous German neurologist Adolf Wallenberg (1862-1949), who initially identified the development of cerebral infarction of the medulla oblongata with embolic occlusion PICA [32].

C. M. Fisher and co-authors (1961) [26], based on the analysis of the arterial system of sixteen patients with LMI and 26 observations of other authors, concluded that lateral cerebral infarction in approximately 75% of cases is caused by VA's occlusion. JS. Kim and co-authors (1995) [33] during the examination of 34 patients diagnosed occlusive lesions in the area of PICA (23.5%), VA (38.2%), and simultaneous lesions of VA and PICA (26.5%). However, occlusive lesions of the arteries were not detected in 11.8% of cases.

Therefore, LMI can occur in the case of lesions of the intracranial HA, PICA, rarely BA, and PICA. Therefore, the clinical course of LMI should not be identified with the previously described PICA syndrome and its variants.

The clinical presentation of LMI is closely related to the topography of the lesion of the medulla oblongata (upper, middle, lower). This topographycan be determined on sections of T2-weighted MRI, using the following criteria: the upper part of the medulla oblongata corresponds to dorsolateral protrusion at the level of the lower leg of the cerebellum; the middle part of the medulla oblongata corresponds to the ventrolateral protrusion of the lower nucleus of olive; the lower part is a rounded shape of the medulla oblongata.

W. Kameda and co-authors (2004) [31] analyzed the clinical and MRI parameters of 214 patients and showed that the most often LMIs were localized in the middle part of the medulla oblongata (35% of cases), in the upper part - in 29% of cases, and the least - in the lower part (15%).

Summarizing the data of the neurological clinical features of lateral medullary infarcts, given in publications, the representative symptoms that are characteristic for the alternating Wallenberg syndrome,known as lateral medullary syndrome and posterior inferior cerebellar artery syndrome, can be identified as follows:

• impaired sensitivity on the face (89%) by the segmental dissociated type in the areas of Zelder that is located

on the stroke side. It developed due to damage to the descending tract and the spinal nuclei of V pair of cranial nerves;

- hypoesthesia of pain and temperature sensitivity by the Hemi type on the opposite to the stroke side. It occurs due to dysfunction of the spinal-thalamic pathway;
- dysarthria, dysphonia (75%) due to paresis of the muscles of the vocal cords and soft palate, caused by the damage to the motor double nucleus (Nucl. ambiguous);
- dizziness (73%) dysfunction of the vestibular nuclei;
- Bernard-Horner syndrome (72%) on the side of the lesion (dysfunction of the descending sympathetic fibers);
- cerebellar ataxia on the side of ischemia due to lesions of the anterior and posterior spinocerebellar pathways;
- horizontal nystagmus (57%) due to damage to the vestibular nuclei and their connections;
- dysphagia (57%) as a result of damage to the nuclei of the IX and X pairs of nerves;
- headache (47%).

In the clinical situation, described above, the pathological process (thrombosis - in 60% of cases, embolism - in 35%) is localized in HA, and not PICA, as thought previously [34].

If the LMI extends to the lateral surface of the bridge, then its typical features are accompanied by signs of muscle paresis innervated by VI and VII cranial nerves.

IMAGING FEATURES OF LATERAL MEDULLARY INFARCTION

DWI MRI is the best diagnostic test to confirm LMI. The infarcted area has a high DWI signal. LMI was identified by the MRI of the brain, performed within 24-48 hours after the onset of the stroke. On MRI LMI foci has the shape of a triangle (7–10 mm long in the rostrocaudal direction), facing the apex to the bottom of the IV ventricle, and the base to the lateral surface of the medulla oblongata. Ventrally, the infarct area was limited by olive, medially - by the roots of the XII pair of cranial nerves, dorsally reaching the gray matter of the bottom of the fourth ventricle, rostrally - to the pons.

CONCLUSIONS

LMI results from a vascular event in VA or PICA and characteristically has varied neurologic manifestations. LMI often affects descending spinal tract, descending sympathetic tract fibers, inferior cerebellar peduncle and dorsolateral medulla, the nucleus of the trigeminal nerve, nuclei, and fibers of the vagus nerves and glossopharyngeal, spinothalamic tract, and vestibular nuclei. As a result, it presents as complete (classic) or incomplete lateral medullary syndrome, also called Wallenberg syndrome or posterior inferior cerebellar artery syndrome. The first case of LMI was reported and described by Jewish neurologist and neuroanatomist who practiced in Germany, Adolf Wallenberg (1862-1949). Knowledge of the features of the neurological clinical course and imaging features of LMI is important for the medical doctor, helping to diagnose this type of posterior circulation stroke promptly, timely, and choose adequate methods of therapy and assessment of long-term functional prognosis.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Stroke Organization. Global Stroke Fact Sheet. 2019. https://www. world-stroke.org/images/WSO_Global_Stroke_Fact_Sheet_final.pdf [date access 25.08.2021]
- Prokopiv M.M., Slabkiy G.O., Fartushna O.Y. Prospective analysis of the epidemiology of cerebrovascular disease and stroke among the adult population of Kyiv City, Ukraine. WiadLek. 2021;74(2):2599-2604. doi: 10.36740/WLek202110213.
- 3. Prokopiv M., Fartushna O. Modern classification of posterior circulation stroke: clinical decision making and diagnosis (review). Georgian Medical News. 2021;(320):96-100.
- 4. Prokopiv M.M., Fartushna O.Y. Classification of posterior circulation stroke: a narrative review of terminology and history. International Neurological Journal. 2021;5(19):11-19. doi: 10.22141/2224-0713.17.5.2021.238517.
- 5. Vinychuk S.M., Prokopiv M.M., Trepet L.M. et al. Clinical syndromesofthalamicstroke in thecentralvascularterritory: a prospective hospital-based cohortstudy. International Neurological Journal. 2020;5(16):23-27. doi:10.22141/2224-0713.16.5.2020.209245.
- 6. Saleh Velez F.G., Alvarado-Dyer R., Pinto C.B. et al. Safer Stroke-Dx Instrument: Identifying Stroke Misdiagnosis in the Emergency Department. CircCardiovascQual Outcomes. 2021;14(7):e007758. doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.120.007758.
- 7. Hoyer C., Szabo K. Pitfalls in the Diagnosis of Posterior Circulation Stroke in the Emergency Setting. Front Neurol. 2021;12:682827. doi:10.3389/ fneur.2021.682827.
- 8. Vinychuk S.M., Fartushna O.Y. Istoriya kyyivs'koyi nevrolohichnoyi shkoly, pro velykykh uchyteliv i mudrykh poperednykiv" ("Istoriya kyyivs'koyi nevrolohichnoyi shkoly") ["History of the Kyiv Neurological School, about great teachers and wise predecessors" ("History of the Kyiv Neurological School")] Kyiv: PH"Advance-Print". 2015, 55p.
- 9. Prokopiv M.M., Vinychuk S.M. Vertebrobazylyarniinsul'ty [Vertebrobasilar strokes]. Kyiv: VD «Avitsena». 2021, 240 p. (in Ukrainian).
- Prokopiv M.M., Fartushna O.Y. Clinical syndromes of the thalamic stroke in the classical vascular territories: a prospective hospital-based cohort study. WiadLek. 2020;73(3):489-493. doi: 10.36740/WLek202003115.
- Prokopiv M.M. Vertebrobazylyarniinfarkty: pryntsypyklasyfikatsiyi, kliniko-neyrovizualizatsiynyyanaliziterminolohichnivyznachennyadiah nozu [Vertebrobasilar infarctions: principles of classification, clinical and neuroimaging analysis and terminological definitions of the diagnosis]. UMJ Heart & Vessels. 2019;2(66):7-17. (In Ukrainian) doi: 10.30978/HV2019-2-7.
- 12. Kernan W.N., Ovbiagele B., Black H.R. et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2014;45(7):2160-236. doi: 10.1161/STR.00000000000024.
- Aho K., Harmsen P., Hatano S. et al. Cerebrovascular disease in the community: results of a WHO collaborative study. Bull World Health Organ. 1980;58(1):113-30.
- Adams H.P. Jr., Bendixen B.H., Kappelle L.J. et al. Classification of subtype of acute ischemic stroke. Definitions for use in a multicenter clinical trial. TOAST. Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment. Stroke. 1993;24(1):35-41.

- 15. Ringleb P., Schellinger P.D., Hacke W. Europäischen Schlaganfallorganisation. Leitlinien zum Management von Patienten mit akutem Hirninfarkt oder TIA der Europäischen Schlaganfallorganisation 2008. Teil 1 [European Stroke Organisation 2008 guidelinesformanagingacutecerebralinfarctionor transient ischemicattack. Part 1]. Nervenarzt. 2008;79(8):936-57. German. doi: 10.1007/s00115-008-2531-1.
- 16. Adams R.J., Albers G., Alberts M.J. et al. American Heart Association; American Stroke Association. Update to the AHA/ASA recommendations for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack. Stroke. 2008;39(5):1647-52. doi: 10.1161/ STROKEAHA.107.189063.
- Yevtushenko S.K., Filimonov D.A., Simonyan V.A. et al. Osnovnyye i novyye faktory riska, sposobstvuyushchiye razvitiyu ishemicheskikh insul'tov u lits molodogo vozrasta [The Main and New Risk Factors that Contribute to the Development of Ischemic Strokes in Young Adults]. International Journal of Neurology. 2013;6(60):92–100.
- Vinychuk S.M., Prokopiv M.M., Trepet L.M. et al. Clinical syndromes of thalamic strokes in the posterolateral vascular territory: a prospective hospital-based cohort study. International Neurological Journal. 2020;4(16):8-12. doi: 10.22141/2224-0713.16.4.2020.207344.
- 19. Fartushna O.Ye., Vinychuk S.M. Tranzytorni ishemichni ataky [Transient ischemic attacks]. Kyiv: PH "Avitsena". 2014, 216 p. (in Ukrainian).
- 20. Vinychuk S.M., Fartushna O.Y. Osvitni prohramy profilaktyky tranzytornykh ishemichnykh atak ta/chyinsul'tu [Educational programs for the prevention of transient ischemic attacks and/or stroke]. Ukrainian Medical Journal. 2014;5(103):49-51 (in Ukrainian).
- 21. Fartushna O.Ye., Vinychuk S.M. Modyfikatsiya povedinkovykh chynnykiv ryzyku yak skladova pervynnoyi profilaktyky tranzytornykh ishemichnykh atak ta/chyinsul'tu [Behavioral risk factors modification as a component of primary prevention of the transient ischemic attack and/or stroke]. Ukrainian Medical Journal. 2014;6(104):42-44. (in Ukrainian)
- 22. Oppenheim C., Stanescu R., Dormont D. et al. False-negative diffusionweighted MR findings in acute ischemic stroke. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2000;21(8):1434-40.
- 23. Boukobza M., Laissy J.P. Unusual pattern of bilateral cerebellar infarct and bihemispheric posterior-inferior cerebellar artery. J NeurolNeurosurg Psychiatry. 2021;92(11):1242-1243. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2021-326776.
- 24. Lance S., Thomson T. Cerebellar nodulus infarction secondary to vertebral artery dissection. BMJ Case Rep. 2019;12(4):e229876. doi: 10.1136/ bcr-2019-229876.
- 25. Thirugnanachandran T., Ma H., Phan T. Contralateral hyperhidrosis following lateral medullary infarction. Pract Neurol. 2020;20(4):330-331. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2019-002346.
- 26. Fisher C.M., Karnes W.E., Kubik C.S. Lateral medullary infarction-the pattern of vascular occlusion. J NeuropatholExp Neurol. 1961;20:323-79. doi:10.1097/00005072-196107000-00001.
- 27. Nandhagopal R., Krishnamoorthy S.G., Srinivas D. Neurological picture. Medial medullary infarction. J NeurolNeurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(2):215. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2005.071522.
- 28. Caplan L. Posterior circulation ischemia: then, now, and tomorrow. The Thomas Willis Lecture-2000. Stroke. 2000;31(8):2011-23. doi: 10.1161/01.str.31.8.2011.
- 29. Savitz S.I., Caplan L.R. Vertebrobasilar disease. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(25):2618-26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra041544.
- 30. Kim J.S., Lee J.H., Choi C.G. Patterns of lateral medullary infarction: vascular lesion-magnetic resonance imaging correlation of 34 cases. Stroke. 1998;29(3):645-52. doi: 10.1161/01.str.29.3.645.

- 31. Kameda W., Kawanami T., Kurita K. et al. Study Group of the Association of Cerebrovascular Disease in Tohoku. Lateral and medial medullary infarction: a comparative analysis of 214 patients. Stroke. 2004;35(3):694-9. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000117570.41153.35.
- 32. Wallenberg A. Acute bulbar affection. Arch Psychiatr Nervenheilkd. 1895;27:504-540.
- Kim J.S., Lee J.H., Im J.H. et al. Syndromes of pontine base infarction. A clinical-radiological correlation study. Stroke. 1995;26(6):950–5. doi: 10.1161/01.str.26.6.950.
- 34. Sinha K.K. Brain stem infarction: clinical clues to localize them. Indian Academy of Clinical Medicine. 2000;1:213–221.

This article is part of the research topic named"To determine the features of the course and consequences of stroke in patients of different age groups, taking into account genetic and infectious factors and comorbid pathology" for 2018-2021 with the state registration number - 0118U003695.

ORCID and contributionship:

Maria M. Prokopiv: 0000-0001-5467-3946 ^{A-F} Svitlana V. Rohoza: 0000-0002-4867-0340 ^{B, E, F} Olena Ye. Fartushna: 0000-0002-4641-0836 ^{A-F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Maria M. Prokopiv 0.0.Bogomolets National Medical University 13 Shevchenko Blvd, 01601 Kyiv, Ukraine

tel: +380 (44) 2346074 e-mail: prokopivmm@gmail.com

Received: 16.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

A - Work concept and design, B - Data collection and analysis, C - Responsibility for statistical analysis,

 $[\]mathbf{D}$ – Writing the article, \mathbf{E} – Critical review, \mathbf{F} – Final approval of the article

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

ADAPTIVE CAPABILITIES OF MIDDLE SCHOOL-AGED GIRLS DEPENDING ON THE RATIO OF ADIPOSE AND MUSCLE TISSUE

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420104

Ksenija Y. Petrik, Oksana P. Kritschfalushii

UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: This study aimed to determine the dependence of adaptive capacities of middle school-aged girls with excessive body weight and increased volume of adipose tissue on the ratio of adipose and muscle tissue volume.

Materials and methods: 52 female subjects aged 10-12 years were examined and divided into 3 groups according to their BMI. Cardiorhythmogram was recorded in all subjects using the "CardioLab" hardware-software complex. The indices of heart rhythm variability (HRV) were determined at rest and after an active orthostatic test based on the recorded cardiothythmogram. Body weight and total fat tissue amount were determined using the Tanita BC-601 device.

Results: The analysis of HRV indices revealed features of autonomic rhythm regulation depending on morphological body features of the middle school-aged girls, namely, on the amount of fat and muscle tissue. Obese subjects had higher values of VLF %, LF % and LF/HF indices, which indicate a higher sympathetic influence on cardiovascular system activity and less significant parasympathetic division of the autonomic nervous system (ANS), as well as the PARS index. This trend of HRV indices points to an unsatisfactory level of adaptation, tension of the regulatory systems and the possibility of their failure. In contrast, subjects with normal and excessive body weight had higher values of HF ms², HF % and TR ms², and lower values of VLF %, LF/HF and PARS, which points to the dominance of the parasympathetic part of the ANS, lower level of tension in their regulatory systems, a satisfactory level of adaptation, satisfactory functional reserves of the cardiovascular system and high capabilities of the body.

Conclusions: Obese girls exhibited disturbances in the ANS functional state towards sympathicotony and increased functional activity of suprasegmental ANS divisions, which can be interpreted as an autonomic dysfunction.

KEY WORDS: heart rate variability, autonomic nervous system, children, excess body weight, obesity, adaptive capacity of the body

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):944-948

INTRODUCTION

In recent years an increasing number of people are diagnosed with excessive body weight and obesity both among the adult population and among children and adolescents [1,2]. However, despite the rate of increase in prevalence, these conditions are probably still insufficiently understood as health care problems. Nevertheless, the published literature has thoroughly elucidated the clinical and social significance of obesity as a trigger factor and an aggravating cause of a large number of diseases that lead to reduced life quality and expectancy. [1,3]. The cause for concern in children with an increased amount of adipose tissue is the triggering of mechanisms that form a springboard for early manifestation of cardiovascular, endocrine, reproductive, neoplastic, cerebrovascular, musculoskeletal, and other diseases [1,3]. Childhood obesity also leads to short- and long-term adverse effects on physical and psychosocial health, which are important for general well-being [4,5].

Childhood obesity is also characterized by disorders of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) [3], which is crucial in ensuring the harmony of physiological processes and adaptation to various environmental factors. The occurrence of disorders of the ANS is in turn important in the pathogenesis of functional abnormalities of various organs and systems that can cause the development of chronic diseases and irreversible changes in adulthood. Therefore, investigating the level of functional reliability of the organism in children with an excessive amount of fat tissue is interesting, on the one hand, because of the insufficient maturity of autonomic support systems and mechanisms of their regulation, and on the other hand, because of the chronic inflammation of adipose tissue, which is accompanied by the production of proinflammatory agents, the synthesis of which grows proportionally to the level of obesity and distribution of adipose tissue in the body [6].

Currently, the standards for assessment of the functional state are the physiological indicators reflecting the mechanisms of cardiac activity regulation. Therefore, among many existing tests, the method of heart rhythm variability (HRV) measurement and the indicator of activity of regulatory systems (PARS) suggested by R. M. Bayevsky are the most widely used, because they allow to establish typological features of autonomic regulation of heart rhythm, demonstrate the level of functional and adaptive capacities of the organism, and allow to predict and to control dynamic processes of prophylactic measures and treatment procedures [7-9].



Fig. 1. Evaluation of PARS using the CardioLab device

THE AIM

The aim of this study was to determine the dependence of adaptive capacities of middle school-aged girls with excessive body weight and increased volume of adipose tissue on the ratio of adipose and muscle tissue volume.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study involved 52 girls aged 10-12 years without pathological changes according to the clinical examination and the principles of biomedical ethics. They were divided into 3 groups based on the body mass index (BMI). Normally, children's BMI is lower than that of adults, and its normal value is in the range from 15 to 18.5 kg/m², depending on the age. To characterize BMI deviations from normal values, the majority of clinicians use a 5-point scale (Table I) [10]. At the same time, the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) recommends that children from 2 to 18 years old be considered overweight if their BMI is between 25 kg/m² and 30 kg/m², and considered obese if their BMI is >30 kg/m² [10,11].

In addition, current recommendations define obesity in children and adolescents if the body weight exceeds the reference values for the given age by 20% or more, and the amount of total body fat exceeds 25% for boys and 30% for girls [12]. The percentage amount of total fat (TF, %) in the bodies of examined subjects was determined using the Tanita BC-601 (Japan) scale/analyzer that functions by measuring the electrical impedance of tissues when a low-intensity constant electrical current is passed through them.

According to these considerations, Group 1 included children with BMI of 5 points, Group 2 included children with BMI of +4 and +3 points, and Group 3 included children with BMI of +2 points.

The functional state of the ANS was assessed by intervalocardiography using the hardware-software complex "CardioLab" (HAL "Medica", Ukraine), which allows obtaining spectral indices of heart rhythm variability (HRV) and characterizing the functional activity of different branches of the ANS. Specifically, the tone of the sympathetic, parasympathetic, and suprasegmental branches of the ANS was assessed by the power of the low-frequency (LF, ms²), high-frequency (HF, ms²), and very low-frequency (VLF, ms²) spectral ranges respectively. The balance of the sympathetic and parasympathetic ANS branches was evaluated by the ratio of low- and high-frequency components of HRV: LF/H.

The adaptive capabilities of the subjects were assessed by the PARS value, which allows to quantitatively evaluate the functional state of the body in points, as well as by the response to the orthostatic test. The analysis of PARS values allows to diagnose the following functional health conditions: the green zone (1 to 3 points) – the normal state, satisfactory adaptation, and high functional capacities; the yellow zone (4 to 7 points) – the state of tension of the regulatory systems, decrease of the functional reserves, i.e. the premorbid state; the red zone (8 to 10 points) - the state of deterioration of the regulatory systems, failure of the adaptation processes – asenization.

Clinical assessment of the results of the orthostatic testing was done using the coefficient of response to orthostatic testing (Cr), which shows the degree of rhythm increase in percentage points during the transition process. The possible outcomes of the orthostatic test and the associated Cr values are as follows: normal, Cr below 30%; decreased, Cr below 30%; and paradoxical with rapid stabilization of rhythm; Cr above 30%.

The results were analyzed using Jamovi 0.8-1.0 software (Affero General Public License 3). The method of descriptive statistics with the estimation of arithmetic

Table I. Criteria for a	assessing the devia	ion of BMI from	the ideal value	according to the	e 5-point system
-------------------------	---------------------	-----------------	-----------------	------------------	------------------

Body weight assessment in girls							
Score Age	-2	-3	-4	5	+ 4	+ 3	+ 2
10	14.3	15.0	15.9	17.1	18.0	21.8	24.2
11	14.6	15.3	16.2	17.8	19.0	23.0	25.7
12	15.0	15.6	16.7	18.3	19.8	23.7	26.8

+4 - mild increase in body weight

+ 3 - moderate increase in body weight

+ 2 - pronounced increase in body weight

4 - mild decrease in body weight

3 - moderate decrease in body weight

2 - pronounced decrease in body weight

5 - exact correspondence of body weight to age

Table II. Mean values of HRV	/ indicators in middle school-age	ed children with different	BMI values (M±m)
------------------------------	-----------------------------------	----------------------------	------------------

HPV indicators	Group 1 (n=22)	Group 2 (n=18)	Group 3 (n=12)
nity indicators	(BMI 5 points)	(BMI +4 and +3 points)	(BMI +2 points)
TP, ms2	3448±91	2657±163 **	1822±212 *
HF, ms2	751±81	515±148 *	181±97 **
LF, ms2	1593±10	948±125 **	713±135 **
VLF, ms2	1157±1	1024±159	957±145*
LF/HF	2,1±0,22	1,84±0,23	3,9± 0.26 **
HF, %	18,6±2.4	15,8±3,6	8,4±2.7 **
LF, %	46,0±2.7*	43,2±4.7	38.2±2.5 *
VLF, %	35,4±3.1*	41,0±2.7*	53,4±3.9 **
PARS, units	2,164±1,617	2,579±1,625	5,478±1,581 **
Cr, %	26,5±3,9*	47,2±4,6*	66,0±5,8*

Note: Differences were statistically significant at * $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$

mean (M) and the error of the arithmetic mean (m) was used. The Mann-Whitney U-criterion was used to make a cross-group comparison of the quantitative indicators. The results were considered significant at p<0.05.

RESULTS

According to the BMI, the 1st group included 22 (42%) children, the 2nd group included 18 (35%) children, and the 3rd group included 12 (23%) children. The average BMI of girls in the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd group was 17.7 \pm 0.4 kg/m², 20.9 \pm 0.6 kg/m², and 25.6 \pm 0.9 kg/m² respectively. The percentage of total fat was 17.2 \pm 0.8%, 20.6 \pm 0.7%, and 25.3 \pm 1.2% in the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd group respectively. There was a statistically significant difference in the average values of BMI and TF% between groups 1 and 2, 1 and 3, and 2 and 3.

To evaluate the mechanisms of regulation of physiological functions of the body, the features of autonomic regulation, the relationship between sympathetic and parasympathetic branches of the ANS, and the tension of the regulatory systems and functional reserves, the analysis of HRV indices in girls with different morphological status was used. These indices are summarized in Table II. The analysis of HRV indicators in groups of children with different BMI revealed that girls with normal and excessive body weight had similar indicators, while girls with obesity had significantly different indicators compared to the other two groups.

The TP indicator, which reflects the total level of activity of the regulatory systems, in children with normal body weight was 3448±113 ms², in overweight children - 2657±163 ms², and in children with obesity - 1822±212 ms². The power indicator in high-frequency range (HF) in group 1 was 751±78 ms², in group 2 - 515±148 ms², and in group 3 - 181±97 ms². The power in the low-frequency range (LF) in children with normal body weight was 1593±100 ms², in overweight children - 948 \pm 125 ms², and in children with obesity - 713 \pm 135 ms². The power in the range of very low frequencies (VLF) in the 1^{st} group was 1157 ± 114 ms², in the 2^{nd} group - 1024 ± 159 ms², and in the 3rd group - 957±154 ms². Low- to high- frequency ratio (LF/HF) was 2,1±0,22 in children with normal body weight, 1,84±0,23 in children with excessive body weight, and 3,9±0,26 in obese children. The value of the complex index of activity of the regulatory systems (PARS) was equal to 2,164±1,617 units in children in the 1st group, 2,579 ± 1,625 units in children in the 2^{nd} group, and $5,478 \pm 1,581$ units in children in the 3rd group.



Fig. 2. The relationship between the ANS effect pathways on heart rhythm in groups of middle school-aged children with different values of BMI.

Although the highest absolute values of VLF ms², LF ms², and HF ms² were recorded in children with normal body weight as compared to children with excessive body weight and obesity, the relative values of these indicators differed. The highest value of the fractional contribution of the power in the very low frequency range (VLF) to the TP was found in children with obesity $(53,4\pm3,9\%)$, a slightly lower value was found in children with excessive body weight (41,0±2,7%), and the lowest value was recorded in children with normal body weight $(35,4\pm3,1\%)$. However, the fractional contribution of the power in the high frequency range (HF) to the TP was the lowest in obese children $(8,4\pm2,7\%)$, and practically equal in children with normal and excessive body weight (18,6±2,4% and 15,8±3,6% respectively). The fractional contribution of the low frequency range (LF) to the TP in children with different BMI values was as follows: group 1: 46,0±2,7%, group 2: 43,2±4,7%, and group 3:38,2±2,5%.

The analysis of the contribution of the frequency components of the TP to the structure of the heart rhythm modulation within each group revealed that the wave structure of heart rhythm in children with normal and excessive body weight was LF> VLF> HF, while in obese children it was VLF> LF> HF.

During the transition from the clino- to the orthoposition, differences were also found in the value of the Cr indicator among girls of different constitution. Thus, representatives of groups 2 and 3 had an accelerated type of heart rate response to changes in body position compared with those of the first group. It also indicates on the autonomic dysfunction due to excessive activation of the sympathetic ANS in these individuals.

DISCUSSION

The comparison of HRV indices between the groups of children shows that obese girls have abnormalities in the functioning of some systems, in particular of the cardiovascular and regulatory systems, and in their adaptation abilities.

The analysis of the levels of tension of the regulatory systems showed that the sum of PARS points in girls of the 3rd group averaged 5,478±1,581 units, which exceeds the normal value of this indicator and points to the presence of premorbid state in subjects of this group. This is manifested by the tension of the regulatory systems, decreased functional reserves and the beginning of the

development of energy and metabolic imbalance [13].

The evaluation of the indicator of the total activity of the regulatory systems in girls of the same group revealed a decrease in the total power of the spectrum (TP) ($1822\pm212 \text{ ms}^2$), the normal value of which is within 1906-5790 ms² [14]. Overall, the neurohumoral regulation in subjects in this group was characterized as VLF> LF> HF. Relative to the total power, VLF accounted for 55%, LF - for 38%, and HF – for only 8%. This proportion reflects an increased level of humoral and metabolic influences in modulation of heart rhythm and a decreased level of parasympathetic influence. Because VLF index is a sensitive indicator of the regulation of metabolic processes and reliably reflects energy-deficient states, the predominance of its influence in heart rhythm modulation points to the tension of regulation mechanisms and depletion of adaptation resources [13].

The analysis of spectral indices of the vagosympathetic balance (LF/HF) in obese girls also suggests the domination of sympathetic influences and a decrease of vagus activity in relation to the cardiovascular system, and a decrease of the central control loop activity. This can be regarded as a prognostically unfavorable risk factor [15]. The lowest absolute values of VLF ms², LF ms² and HF ms² in the 3rd group compared to the 1st and 2nd groups also indicate a significant preponderance of the role of the sympathetic branch of the ANS over its parasympathetic branch.

Therefore, our study revealed that obese girls have a decreased activity of the parasympathetic nervous system and an increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system, which can be considered as an increased tension of the adaptation mechanisms, a decrease of reserve capacities, and the development of functional autonomic disturbances with their further transformation. Our data is confirmed by the results of the research on this problem, namely, those showing that BMI in obese children is negatively associated with HF, and positively associated with LF and the HF/LF ratio [16].

CONCLUSIONS

Obese girls exhibited disturbances in the functional state of the ANS towards sympathicotony and increased functional activity of the suprasegmental ANS divisions, which can be interpreted as an autonomic dysfunction.

REFERENCES

- 1. Suplotova L.A., Smetanyna S.A., Makarova O.B et al. Dynamyka chastoty yzbutochnoi massy tela y ozhyrenyia u detey mladsheho shkolno vozrasta v Tiumenskom rehyone [Dynamics of frequency of overweight and obesity of children of young school age in the Tyumen region]. Ozhyrenye y metabolyzm. 2019;16(1):34-38. (In Russian).
- 2. Mendis S., Puska P., Norrving B. et al. Global Atlas on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Control. Geneva: World Health Organization in collaboration with the World Heart Federation and the World Stroke Organization. 2011, 164 p. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/44701/1/9789241564373_ eng.pdf?ua=1 [date access 14.06.2021]
- 3. Hromnatska N.M., Cherkas A.P. Zalezhnist variabelnosti sertsevoho rytmu vid kharakteru rozpodilu zhyrovoi tkanyny u ditei z metabolichnym syndrome [Dependence of heart rate variability on the nature of adipose tissue distribution in children with metabolic syndrome]. Simeina medytsyna. 2014;4:42-46. (In Ukrainian).
- 4. Beysbekova A.K., Datkhabaeva H.K. Yzbutochnaya massa body y ozhyrenye u detey: ruhny, posledstvyia, profylaktyka [Overweight and obesity in children: causes, consequences, prevention]. Vestnyk Kazakhskoho Natsyonalnoho medytsynskoho unyversyteta. 2017;(1):178-180. (In Russian).
- 5. Battakova Zh.E., Mukasheva S.B., Slazhneva T.Y. et al. Analyz rasprostranosty yzbutochno massu tela y ozhyrenyya sredy detey mladsheho shkolnoho vozrasta Karakhandynskoi oblasty Respublyky Kazakhstan [Analysis of prevalence of overweight and obesity among elementary school children of Karaganda oblast Republic of Kazakhstan]. Aktualnue voprosu formyrovanyia zdorovoho obraza zhyzny, profylaktyky zabolevanyi y ukreplenyia zdorovovia. 2015;1:24-34. (In Russian).
- 6. Khodzhyeva M.V., Skvortsova V.A., Borovyk T.E. Otsenka fyzycheskoho razvytyia detey mladsheho shkolnoho vozrasta (7-10 years): rezultatu kohortnoho yssledovanyia [Evaluating the Physical Development of Early Age Schoolchildren (7-10 Years): Cohort Study Results]. Pedyatrychskaia farmakolohyia. 2016;4(13): 362-366. (In Russian).
- 7. Al-Shammary M.Ia.Y. Spektralnui analyz varabelnosty serdechnoho rytma u studentov- ynostrantsev [Spectral analysis of foreign students' heart rate variability]. Nauchni rezultat. Seryia "Fyzyolohyia". 2016;2(3):1-6. (In Russian).
- 8. Slyvka Ya.I., Savka Yu.M., Kentesh O.P. et al. Doslidzhennia psykhofiziolohichnoho stanustudentiv z urakhuvanniam stupennia napruzhennia rehuliatornykh system [Research of psychophysiological state of students using the degree of regulatory systems' tension]. Ukraine. Zdorovia natsii. 2019;1:23-28. (In Ukrainian).
- 9. Horst N.A., Luchahyna S.N., Horst V.R. et al. Pokazatel aktyvnosty rehuliatornukh systemy v strukture analyza varabelnosty serdechnoh rytma [Indicator of activity of regulatory systems in the structure of heart rhythm variability analysis]. Estestvennue nauky, 2016;1:28-33. (In Russian).
- levstratov P.I. Osoblyvosti pokaznykiv indeksu masy tila u shkoliariv 1-4 klasiv silskoi mistsevosti raznykh raioniv Chernivetskoi oblasti [The peculiarities of students body mass index in the 1st-4th grades in countryside districts of Chernivtsi region]. Molodyi vchenyi. 2017;3.1:140-143. (In Ukrainian).
- Harvard school of public health. Obesity Prevention Source. Child Obesity. https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/obesity-prevention-source/obesitytrends/global-obesity-trends-in-children/. [date access 14.06.2021]

- Zabolotna I.E., Yashchenko L.V. Ozhyrinnia ta nadmirna masa tila v ditei, kryterii diahnostyky ta statystyka poshyrenosti [Obesity and overweight among children, diagnostic criteria and statistics of prevalence]. Klinichna ta profilaktychna medytsyna. 2019;2(8):36-46. (In Ukrainian).
- 13. Shylovych L.L. Adaptatsyonnue vozmozhnostyy orhanyzma sportmena v zavysymosty ot type rehuliatsyy serdechnoi deiatelnosty [Adaptable capabilities of sportsman's organism depending on the regulation type of heart activity]. Problemu zdorovia y ekolohu. 2011;4(30):120-124. (In Russian).
- 14. KardyoLab VSR. Kharkov: Natsyonalnui airokosmycheskyi unyversytet "KhAY", NTTs hadyolektronnikh medytsynskyh pryborov y tekhnolohyyy KhAY-MEDYKA [CardioLab HRV. Kharkiv: National Aerospace University «KhAI», Research and Development Center for radio-electronic medical devices and technology KhAI-MEDICA]. 2009. (In Ukrainian).
- 15. Pavlykivska B.M. Osoblyvosti variabelnosti sertsevoho rytmu u ditei z hostrymy zakhvoriuvanniamy nyzhnikh dykhalnykh shliakhiv na foni subklinichnoho hipotyreozu [Features of heart rate variability in children with acute diseases of lower respiratory ways against the background of subclinical hypothyroidism]. Bukovynskyi medychnyi visnyk. 2016;3(20):139-142. (In Ukrainian).
- 16. Hromnatska N.M. Suchasni pohliady na dysfunktsiiu avtonomnoi nervovoi systemy yak patohenetychnyi chynny do rozvytku metabolichnoho syndromeu u ditei [Modern views on the dysfunction of the autonomic nervous system as a pathogenetic factor in the development of metabolic syndrome in children]. Sovremennaia pedyatryia. 2014;7:41-45. (In Ukrainian).

The research was carried out within the framework of the scientific project "Functional state of autonomic systems depending on the correlation between adipose and muscle tissue in normal and pathological state" (state registration number: 0118U000713)

ORCID and contributionship:

Ksenija Y. Petrik: 0000-0002-5696-5499^{A,B,D,F} Oksana P. Krichfalushii: 0000-0001-6326-5178 ^{C,E}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR Ksenija Y. Petrik

Uzhhorod National University 3 Narodna Square, 88000 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel: +380966506237 e-mail: petrikksenia445@gmail.com

Received: 19.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis, D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

CORRELATION OF RELAPSE-FREE SURVIVAL WITH NEOADJUVANT TREATMENT IN PATIENTS WITH STAGE IIIA NON-SMALL CELL LUNG CANCER

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420105

Kateryna A. Maliarchuk, Andrey V. Ganul, Bogdan O. Borisyuk, Leonid B. Bororov, Anatoly I. Shevchenko, Vladimir M. Sovenko

NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE, KYIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: The aim of this study was to investigate disease-free and overall survival in patients with stage IIII A NSCLC after neoadjuvant chemotherapy, neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy, and neoadjuvant chemotherapy.

Materials and methods: For the study, 3 groups of 65 people were taken. All patients underwent radical surgery in the form of lobectomy, bilobectomy or pneumonectomy. All groups received 3 or 4 courses of neoadjuvant chemotherapy according to the scheme Docitaxel (Paclitaxel) and Cisplatin (Carboplatin), while groups II and III also received, respectively, neoadjuvant and adjuvant radiation therapy in the amount of 30 Gy to the chest and mediastinum. Survival was assessed using the Kaplan and Mayer scale. **Results:** 1. At a survival period of 6 months, the results of relapse-free survival in the NCRT and NCT groups do not differ. 2. From 12 months to 5 years, the highest recurrence-

free survival rates are observed in the NHL group. 3. The overall five-year survival rate in the main group was $28.1\pm5.9\%$, in the NCT group - $10.4\pm3.8\%$ and - $5.8\pm2.0\%$ in the NCT + RT group.

Conclusions: The best recurrence-free survival results are observed in the NHLT group. Also, the largest number of cases of molars morphological response, correlated with the highest survival rates, also occurs in the NHL group.

KEY WORDS: Non-small cell lung cancer, neoadjuvant therapy, chemoradiotherapy, chemotherapy, overall survival

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):949-954

INTRODUCTION

Treatment of stage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer remains a difficult problem today. There was no unified strategy on this issue. In order to identify the optimal method for the treatment of this pathology, it is necessary to analyze the overall and relapse-free survival with existing treatment methods:

Lung cancer is a common type of disease in the world and the main cause of death in men.

Etiological causes of the disease:

1. Smoking - 85% of non-small cell lung cancer is associated with smoking;

2. Radon exposure;

3. Asbestos;

4. Dust pollution;

5. Ionizing radiation on the chest area in the anamnesis;6. Inhalation of air contaminated with metals and polycyclic hydrocarbons;

7. Pulmonary fibrosis;

8. Human immunodeficiency virus;

9. Heredity [1,2].

Small cell lung cancer is treated with chemotherapy, targeted therapy and immunotherapy, and non-small cell lung cancer is treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy and radical surgery, if necessary, adjuvant chemo or radiation therapy is performed [1].

Survival in stage IIIA of non-small cell lung cancer remains low even after a full course of treatment - 58% of patients do not live a year from the moment of diagnosis[1]. A clear strategy for the treatment of stage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer in some cases is dual or absent altogether. For example, the NCCN clinical protocol of 2020 shows the possibility of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy or neoadjuvant chemotherapy and adjuvant radiation therapy without specifying the number of courses and radiation regimen, and in the clinical protocols of the CIS countries they are mandatory and at least 3 courses of neoadjuvant chemotherapy are carried out. Radiation therapy is not considered mandatory [2,3].

The literature data found on pub med indicates that over the past 20 years, a large number of studies have been conducted, both case-control and retrospective studies, as well as randomized clinical trials and meta-analyses [4-6]. The research results are contradictory. Some indicate an increase in survival with the use of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy, others indicate that there is no difference with both methods. There is evidence that the use of chemoradiotherapy increases the likelihood of a complete morphological response (a

······································						
Complete Lines		Treatment methods				
Survival time	NHL	NHT	NHT + LT			
6 months	79.52 ± 5.06	59. ± 6.4	82.9 ± 4.7			
12 months	56.6 ± 6.3	27.5 ± 6.3	42.3 ± 6.4			
36 months	24.6 ± 5.7	0	6.5 ± 3.5			
5 years	19.5 ± 5.4	0	0			

Table I. Cumulative relapse-free survival with different methods of treatment of patients with stage III A of NSCLC

Cumulative relapse-free survival with different methods of treatment of patients with stage III A of NSCLC



Fig. 1. Cumulative unprecedented patient survival with malignant neoplasm of the lung III A stage

phenomenon when, after neoadjuvant treatment, areas of fibrosis are observed on the site of cytologically or histologically confirmed malignant cells), and a complete morphological response, in turn, is associated with an increase in survival. Perhaps such contradictory results are based on the lack of standardization of the number of courses of chemo and radiation therapy, the dosage of radiation therapy, types of linear accelerators and drugs for chemotherapy [2-8].

It should be noted that there is no convincing data in the literature on relapse-free survival in stage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer using different methods of neoadjuvant therapy [8-12].

It becomes obvious that it is necessary and promising to study the effectiveness of methods of neoadjuvant chemotherapy and chemoradiotherapy for stage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer under the conditions of standardized treatment and relapse-free survival for each of the methods.

THE AIM

The aim was to determine the relapse-free survival in patients with stage IIIA NSCLC after various types of neoadjuvant and adjuvant treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The work was carried out on the basis of the Department of Chest and mediastinal tumors of the National Cancer Institute, Ukraine. For the study, 3 groups of patients with stage IIIA NSCLC were taken, each of which consisted of 65 people. All patients underwent radical surgery in the volume of lobectomy, bilobectomy or pneumoneectomy. The first group of patients received neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy, the second group received neoadjuvant chemotherapy, the third group received neoadjuvant chemotherapy and adjuvant radiation therapy. Neoadjuvant radiation therapy was carried out in the amount of 30 SOD GY with a single dose of 2 GY, chemotherapy was 3-4 courses with Carboplatin or Cisplatin and Docetaxel or Paclitaxel.

The volume of examinations of patients in all 3 groups was standard:

A general blood test; Biochemical blood analysis; Coagulogram; Blood type and Rh factor test; Gastroscopy;






Fig. 3. Cumulative unprecedented survival of patients with malignant neoplasm of the lung III A stage NCT+RT (Kaplan-Meier)

CT of the chest, abdominal cavity and pelvis with intravenous contrast before treatment and before surgical treatment. After the treatment, the patients remained on the dispensary register.

Relapse-free survival was studied in all 3 groups. It was evaluated on the Kaplan and Major scale [13-17].

RESULTS

To analyze the effect of different treatment methods, calculations of cumulative relapse-free survival according to Kaplan and Mayer were used, and look like this:

Also installed:

1. At a survival period of 6 months, the results of relapse-free survival in the NCRT and NCT groups do not differ. There are distinct differences in the survival period of 12 months - in the NCRT group, better results are noted than in other groups. The lowest cumulative survival results were observed in the NCT group. At the 36-month survival period, the best results are observed in the NCRT group, the worst results in the NCT+RT group, and there are no cases of relapse-free survival at this time in the NCT group. At a survival period of 5 years, cases of relapse-free survival are noted only in the NCRT group.

2. NCRT shows advantages over other methods of neoadjuvant and adjuvant treatment in the long term.







survival with different methods of treatment of patients with stage IIIA of NSCLC

Fig. 5. Cumulative relapse-free

3.The overall five-year survival rate in the main group was $28.1\pm5.9\%$, in the NCT group - $10.4\pm3.8\%$ and - $5.8\pm2.0\%$ in the NCT + RT group.

DISCUSSION

To date, no single strategy has been identified for the treatment of stage IIIA NSCLC. NCCN assumes 3 main strategies - NCRT, NCT and NCT +RT, while drugs for chemotherapy are defined, but the dosage of radiation therapy is not indicated [18, 19].

There are many studies in this direction, but they do not give a complete picture of an unambiguous answer. There are case–control studies, non-randomized clinical trials, randomized clinical trials, meta-analyses that show contradictory results. None of the studies provided a sufficient number of materials with the same drugs for chemotherapy, the number of chemotherapy courses, and radiation therapy dosages. Therefore, some studies show the benefits of NCRT, some studies do not show the difference between NCRT and NCT, some studies show better results with NCT. There are no relevant data for NCT + RT, there are no data on the duration of relapse-free survival in the treatment of stage IIIA NSCLC [18-22].

Our study showed an advantage in relapse-free and overall survival of NCRT compared to other methods. The phenomenon of a complete morphological response was noted. Patients with a complete morphological response had significantly greater relapse-free and overall survival than the rest of the patients in their group. The predominant number of such patients was registered in the NCRT group.

Also, these studies show a tendency to improve survival in NCRT and further studies are required to prove the benefits of this technique with the identification of the optimal dosage of radiation therapy for patient survival.

CONCLUSIONS

This study allowed us to draw the following conclusions:

- 1. The duration of relapse-free survival is directly correlated with the duration of overall survival.
- 2. At a survival period of up to 6 months, the cumulative relapse-free survival rate is highest in the NCT + RT group, the cumulative relapse-free survival rates for the NCRT and NCT groups do not differ.
- 3. Since the period of survival of 12 months to the end of the study, the best indicators of relapse-free survival observed in the group NCRT.
- 4. Patients with the phenomenon of complete morphological response and the phenomenon of a high degree of morphological response had a significantly longer period of relapse-free survival and overall survival than other patients in their group. The largest number of patients with a complete morphological response was found in the NCRT group.

REFERENCES

- 1. National Cancer Registry of Ukraine 2022.
- 2. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines®) Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Version 3.2020. 2020 NCCN.org
- 3. Logan D.M., Lochrin C.A., Darling G. et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy for stage II or IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer after complete resection. Provincial Lung Cancer Disease Site Group. 1997;1(5):366-378.
- 4. Goss G., Paszat L., Newman T. E et al. Use of preoperative chemotherapy with or without postoperative radiotherapy in technically resectable stage IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer. Guideline Cancer Prev Control. Provincial Lung Cancer Disease Site Group. 1998;2(1):9-32.
- 5. Cardenal F., Palmero R. Treatment of resectablestage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer. J ThoracOncol. 2017;12(2):314-322. doi:10.1016/j. jtho.2016.09.122.
- 6. Yuankai S.I., Yan S., Jinming Y. et al. China experts consensus on the diagnosis and treatment of advanced stage primary lung cancer (2016 version). Asia-Pacific Journal of Guidelines/Consensus. 2016. doi: doi. org/10.1111/ajco.12608.
- 7. Gao S.J., Corso Ch.D., Wang E.H. et al. Timing of Surgery after Neoadjuvant Chemoradiation in Locally Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. 2016;12(2):314-322. doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2016.09.122.
- Koshy M., Fedewa S.A., Malik R. et al. Improved survival associated with neoadjuvant chemoradiation in patients with clinical stage IIIA (N2) non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2013;8(7):915-22. doi:10.1097/JT0.0b013e31828f68b4.
- 9. Shah A.A., Berry M.F., Tzao C et al. Induction chemoradiation is not superior to induction chemotherapy alone in stage IIIA lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012;93(6):1807-12. doi: 10.1016/j. athoracsur.2012.03.018.

- Zwitter M., Kovac V., Smrdel U., Strojan P. Gemcitabine, cisplatin, and hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy for locally advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer. Clinical Trial J ThoracOncol. 2006;1(7):662-6.
- 11. Reboul F.L. Radiotherapy and chemotherapy in locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer: preclinical and early clinical data. HematolOncolClin North Am 2004;18(1):41-53. doi: 10.1016/s0889-8588(03)00138-2.
- 12. Voong K.R., Feliciano J.L. Patient-reported outcome measures in definitive chemoradiation for non-small cell lung cancer. Affiliations expand. 2019. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2019.10.06.
- Zakharichev V., Bororov L., Shevchenko A., Maliarchuk K. Correlation of the degree of morphological response of the tumor with survival after complex treatment of resectable non-small cell lung cancer (NDRL) stage IIIA. Printed Collection of works of the P. L. Shupik National Medical Academy. 2019; 2;2(20):7.
- 14. Zakharichev V., Maliarchuk K. Effect of neoadjuvant chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy on treatment outcomes of Stage IIIA (N2) non-small cell lung cancer. Printed Collection of works of the P. L. Shupik National Medical Academy. 2018; 1;1(8):5 -11.
- 15. Zakharichev V., Maliarchuk K. Significance of the complete morphological response after neoadjuvant complex treatment of Stage IIIA respiratory non-small cell lung cancer. Printed experimental oncology. 2019; 7(7):10-11.
- Zakharichev V., Maliarchuk K. Development of indications for neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy in the complex treatment of stage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Printed Clinical Oncology. 2019;2(5):75-78.
- 17. Zakharichev V., Maliarchuk K. Correlation of complete morphological response (CMR) of a tumor with survival in multimodal treatment of Stage III A non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Collection of works of the P. L. Shupik National Medical Academy. 2020;1;3(5):32-34.
- 18. Or M., Liu B., Lam J., Vinod S et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of treatment-related toxicities of curative and palliative radiation therapy in non-small cell lung cancer. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):5939. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-85131-7.
- 19. Marulli G., Verderi F., Zuin A et al. Outcomes and prognostic factors of non-small-cell lung cancer with lymph node involvement treated with induction treatment and surgical resection. Interact CardiovascThorac Surg. 2014;19(2):256-62. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivu141.
- Spaggiari L., Casiraghi M., Guarize J. et al. Outcome of Patients With pN2"Potentially Resectable" Nonsmall Cell Lung Cancer Who Underwent Surgery After Induction Chemotherapy. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016;28(2):593-602. doi: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2015.12.001.
- 21. Ya-Ping Xu, Bo Li, Xiao-Ling Xu, Wei-Min Mao. (N2) Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Receiving Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy and/or Radiotherapy Prior to Surgical Resection: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Medicine (Baltimor). 2015;94(23):e879. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000000879.
- Yuqiao C., Xiong P., Yuan Z. et al. Comparing the benefits of chemoradiotherapy and chemotherapy for resectable stage IIIA/N2 non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. World J Surg Oncol. 2018; 16(1):8. doi: 10.1186/s12957-018-1313-x.

This work was performed at the National Cancer Institute, Kyiv, Ukraine.

ORCID and contributionship:

Kateryna A. Maliarchuk: 0000-0002-6095-2631^A Andrey V. Ganul: 0000-0002-7507-6419^B Bogdan O. Borisyuk: 0000-0001-8236-8973^C Leonid V. Bororov: 0000-0002-2088-6377 ^D Anatoly I. Shevchenko: 0000-0001-6474-199X^E Vladimir M. Sovenko: 0000-0002-1716-8091 ^F

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Kateryna A. Maliarchuk National Cancer Institute 33/43 Lomonosova st., 0322 Kyiv, Ukraine tel: + 380958263753 e-mail: maliarchuk.catherine@gmail.com

Received: 26.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
 D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

ESTABLISHMENT OF TYPES OF THE CONSTITUTIONS IN STUDENTS-ATHLETES AND IN STUDENTS-MEDICISTS WITH THEIR FURTHER ANALYSIS

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420106

Svitlana Yu. Karatieieva¹, Oleksandr M. Slobodian¹, Halyna I. Honchar², Volodymyr S. Nazarevych², Kseniya V. Slobodian¹, Andriy V. Korelianchuk³

¹ BUKOVINIAN STATE MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, CHERNIVTSI, UKRAINE

² UMAN STATE PEDAGOGICAL UNIVERSITY PAVLA TICHINY, UMAN, UKRAINE

³ YURIY FEDKOVYCH CHERNIVTSI NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, CHERNIVTSI, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: Establishing anthropometric parameters and determining the patterns of formation of types of constitution in students-athletes and medical students while studying in higher education.

Materials and methods: We conducted a study of anthropometric parameters on 129 first and second year students of higher educational institutions in Chernivtsi (aged 16 to 21). The vast majority of students - 121 (93.8%), were from 17 to 19 years, 16 years - 5 (3.9%), 21 years - 2 (1.5%), 21 years - 1 student (0.8%). Of these, 83 (64.4%) were male and 46 (35.6%) were female. All respondents are divided into two groups: the main group - 89 (69%), control group - 40 (31%). Among the students of the main group there were 62 (69.7%) male and 27 (30.3%) female. The control group consists of 21 (52.5%) men and 19 (47.5%) women. Students of the main group, in addition to physical activity, which was included in the program of their specialty, additionally engaged in the following sports: football - 40 (44.9%) students, volleyball - 18 (20.3%), tennis - 10 (11.2%), fitness - 9 (10.1%), basketball - 7 (7.9%), freestyle wrestling - 5 (5.6%). All students underwent anthropometric research, according to the method of VV Bunak in the modification by PP Shaparenko. Anthropometric survey included the definition of total (length and body weight) and partial dimensions - longitudinal, transverse, circumferential. Determination of the somatotype was performed by MV Chornorutsky based on the Pinier index L - (P + T), L - body length, P - weight, T - chest circumference. In hypostenics (asthenics) this index is more than 10, in hypersthenics less than 10, in normosthenics in the range from 10 to 30 and according to V.M. Shevkunenko, where Ind: length of the lower limb / height x 100. Based on the index, dolichomorphic type of structure of the lower limb corresponds to a value greater than 55, from 50 to 55 indicates a mesomorphic (middle) type of structure of the lower limb. If the figure is less than 50 - brachymorphic type of structure.

Results: The probable difference of types of the constitution of students of the main group for MV Chornorutsky on the based the Pinier index and VM Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index. So, between the asthenic type and the hypersthenic type of constitution, because in the main group, according to the Pinier index of asthenics - 26 (29.2%), while according to the Shevkunenko index - 3 (3.4%). Hypertensives according to the Pinier index are - 9 (10.1%), on the difference according to the Shevkunenko index - 25 (28%). The result of a study of students in the control group based on the Pinier index by MV Chornorutsky, and according to VM using the Shevkunenko index, Shevkunenko also showed a significant difference for all types of constitution: according to the Pinier index of normosthenics - 23 (57.5%), while according to the Shevkunenko index - 19 (47,%), according to the Pinier index - 7 (17.5%) – hypertensive, according to the Shevkunenko index - 25 (28%), according to Shevkunenko dolichomorphic type of constitution in students of the control group, was not observed during the study.

Conclusions: There is a significant discrepancy in terms of determining the types of constitution, according to MV Chornorutsky, based on the Pinier index and VM Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index. Based on this, it is necessary to further study this issue because the criteria and methods of evaluation, indices, analysis of index results and in order to find common approaches to the methodology of establishing the types of constitution remain unrelated.

KEY WORDS: students, anthropometry, type of the constitution

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):955-958

INTRODUCTION

One of the means of studying the state of human health is anthropometric assessment of its physical development with the determination of dimensional and component indicators [1-4]. The study of age norms and variants of somatic features should be combined with the establishment of relative proportional indicators of body parts and somatipological features of its structure.

These data will determine the standards of physical development, taking into account the periods of puberty and aging. In addition, these standards need to be periodically updated due to the acceleration processes taking place in society [5-7].

Also, somatotyping is an extremely relevant scientific field in sports today, as evidenced by a sufficient amount of both domestic and foreign data on the relationship of individual somatotypological and anthropometric parameters, both normal and to assess the risk of various pathological conditions [6-9].

In recent years, scientists have accumulated a significant amount of material that suggests that the constitution of the athlete's body is formed largely at the genetic level, because it is a set of individual morphological, physiological and mental properties of the body due to heredity [10-14].

Therefore, the success of the athlete depends mainly on these factors, it is important to study the constitution of the body and somatotype, based on the results of which it is possible to predict high results of future athletes [15-19].

THE AIM

Establishing anthropometric parameters and determining the patterns of formation of types of constitution in students-athletes and medical students while studying in higher education.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We conducted a study of anthropometric parameters on 129 first and second year students of higher educational institutions in Chernivtsi (aged 16 to 21). The vast majority of students - 121 (93.8%), were from 17 to 19 years, 16 years - 5 (3.9%), 21 years - 2 (1.5%), 21 years - 1 student (0.8%). Of these, 83 (64.4%) were male and 46 (35.6%) were female.

All respondents are divided into two groups: the main group - 89 (69%), are first-year students of the Faculty of Physical Culture and Human Health of Chernivtsi National University named after Yuriy Fedkovych, control group - 40 (31%) - college students and students Faculty of Dentistry, Bukovynian State Medical University, Chernivtsi.

Among the students of the main group there were 62 (69.7%) male and 27 (30.3%) female. The control group consists of 21 (52.5%) men and 19 (47.5%) women. Students of the main group, in addition to physical activity, which was included in the program of their specialty, additionally engaged in the following sports: football - 40 (44.9%) students, volleyball - 18 (20.3%), tennis - 10 (11.2%), fitness - 9 (10.1%), basketball - 7 (7.9%), freestyle wrestling - 5 (5.6%).

The subjects of the control group were loaded with hours of physical education, according to the curriculum of their specialty and did not additionally play sports.

All students underwent anthropometric research, according to the method of VV Bunak in the modification by PP Shaparenko [1, 3, 9], in accordance with the requirements of anthropometric research, which ensures the accuracy of measurements and allows to compare results. Anthropometric survey included the definition of total (length and body weight) and partial dimensions - longitudinal, transverse, circumferential.

All anthropometric measurements were performed in the morning, on an empty stomach, on the right and left parts of the body [1, 9].

Determination of the somatotype was performed by MV Chornorutsky based on the Pinier index L - (P + T), L - body length, P - weight, T - chest circumference. In hypostenics (asthenics) this index is more than 10, in hypersthenics less than 10, in normosthenics in the range

from 10 to 30 and according to V.M. Shevkunenko, where Ind: length of the lower limb / height x 100. Based on the index, dolichomorphic type of structure of the lower limb corresponds to a value greater than 55, from 50 to 55 indicates a mesomorphic (middle) type of structure of the lower limb. If the figure is less than 50 - brachymorphic type of structure [2].

All obtained results were statistically processed.

RESULTS

Having determined the somatotypes among 129 first and second year students of higher educational institutions in Chernivtsi, according to MV Chornorutsky, on the basis of the Pinier index, the following data were obtained that the normosthenic type of constitution was in 77 (59.6%) students, asthenic (hypostenic) in 36 (28%), and hypersthenic type in 16 (12.4%) students.

So, according to the results obtained, the largest number of students are normosthenics, and the smallest are hypersthenic, among all students.

During the analysis in both groups separately, we obtained the following results:

the main group, where normosthenics are - 54 (60.7%), asthenics - 26 (29.2%), hypertensives - 9 (10.1%);

control group, in which 23 (57.5%) are normosthenics, 10 (25%) are asthenics and 7 (17.5%) are hypersthenics.

Based on the results, a comparison of the both study groups, it was determined that the normosthenic type of constitution predominates, fewer students with asthenic type and the smallest number in both groups - hypersthenic.

When determining the type of lower extremity constitution of the studied students of both groups, using the Shevkunenko index, the following data were obtained that the main group is dominated by mesomorphic type of lower extremity constitution - 61 (68.5%), brachymorphic type - 25 (28.0%), respectively dolichomorphic type was observed in 3 (3.4%) students.

In the study of students in the control group (40 students), according to the Shevkunenko index, brachymorphic type of constitution prevails - 21 (52.5%), mesomorphic in 19 (47,0%) students, dolichomorphic type of constitution, was not observed during the study.

Based on the results, a comparison of both study groups by V.M. Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index, it was determined that in the main group the mesomorphic type prevails over the brachimorphic type, and in the control group, on the contrary, more students with the brachimorphic type of constitution than with the mesomorphic one. At the same time, as in the main group with dolichomorphic type of constitution the number of subjects was small, in the control group this type of constitution was not observed at all.

So, between the asthenic type and the hypersthenic type of constitution, because in the main group (89 students), according to the Pinier index of asthenics - 26 (29.2%), while according to the Shevkunenko index - 3 (3.4%) students. Hypertensives according to the Pinier index are - 9

(10.1%), on the difference according to the Shevkunenko index - 25 (28%).

So, summarizing the data we can conclude that there are significant differences in determining the types of constitution, according to MV Chornorutsky, based on the Pinier index and VM Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index.

DISCUSSION

The our opinion, the difference between the somatotypes of student-athletes and medical students is that athletes in the relevant sports have physical activity on the muscles of the lower extremities, and as a result increase not only comprehensive anthropometric parameters, but also longitudinal, which are used when determining the Shevkunenko index.

So, taking into account the results of the study of students of the main group, the difference between the types of constitution according to M.V. Chornorutsky, based on the Pinier index and V.M. Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index [11].

Analyzing the research data of the students of the control group on the basis of the Piné index according to M.V. Chornorutsky, and according to V.M. Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index, we can also note a significant difference for all types of constitution: according to the Pinier index of normosthenics - 23 (57.5%), while according to the Shevkunenko index - 19 (47,%), according to the Pinier index - 7 (17.5%) - hypertensive, according to the Shevkunenko index - 25 (28%) students, according to MV According to Chornorutsky, asthenics - 10 (25%), while according to the Shevkunenko index soft the control group, was not observed during the study.

Considering the differences between the methods of determining the types of constitution according to M.V. Chornorutsky, based on the Pinier index and V.M. Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index, it is not possible to use these techniques for the relevant sports for further sports selection.

Based on this, it becomes possible that further study of this issue is necessary because the criteria and methods of evaluation, indices, analysis of index results and in order to find common approaches to the methodology for establishing types of constitution remain unclear.

CONCLUSIONS

Significant differences in the types of constitution according to MV Chornorutsky, based on the Pinier index and VM Shevkunenko, using the Shevkunenko index. namely, between the asthenic type and the hypersthenic type of constitution, because in the main group, according to the Pinier index of asthenics - 26 (29.2%), while according to the Shevkunenko index - 3 (3.4%), hypertensives according to the Pinier index, they make up 9 (10.1%), and according to the Shevkunenko index, they make up 25 (28%).

2. Further study of the criteria and methods of determining the patterns of formation of types of constitution, because the criteria and methods of evaluation, indices and analysis of the results of index indicators are not clarified.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hliadia S.O., Boreiko N.Iu., Yushko O.V. Antropometrychni vymiriuvannia i otsinka funktsionalnoho stanu. Metodychni rekomendatsii do praktychnoi roboty dlia studentiv NTU «KhPI» dennoi formy navchannia usikh spetsialnostei z dystsypliny «Fizychne vykhovannia». Kharkiv. 2021, 25p. (in Ukrainian).
- 2. Vovk Yu.M., Vovk O.lu. Indyvidualni anatomichna minlyvist ta yikh kliniko-morfolohichne znachennia. Kharkiv: FOP Bronin OV. 2019, 188p. (in Ukrainian).
- 3. Andriichuk V.M. Zakonomirnosti pokaznykiv fizychnoho rozvytku yunakiv pid chas navchannia u vyshchykh navchalnykh zakladakh. Dysertatsiia na zdobuttia naukovoho stupenia doktora medychnykh nauk. 2017, 325p. (in Ukrainian).
- Vynnyk N.M., Onopriienko O.M. Metody vyznachennia morfofunktsionalnoho rozvytku studentskoi molodi. Navchalno – metodychnyi posibnyk. Cherkasy. 2015, 76p.(in Ukrainian).
- 5. Huminskyi Yu.I. Zakonomirnosti richnykh zmin somatometrychnykh ta spirometrychnykh pokaznykiv yunakiv (studentiv ta viiskovosluzhbovtsiv). Biomedical and Biosocial 306 Anthropology. 2015; 24: 152-158.(in Ukrainian).
- Hrynkiv M.Ia. Anatomiia liudyny z osnovamy morfolohii: navch. posibn.prakt. Lviv; LDUFK im. Ivana Boberskoho. 2020, 252 p. (in Ukrainian).
- 7. Danylovych V.A. Obuchenye metodolohyy yssledovanyia v sfere fyzycheskoi kulturы y sporta v aspyranture: avtoref. dys. kand. ped. nauk. Mynsk. 2013, 26 p.(In Belarus).
- Yedynak H., Mysiv V. Somatotyp i fizychne zdorovia pidlitkiv. Visnyk prykarpatskoho universytetu. 2013; 18: 3 – 9. (in Ukrainian).
- 9. Shaparenko P.F. Antropometriia. Vinnytsia: Drukarnia Vinnytskoho derzhavnoho medychnoho universytetu im. M.I. Pyrohova. 2000, 71 p. (in Ukrainian).
- Adamčák Š., Nemec M., Bartík P. Opinions of primary school students on taking part in sport activities in selected regions of Slovakia. Journal of Physical Education and Sport. 2017; 17(1): 74-83. doi: 10.7752/ jpes.2017.s1012.
- 11. Arnold J.F., Sade R.M. Wearable Technologies in Collegiate Sports: The Ethics of Collecting Biometric Data From Student-Athletes.Am J Bioeth. 2017;17 (1): 67-70. doi:10.1080/15265161.2016.1251648.
- 12. Constantini N., Mann G. Sports Medicine. Harefuah. 2016; 155 (6): 333-334.
- 13. Jenoure P. Sports Medicine in our four neighbour countries. Swiss Sports&Exercise Medicine. 2016; 64 (4): 8-12.
- Gafiatulina N.K., Makadey L.I., Gluzman I.V. et al. The role of healthsaving technologies in the process of students educational and professional socialization. Eur-Asian Journal of BioSciences. 2019; 13(2):1557 – 1563.
- Hageman J.R. Current Educationon Sports Medicine an dan On going Commitment to Our Patients. PediatrAnn. 2017; 46 (3): 78. doi:10.3928/19382359-20170220-01.
- Kutseryb T., Vovkanych L., Hrynkiv M. et al. Peculiarities of the somatotype of athletes with different directions of the training process. Journal of Physical Education and Sport. 2017; 17(1): 431-435. doi: 10.7752/jpes.2017.01064.

- 17. ledynak G., Galamandjuk L., Kyselytsia O. et al. Special aspects of changes in physical readiness indicators of young men with different somatotypes between 15 and 17 years of age. Journal of Physical Education and Sport. 2017; 17(4): 2690-2696. doi: 10.7752/jpes.2017.04311.
- 18. Netter Frank H. Clinical anatomy. 4th Edition. Elsevier. 2019, 630p.

ORCID and contributionship:

Svitlana Y. Karatieieva: 0000-0003-1836-8337^{A, B} Oleksandr M. Slobodian: 0000-0572-0444-2072^{C, F} Halyna.I. Honchar: 0000-0003-2690-4326^D Volodymyr S. Nazarevych: 0000-0002-9499-8953^F Kseniya.V. Slobodian: 0000-0001-7872-6731^E AndriyV. Korelianchuk: 0000-0003 – 4268 – 1548^C

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Svitlana Y. Karatieieva Bukovinian State Medical University 2 Theatralna str. 58002 Chernivtsi, Ukraine tel: +380662670935 e-mail: Karatsveta@gmail.com

Received: 08.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis, D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

THE RELATIONSHIPS OF IRS-1 POLYMORPHISM WITH HEMODYNAMIC DISORDERS IN HYPERTENSIVE PATIENTS DEPENDING ON BODY WEIGHT AND METABOLIC COMORBIDITY

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420107

Valentyna Psarova¹, Maryna Kochuieva², Inna Gogunska³, Olha Shchur⁴, Gennadii Kochuiev⁴, Hanna Tymchenko⁴ ¹SUMY STATE UNIVERSITY, SUMY, UKRAINE

²V. N. KARAZIN KHARKIV NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, KHARKIV, UKRAINE

³STATE INSTITUTION "INSTITUTE OF OTOLARYNGOLOGY NAMED AFTER PROF. O.S. KOLOMIYCHENKO OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF MEDICAL SCIENCES OF UKRAINE", KYIV, UKRAINE

⁴KHARKIV MEDICAL ACADEMY OF POSTGRADUATE EDUCATION, KHARKIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: The aim was to study the relationships of IRS-1 gene polymorphism with indicators of the structural and functional state of the heart and blood vessels in patients with arterial hypertension under conditions of different metabolic comorbidity and body weight.

Materials and methods: We examined 340 patients with arterial hypertension with different body weight and different types of metabolic comorbidity and 30 healthy individuals aged 45-55. Anthropometric, Biochemical, Molecular genetic methods, Instrumental, Statistical methods were used.

Results: The presence of G/R + R/R genotypes in hypertensive patients with normal body weight was associated with an increase in intima-media thickness (CIMT), pulse wave velocity of carotid artery (cPWV) and lower endothelium-dependent vasodilatation (EDVD) compared with G/G genotype carriers. Hypertensive patients with obesity, carriers of G/R and R/R genotypes displayed more pronounced similar changes in vascular remodeling (higher CIMT, cPWV and lower EDVD) and as well as cardiac remodeling (larger sizes and left ventricular mass (LVM)) compared with G/G genotype carriers. Overweight carriers of the G/R + R/R genotypes were characterized by enlargement of LVM and its sizes, a higher CIMT indicator, but this effect was less than in the comorbidity of hypertension and obesity. In hypertensive patients with hypertension, obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus, the presence of G/R + R/R genotypes was associated with an increase in left ventricular mass index (LVMI) and CIMT.

Conclusions: The relationships of IRS-1 polymorphism with indicators of cardiovascular remodeling in hypertensive patients depending on body weight and the presence of various metabolic comorbidity have been established.

KEY WORDS: arterial hypertension, insulin receptor substrate-1 gene, metabolic comorbidity, genetic polymorphism

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):959-964

INTRODUCTION

For many years hypertension concerned being a sort of an epidemic, having a leading position in terms of prevalence and overall mortality and is often associated with obesity (OB) and overweight [1, 2]. Genetic predisposition to hypertension is manifested under the influence of environmental factors - high-calorie diet, excessive fat intake and low physical activity [3, 4]. These environmental factors contribute to the development and progression of components of the metabolic syndrome in hypertension due to impaired expression of genes that control the signal of insulin, polymorphic lipid disorders, defects in enzymes of glucose metabolism [4, 5].

A number of studies have shown that gene polymorphism has a greater impact on the hypertension course and complications than on its development [6]. A significant number of studies are devoted to the study of genetic polymorphism of key components of RAAS [7, 8]. Some provisions regarding the expression and polymorphism of various AH genes and their relationship with blood pressure levels and the degree of hypertensively-associated organ lesions remain discussed and actively studied [6, 9].

According to most researchers, the most significant predictors of hypertension and obesity are hereditary risk factors. At the same time, despite significant advances in genetic research, there are conflicting views on the role of gene expression and genetic polymorphism in the development and course of disease in different patient populations, as well as their impact on the drug therapy effectiveness [4, 9, 10].

Hyperinsulinemia and IR largely determine the severity of cardiovascular complications in patients with hypertension and obesity. Recently published results of clinical and experimental studies indicate that IR causes a violation of the physiological mechanisms of vasodilation. The action of insulin on the endothelium is mediated by its own receptors and is realized through a multistage signaling system associated with increased synthesis of nitric oxide

	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Group 5
Genotype	AH + obesity	AH and normal body weight	AH and overweight	AH, obesity and type 2 diabetes	The test group
	n=200	n=50	n=50	n=40	n=30
G/G	110 (55%) ¹⁻⁵	32 (64%) ²⁻⁵	22 (44%) ^{2-3, 3-5}	16 (40%) ^{2-4, 4-5}	25 (83,4%)
G/R+ R/R	90 (45%) ¹⁻⁵	18 (36%)	28 (56%) ³⁻⁵	24(60%)4-5	5(16,6%)

Note. 1-5 - statistically significant differences between groups 1 and 5;2-3 - statistically significant differences between groups 2 and 3; 2-4 - statistically significant differences between groups 2 and 4; 2-5 - statistically significant differences between groups 2 and 5; 3-5 - statistically significant differences between groups 3 and 5;4-5 - statistically significant differences between groups 3 and 5;4-5 - statistically significant differences between groups 3 and 5;3-5 - statistically significant differences between groups 4 and 5.

(NO). In patients with hypertension in the conditions of IR significantly induced NO endothelium-dependent vasodilation (EDVD) [11].

Presence of two components: genetic (hereditary) and acquired is clearly traced in the IR development [12]. Despite the fact that IR has a clear genetic condition, the exact genetic disorders that underlie it have not yet been identified. That indicates its polygenic nature. One of the most recognized polymorphisms of the IRS-1 gene, which is associated with the development of IR in many populations, is G972R - polymorphism [13, 14].

The results of numerous studies of IRS-1 polymorphism have proved its association with the development of type 2 diabetes in different populations [13–17], but there are insufficient data on its influence on the formation of comorbidity of hypertension and obesity, in particular, at the stage of IR absence.

THE AIM

The aim was to study the relationships of IRS-1 gene polymorphism with indicators of the structural and functional state of the heart and blood vessels in patients with arterial hypertension under conditions of different metabolic comorbidity and body weight.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Clinical - anamnestic with office measurement and home blood pressure monitoring in accordance with the 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of AH [1] - to assess the clinical manifestations of AH and study the etiological factors of the disease. Anthropometric - to assess the degree of obesity and diagnose abdominal obesity height, body weight, body mass index, waist circumference, thigh volume, index «waist – thigh" were determined. The insulin concentration, fasting glycemia were determined for calculating the HOMA index. Molecular genetic methods using polymerase chain reaction - established the presence of genetic polymorphisms G972R gene IRS-1 (genotypes G/G, G/R and R/R). Instrumental - to assess the structural and functional state of the heart and blood vessels the ultrasound scanner "IMAGIC Agile" was used.

Left ventricular diastolic function was evaluated by pulmonary artery blood flow and transmitral diastolic blood flow in pulsed Doppler with the determination of the following parameters: maximum early LV filling rate in spectral mode (E), maximum late (atrial) filling speed (A), ratio of maximal rates of early and late filling of LV at spectral mode (E/A), time of isovolumic relaxation of LV (IVRT), time of deceleration early diastolic flow rate (DT), maximum early LV filling rate at tissue mode (e'), mean pulmonary artery pressure (AP) by Kitabatake, ratio of E and e' (E/e'). For studying endothelial function, the degree of endothelium-dependent vasodilation (EDVD) in reactive hyperemia was determined in all patients according to the method of Celermajer D.S. in the modification of the method by Ivanova O.V. [18, 19]. We measured the intima media thickness (CIMT) of the carotid artery according to the generally accepted method. The pulse wave velocity (PWV) in the carotid artery (cPWV) was determined by the W-Track method; determination of the PWV in the abdominal aorta (aPWV) was performed using a phased sensor.

Difference between SBP and DBP evaluated as pulse BP. Average BP was calculated by the formula:

Average $BP = 0.42 \times (SBP - DBP) + DBP$

The volumes of left and right atria (LAV and RAV, respectively), end-systolic and end-diastolic diameters (LVESD and LVEDD, respectively) of the left ventricle (LV), diameters of LA and aorta (LAD and AD, respectively) were evaluated. The ejection fraction (EF) was calculated by the formula:

EF = (EDV - ESV) / EDV,

where ESV and EDV are the end-systolic and end-diastolic LV volumes, respectively.

The thickness of the posterior wall of the LV and the thickness of the interventricular septum in the systole (TPWs and TIVSs, respectively) and diastole (TPWd and TIVSd, respectively) were measured. The relative wall thickness of the LV (RWT) was calculated by the formula: RWT = (TPWd + TIVSd) / LVEDD

The LV myocardial mass index (LVMI) was calculated as the ratio of the LV myocardial mass (LVM) to the surface area of the body (S):

LVMI = LVM' / S

The statistical processing of the obtained data was carried out using the package of statistical software "SPSS 17" (IBM), Microsoft Office Exel-2003. The data are presented as mean values \pm standard deviation. Significance was set at a p value of < 0.05 in all cases. **Table II.** Comparative evaluation of hemodynamic parameters of obese hypertensive patients and obese hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes depending on the genotypes G/G and G/R + R/R of the IRS-1 gene

	A	AH + obesity		AH + obesity + type 2 diabetes			
Indicators	G/G	G/R + R/R	р	G/G	G/R + R/R	р	
	n = 110	n = 90		n = 16	n = 24		
Weight [kg]	97,15 ± 10,77	105,41 ± 9,08	0,000	103,25 ± 7,85	100,63±7,64	0,199	
BMI [kg/m2]	33,36 ± 2,76	36,58 ± 1,49	0,000	34,49 ± 0,40	36,01 ± 1,05	0,003	
Waist [cm]	106,70 ± 7,61	108,79 ± 7,30	0,051	107,56 ± 0,73	105,71 ±9,47	0,122	
Hip [cm]	117,34 ± 8,84	114,14 ± 7,45	0,007	107,38 ± 6,62	110,58 ± 6,88	0,163	
Waist-to-hip ratio	0,92 ± 0,11	0,96 ± 0,10	0,005	1,00 ± 0,11	0,96 ± 0,09	0,126	
HOMA-IR	3,03 ± 1,15	3,87 ± 1,38	0,000	6,16 ± 0,97	9,04 ± 0,86	0,000	
SBP [mm Hg]	172,74 ± 4,08	171,74 ± 4,75	0,102	166,38 ± 2,90	166,17 ± 2,79	0,772	
DBP [mm Hg]	101,69 ± 3,16	101,17 ± 2,92	0,228	98,63 ± 1,86	99,33 ± 1,76	0,199	
Heart rate [bpm]	71,65 ± 1,88	71,80 ± 1,95	0,571	72,56 ± 1,36	72,75 ± 1,45	0,825	
Pulse BP [mm Hg]	71,05 ± 3,69	70,58 ± 4,32	0,110	67,75 ± 3,96	66,83 ± 3,61	0,334	
Average BP [mm Hg]	131,53 ± 3,08	131,39 ± 3,14	0,511	127,08 ± 1,31	127,40 ± 1,38	0,709	
CIMT [mm]	0,88 ± 0,08	0,95 ± 0,08	0,000	0,93 ± 0,09	0,98 ± 0,05	0,037	
CIMT bifurcation [mm]	1,34 ± 0,16	1,38 ± 0,15	0,076	1,34 ± 0,13	1,37 ± 0,18	0,610	
cPWV [m/s]	8,34 ± 1,01	8,85 ± 1,11	0,001	8,87 ± 0,94	9,03 ± 1,07	0,669	
aPWV [m/s]	8,36 ± 0,97	8,63 ± 1,14	0,077	9,12 ± 1,23	8,94 ± 1,32	0,825	
EDVD (%)	7,09 ± 1,24	6,69 ± 1,01	0,015	6,76 ± 0,60	6,51 ± 0,67	0,264	
TIVSd [cm]	1,15 ± 0,12	1,20 ± 0,11	0,008	1,16 ± 0,06	1,20 ± 0,10	0,314	
TIVSs [cm]	1,44 ± 0,16	1,50 ± 0,14	0,005	1,39 ± 0,09	1,48 ± 0,12	0,008	
TPWd [cm]	1,17 ± 0,13	1,20 ± 0,15	0,176	1,16 ± 0,10	1,19 ± 0,15	0,508	
TPWs [cm]	1,58 ± 0,32	1,64 ± 0,38	0,222	1,44 ± 0,18	1,57 ± 0,32	0,147	
LVEDD[cm]	4,84 ± 0,33	4,95 ± 0,34	0,017	4,7 ± 0,16	4,96 ± 0,39	0,036	
LVESD[cm]	3,17 ± 0,26	3,28 ± 0,27	0,006	3,09 ± 0,13	3,27 ± 0,34	0,126	
EDV [mL]	110,34 ±18,31	116,54 ±19,54	0,022	103,20 ± 8,54	116,93 ±21,99	0,036	
ESV [mL]	40,51 ± 8,53	43,81 ± 9,17	0,010	37,83 ± 3,85	43,99 ± 11,69	0,126	
EF (%)	63,35 ± 3,64	62,55 ± 2,84	0,089	63,33 ± 2,34	62,76 ± 3,30	0,858	
LVM [g]	254,43 ±64,97	276,17 ±68,38	0,023	240,34 ±29,25	274,81 ±67,58	0,090	
LVMI [g/m ²]	122,22 ±30,37	128,79 ±32,23	0,140	113,68 ±13,71	130,27 ±31,53	0,038	
RWT	0,48 ± 0,04	$0,48 \pm 0,05$	0,716	0,49 ± 0,03	$0,\!48 \pm 0,\!04$	0,517	
LAD [mm]	38,44 ± 3,07	38,07 ± 3,40	0,419	38,01 ± 4,04	33,19 ± 1,44	0,270	
AD [mm]	33,31 ± 1,83	32,92 ± 0,83	0,205	32,66 ± 0,81	17,18 ± 3,51	0,581	
Mean pulmonary AP [mm Hg] by Kitabatake	16,12 ± 3,48	16,50 ± 2,87	0,400	17,30 ± 2,71	17,18 ± 3,51	0,923	
RAV [mL]	40,13 ± 5,34	38,53 ± 3,86	0,018	37,44 ± 2,84	39,55 ± 5,02	0,362	
LAV [mL]	52,51 ± 5,21	51,41 ± 4,57	0,121	50,56 ± 3,37	52,19 ± 3,60	0,544	
e´[cm/s]	11,58 ± 2,34	11,38 ± 2,09	0,537	10,83 ± 2,68	10,96 ± 1,69	0,679	
E [cm/s]	67,01 ± 12,30	66,95 ± 6,93	0,970	64,01 ± 7,33	68,49 ± 12,43	0,143	
A [cm/s]	79,78 ± 11,84	77,32 ± 9,33	0,110	75,30 ± 8,95	72,42 ± 12,54	0,314	
E/A	0,85 ± 0,18	0,87 ± 0,11	0,330	0,85 ± 0,08	0,97 ± 0,24	0,095	
DT [s]	0,16 ± 0,11	0,15 ± 0,07	0,435	0,15 ± 0,04	0,15 ± 0,04	1,000	
IVRT [s]	0,12 ± 0,02	0,12 ± 0,03	0,896	0,11 ± 0,02	0,10 ± 0,02	0,155	
E/e′	5,91 ± 1,12	6,05 ± 1,13	0,374	6,26 ± 1,78	6,47 ± 1,78	0,517	

BP - blood pressure; DBP - diastolic blood pressure; SBP - systolic blood pressure; A - maximum late (atrial) filling speed; AP - artery pressure; DT - time of deceleration early diastolic flow rate; E - filling rate in spectral mode; e - maximum early LV filling rate at tissue mode; E/A - ratio of maximal rates of early and late filling of LV at spectral mode; E/e - ratio of E and e; IVRT - time of isovolumic relaxation of LV; EDVD - endothelium-dependent vasodilatation; EF - ejection fraction; CA - carotid artery; IMT - intima-media thickness; LVM - left ventricular mass; LVMI - left ventricular mass index; PWV - pulse wave velocity (cPWV - carotid artery, aPWV - abdominal aorta); RAV - right atrial volume; LAV - left atrial volume; TIVSd - thickness of the interventricular septum (diastole); TIVSs - thickness of the interventricular septum (systole); TPWd - thickness of the posterior wall of the left ventricle in diastole; TPWs - the thickness of the posterior wall of the left ventricle in systole; LVEDD - end-diastolic diameters; EDV - end-diastolic volume; ESD - end-systolic volume; RWT - relative wall thickness; LAD - left atrial diameter; AD - aortic diameter.

Table III. Comparative evaluation of hemodynamic parameters of hypertensive patients with normal BMI and hypertensive overweight patients depending on the genotypes G / G and G / R + R / R of the IRS-1 gene

	AH + normal weight		AH			
Indicators	G/G	G/R + R/R		G/G	G/R + R/R	
	n = 32	n = 18	р	n = 22	n = 28	р
Weight [kg]	68,06 ± 5,20	70,39 ± 6,58	0,275	77,77 ± 7,31	85,39 ± 8,25	0,001
BMI [kg/m2]	23,76 ± 0,75	23,83 ± 0,78	0,824	27,02 ± 1,53	28,46 ± 1,59	0,002
Waist [cm]	79,22 ± 6,38	76,67 ± 4,79	0,192	80,18 ± 6,49	81,57 ± 6,81	0,564
Hip [cm]	95,44 ± 6,08	98,33 ± 5,51	0,075	98,00 ± 6,75	97,00 ± 5,20	0,755
Waist-to-hip ratio	0,83 ± 0,08	0,81 ± 0,06	0,061	0,82 ± 0,08	0,84 ± 0,06	0,385
HOMA-IR	1,98 ± 0,36	2,81 ± 0,22	0,000	2,09 ± 0,32	2,82 ± 0,42	0,000
SBP [mm Hg]	168,56 ± 5,24	170,56 ± 3,13	0,102	171,00 ± 4,78	172,61 ± 3,95	0,201
DBP [mm Hg]	101,41 ± 2,94	101,41 ± 2,17	0,132	100,77 ± 1,97	101,86 ± 2,89	0,287
Heart rate [bpm]	71,59 ± 2,14	71,59 ± 1,72	0,176	72,23 ± 1,85	71,64 ± 2,16	0,423
Pulse BP [mm Hg]	67,16 ± 4,29	69,16 ± 4,58	0,069	69,23 ± 5,00	70,75 ± 2,96	0,209
Average BP [mm Hg]	128,45 ± 3,47	127,65 ± 1,32	0,107	130,01 ± 2,40	131,57 ± 3,04	0,204
CIMT [mm]	0,81 ± 0,10	0,81 ± 0,12	0,002	0,82 ± 0,09	0,91 ± 0,08	0,000
CIMT bifurcation [mm]	1,12 ± 0,19	1,12 ± 0,23	0,002	1,23 ± 0,18	1,26 ± 0,13	0,605
cPWV [m/s]	7,40 ± 0,67	7,40 ± 1,48	0,013	7,75 ± 0,90	7,86 ± 0,72	0,682
aPWV [m/s]	8,04 ± 0,83	8,04 ± 1,23	0,176	8,39 ± 0,75	8,17 ± 0,61	0,319
EDVD (%)	9,03 ± 1,08	9,03 ± 1,70	0,004	8,46 ± 1,12	8,46 ± 0,92	0,815
TIVSd [cm]	1,10 ± 0,11	1,11 ± 0,10	0,856	1,10 ± 0,09	1,15 ± 0,07	0,033
TIVSs [cm]	1,50 ± 0,16	1,48 ± 0,16	0,754	1,47 ± 0,12	1,46 ± 0,12	0,907
TPWd [cm]	1,11 ± 0,09	1,15 ± 0,08	0,102	1,09 ± 0,11	1,15 ± 0,11	0,077
TPWs [cm]	1,65 ± 0,30	1,59 ± 0,23	0,592	1,51 ± 0,28	1,53 ± 0,22	0,653
LVEDD[cm]	4,78 ± 0,22	4,83 ± 0,24	0,379	4,78 ± 0,26	4,97 ± 0,26	0,007
LVESD[cm]	3,09 ± 0,16	3,14 ± 0,21	0,621	3,13 ± 0,19	3,22 ± 0,20	0,109
EDV [mL]	106,54 ±12,21	109,32 ±13,32	0,379	107,10 ±14,17	116,94 ±14,31	0,007
ESV [mL]	37,75 ± 4,82	39,31 ± 6,78	0,621	39,10 ± 5,75	41,83 ± 6,17	0,109
EF (%)	64,57 ± 2,19	64,16 ± 2,35	0,880	63,45 ± 3,20	64,26 ± 2,61	0,482
LVM [g]	227,64 ±33,55	239,65 ±29,96	0,157	227,93 ±35,61	259,80 ±40,32	0,007
LVMI [g/m ²]	128,11 ±19,57	131,42 ±15,89	0,518	120,69 ±16,83	130,21 ±17,85	0,068
RWT	0,47 ± 0,03	$0,47 \pm 0,04$	0,671	0,46 ± 0,03	0,46 ± 0,03	0,274
LAD [mm]	34,02 ± 2,55	32,28 ± 7,62	0,092	37,99 ± 3,29	37,10 ± 1,95	0,637
AD [mm]	33,10 ± 0,92	32,91 ± 0,79	0,223	32,75 ± 1,96	13,97 ± 1,40	0,056
Mean pulmonary AP [mm Hg] by Kitabatake	13,18 ± 2,41	13,77 ± 3,42	0,701	14,50 ± 2,45	13,97 ± 1,40	0,274
RAV [mL]	39,16 ± 3,21	38,61 ± 2,82	0,223	37,36 ± 5,34	40,09 ± 5,07	0,097
LAV [mL]	46,29 ± 4,18	44,82 ± 3,94	0,115	46,06 ± 5,06	48,05 ± 2,88	0,237
e´[cm/s]	12,16 ± 2,34	12,40 ± 2,74	0,770	12,36 ± 2,60	12,88 ± 3,15	0,674
E [cm/s]	66,36 ± 8,10	66,37 ± 11,13	0,679	70,67 ± 11,97	65,78 ± 11,20	0,305
A [cm/s]	76,51 ± 11,73	83,11 ± 8,01	0,054	71,27 ± 9,10	80,62 ± 12,03	0,004
E/A	0,89 ± 0,18	0,80 ± 0,12	0,056	1,00 ± 0,16	0,82 ± 0,13	0,001
DT [s]	0,26 ± 0,36	0,19 ± 0,18	0,524	0,15 ± 0,03	0,14 ± 0,03	0,324
IVRT [s]	0,11 ± 0,02	0,11 ± 0,02	0,701	0,11 ± 0,01	0,10 ± 0,02	0,229
E/e´	5,64 ± 1,18	5,58 ± 1,44	0,808	5,72 ± 1,38	5,75 ± 1,76	0,422

BP - blood pressure; DBP - diastolic blood pressure; SBP - systolic blood pressure; A - maximum late (atrial) filling speed; AP - artery pressure; DT - time of deceleration early diastolic flow rate; E - filling rate in spectral mode; e - maximum early LV filling rate at tissue mode; E/A - ratio of maximal rates of early and late filling of LV at spectral mode; E/e - ratio of E and e; IVRT - time of isovolumic relaxation of LV; EDVD - endothelium-dependent vasodilatation; EF - ejection fraction; CA - carotid artery; IMT - intima-media thickness; LVM - left ventricular mass; LVMI - left ventricular mass index; PWV - pulse wave velocity (cPWV – carotid artery, aPWV - abdominal aorta); RAV - right atrial volume; LAV - left atrial volume; TIVSd - thickness of the interventricular septum (diastole); TIVSs - thickness of the interventricular septum (systole); TPWd - thickness of the posterior wall of the left ventricle in diastole; TPWs - the thickness of the posterior wall of the left ventricle in systole; LVEDD - end-diastolic diameters; LVESD - end-systolic diameters; EDV - end-diastolic volume; ESD - end-systolic volume; RWT - relative wall thickness; LAD - left atrial diameter; AD - aortic diameter.

The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee. All participants were informed about the aim of the study and signed a written consent form.

RESULTS

According to the objectives of the study, 340 patients aged 45-55 were surveyed. Group 1 included 200 patients with AH with class I - II obesity, group 2 - 50 patients with AH and normal body weight, group 3 - 50 patients with AH and overweight, group 4 - 40 patients with AH, obesity and type 2 diabetes. The test group consisted of 30 healthy individuals without AH and obesity, according to the clinical-instrumental study data. Groups were formed by age and gender.

The prevalence of genotypes G/R and R/R in the polymorphism G972R of the IRS-1 gene in obese hypertensive patients is 45 %, that is 2.7 times higher than in the healthy group, 1.3 times higher than in the group with normal body weight and, accordingly, less 1.2 times and 1.3 times than in the group with excess body weight and triple comorbidity (AH, obesity and type 2 diabetes). The prevalence of G/G genotype in the G972R polymorphism of the IRS-1 gene in patients with AH with obesity is, respectively, 1.2 times and 1.5 times less than in patients with normal body weight and a group of healthy people, but 1.4 times more than with triple comorbidity. (Tab. I).

Hypertensive patients with obesity (Group 1), carriers of G/R and R/R genotypes displayed more severe vascular remodeling (higher CIMT (p = 0,000), cPWV (p = 0,001) and lower EDVD (p = 0,015)) and cardiac remodeling (larger sizes: TIVSd (p = 0,008), TIVSs (p = 0,005), LVEDD (p = 0,017), LVESD (p = 0,006), EDV(p = 0,022), ESV (p = 0,010) and LVM (p = 0,023) compared with G/G genotype carriers. (Tab. II).

The presence of G/R + R/R genotypes in hypertensive patients with normal body weight (Group 2) was associated with an increase in CIMT (p = 0.002), cPWV (p = 0.002) and lower EDVD (p = 0.004) compared with G/G genotype carriers. (Tab. III).

Overweight (Group 3) carriers of the G/R + R/R genotypes were characterized by enlargement of LVM (p = 0.007) and its sizes (LVEDD, EDV (p = 0.007 for both indicators)), a higher CIMT indicator (p = 0.000), but this effect was less than in the comorbidity of hypertension and obesity. (Tab. III).

In hypertensive patients with triple comorbidity, the presence of G/R + R/R genotypes was associated with an increase in left ventricular sizes, LVMI (p = 0.038) and CIMT (p = 0.037). (Tab. II).

DISCUSSION

Arterial hypertension (AH) is referred to as "regulatory disease" in which the activity and interaction of neurohumoral factors of blood pressure are disrupted, leading to structural changes in the heart and blood vessels. A feature of hypertensive heart in patients with metabolic syndrome (MS) is left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), inadequate blood pressure, as metabolic disorders themselves lead to structural and functional changes in the myocardium, myocardial microcirculation disorders and can provoke relaxation and myocardial infarction. This, in turn, contributes to the formation of left ventricular (LV) diastolic dysfunction and diastolic heart failure (HF) [20, 21].

Detection of marker gene polymorphisms associated with both CVD risk and overweight is due to the need to further study the contribution of the hereditary component to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular remodeling and the reasonable need to develop new methods for early diagnosis and treatment of non-resistant and resistant hypertension [22].

According to the results of the presented part of the scientific work in all studied groups, regardless of body weight and metabolic comorbidity, the IRS-1 polymorphism is more associated with the progression of the vascular remodeling than the cardiac one.

This proves the need for genetic screening of IRS-1 in patients with hypertension to detect G/R + R/R genotypes in order to strengthen control over the state of neurohumoral factors associated with the progression of cardiovascular remodeling in these groups of patients.

CONCLUSIONS

The relationships of IRS-1 polymorphism with indicators of cardiovascular remodeling in hypertensive patients depending on body weight and the presence of various metabolic comorbidity have been established.

REFERENCES

- 1. Williams B., Mancia G., Spiering W. et al. 2018 ESC/ESH guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2018;36(10):1953-2041.
- Whelton P.K., Carey R.M., Aronow W.S. et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ ACPM/AGS/APhA/ ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Hypertension. 2018;71(6):e13-115.
- Conen D., Cheng S., Steiner L.L. et al. Association of 77 polymorphisms in 52 candidate genes with blood pressure progression and incident hypertension: the Women's Genome Health Study. J Hypertens. 2009;27(3):476-83.
- Baranov V.S., Baranova E.V. Genom cheloveka, epigenetika mnogofaktornyih bolezney i personifitsirovannaya meditsina [Human genome, epigenetics of complex diseases, and personalized medicine]. Biosphere. 2012;4(1):76-85. (in Russian).
- Puzyirev V.P. Meditsinskaya patogenetika [Medical pathogenetics]. Vavilov Journal of Genetics and Breeding. 2014;18(1): 7-21. (in Russian).
- Delles C., Padmanabhan S. Genetics and Hypertension: Is It Time to Change My Practice? Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2012;28:296–304.

- Muzhenya D.V., Tuguz A.R., Lyisenkov S.P. et al. Rol polimorfizma genov komponentov renin-angiotenzinovoy sistemyi v razvitii serdechnososudistyih zabolevaniy, izbyitochnoy massyi tela i ozhireniya u zhiteley Respubliki Adyigeya [Role of gene polymorphism of the renin-angiotensin system components in development of cardiovascular diseases, excess body weight and obesity in inhabitants of the Adyghea Republic]. Vestnik of Saint Petersburg University. Ser.: Medicine. 2018;13(4):344-54. (in Russian).
- 8. Watkins W.S., Hunt S.C., Williams G.H. et al. Genotype-phenotype analysis of angiotensinogen polymorphisms and essential hypertension: the importance of haplotypes. J Hypertens. 2010;28(1):65-75.
- 9. Acelajado M.C., Hughes Z.H., Oparil S., Calhoun D.A. Treatmtnt of resistant and refractory hypertension. Circ Res. 2019;124(7):1061-70. DOI:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312156.
- 10. Puzyrev V.P., Makeeva O.F., Freidin M.B. Syntropy, genetic testing and personalized medicine. Personalized Medicine. 2010; 7(4): 399-405.
- 11. Matsuda M., Shimomura I. Roles of oxidative stress, adiponectin, and nuclear hormone receptors in obesity-associated insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2014;19(2):75-88.
- Guo X., Cheng S., Taylor K.D. et al. Hypertention genes are genetic markers for insulin sensitivity and resistance. Hypertention. 2005;45(4):799-803.
- 13. Burguete-Garcia A.I., Cruz-Lopez M., Madrid-Marina V. et al. Association of Gly972Arg polymorphism of IRS-1 gene with type 2 diabetes mellitus in lean participants of a national health survey in Mexico: a candidate gene study. Metabolism. 2010;59(1): 38-45.
- 14. Bodhini D., Radha V., Mohan V. Association Study of IRS1 Gene Polymorphisms with Type 2 Diabetes in South Indians. Diabetes technology & therapeutics. 2011;13(7):767-72.
- 15. Ahluwalia T.S., Allin K.H., Sandholt C.H. et al. Discovery of coding genetic variants influencing diabetes-related serum biomarkers and their impact on risk of type 2 diabetes. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2015;100(4):E664-71.
- 16. Shalimova A., Fadieienko G., Kolesnikova O. et al. The role of genetic polymorphism in the formation of arterial hypertension, type 2 diabetes and their comorbidity. J Current Pharmaceutical Design (USA). 2019;25:218-27.
- 17. Ahluwalia T.S., Allin K.H., Sandholt C.H. et al. Discovery of coding genetic variants influencing diabetes-related serum biomarkers and their impact on risk of type 2 diabetes. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2015;100(4):E664-71.
- Celermajer D.S., Sorensen K.E., Cooh V.M. et al. Noninvasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. Lancet. 1992;340: 1111–1115.
- Ivanova O.V., Rogoza A.N., Balahonova T.V. et al. Opredelenie chuvstvitelnosti plechevoy arterii k napryazheniyu sdviga na endoteliy, kak metod otsenki sostoyaniya endoteliy zavisimoy vazodilatatsii s pomoschyu ultrazvuka vyisokogo razresheniya u bolnyih s arterialnoy gipertoniey [Sensitivity of endothelium of the brachial artery to shear stress-method to evaluate endothelial function in patients with hypertension]. Cardiology. 1998; 3:37–42 (in Russian).

- 20. Nishida K., Otsu K. Inflammation and metabolic cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Res. 2017; 113 (4): 389-98. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx012.
- 21. Alpert M.A., Omran J., Bostick B.P. Effects of obesity on cardiovascular hemodynamics, cardiac morphology, and ventricular function. Curr Obes Rep. 2016;5(4):424-34.
- 22. Psarova V. Molekuliarno-henetychni i neirohumoralni mekhanizmy sertsevo-sudynnoho remodeliuvannia ta yikh korektsiia u khvorykh na esentsialnu arterialnu hipertenziiu iz suputnim ozhyrinniam [Molecular genetic and neurohumoral mechanisms of cardiovascular remodeling and their correction in patients with essential hypertension with concomitant obesity] [dissertation manuscript]. Kharkiv. 2020, 393 p.

The scientific work is a fragment of research work of the Department of Tuberculosis, Pulmonology and Family Medicine of Kharkiv Medical Academy of Postgraduate Education «Cellular-molecular and neurohumoral mechanisms of remodeling of target organs, their relationships and correction in patients with combined pathology», state registration number 0117U006894.

ORCID and contributionship:

Valentyna H. Psarova: 0000-0001-6890-272X ^{A-F} Maryna Kochuieva: 0000-0002-1516-2155 ^{A,B,D-F} Inna Gogunska: 0000-0001-6952-5057 ^{B,D} Shchur Olha: 0000-0002-1241-9314 ^{B,D} Gennadii Kochuiev: 0000-0003-1039-7489 ^{B,D} Hanna Tymchenko: 0000-0003-0949-7757^{B-C}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Valentyna Psarova Sumy State University 2 Rymskoho-Korsakova st., 40007 Sumy, Ukraine tel: +380958121386 e-mail: valentinapsareva27@gmail.com

Received: 25.04.2021 Accepted: 12.04.2022

 ${\bf D}-{\rm Writing}$ the article, ${\bf E}-{\rm Critical}$ review, ${\bf F}-{\rm Final}$ approval of the article

© creative commons

Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

 $[\]label{eq:alpha} \textbf{A} \text{-Work concept and design}, \textbf{B} - \text{Data collection and analysis}, \textbf{C} - \text{Responsibility for statistical analysis},$

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

SURGICAL TECHNIQUE IN LEIOMYOSARCOMA OF THE INFERIOR VENA CAVA DEPENDING ON ITS LOCATION

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420108

Vasil I. Rusin, Serhii O. Boiko, Fedir V. Horlenko, Vasil V. Rusin, Serhii Shandor S. Boiko, Oleksandr V. Syma UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To improve the outcomes of inferior vena cava (IVC) leiomyosarcoma, propose own classification of IVC segments, which correlates with surgical access, methodology, sequence and amount of surgery.

Materials and methods: In the period from 1991 to 2021 in the Transcarpathian Regional Clinical Hospital named after A. Novak and in the Transcarpathian Antitumor Center 8 patients with IVC leiomyosarcoma were operated. The prevalence of leiomyosarcoma in IVC was determined according to the division of IVC into 7 segments. Defeat of one segment of IVC was in 50% of cases, two - in 37.5%, three - in 12.5%. In 5 (62.5%) cases circular resection and alloprosthesis of IVC were performed; in 2 (25%) - circular resection, alloprosthesis of IVC and implantation of the right and left renal veins in the prosthesis; in 1 (12.5%) - circular resection, alloprosthesis of IVC and implantation of the left renal vein in the prosthesis. All surgeries were performed with laparotomy access (87.5% by Chevron type).

Results: The average operation time was 215 (160-320) minutes, the average blood loss was 305 (250-500) ml. Postoperative complications were recorded in 2 (25%) cases. There were no cases of pulmonary embolism, venous thrombosis, prosthesis thrombosis, perioperative mortality. In 7 (87.5%) cases, surgery was radical. The overall 1-year, 2-year and 3-year survival rates were 87.5%, 71.4% and 57.7%.

Conclusions: The division of IVC into 7 segments characterizes the detailed definition of the cranial limit of leiomyosarcoma and segmental involvement of IVC in the tumor process, which allows to choose the right surgical tactics, perform radical resection of IVC and maintain laminar blood flow to IVC and its tributaries.

KEY WORDS: leiomyosarcoma, inferior vena cava, resection, prosthesis

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):965-969

INTRODUCTION

The incidence of leiomyosarcoma in the structure of all malignant soft tissue sarcomas is about 10% [1]. However, vascular origin of leiomyosarcoma occurs in only 0.5% of cases and at the same time, the share of inferior vena cava (IVC) accounts for 60-90% of these tumors [2].

Leiomyosarcoma of IVC is one of the rare types of malignant soft tissue sarcoma of mesenchymal origin that develops from smooth muscle in the vein wall. Evidence of this is the nature of publications, which are based mainly on literature reviews and include own data presented on a caseby-case basis within up to 10 observations. Today, only two studies have been presented in the available literature, based on the results of the treatment of a large number of patients. Thus, in 1996 the results of the world experience of surgical treatment of 218 patients with leiomyosarcoma of IVC were published, and in 2015 the presented analysis included 377 cases [3,4]. The results of these studies have shown that radical surgical resection with a negative surgical margin is the most important factor in cancer-specific survival.

The radicalism of surgical treatment can be achieved through adequate exposure of the tumor and related organs and structures, which can be achieved through properly chosen surgical access. The most common access is median laparotomy, which is considered by most of surgeons and provides good visualization of any segment of the IVC [5]. Some authors prefer right-sided thoracoabdominal access [6], right-sided subcostal access [7] or double-side subcostal access [8]. When the suprahepatic segment of the IVC is affected or the tumor thrombus spreads towards the right atrium, it is necessary to use combined approach: median laparotomy and sternotomy [9].

The question of the choice of the amount of resection and reconstruction of the IVC and its visceral branches of the first order remains controversial [5,10,11].

The numerous of studies use a three-level classification of IVC segments according to C.J. Staley et al.[12]. The inconsistent approach to the division into IVC segments makes it difficult to interpret the data obtained to determine the spread of the tumor process.

Active introduction of IVC leiomyosarcoma surgery into clinical practice requires a revision of the approach to the classification of IVC segments, as this affects the personalized algorithm of surgical treatment of patients.

THE AIM

To improve the outcomes of IVC leiomyosarcoma, propose own classification of IVC segments, which correlates with surgical access, methodology, sequence and amount of surgery.



Fig. 1. Scheme of IVC segments: 1 – infrarenal; 2 – interrenal; 3 – suprarenal; 4 – retrohepatic; 5 – infradiaphragmatic; 6 – supradiaphragmatic; 7 – intracardiac

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In the period from 1991 to 2021 in the surgical department of the Transcarpathian Regional Clinical Hospital named after A. Novak and the Transcarpathian Antitumor Center performed surgery on 8 patients with leiomyosarcoma IVC: 7 women and 1 man, aged 45 to 74 years (mean – 57).

Color Doppler ultrasound and intravenous contrast computed tomography were performed during the examination. X-ray contrast phlebography was performed in 2 patients.

Based on the analysis of literature data and own experience of surgical treatment of tumor and hemorrhagic thrombosis of IVC, taking into account cranial border of venous obstruction, we used our own classification of IVC segments, according to which we consider 7 segments of IVC (Figure 1): 1) infrarenal – from the confluence of common iliac veins to the orifice of lower limit of the right renal vein; 2) interrenal – from the lower limit of the orifice of the right renal vein to the upper limit of the orifice of the left renal vein; 3) suprarenal – from the upper limit of the orifice of the left renal vein to the short hepatic veins; 4) retrohepatic – from the short hepatic veins; 5) infradiaphragmatic – from the upper limit of the orifice of the main hepatic veins to the lower limit of the diaphragm; 6) supradiaphragmatic– from the upper limit of the diaphragm to the right atrium; 7) intracardiac – penetration into the right atrium.

Intraluminal localization of the tumor was observed in 3 (37.5%), extraluminal – in 1 (12.5%), combined – in 4 (50%) patients. In 4 (50%) patients, the tumor was localized in one segment (in the infrarenal segment of IVC), while in 4 patients the tumor spread to several segments of IVC: in 1 (12.5%) – in infrarenal and interrenal, in 1 (12.5%) – in suprarenal, interrenal and suprarenal, in 1 (12.5%) – in suprarenal and retrohepatic segments of IVC, in 1 (12.5%) – in the infrarenal and interrenal segments of IVC with the right kidney invasion. The size of intraluminal tumors varied from 5 to 7 cm, extraluminal – from 12 to 17 cm in the largest dimension.

Surgical access: in one (12.5%) case a median laparotomy was performed, in 7 (87.5%) - a double-side subcostal laparotomy of the chevron type. To penetrate the right retroperitoneal space, a Cattel-Braash technique was performed, which involved mobilization of the cecum, ascending and hepatic curvature of the colon along the right side channel of the abdominal cavity along the Told's line to the level of common iliac vessels. The retroperitoneal tissue was stratified in a blunt and sharp pathway and the hepatic curvature of the colon and the ascending colon were removed downwards and medially. Small vessels were coagulated and large vessels were ligated. The hepato-colon and hepato-renal ligaments were dissected and Kocher's duodenum was extensively mobilized with careful gentle isolation of IVC and aorta, providing capacious access to the right kidney, duodenum, IVC, renal veins and aorta.

IVC were mobilized by dissecting the peritoneum on both sides of it. Performed mobilization of renal veins. Lumbar veins were ligated and dissected. IVC were first isolated in the interrenal and infrarenal segments, after which they were transferred to the suprarenal segment. During the mobilization of IVC, we imposed turnstiles and all 4 areas of interest: infrarenal and suprarenal segments of IVC, right and left renal veins.

In the case of intraluminal localization of the tumor, IVC intersected at a distance of at least 5 mm from the caudal limit of invasion of the tumor into the vein wall, its distal end was raised, which contributed to adequate revision of the posterior surface of the IVC where branches of lumbar veins can left which were not detected in front access. If the tumor was localized only in the infrarenal segment, then above the tumor by 5 mm, but below the renal veins, IVC intersected again and removed the drug in one block. When the tumor spread to the suprarenal segment, the upper limit of the IVC section passed above the renal veins, and the renal veins themselves were cut off from the IVC at a distance of 5 mm from their orifice. After that, end-to-end alloprosthesis and end-to-side one or both renal veins implantation was performed in the prosthesis (Figure 2 a, b, c, d).

In the case of extraluminal or combined tumor growth, the resection amount included the involved of IVC segment and



adjacent organs and tissues. In one (12.5%) case, when the tumor spread to the right kidney, one unit performed segmental resection of the IVC, right nephrectomy, prosthesis IVC and implantation of the left renal vein in the prosthesis (Figure 3 a b c).

In the case of involvement of a retrohepatic segment of IVC, the liver was mobilized by dissecting the entire ligaments. Mobilization of the right lobe of the liver continued toward the IVC, dissecting the hepato-renal and hepato-colonic ligaments and any other additional fixation apparatus of the right lobe of the liver. Additional short hepatic veins, which could be on the posterior surface of the liver in the area of the right and caudal lobes intersected between the imposed ligatures. Gentle movements were performed to rotate the right lobe of the liver using the piggyback technique to the left subcostal area. The piggyback technique of liver mobilization and Pringle maneuver were used in 1 (12.5%) case. After squeezing the hepato-duodenal ligament, we paused for up to 5 minutes, which helped reduce the volume of the liver and made it easier to rotate the liver.

Alloprosthesis of IVC were performed with polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) (n = 6) or Gore-tex (n = 2) prosthesis with a diameter of 18-22 mm. In 5 (62.5%) cases circular resection and alloprosthesis of IVC were performed; in 2 (25%) – circular resection, alloprosthesis of IVC and implantation of the right and left renal veins in the prosthesis; in 1 (12.5%) – circular resection, alloprosthesis of IVC and implantation of the left renal vein in the prosthesis.

IVC prosthetics began with the imposition of the cranial part of the anastomosis, followed by implantation of one or both renal veins. At each stage of the formed anastomosis used early restoration of venous return from the organs by local application of vascular clamps. The caudal part of the anastomosis was formed under conditions of complete recovery of venous return from one or both kidneys. Means of thermal ischemia of the kidneys were not used. Initial systemic heparinization and periodic local heparinization were used all the time during prosthesis suturing. In the early postoperative period up to 14 days used systemic administration of low molecular weight heparin in a prophylactic dose and then patients were prescribed an oral form of low molecular weight heparin in a prophylactic dose for 6 months.



Fig. 3. Combined nature of tumor growth of infrarenal and interrenal segments of IVC with spread in the right kidney, segmental resection and prosthesis of IVC with PTFE prosthesis with left renal vein implantation: a) tumor of combined growth of infrarenal and interrenal segments of IVC with spread in the right kidney (scheme); b-c) segmental resection and prosthesis of IVC with PTFE prosthesis with implantation of the left renal vein (type of surgical wound and scheme).

Postoperative complications were assessed according to the Clavien-Dindo classification. Throughout the follow-up period, signs of venous thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, myocardial infarction and kidney damage were monitored at standard postoperative visits and the overall survival of patients was studied.

Given that the study group of patients is less than 10 people, we used simple methods of statistical analysis using which we calculated the average values of indicators.

RESULTS

The average surgery time was 215 (160-320) minutes, the average blood loss was 305 (250-500) ml.

Postoperative complications were recorded in 2 (25%) cases (I-II severity according to the Clavien-Dindo classification). There were no cases of pulmonary embolism, venous thrombosis, prosthesis thrombosis, perioperative mortality.

In 7 (87.5%) cases, surgery was radical. One (12.5%) patient with large volume of the IVC invasion to the retrohepatic segment and the right lumbar muscle on histological examination revealed a positive surgical margin of the lumbar muscle. After 7 months, this patient developed a local recurrence in the right lumbar muscle and showed signs of disease progression in the form of multiple metastases in the liver and both lungs. The patient died 3 months after disease progression.

The overall 1-year survival was 87.5%. One patient is under observation for one year, the observation continues. The overall 2-year and 3-year survival was 71.4% and 57.7% respectively (among 7 patients).

DISCUSSION

During the characterization of IVC different variants of division into segments are used, which leads to the diagnosis of a more general location of the IVC, covering its long sections. The greatest use in clinical practice was the classification of S.J. Staley et al. (1967), according to which it is accepted to divide IVC on the level of renal and hepatic veins into three segments: lower (from the level of confluence of common iliac veins to the level of renal veins), middle – (including the level of renal and hepatic veins) and upper – (above hepatic veins to the atrium) [12]. The segments of IVC where the cranial border of the tumor can be localized are left out, because they are automatically absorbed by this classification and are part of either the middle or upper segments. A clear definition of the cranial border of the affected segment of IVC is directly reflected in the understanding of the level of involvement of IVC in the process and tactics of surgical treatment.

Coverage of the location of the leiomyosarcomaaffected segment of the IVC remains ambiguous. Thus, some authors point to the predominant invasion of the middle segment (from renal to hepatic veins) of IVC, which consists of two separate segments – suprarenal and retrohepatic and therefore, it is not known for sure what is the cranial limit of IVC invasions [9,13], while others indicate a predominant invasion of the infrarenal segment [10,14].

In addition, some authors detail the IVC invasions and provide data on the invasions of one, two or three segments [9]. We also apply a detailed characterization of the segmental spread of leiomyosarcoma by IVC. Thus, in our study, lesions of one segment of the IVC were in 50% of cases, two – in 37.5%, three – in 12.5%.

Based on our own classification approach to the division of IVC into segments, we propose the following algorithm for surgical treatment of IVC leiomyosarcoma: 1) in infrarenal, interrenal and suprarenal spread is performed laparotomy, radical resection of IVC with implantation in the prosthesis of renal veins, if they were involved in the process; 2) in retrohepatic, infradiaphragmatic and supradiaphragmatic spread

is performed laparotomy, diaphragmotomy (if necessary), piggyback liver mobilization technique and Pringle maneuver, radical resection of IVC with implantation in a prosthesis of renal or hepatic veins, if they were involved; 3) at intracardiac distribution the combined access – a thoracolaparotomy in the conditions of artificial blood circulation is carried out.

The most complex segments of IVC at the stage of mobilization are retrohepatic and intracardiac, because access to them is provided by mobilization of the liver and its rotation and diaphragmotomy or thoracotomy. The rest of the IVC segments are available to a wide range of surgeons. If, in most cases, intracardiac and supradiaphragmatic thrombi of IVC can be transferred by finger displacement of the apex of the thrombus into the infradiaphragmatic and sometimes retrohepatic segment of IVC, and removed, the localization of leiomyosarcoma in these segments of IVC involves radical incision.

CONCLUSIONS

The division of IVC into 7 segments characterizes the detailed definition of the cranial limit of leiomyosarcoma spread and segmental involvement IVC in the tumor process, which allows you to choose the optimal surgical tactics, perform a radical resection of the IVC and maintain laminar blood flow through the IVC and its tributaries of the first order, which provides satisfactory immediate and long-term results.

REFERENCES

- 1. LeMinh T., Cazaban D., Michaud J. et al. Greatsaphenousveinleiomyosarcoma: a raremalignanttumoroftheextremity: twocasereports. AnnVascSurg. 2004;18:234-36. doi: 10.1007/s10016-003-0090-2.
- Italiano A., Toulmonde M., Stoeckle E. Et al. Clinical outcome of leiomyosarcomas of vascular origin: comparison with leiomyosarcomas of other origin. AnnOncol. 2010; 21:1915-21.doi: 10.1093/annonc/ mdq039.
- 3. Mingoli A., Cavallaro A., Sapienza P. Et al. International registry of inferior vena cava leiomyosarcoma: analysis of a world serieson 218 patients. AnticancerRes. 1996;16:3201-05.
- Wachtel H., Gupta M., Bartlett E.K. et al. Outcomes after resection of leiomyosarcomas of the inferior vena cava: A pooled data analysis of 377 cases. SurgOncol. 2015;24(1):21-7. doi: 10.1016/j.suronc.2014.10.007.
- 5. Schwarzbach M.H.M., Hormann Y., Hinz U. Et al. Clinical results of surgery forretro peritoneal sarcoma with major blood vessels involvement. J. Vasc. Surg. 2006;44(1):46-55. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2006.03.001.
- 6. Daylami R., Amiri A., Goldsmith B. et al. Inferior vena cava leiomyosarcoma: is reconstruction necessary after resection? J AmCollSurg. 2010;210(2):185-90. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2009.10.010.
- 7. Brancaccio G., Celoria G., Berti S. et al. Recurrent a symptomatic retrohepatic leiomyosarcoma of the inferior vena cava. EJVES extra. 2005;10:136-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvsextra.2005.08.009.
- 8. Zhang H., Wang K., Hong P. et al. Clinical experience with the treatment of retroperitoneal vascular leiomyosarcoma originating from large veins. BMC Surg. 2021;21:326. doi: 10.1186/s12893-021-01322-z.

- 9. Kieffer E., Alaoui M., Piette J.C.et al. Leiomyosarcoma of the inferior vena cava: Experience in 22 cases. AnnSurg. 2006;244:289-95. doi: 10.1097/01.sla.0000229964.71743.db.
- 10. Pantoja J.L., Patel R.P., Baril D.T. et al. Caval reconstruction with undersized ringed graft after resection of inferior vena cava leiomyosarcoma. AnnVascSurg. 2020;65:25-32. doi:10.1016/j. avsg.2019.11.007.
- 11. Hardwigsen J., Baque P., Crespy B. et al. Resection of the inferior vena cava forneoplasms with or with outprosthetic replacement: a 14-patient series. AnnSurg. 2001;233:242-9. doi: 10.1097/00000658-200102000-00014.
- 12. Staley C.J., Valaitis J., Trippel O.H. et al. Leiomyosarcoma of the inferior vena cava. Amer J Surg. 1967;113:211-16.
- Mingoli A., Feldhaus R.J., Cavallaro A. Et al. Leiomyosarcoma of the inferior vena cava: analysis and search of world literature on 141 patients and report of three new cases. J VascSurg. 1991;14(5):688-99. doi: 10.1067/mva.1991.30426.
- 14. Illuminati G., Calio F.G., D'Urso A. Et al. Prosthetic replacement of the infrahepatic inferior vena cava for leiomyosarcoma. ArchSurg. 2006;141(9):919-24. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.141.9.919.

The work was performed as part of a basic study: «Venous hypertension and arterial incapacity: diagnosis, treatment, prevention». State registration number of the topic: N° 0120U100405.

ORCID and contributionship:

Vasil I. Rusin: 0000-0001-5688-9951^A Serhii O. Boiko: 0000-0002-8073-3030^F Fedir V. Horlenko: 0000-0002-0496-2069^B Vasil V. Rusin: 0000-0003-4854-0228^E Serhii Shandor S. Boiko: 0000-0003-3016-6901^D Oleksandr V. Syma: 0000-0002-4780-6322^C

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR Serhii 0. Boiko

Uzhhorod National University 22 Peremohy St., 88018 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel: +38(0312) 61-35-70 e-mail: boiko.likar@gmail.com

Received: 27.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
 D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

EFFECTIVENESS OF HEPATOPROTECTOR IN THE COMPLEX CORRECTION OF CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS OF CHRONIC PANCREATITIS AND TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS COMORBIDITY

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420109

Liliya S. Babinets, Iryna M. Halabitska, Iryna O. Borovyk, Olena V. Redkva I. HORBACHEVSKY TERNOPIL NATIONAL MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, TERNOPIL, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To investigate the effectiveness of complex protocol treatment with the additional inclusion of a course of the sublingual form of hepatoprotector on the clinical manifestations of patients with chronic pancreatitis in combination with type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Materials and methods: We studied 57 outpatients with chronic pancreatitis in the phase of stable or unstable remission in combination with diabetes mellitus in the phase of stable or unstable remission. Two groups were formed according to randomization principles to study the effectiveness of the proposed correction programs: 1stgroup (30 patients) took protocol treatment for one month, 2nd group (27 patients) – received protocol treatment with a course of hepatoprotector.

Results: It was found the results of the impact of two treatment programs on some clinical symptoms and syndromes in patients with chronic pancreatitis. Positive dynamics of clinical symptoms/syndromes were found in both groups of patients, but the therapeutic effect in the 2^{nd} group was more significant. Analysis of the dynamics of the Quality of Life parameters on the scales of a specialized gastroenterological questionnaire under the influence of two treatment programs found statistically significant (p<0.05) changes in the group with the inclusion of hepatoprotector for treatment for all parameters in contrast to the group of protocol treatment, where statistically significant changes on three scales (abdominal pain, gastric reflux, and dyspepsia).

Conclusions: It is proved that the proposed inclusion in the protocol treatment of a combination of CP and DM2 course of sublingual a demethion in eledtoan increase in its effectiveness in the correction of abdominal pain – by 8.2%, dyspepsia – by 17.8%, constipation – by 7.4%, diarrhea – by 12.9%, astheno-neurotic – by 21.5%, allergic – by 15.9%, autonomic – by 20.1% (p<0.05). Found higher efficacy of treatment with the in clusion of a demethion in relation to that in the group of PL on the dynamics of the parameters of the scales of the GSRS questionnaire by a total of 13.7%, p<0.01: abdominal pain decreased by 22.6% vs. 16.7%, gastricreflux – by 34.7% against 16.9% (p<0.05), diarrhea – by 23.9% against 8.2% (p<0.001), constipation – by 20.6% against 5.9% (0.01), dyspepsia – by 32.4% against 17.9% (p<0.01), respectively. It proved the feasibility of using sublingual demethion in the complex rehabilitation treatment of patients with comorbidity of CP and diabetes mellitus in order to correct clinical symptoms.

KEY WORDS: chronic pancreatitis, type 2 diabetes mellitus, hepatoprotector

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):970-973

INTRODUCTION

Most clinicians and researchers believe that the current epidemiology of chronic pancreatitis (CP) is much worse than other diseases. In Ukraine, the incidence of pancreatitis has more than doubled in the last three decades, and the epidemiological rates of CP in our country are 3-4 times worse than in Europe, in Ukraine, there are 880 thousand patients with CP [1, 2]. In 15-20% of cases, patients with CP die from complications arising from exacerbations of pancreatitis, others – due to secondary digestive disorders, infectious complications, and incretory insufficiency of the pancreas in the form of type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2), which makes CP social and a medically significant problem of medicine [3, 4].

Despite the sufficient number of studies by scientists, the issues of diagnosis, treatment, and rehabilitation of patients with CP with concomitantDM2, which is a global problem of mankind, remain unclear [5]. There is an increase in the number of patients with DM2, which exceeds the mark of two

970

million people. In the world, diabetes is becoming a pandemic [6]. According to WHO experts, the world is projected to increase the number of patients with diabetes to 300 million people. The relationship between exocrine and endocrine function of the pancreas in patients with CP combined with diabetes mellitus has not been fully studied [7].

We found more significant clinical and pathogenetic pathological disorders of inflammatory, intoxication and trophological nature in the comorbid course of CP and diabetes mellitus in comparison with isolated CP motivated us to strengthen the standard treatment of patients with such nosologies by additional therapy, regulated by Orders of the Ministry of Health of Ukraine from 10.09.2014 "On approval and implementation of medical and technological documents on standardization of medical care for chronic pancreatitis" and Nº 1118 of 21.12.2012 "On approval and implementation of medical documents on standardization of medical comproval and implementation of medical comproval and implementation of medical and technological documents on standardization of medical comproval and implementation of medical and technological documents on standardization of medical comproval and implementation of medical and technological documents on standardization of medical and technological documents on standardization of medical care for type 2 diabetes"[8-10].

Table I. Comparative analysis of the dynamics of clinical symptoms in the study groups of patients with CP with diabetes mellitus under the influence of PT and PT with the inclusion of ademetionine

	Comparison Group (number of patients (abs./%))					
Clinical symptom/syndrome	1 st group (n=30)(PT)))	2 nd group(PT+AM) (n=27)			
	before treatment	after treatment	before treatment	after treatment		
Abdominal pain syndrome and its equivalents	30 (100.0)	8 (26.7)*	27 (100.0)	6 (18.5)*		
Dyspeptic syndrome	28 (93.3)	10 (33.3)	25 (92.6)	4 (14.8)		
Diarrhea	12 (40.0)	7 (23.3)	12 (44.4)	4 (14.8)		
Constipation	15 (50.0)	5 (16.7)	14 (51.9)	3 (11.1)		
Astheno-neurotic syndrome	25 (83.3)	7 (23.3)	26 (96.3)	4 (14.8)		
Anemic syndrome	15 (50.0)	5 (16.7)	14 (51.9)	2 (7.4)		
Hypovitaminosis	27 (90.0)	10 (33.3)	25 (92.6)	5 (18.5)		
Changes in appetite	16 (53.3)	9 (30.0)	14 (51.9)	5 (18.5)		
Allergic syndrome	10 (33.3)	7 (23.3)	10 (37.0)	3 (11.1)		
Polydipsia	16 (53.3)	5 (16.7)	14 (51.9)	1 (3.7)		
Vegetative signs	25 (83.3)	11 (36.7)	22 (81.5)	4 (14.8)		

Note: * - clinical manifestation in patients with CP with diabetes after treatment was considered to be present in the absence of significant positive dynamics

Table II. Comparative analysis of the dynamics of the scales of the questionnaire quality of life GSRS patients with CP with diabetes mellitus under the influence of PT and PT with the inclusion of ademetionine

GSRS questionnaire scale.	1 st group (PT) (n=30)		2 nd group (PT	р	
50010	before treatment	after treatment	before treatment	after treatment	
AP (abdominal pain)	10.29±0.21	8.82±0.19 p ₂ <0.01	10.50±0.29 p ₁ >0.05	7.90±0.14 p ₂ <0.001	p ₃ <0.01
RS (gastric reflux)	11.51±0.31	9.85±0.27 p ₂ <0.01	11.88±0.31 p ₁ >0.05	8.82±0.20 p ₂ <0.001	p ₃ <0.05
DS (diarrhea)	10.84±0.70	10.02±0.60 p ₂ >0.05	10.70±0.69 p ₁ >0.05	8.63±0.32 p ₂ <0.001	p ₃ <0.001
CS (constipation)	8.63±0.61	8.15±0.49 p ₂ >0.05	8.67±0.51 p ₁ >0.05	7.19±0.25 p ₂ <0.001	p ₃ <0.01
IS (indigestion)	14.38±0.43	12.20±0.39 p ₂ <0.01	14.39±0.42 p ₁ >0.05	10.87±0.29 p ₂ <0.001	p ₃ <0.01

Notes:

1) $p_1 - a$ significant difference in data differences in groups of patients before treatment;

2) $p_2 - a$ significant difference in the differences between these patients in their group before and after treatment;

3) p_3^2 – a significant difference in data differences in groups of patients after treatment.

THE AIM

The aim of the study is to investigate the effectiveness of complex protocol treatment with the additional inclusion of a course of the sublingual form of ademetionine on the clinical manifestations of patients with chronic pancreatitis in combination with type 2 diabetes mellitus.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We studied 57 outpatients with CP in the phase of stable or unstable remission in combination with diabetes mellitus in the phase of stable or unstable remission. Two groups were formed according to randomization principles to study the effectiveness of the proposed correction programs: 1 group (30 patients with CP and DM2) took protocol treatment (PT) for one month, which included normalization of lifestyle and dietary recommendations, enzyme preparation of pure pancreatin inadequate dose (25-40 IU of lipase) during meals, proton pump inhibitor (pantoprazole 40 mg), antispasmodic (mebeverine) and/or prokinetic (motilium) – on-demand, metformin 1000 mg twice daily. The basic components of the PT were the outpatient regime, the diet in accordance with the order of the Ministry of Health of Ukraine dated 29.10.2013. N931; Group 2 (PT+AM – 27 patients) – received PT with

a course of ademetionine (sublingual tablets Agepta 400 mg) one tablet 2 times a day 30-60 minutes before meals, holding under the tongue for at least 15-20 minutes – until complete dissolution by a course lasting one month.

We analyzed the presence of significant clinical manifestations in% of the total number of patients in the group before treatment. After treatment, the clinical manifestation in patients with CP with diabetes was considered to be present in the absence of significant positive dynamics. The Quality of Life (LQ) was also assessed using the Gastrointestinal Symptom Rating Scale (GSRS) developed by the ASTRA Hassle (I. Wiklund, 1998), which is used to assess the LQ of patients with gastrointestinal disease. It consists of 15 items, grouped into 5 scales: a) abdominal pain (AP); b) indigestion syndrome (IS); c) diarrheal syndrome (DS); d) constipation syndrome (CS); e) gastric reflux syndrome (RS). Each question is evaluated from 1 to 7 points. Lower values correspond to weaker symptoms and higher LQ.

Statistical processing of indicators was performed by the method of variation statistics Fisher-Student with the determination of arithmetic mean (M), standard deviation (q), arithmetic mean error (m). The average values are presented as $M \pm m$. An unpaired Student's t-test was used to compare the two independent samples, and a paired Student's t-test, included in the 2007 Microsoft Excel suite, was used to assess changes in dynamics and treatment effects.

RESULTS

Table I shows the results of the impact of two treatment programs on some clinical symptoms and syndromes in patients with CP. Positive dynamics of clinical symptoms/syndromes were found in both groups of patients, but the therapeutic effect in the 2nd group was more significant.

According to the dynamics of abdominal pain, the effectiveness of treatment with the inclusion of ademetionine was 81.5%against 73.3% in the protocol treatment group. The dynamics of the effectiveness of dyspeptic syndrome in group 2-1 was 77.8% vs. 60.0%, constipation – 48.2% vs. 40.8%, diarrhea – 29.6% vs. 16.7%, astheno-neurotic – 81.5% vs. 60.0%, allergic – 25.9% vs. 10.0%, for manifestations of autonomic dysfunction – 66.7% vs. 46.6% of that in the group of protocol therapy.

Thus, the analysis of the dynamics of treatment programs on the elimination of the most important clinical symptoms/ syndromes in patients with comorbidity of CP and diabetes mellitus proved significantly higher efficiency of the complex with the additional inclusion of ademetionine in protocol therapy, which was also effective (p<0.05).

The next stage of the study of the proposed treatment complexes was to study their effectiveness on the state of LQ patients with a combined course of CP and DM 2 on the scales of the international questionnaire GSRS (Table II).

Analysis of the dynamics of LQ parameters on the scales of a specialized gastroenterological questionnaire under the influence of PT and PT+AM found statistically significant (p<0.05) changes in the group with the inclusion of ademetionine for treatment for all parameters in contrast to the group of PT, where statistically significant changes on three scales (abdominal pain, gastric reflux, and dyspepsia).

Thus, the method of inclusion in the protocol complex therapy of patients with CP and DM2 outside the exacerbation of the course of the aminoacid drug ademetion in the form of sublingual table tsin order to correct clinical manifestations due to metabolic, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and detoxifying restoration of the functional state of the pancreas and liver.

DISCUSSION

The evidence base for the use of ademetionine in liver disease is quite large - more than 8,000 publications and more than 200 clinical studies. In particular, a meta-analysis was conducted based on 12 randomized clinical trials involving 705 patients with chronic liver disease (cholestasis of pregnant women, toxic hepatitis, viral hepatitis with intrahepatic cholestasis, alcoholic liver disease, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease). liver disease), where the safety of ademetionine was studied (frequency of side effects, long-term prognosis, mortality rate, number of liver transplants, as well as the level of total bilirubin, ALT, AST, etc.)[11-14]. The results obtained after data analysis and independent comparisons show a significant reduction in total bilirubin and ACT levels with ademetionine treatment. A meta-analysis confirmed that a proven level of safety and effect on liver function is the basis for the use of ademetionine as a basic drug in the treatment of chronic liver disease. The level of side effects of the drug corresponded to the level of placebo[15, 16].

However, due to the tendency of the liver to retain approximately 60% of the dose of ademetionine, the likelihood of using SAMe to take it orally in the form of gastro-resistant tablets is complicated by its lack of bioavailability, which necessitates very high oral doses (1600 mg/ day). or administered by intramuscular injection, which is not always convenient due to invasiveness, pain, and discomfort in an outpatient setting[17]. The possibility of taking SAMe in the form of tablets for absorption allows achieving significant levels of bioavailability also by oral administration. The use of SAMe by sublingual absorption ensures that the first passage through the liver is overcome. From the moment venous blood passes from the sublingual plexus, it flows directly into the superior vena cava. A study of 6 healthy volunteers compared the pharmacokinetic absorption parameters of SAMe taken orally in the form of gastro-resistant tablets (200 mg of the active substance SAMe) or in the form of lozenges (119.76 mg of the active substance)[18, 19]. The results showed that the levels of bioavailability obtained by taking the lozenges were approximately twice as high as those determined with the use of gastro-resistant tablets. Thus, the results showed that the use of tablets for resorption allowed when taking SAMe orally can provide the same levels of bioavailability as when administered intramuscularly[20, 21]. This has attracted our attention in terms of possible use for positive effects on the liver as an organ of metabolic detoxification and other pleiotropic effects, but requires scientific justification for use in patients with CP in comorbidity with diabetes, as we have not found similar studies.

CONCLUSIONS

1) it is proved that the proposed inclusion in the protocol treatment of a combination of CP and DM2 course of sublingual a demethion in eledtoan increase in its effectiveness in the correction of abdominal pain - by 8.2%, dyspepsia - by 17.8%, constipation - by 7.4%, diarrhea - by 12.9%, astheno-neurotic - by 21.5%, allergic - by 15.9%, autonomic - by 20.1% (p<0.05); 2) found higher efficacy of treatment with the in clusion of a demethion in relation to that in the group of PL on the dynamics of the parameters of the scales of the GSRS questionnaire by a total of 13.7%, p <0.01: abdominal pain decreased by 22.6% vs. 16.7%, gastricreflux - by 34.7% against 16.9% (p <0.05), diarrhea - by 23.9% against 8.2% (p<0.001), constipation - by 20.6% against 5.9% (0.01), dyspepsia – by 32.4% against 17.9% (p < 0.01), respectively; 3) it proved the feasibility of using sublingual demethion in the complex rehabilitation treatment of patients with comorbidity of CP and diabetes mellitus in order to correct clinical symptoms.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bellin M.D., Whitcomb D.C., Abberbock J. et al. Patient and disease characteristics associated with the presence of diabetes mellitus in adults with chronic pancreatitis in the United States. Am J Gastroenterol. 2017;112(9):1457.
- 2. Dite P., Novotny I., Nechutova H., Trna J. Chronic pancreatitisclassification, diagnosis and therapy. RozhlChir. 2012;91(12):684.
- Dominguez-Munoz J.E., Lucendo A., Carballo L.F. et al. A Spanish multicenter study to estimate the prevalence and incidence of chronic pancreatitis and its complications. Rev EspEnferm Dig. 2014;106(4):239.
- 4. Issa Y., Bruno M.J., Bakker O.J. et al. Treatment options for chronic pancreatitis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;I I(9):556-64. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.74.
- 5. Ito T., Ishiguro H., Ohara H. et al. Evidencebased clinical practice guidelines for chronic pancreatitis 2015. J Gastroenterol. 2016;51 (2):85-92. doi: 10.1007/s00535-015-I 149-x.
- 6. Lohr J.M., Oliver M.R., Frulloni L. Synopsis of recent guidelines on pancreatic exocrine insufficiency. United European Gastroenterol J. 2013;1(2):79-83. doi: 10.1177/2050640613476500.
- 7. Turner R. Chronic pancreatitis: Negotiating the complexities of diagnosis and management. Aust Fam Physician. 2015;44(10):718.
- Babinets L.S., Sasyk H.M., Halabitska I.M., Mykuliak V.R. Possibilities of complex rehabilitation of patients with type 2 diabetes and concomitant chronic pancreatitis in ambulatory practice. Balneologia. 2021(1):12-15.
- Babinets L.S., Halabitska I.M., Borovyk I.O. et al. The influence of exocrine pancreatic in sufficiency in the formation of osteopenia in patients with primary osteoarthritis. Wiadomosci lekarskie. 2020;3(10), 2238-2240.
- 10. Babinets L.S., Halabitska I.M. Characteristics of joint pain in patients with primary osteoarthritis and comorbid conditions with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. LekarskyObzor. 2021;70 (2): 62-64.
- 11. Babinets L.S., Halabitska I.M. Chronic in flammatory process and bone tissue changes in patients with osteoarthritis and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. LekarskyObzor. 2020;69 (1):7-10.
- 12. Whitcomb D.C. Primer on precision medicine for complex chronic disorders. Clin Trans Gastroenterol. 2019;10(7): e00067.
- 13. Schrader H. Et al. Determinants of glucose control in patients with chronic pancreatitis. Diabetologia. 2019, 47p.

- 14. Yadav D. et al. Incidence, prevalence, and survival of chronic pancreatitis: a population-basedstudy. The American journal of gastroenterology. 2011;106;(12):2192.
- 15. Yang D., Forsmark C.E. Chronic pancreatitis. CurrOpinGastroenterol. 2017;33(5):396-403. doi: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000377.
- 16. Wang F.S., Fan J.G., Zhang Z. et al. The global burden of liver disease: the major impact of China. Hepatol. 2014;60(6):2099-108.
- 17. The burden of liver disease in Europe -a review of available epidemiological data. http://www.easl.eu/medias/EASLimg/Discover/ EU/54ae845caec619f_file.pdf. [date access 12.02.2021]
- American liver foundation. The liver low down-liver disease: the big picture. http://www.liverfoundation.org/education/liverlowdown/ ll1013/bigpicture. [date access 12.02.2021]
- 19. WHO. World Health Rankings. https:World_Health_Organization_ ranking_of_health_systems_in_2000 [date access 12.02.2021].
- 20. Zakhari S. Bermuda triangle for the liver: alcohol,obesity, and viral hepatitis. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;28(1):18-25.
- World gastroenterology organization: e-WGN expert point of view articles collection, 2017:global burden of liver disease: a true burden on health sciences and economies. http://www.worldgastroenterology. org/publications/e-wgn/e-wgn-expert-point-of-view-articlescollection/global-burden-of-liver-disease-a-true-burden-on-healthsciences-and-economies. [date access 12.02.2021].

Research topic: 0118U000361, Comprehensive approach to the control of symptoms, direct and distant prognosis in conditions of comorbid pathology in the clinic of internal diseases and the practice of a family medicine.

ORCID and contributionship:

Liliya S. Babinets: 0000-0002-0560-1943 ^{A-F} Iryna M. Halabitska: 0000-0002-9028-7230 ^{A-F} Iryna O. Borovyk: 0000-0003-0114-2935 ^{A-F} Olena V. Redkva: 0000-0002-3572-1583 ^{A-F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR Liliya S. Babinets

I. Horbachevsky Ternopil National Medical University 14 Kupchyns'ky St., 46400 Ternopil, Ukraine tel: +380673520743 e-mail: lilyababinets@gmail.com

Received: 19.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022

A – Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
 D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE STATUS IN INFANTS WITH INTRAUTERINE INFECTION FROM MOTHERS WITH IDENTIFIED TORCH INFECTION

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420110

Olesya M. Horlenko, Yuriy Yu. Chuhran, Lyubomyra B. Prylypko, Gabriella B. Kossey, Olena V. Debraetseni, Marianna I. Peresta, Iryna Yu. Pikina

UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To investigate the status and possibilities of markers of the inflammatory response of organism in infants with identified IUI born to mothers diagnosed with TORCH infection. **Materials and methods:** The study group included: infants diagnosed with IUI (n = 40), born to mothers (age 31.31 ± 2.08 years) with the diagnosis of TORCH infection and a control group (n = 25 infants). Childbirth in all newborns was physiological. The average weight of newborns was 1877.69 \pm 981.78 g (min -600 g; max -4000 g). Gestational age: 32.25 ± 5.15 weeks. Observation and treatment of newborns lasted up to 7 days (included stay in the emergency department of the Uzhhorod maternity hospital in the Zakarpattia region). Cytokine profile, γ -IFN, TNF- α , Pg E2, serum neopterin and procalcitonin levels were studied.

Results: The values of the parameters of the cytokine profile (IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10) varied within the reference values, but with significant differences with the values of the control group, which was 1,2; 4; 10; 6 times, respectively. The levels of inflammatory mediators (γ -IFN Procalcitonin Neopterin TNF- α Pg E2) differed significantly from the data of the control group of infants and exceeded the upper limit of the reference values by 1,3; 3; 25; 4 times, respectively. According to the correlation analysis, there are positive correlations of medium level: IL 1 and procalcitonin (r = 0.33); IL 6 and IL10 (r = 0.44); IL 10 and prostaglandin E2 (r = 0.44); neopterin and prostaglandin E2 (r = 0.36), which indicates synergism in the performance of biologically active processes. Negative correlations of moderate degree were observed between the following parameters: IL 1 and gestational age of infants (r = -0.36); IL 6 and IL 8 (r = -0.34); γ -IFN and TNF- α (r = -0.43), which indicates the diversity of interactions between participants in the inflammatory response of the organism.

Conclusions: Various infectious agents can act as «primary affect» of sepsis as a complex pathological process involving the organism, and each of the infections has its own characteristics of the pathological process, therefore current changes in infectious circumstances make new demands on research. It has been proven that intrauterine infection has a negative effect on the homeostatic parameters of infants, in particular, on the indicators of the inflammatory response of the child's organism. Symptomatic inflammatory biomarkers can be used to identify the pathological condition of the infant, in addition to routine laboratory tests, for early correction of VUI. This delay in identifying affected infants can lead to long and unnecessary therapy, the emergence of resistant strains of microorganisms, increased treatment costs and, in particular, a higher risk of complications such as cerebral palsy or intraventricular hemorrhage.

KEY WORDS: intrauterine infection, inflammatory response, cytokine profile, newborns

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):974-981

INTRODUCTION

One of the biggest problems that doctors face is deciding when to diagnose an intrauterine infection and what correction to prescribe. Intrauterine infections (IUI) and neonatal sepsis are the most relevant and controversial issues of modern neonatology, given that infectious pathology determines a high level of morbidity and mortality in newborns [1, 2]. In recent years, the problem of IUI has become particularly relevant, as the achievements of modern resuscitation allow to ensure the survival of newborns who have suffered severe IUI [3, 4]. The results of studies conducted in obstetrics and gynecology and neonatal clinics have shown that a variety of opportunistic pathogens not only cause acute and chronic inflammatory processes of the pelvis of the pregnant woman, but also lead to severe of the IUI fetus and newborn, and can form pathology directly not associated with the development of the inflammatory process [5, 6]. IUI is an established fact of intrauterine penetration of microorganisms into the fetus, in which there are pathophysiological changes characteristic of infectious pathology, manifested prenatally or shortly after birth, while intrauterine infection of the fetus and newborn is the pathological condition formed under the influence of infectious pathology of the mother. associated infection of amniotic fluid, placenta, umbilical cord, fetus on the background of changes in the immunological reactivity of the newborn without signs of infectious disease [7, 6]. The frequency of IUI has not been definitively established, however, according to resources, the prevalence of IUI can reach 10-15% of all pregnancies, and intrauterine infection ranges from 6 to 55%, reaching 80% among premature infants. In the structure of IUI viral and / or virus-associated infections are the most dangerous

	/ 1				
Laboratory indicators	M ± m (n=40)	min	max	Reference values	Control group (n=25)
IL-1, pg/ml	0,83 ± 0,73•	0,00	3.39	0-11pg/ml 1,6 pg/ml	0,65 ± 0,06
IL-6, pg/ml	10,79 ± 5,24•	1,23	19,30	0-10 pg/ml 2,0 pg/ml	0,77 ± 0,04
IL-8, pg/ml	4,56 ± 3,72•	1,00	25,20	0-10 pg/ml 2,0 pg/ml	0,48±0,056
IL-10, pg/ml	7,78 ± 6,65•	0,50	28,30	0-20 pg/ml 5,0 pg/ml	1,2 ± 0,25
γ-IFN, pg/ml	20,14 ± 25,56•	0,10	102,80	no more than 15,0 pg/ml	5,8±0,3
Procalcitonin, ng/ml	1,67 ± 1,09•	0,15	4,23	no more than 0,5 ng/ml	7,6 ± 1,5
Neopterin, nmol/l	32,32 ± 18,50•	0,50	77,40	no more than 10 nmol/l	0,12±0,022
TNF-α, pg/ml	157,21 ± 21,05•	102,30	196,30	till 6 pg/ml 0,5 pg/ml	8,4 ± 0,32
Pg E2, pg/ml	1671,38 ± 1555,16•	956,80	11190,20	200-400 pg/ml	390,21± 31,19

Table 1. Parameters of the inflammatory response in infan
--

Significance of values: P < 0,001 •

and difficult to predict. Viral infections during pregnancy lead to a number of consequences for the mother and fetus, ranging from asymptomatic disease to critical conditions that cause severe maternal morbidity, stillbirth, premature birth, birth defects and congenital anomalies that become apparent at birth or later [5, 8]. The highest risk of infection of the fetus is observed in the case of primary infection of the pregnant woman [9]. Thus, IUI, especially viral, remain almost uncontrollable causes of reproductive loss, childhood morbidity and disability. Pathological effects of microorganisms on the fetus during pregnancy lead to various disorders, including abortion, organ defects, the development of severe infectious inflammation or latent process with elements of persistence in the postnatal period. IUI infection is often accompanied by the development of life-threatening conditions in newborns, which determining the medical and social significance of the problem and requires further in-depth research.

THE AIM

To investigate the status and possibilities of markers of the inflammatory response of organism in infants with identified IUI born to mothers diagnosed with TORCH infection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study group included: infants diagnosed with IUI (n = 40), born to mothers (age 31.31 ± 2.08 years) with the

diagnosis of TORCH infection and a control group (n = 25 infants). Childbirth in all newborns was physiological. The average weight of newborns was 1877.69 \pm 981.78 g (min – 600 g; max – 4000 g). Gestational age: 32.25 \pm 5.15 weeks. Observation and treatment of newborns lasted up to 7 days (included stay in the emergency department of the Uzhhorod maternity hospital in the Zakarpattia region). Cytokine profile, γ -IFN, TNF- α , Pg E2, serum neopterin and procalcitonin levels were studied.

RESULTS

The examination revealed pathological changes in the levels of immunological parameters and inflammatory response factors of the organism, their interactions and relationships (table I.).

According to table I, there is a significant increase in the level of IL-1 (0.83 ± 0.73 pg / ml) compared to the control group (0.65 ± 0.06 pg / ml), but within the reference values; significant increase in IL-6 levels by 14-fold (10.79 ± 5.24 pg / ml) compared to controls group of infants (0.77 ± 0.04 pg / ml) and within the upper limit of reference. The level of IL-8 in the studied contingent (4.56 ± 3.72 pg / ml) also differs significantly from the data of the control group (0.48 ± 0.056 pg / ml), almost 10 times, but the variation occurs within the reference. There is also a significant, difference between the values of IL-10 (7.78 ± 6.65 pg / ml).

Consequently, the values of the cytokine profile varied within the reference values, but with significant differences

, , ,	<i>,</i> ,,	
Laboratory indicators	Pearson's correlation coefficient, r	Statistical signifacance, p
IL-1 Procalcitonin	0,33	0,04
IL-1 Gestational age	0,36	0,02
IL-6 IL-8	0,34	0,03
IL-6 IL-10	0,44	0,005
γ-IFN TNF-α	-0,43	0,006
Pg E IL-10	0,44	0,006
Pg E2 Neopterin	0,39	0,02

Table II. Statistically significant correlations between the studied laboratory parameters

with the values of the control group, which was 1,2;14;10; 6 times, respectively.

The level of γ -IFN (20.14 ± 25.56 pg / ml) also differed significantly (in 4 times) from the data of the control group $(5.8 \pm 0.3 \text{ pg} / \text{ml})$ and exceeded the reference values by 1.3 times. The value of procalcitonin $(1.67 \pm 1.09 \text{ ng}/\text{ml})$ differed significantly from the control group $(7.6 \pm 1.5 \text{ ng} / \text{ml})$ and exceeded the upper limit of reference by 3 times. The level of Neopterin $(32.32 \pm 18.50 \text{ nmol} / \text{l})$ differed significantly (267) times) from the data of the control group $(0.12 \pm 0.022 \text{ nmol})$ /l) and was 3 times higher than the upper limit of the reference. The value of TNF- α (157.21 ± 21.05 pg / ml) in the study group differed significantly from the data of the control group $(8.4 \pm 0.32 \text{ pg} / \text{ml})$ and was 25 times higher than the upper limit of reference. The Pg E2 study also presented a significant difference in levels (1671.38 \pm 1555.16 pg / ml compared to $390.21 \pm 31.19 \text{ pg} / \text{ml}$), which was a significant difference in data and exceeded the upper limit of reference by 4 times.

Therefore, the values of γ -IFN Procalcitonin Neopterin TNF- α Pg E2 differed significantly from the data of the control group of infants and exceeded the upper limit of the reference values by 1,3; 3; 25; 4 times, respectively.

A correlation analysis of the relationships between the studied parameters was performed, and reliable correlation coefficients of different degrees were identified (Table II.).

According to table II, there is a correlation between the average level of IL-6-IL-10 (r = 0.44) and IL-6 -IL-8 (r = -0.34), which corresponds to the physiological patterns of interactions between interleukins. IL-1, 6 – make up the group of pro-inflammatory interleukins, while IL-10 belongs to the anti-inflammatory group. IL-10 suppresses the production of almost all proinflammatory cytokines and prevents the adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium, inhibits the secretion of superoxide radicals and cytokines (IL6, IL8, TNF α) [8]. According to leading scientists, IL-10 has been shown to inhibit the effect of interferon- γ and neopterin synthesis by monocytes / macrophages.

A complete immune response is provided only by active interaction between cytokines. The biological effect of one

cytokine is usually realized together with the action of others. The main correlograms of relationships between the participants in the inflammatory response are as follows.

Consider the correlogram of the relationship between the level of γ -IFN and TNF- α in the blood of examined newborns (Fig. 1.)

It is known that cytokines have a wide range of biological properties – interact with each other, form a universal network that triggers and regulates the cascade of inflammatory, immune, metabolic processes – both local and systemic, aimed at neutralizing and eliminating pathogens. In addition to cytokines, interferons also belong to inflammatory mediators involved in the development of the inflammatory response. The main proinflammatory mediators are TNF- α and IL-1. The role of TNF- α in the development of sepsis is associated with: increasing the procoagulant properties of the endothelium, activation of neutrophil adhesion, induction of other proinflammatory cytokines, stimulation of catabolism, fever, synthesis of acute phase proteins.

The importance of IFN γ in the immune system is ascribed to its ability to directly inhibit viral replication, as well as its ability to act as immunostimulator and immunomodulator. According to our data, the multidirectional correlation between the levels of γ -IFN and TNF- α in the blood of the examined newborns is r = -0.43, which is due to the characterological data of the considered indicators.

Consider the correlogram of the relationship between the levels of IL-6 and IL-10 in the blood of examined newborns (Fig. 2.)

Interleukins are cytokines responsible for the transfer of information between leukocytes. When used, one group of leukocytes may affect another. Interleukin 6 (IL 6) is multidirectional. It is produced by monocytes and macrophages. IL 6 directly and effectively stimulates inflammatory processes. However, high concentrations of this substance can limit the development of inflammation. This is because interleukin 6 blocks the synthesis of inflammatory cytokines through a feedback inhibition mechanism. IL-6 is a proinflammatory





Fig. 2. Correlation between IL-6 and IL-10 levels in the blood of examined newborns

cytokine with two directions of action. On the one hand, it inhibits the production of proinflammatory cytokines by macrophages, on the other hand, it induces the production of acute phase proteins, promotes the activation of T lymphocytes by antigen-presenting cells, enhances B cell proliferation and induces the formation of immunoglobulins, stimulates hematopoiesis and platelet formation, is synthesized by activated macrophages and T cells [10,11]. Increase in the level of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL10 can be explained by increase in secretion in response to the elevated content of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the serum. IL10 suppresses the production of almost all proinflammatory cytokines, inhibits leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium and inhibits the secretion of superoxide radicals and cytokines (IL6, IL8, TNFa). The positive correlation coefficient between interleukins 6 and 10 (r = 0.44)demonstrated compliance with the classical rules.

Consider the correlogram of the relationship between Procalcitonin and Interleukin 1 (Fig. 3.)

Interleukin 1 (IL 1) defines a whole group of cytokines that are crucial in the inflammatory process, are the main trigger mechanism for initiating the production of other proinflammatory cytokines. As a result, the biochemical and functional cascade of inflammatory pathobiochemical processes is developing. It is produced in response to a variety of antigens.

The Procalcitonin test also has a high diagnostic potential, which can be traced in our studies and allows to diagnose the disease, determine the severity, course and subsequent prognosis. Synergism of interactions and a positive correlation with the proinflammatory cytokine Interleukin-1 (r = 0.33) is observed.

An important milestone in research is the gestational age of infants, which has significant effects on the development of the disease and the nature of the inflammatory process. Here is a correlogram of relationships (Fig. 4.).

When analyzing the correlogram (Fig. 4) attention should be payed to the features of nonspecific resistance in



Fig.3. Correlation between Procalcitonin and IL-1 levels in the blood of examined newborns

the fetus and newborn. Intrauterine capacity of phagocytic cells is relatively insignificant. After birth, the phagocytic ability of leukocytes increases. At the same time, both neutrophils and monocytes in the first 6 months of life do not cope with the final phase of phagocytosis - the destruction of the ligand, which is especially evident in relation to pathogenic microorganisms. At this age, the child's phagocytes are unable to fight pneumococci, which explains the frequent occurrence of pneumonia and relatively high mortality in infants. In the newborn, along with the imperfection of phagocytosis, there is a low ability to synthesize interferons [1,8]. In this regard, the newborn has a tendency to generalized bacterial inflammation and sepsis. These patterns are observed in our studies. The IL-1 relationship and gestational age have a mid-inverse correlation (r = -0.36). This fact can be interpreted as follows: the smaller the gestational age, the greater the production of IL-1 due to physiological age characteristics.

Gestational age in the blood of examined newborns

Fig. 4. Correlation between IL-1 level and

Consider the correlogram of the relationship between the levels of IL-6 and IL-8 in the blood of examined newborns (Fig. 5.)

The action of IL-6 is realized after interaction with two components of a specific heterodimeric receptor (gp130 and IL-6R). IL-6 is a proinflammatory cytokine with two directions of action. On the one hand, it inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by macrophages, on the other hand, it induces the production of acute phase proteins (which activate corticosteroid synthesis), promotes the activation of T-lymphocytes by antigen-presenting cells, enhances B-cell proliferation and induces the formation of immunoglobulins, stimulates hematopoiesis and platelet formation. IL-8 is one of the main proinflammatory chemokines formed by macrophages, epithelial and endothelial cells. Interleukin 8 (IL 8) is a cytokine that stimulates the migration of immune cells throughout the body. This means that it stimulates the movement and









Fig. 6. Correlation between Neopterin and Prostaglandin E2 levels in the blood of examined newborns



Fig. 7. Correlation between IL-10 and Prostaglandin E2 levels in the blood of examined newborns

distribution of T lymphocytes, neutrophils and monocytes. This action is defensive in nature. [8]. According to our data (Fig. 5). , there is a correlation relationship of the middle level (r = 0.44), which presents the unidirectionality of the interaction of biologically active substrates.

Consider the correlogram of the relationship between the levels of Neopterin and Prostaglandin E2 in the blood of examined newborns (Fig. 6.).

In the inflammatory process, an important role belongs to the mediators of inflammation - cytokines. However, the concentration of separate cytokines reflects only a limited view of the interaction between them and immunocompetent cells. Therefore, it is best to measure the level of Neopterin. Neopterin is a substance that is synthesized by monocytes and macrophages under the influence of interferon y and to a lesser extent by activated vascular endothelial cells. Neopterin plays a role in the mechanism of cytotoxic action of activated macrophages. Its concentration reflects the combined effect of different cytokines on the population of monocytes / macrophages. Prostaglandins have an extremely wide range of physiological effects, are among the most active biological substances, which perform three main functions in the body: supportive, molecular, mediatory. The participation of prostaglandins in the inflammatory process has been proven. They are able to change the activity of enzymes, affect the synthesis of hormones and adjust their action on various organs and tissues. Imbalance in synthesis leads to the development of various diseases[8]. Thus, prostaglandins F2 and E2 are formed in the tissues of the respiratory tract, in particular E is synthesized in the lung tissue in the bronchi and can cause contraction of the bronchial muscles. Prostaglandins can be attributed to intracellular low molecular weight regulators, but they are also active in the extracellular space. Correlation analysis (Fig. 6.).of the obtained results showed positive dependences of the average level of Neopterin concentration on PgE2 (r = 0.39, p = 0.02).

Consider the correlogram of the relationship between the levels of IL-10 and Prostaglandin E2 in the blood of examined newborns (Fig. 7).

According to our data (Fig. 7)., there are significant correlations between the levels of IL-10 and Prostaglandin E2. In inflammation, PgE2 is involved in all processes that lead to the classic signs of inflammation: redness, swelling, pain. It also has immunomodulatory properties and effects on growth, bone structure, which is especially important for infants. IL10 suppresses the production of almost all proinflammatory cytokines, inhibits the adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium and inhibits the secretion of superoxide radicals and cytokines, inhibits the effect of interferon on the synthesis of neopterin by monocytes / macrophages. The increase in the level of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL10 can be explained by the increase in the secretion of this cytokine in response to the increased content of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the serum [8,12].

According to the results of correlation analysis, a positive moderate relationship between Pg E2 and IL-10 (r = 0.44, p = 0.006) was presented.

DISCUSSION

Modern research shows that the most common intrauterine infection of the fetus is caused by viral infections of the mother. The range of viruses that cause congenital pathology is constantly expanding. In addition to rubella, HSV, CMVand some others. Pathogens of infectious diseases of the mother during pregnancy are especially dangerous for the fetus, because the fetus lacks both active and passive immunity to microorganisms, which determines the development of the infectious process. Because most of the diseases of pregnant women that leading to IUI occur in subclinical, latent form with activation of the process in any violation of homeostasis, it complicates the clinical diagnosis. Thus, diagnostics based on clinical manifestations only, without involvement of specific microbiological studies, leads to diagnostic errors in 90-95% of cases. It is known that cytokines have a wide range of biological properties – interact with each other, form a universal network that triggers and regulates the cascade of inflammatory, immune-metabolic processes - both local and systemic, aimed at neutralizing and eliminating pathogens. Markers of inflammatory response in newborns diagnosed IUI present changes at all levels, The values of the cytokine profile parameters are within the reference values but have significant differences from the data of the control group according to our data. The levels of other inflammatory mediators (y-IFN Procalcitonin Neopterin TNF-a, Pg E2) exceeded the upper limit of the reference values in 1,3,3, 25, 4 times, respectively, and significantly differed from the data of the infants control group. Immunological immaturity of the newborn can lead to a violation of the response to infectious agents. Various infectious agents can act as «primary affect» of sepsis as a complex pathological process involving the organism, and each of the infections has its own characteristics of the pathological process, therefore curent changes in infectious circumstances make new demands on research. It has been proven that intrauterine infection has a negative effect on the homeostatic parameters of infants[6], in particular, on the indicators of the inflammatory response of the child's organism. Symptomatic inflammatory biomarkers can be used to identify the pathological condition of the infant, in addition to routine laboratory tests, for early correction of VUI. This delay in identifying affected infants can lead to long and unnecessary therapy, the emergence of resistant strains of microorganisms, increased treatment costs and, in particular, a higher risk of complications such as cerebral palsy or intraventricular hemorrhage.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. The values of the parameters of the cytokine profile (IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10) varied within the reference values, but with significant differences with the values of the control group, which was 1,2; 4; 10; 6 times, respectively.
- 2. The levels of inflammatory mediators (γ -IFN Procalcitonin Neopterin TNF- α Pg E2) differed significantly from the data of the control group of infants and exceeded the upper limit of the reference values by 1,3; 3; 25; 4 times, respectively.

- 3. According to the correlation analysis, there are positive correlations of medium level: IL 1 and procalcitonin (r = 0.33); IL 6 and IL10 (r = 0.44); IL 10 and prostaglandin E2 (r = 0.44); neopterin and prostaglandin E2 (r = 0.39), which indicates synergism in the performance of biologically active processes.
- 4. Negative correlations of moderate degree were observed between the following parameters: IL 1 and gestational age of infants (r = -0.36); IL 6 and IL 8 (r = -0.34); γ -IFN and TNF- α (r = -0.43), which indicates the diversity of interactions between participants in the inflammatory response of the organism.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tamayo E., Fernández A., Almansa R. et al. Beneficial role of endogenous immunoglobulin subclasses and isotypes in septic shock. J Crit Care. 2012; 27 (6): 616-22. doi: 10.1016 / j.jcrc.2012.08.004.
- 2. Danladi J., Sabir H. Perinatal infection: A major contributor to the efficacy of cooling in newborns following birth asphyxia. Int J Mol Sci. 2021; 22 (2): 707. doi: 10.3390 / ijms22020707.
- 3. Fleischmann-Struzek C., Goldfarb D.M., Schlattmann P. et al. The global burden of paediatric and neonatal sepsis: a systematic review. Lancet Respir Med. 2018;6(3):223-230. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30063-8.
- 4. Chudnovets A., Liu J., Narasimhan H. et al. Role of inflammation in virus pathogenesis during pregnancy. J Virol. 2020;95(2): 01381-91. doi: 10.1128 / JVI.01381-19.
- Bermejo-Martín J.F., Rodriguez-Fernandez A., Herrán-Monge R. et al. Immunoglobulins IgG1, IgM and IgA: a synergistic team influencing survival in sepsis. J Intern Med. 2014; 276(4): 404-412. doi: 10.1111 / joim.12265.
- Semenyak A.V., Andriyets' O.A., Nitsovych I.R. et al. Vnutrishn'outrobne infikuvannya plodu – realiyi diagnostyky ta likuvannya [Intrauterine Fetal Infection – Realitties of diagnosis and treatment] Neonatology, Surgery and Perinatal Medicine. 2021;2(40):27-32. doi: 10.24061/2413-4260.XI.2.40.2021.5. (in Ukrainian).
- 7. Salmanov A.G., Ishchak O.M., DobarinS.A. et al. Perinatal nfection in Ukraine: Results of a Multycenter study. Wiadomości Lekarskie. 2021;74(9):2025-2032. doi: 10.36740/WLek202109101.
- 8. Kuznetsova L.V., Babadzhan V.D., Kharchenko N.V. Imunolohiya (pidruchnyk)[Immunology (textbook)].Vinnytsya:Merk'yuri Podillya. 2013, 565p. (in Ukrainian).
- 9. Fernandes N.D., Arya K., Ward R. Congenital Herpes Simplex. 2021. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK507897/#article-19855.s4. [date access 17.09.2021]

- 10. Raskin S.A. Neuroplasticity and Rehabilitation The Guilford Press. 2011, 351p. doi: 10.1080/09084282.2012.686797.
- 11. Kishimoto T. Interleukin-6: from basic science to medicine 40 years in immunology. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2005;23:1-21. doi: 10.1146/annurev. immunol.23.021704.115806.
- Pypa L.V., Murhina M.M. Suchasni uyavlennya pro patohenez ta diahnostyku hniyno-septychnykh staniv u ditey.(chastyna 1) [Modern ideas about the pathogenesis and diagnosis of purulent-septic conditions in children (Part 1)]. Infectious diseases. 2017;2(88):32-40. doi: 10.11603/1681-2727.2017.2.7998.

ORCID and contributionship:

Olesya M. Horlenko: 0000-0002-2210-5503 ^{A,D-F} Yuriy Yu. Chuhran: 0000-0001-8934-3250 ^{B,D} Lyubomyra B. Prylypko: 0000-0002-4131-5450 ^{B,C} Gabriella B. Kossey: 0000-0003-0811-4929 ^{D,F} Olena V. Debretseni : 0000-0002-2580-8167 ^{D,F} Marianna I. Peresta: 0000-0002-0858-1909 ^{E,F} Iryna Yu. Pikina: 0000-0003-1565-8174 ^{E,F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR Olesya M. Horlenko

Uzhhorod National University 1 Narodna Sq., 88000 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel: +380505269658 e-mail: ohorlenko@gmail.com

Received: 27.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

 $[\]mathbf{A}-\text{Work concept and design}, \mathbf{B}-\text{Data collection and analysis}, \mathbf{C}-\text{Responsibility for statistical analysis}, \mathbf{C}-\text{Respon$

CHANGES IN SERUM GHRELIN AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH OF BODY MASS INDEX IN PATIENTS WITH GASTROESOPHAGEAL REFLUX DISEASE AND SPONDYLOARTHRITIS

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420111

Yelyzaveta S. Sirchak, Stanislav A. Tsioka, Andrij S. Chobej, Nelli V. Bedey, Inna S. Borisova UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To determine the features of changes in serum ghrelin levels and its relationship with the body mass index in patients with GERD and spondyloarthritis (SpA) with lesions of the cervical and thoracic spine.

Materials and methods: The examined patients included 80 patients with SpA with cervical and thoracic spine lesions in combination with GERD. The examined patients with SpA with predominant cervical and thoracic spine lesions were divided into two groups depending on the clinical course of GERD, namely: group I included 33 (41.2%) patients with typical esophageal manifestations of GERD (13 males (39.4%), 20 females (60.6%)), and group II consisted of 47 (58.8%) patients with atypical extraesophageal manifestations of GERD (among them were 17 (36.2%) males and 30 (63.2%) females).

Results: All patients were tested for serum ghrelin by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Analysis of clinical manifestations of atypical GERD (group II patients) revealed that most often patients with SpA of the cervical and thoracic spine were diagnosed with dental and otolaryngological masks of reflux disease (40.4 % and 25.5 % of patients, respectively). Maximum serum ghrelin levels were detected in patients with SpA with cardiac GERD (355.02 \pm 4.75 ng/ml), while minimum values were found in patients with dental signs of reflux disease (298.17 \pm 5.16 ng/ml – p <0.05).

Conclusions: 1. In patients with SpA with cervical and thoracic spine lesions, GERD often has atypical symptoms (mostly dental and otolaryngological forms in 40.4% and 25.5% of patients). 2. In patients with SpA with esophageal clinical signs of GERD, normal weight or underweight is more common, while in patients with extraesophageal forms of GERD overweight or obesity of varying severity prevails. 3. In patients with SpA and GERD, an increase in serum ghrelin levels was found in patients with cardiac manifestations of reflux disease (355.02 ± 4.75 ng/ml). 4. The relationship between BMI changes in patients with SpA and GERD and increased serum ghrelin levels was found, namely: in group II patients with overweight an inverse correlation was fund.

KEY WORDS: esophageal, extraesophageal manifestations of gastroesophageal reflux disease, spondyloarthritis, body mass index; ghrelin

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):982-986

INTRODUCTION

Ghrelin is an orexigenic hormone that regulates neuronal chains that modulate food intake and energy expenditure by binding to specific receptors in the brain [1, 2]. It has a variety of metabolic effects on physiological processes in the body, such as food regulation and satiety, modulation of energy expenditure through regulation of brown fat thermogenesis, regulation of lipid levels and obesity in general, glucose metabolism, inflammation, effects on endothelial dysfunction and many others [3]. Ghrelin, by stimulating growth hormone secretion, may also stimulate increased calorie intake, weight gain, and obesity by activating hypothalamic orexigenic neuropeptide Y (NPY) [4]. Thus, ghrelin is associated with conditions associated with hyperlipidemia, weight gain, abnormal body composition, and fat accumulation [5].

Ghrelin is produced mainly by P/D1 cells of the mucous membrane of the fundus of the stomach [2]. Ghrelin circulates in the human body in two main forms: acylated (about 5.0 % of total ghrelin) and deacylated (about 95.0 % of total ghrelin), which have potential differences in metabolic effects. [4]. Ghrelin as a multifunctional peptide hormone, is involved in the formation of eating behavior, energy balance, regulation of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism, as well as modulation of gastrointestinal function (it stimulates the secretion of hydrochloric acid and affects the motor activity of various digestive systems) [6].

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is a common digestive disease based on pathological gastroesophageal (GE) reflux, which occurs due to esophageal cardia insufficiency and impaired barrier function of the lower esophageal sphincter [7]. The prevalence of GERD in Western populations over the past 30 years has a clear tendency to increase and varies from 10.0 % to 30.0% [8, 9]. The relevance of GERD is also due to the presence of both typical and atypical (bronchopulmonary, cardiac, dental, otolaryngological) clinical manifestations that complicate the diagnosis of GERD [10].

The search for new factors that play a role in the formation of GERD is especially relevant in patients with polymorbid pathology, the treatment of which requires medications that may adversely affect the condition of the mucous membrane of the upper gastrointestinal tract, as well as its functional activity. Therefore, the study of the clinical course, as well as factors and levels of various biologically active substances that may play an important role in the pathogenetic mechanism of GERD in patients with combined pathology, including inflammatory lesions of the spine, namely spondyloarthritis (SpA), is an extremely relevant problem of modern clinical medicine.

THE AIM

The aim of the study is to determine the features of changes in serum ghrelin levels and its relationship with the body mass index in patients with GERD and spondyloarthritis with lesions of the cervical and thoracic spine.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The examined patients included 80 patients with SpA with cervical and thoracic spine lesions in combination with GERD who were hospitalized in Rheumatology and Gastroenterology Departments of Municipal Non-Profit Enterprise "Transcarpathian Regional Clinical Hospital named after Andrii Novak" of Transcarpathian Regional Council, and patients who were on outpatient observation by family doctors at the place of residence, as well as underwent dental treatment at Dental Plus Clinic in the period of 2019-2022. All studies were performed with the consent of patients, and their methodology was in line with the Helsinki Declaration of Human Rights of 1975 and its revision in 1983, the Council of Europe Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine, and the legislation of Ukraine.

The control group included 20 healthy individuals: 9 males (45.0%) and 11 females (55.0%) without musculoskeletal and upper gastrointestinal tract lesions. The average age was 48.8 ± 4.1 years.

All patients were examined using general clinical, anthropometric, instrumental and laboratory methods. To verify the diagnosis, attention was paid to the nature of the complaints and medical history. In anthropometric research, height and waist circumference were determined, and body mass index (BMI) was calculated. According to WHO recommendations, the patients were distributed depending on the BMI, at which BMI 16.0 or less indicates a pronounced deficit of body weight; 16.0-18.5 underweight; 18.5-24.9 normal weight; 25.0–29.9 overweight; 30.0-34.9 obesity Class 1; 35.0-39.9 obesity Class 2; 40.0 and more obesity Class 3 (morbid obesity) [11].

The diagnosis of GERD was established according to the criteria of the unified clinical protocol (order of the Ministry of Health of Ukraine dated 31.10.2013 № 943) taking into account complaints, endoscopic examination data, etc. To confirm the diagnosis, the examined patients underwent fibroesophagogastroduodenoscopy (FEGDS) using endoscopy equipment Pentax ERM-3300 video processor and flexible fiber endoscopes Pentax E-2430, GIF-K20. Also, 24-hour pH monitoring according to Prof. V.N .Chernobrovy's method was performed. The Los Angeles (LA) classification (1998) was used for endoscopic assessment of the degree of damage to the esophagus: Grade A – single erosion ≤ 5 mm; Grade B – ≥ 1 erosion> 5 mm long that does not occupy the entire space between 2 adjacent folds of the esophagus; Grade C – ≥ 1 erosion that occupies the entire space between ≥ 2 folds of the esophagus and $\leq 75\%$ of the perimeter of the esophagus; and Grade D – erosions or ulcers occupying $\geq 75\%$ of the esophageal perimeter [12].

The diagnosis of SpA was established on the basis of diagnostic criteria of the American College of Rheumatology (ACR, 2018) and the European League Against Rheumatism (European League Against Rheumatism, EULAR, 2018) [13, 14].

All patients were tested for serum ghrelin by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using a test system from BioChemMac, RayBio[®] Human/Mouse/Rat Ghrelin Enzyme Immunoassay Kit.

The examined patients with spondyloarthritis with predominant cervical and thoracic spine lesions were divided into two groups depending on the clinical course of GERD, namely: group I included 33 (41.2%) patients with typical esophageal manifestations of GERD (13 males (39.4%), 20 females (60.6%), with the average age 49.8 \pm 5.2 years), and group II consisted of 47 (58.8%) patients with atypical extraesophageal manifestations of GERD (among them were 17 (36.2%) males and 30 (63.2%) females, with the average age 46.7 \pm 4.9 years).

The inclusion criteria were as follows: the presence of clinical symptoms (typical and atypical) of GERD, detection of FEGDS changes in the esophageal mucosa characteristic of GERD, and spondyloarthritis of the cervical and thoracic spine.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: functional or organic diseases of the esophagus, stomach and duodenum, non-erosive form of GERD, Barrett's esophagus, Helicobacter pylori positive patients, and patients with psychiatric and oncological diseases.

Analysis and processing of the results of the examinations was carried out by the computer program Statistics for Windows v.10.0 (StatSoft Inc, USA) using parametric and non-parametric methods of evaluation of the results.

RESULTS

The leading clinical manifestations of lesions of the upper gastrointestinal tract in patients of group I (with typical esophageal manifestations of GERD) were acid regurgitation, heartburn and dysphagia. As shown in Figure 1, esophageal signs of GERD were diagnosed in 41.2 % of patients, while atypical clinical forms of reflux disease were detected in 58.8 % of SpA patients.

Analysis of clinical manifestations of atypical GERD (group II patients) revealed that most often patients with SpA of the cervical and thoracic spine were diagnosed with



Fig. 1. Distribution of the examined patients with SpA depending on the clinical form of GERD



Fig. 2. Distribution of the examined SpA patients of group II depending on atypical clinical forms of GERD

dental and otolaryngological "masks" of reflux disease (40.4 % and 25.5 % of patients, respectively) – Fig.2. At the same time, dental signs of GERD were manifested by dental caries, stomatitis and periodontitis. Otolaryngological changes, which were considered atypical manifestations of GERD, were indicated by sore throat, hoarseness of voice, lump in the throat, as well as chronic coughing.

Cardiac form of GERD, manifested by chest pain along the esophagus, heart failure, as well as its bronchopulmonary "mask", which was clinically manifested by dry cough and sleep apnea, was found in 21.3 % and 12.8 % of patients.

Determination of BMI allowed to establish differences in body mass in the examined patients with SpA with different clinical forms of GERD – Table I.

Patients with SpA with a typical clinical course of GERD (group I) more often had normal BMI and overweight (45.5 % and 24.2 % of patients). Obesity I and II was found in only 9.1 % and 3.0 % of patients. Also, underweight was 7.9 % more often found in patients of group I (p < 0.01) than in patients with atypical clinical forms of GERD. Group II patients most often had overweight (34.0% of subjects), as well as obesity of Class 1 and Class 2 (25.5 % and 17.1 %, respectively). Thus, SpA patients with atypical clinical forms of GERD are more likely to be overweight and obese (Class 1-2), while patients with typical esophageal manifestations of reflux disease are more likely to be diagnosed with normal or overweight or underweight.

Table I. Distribution of examined patients with SpA and different clinical forms of GERD depending on BMI

Indicator	Examined patients with SpA.			
mulcator	group l (n=33)	group II (n=47)		
Underweight (BMI: 16.0 – 18.5)	18.2 % **	4.3 %		
Normal weight (BMI: 18.5 – 24.9)	45.5 % **	19.1 %		
Overweight (BMI: 25.0 – 29.9)	24.2 %	34.0 % *		
Obesity Class 1 (BMI: 30.0 – 34.9)	9.1 %	25.5 % *		
Obesity Class 2 (BMI: 35.0 – 39.9)	3.0 %	17.1 % **		

Note: the difference between the indicators in the examined patients of groups I and II is statistically significant: * - p < 0.05; ** - p < 0.01.

Determination of ghrelin levels in the blood serum revealed differences in its level in the patients we examined for SpA depending on different clinical forms of GERD – Table II.

A significant increase in serum ghrelin levels was found in patients with SpA and GERD. In patients with SpA with esophageal manifestations of GERD its level was $223.21 \pm$ 4.16 ng/ml against 105.11 ± 3.25 ng/ml in the control group (p <0.05), while in patients with atypical forms a 3.0-fold increase was detected (p <0.01).

Further analysis determined the differences in the level of this orexigenic hormone depending on the clinical course of atypical manifestations of GERD and established a dependence on changes in BMI in patients with SpA – tables III and IV.

Maximum serum ghrelin levels were detected in patients with SpA with cardiac GERD (355.02 ± 4.75 ng/ml), while minimum values were found in patients with dental signs of reflux disease (298.17 ± 5.16 ng/ml – p <0.05). Almost the same serum ghrelin levels were found in patients with SpA with otolaryngological and bronchopulmonary signs of GERD.

In patients of group I, ghrelin levels correlated with BMI, which corresponds to normal weight and overweight and inversely correlated with underweight. In patients with SpA with atypical manifestations of GERD, a relationship was found between increased ghrelin levels and obesity Class 1-2, as well as BMI which corresponded to overweight (r = 0.72; p <0.05).

The results of an experimental study by Kraft EN et al. (2019) indicate that ghrelin and its isoforms directly affect fatty acid oxidation and lipolysis. This may be the reason why patients with UCTD with high ghrelin levels have an asthenic constitution and poor nutrition. In particular, their BMI was often lower than normal. The results of this study also show that ghrelin stimulates the transport of fatty acids, affecting not only lipolysis but also skeletal muscle. Probably because f this, patients with UCTD are characterized by proximal muscle weakness, hypotension and /

Table II. Serum gnreiin levels in patients with SpA and GERD and the control gro

Indicator Controlgroup		SpA patients		
indicator	(n=20)	Typical form of GERD (n=33)	Atypical form of GERD (n=47)	
Ghrelin, ng/ml	105.11±3.25	223.21±4.16 *	316.77±3.89 **, ^	

Note: a statistically significant difference was found between the control group and the examined patients: * - p < 0.05;** - p < 0.01;statistically significant difference between indicators in patients of group I and group II: \land - p < 0.05.

Table III. Serum ghrelin levels in patients with SpA and GERD and control group

	SpA patients of group II (with atypical forms of GERD) ($n = 47$)			
Indicator	Dental (n=19)	Otolaryngological (n=12)	Cardiac (n=10)	Broncho-pulmonary (n=6)
Ghrelin, ng/ml	298.17±5.16	305.70±5.26	355.02±4.75*	308.04±4.25

Note: a statistically significant difference was found between the indicators in patients with dental and cardiac "masks" of GERD: * - p < 0.05.

Table IV. Comparison of changes in serum ghrelin levels in patients with

 SpA and GERD with BMI

Indiantor	Ghrelin levels (ng/mL)		
maicator	group l (n=33)	group II (n=47)	
Insufficient weight	r= -0.60; p<0.05	-	
Normal weight	r= 0.56; p<0.05	-	
Overweight	r= 0.64; p<0.05	r= 0.72; p<0.05	
Obesity Class 1	-	r= 0.70; p<0.05	
Obesity Class 2	-	r= 0.52; p<0.05	

or malnutrition. According to the same authors, ghrelin does not independently change lipolysis, but, apparently, there are some additional sites for the regulation of lipid oxidation, which need to be further investigated [Kraft EN, Cervone DT].

DISCUSSION

Scientific research of pathogenetic mechanisms of GERD formation at comorbid pathological states is carried out, including its combination with backbone lesions of various genesis. At the same time, of great interest are studies aimed at determining the effect of various biologically active substances on the tonus of the lower esophageal sphincter (LES) with subsequent formation of GERD. It is known that such peptide hormones as ghrelin, adipokines, which regulate food intake, also play an important role in the formation of GERD, due to their effect on gastric acid secretion and gastrointestinal motility [15].

The results of experimental studies by Nahata M. et al. (2012) indicate an increase in peripheral ghrelin levels in rats with GERD against the background of reduced gastric emptying, food intake and antral motility [16]. The results of experimental studies in recent years (Kraft EN et al., 2019) indicate that ghrelin and its isoforms directly affect fatty acid oxidation and lipolysis. The authors explain this by the fact that patients with undifferentiated connective tissue dysplasia have high ghrelin levels, an asthenic constitution and underweight. The results of this study also

show that ghrelin stimulates the transport of fatty acids, affecting not only lipolysis but also skeletal muscle. The authors believe that ghrelin does not independently change lipolysis, but, apparently, there are some additional sites for the regulation of lipid oxidation, which need to be further investigated [17].

The results of the study also indicate high serum ghrelin levels in patients with SpA in combination with GERD. At the same time, the maximum values were registered in patients with atypical course of GERD (its increase of 3.0 times – p <0.01), especially in the cardiac "mask" of reflux disease (increase of 3.4 times – p <0.01). The results of our study also indicate a relationship between an increase in serum ghrelin levels and an increase in BMI, mainly in patients with atypical forms of GERD.

In the group of patients with SpA and GERD who have clinically typical esophageal signs, there was also an increase in ghrelin levels (2.1 times – p <0.05 compared with the control group). In this group of patients, ghrelin levels were negatively correlated with BMI, which corresponded to underweight (-0.60; p <0.05) and coincided with the results of Kraft EN et al.

Thus, the mechanism of GERD formation and features of its clinical course is multifactorial, but not fully understood process, especially in patients with comorbid conditions. Further research is needed in this direction to understand the processes underlying the lesions of the upper gastrointestinal tract in patients with comorbid conditions, especially lesions of the spine of inflammatory origin (in SpA). Particular attention needs to be paid to the detection of atypical forms of GERD, such as dental, otolaryngological and cardiac "masks" for their timely correction.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. In patients with SpA with cervical and thoracic spine lesions, GERD often has atypical symptoms (mostly dental and otolaryngological forms in 40.4% and 25.5% of patients).
- 2. In patients with SpA with esophageal clinical signs of GERD, normal weight or underweight is more common,

while in patients with extraesophageal forms of GERD overweight or obesity of varying severity prevails.

- 3. In patients with SpA and GERD, an increase in serum ghrelin levels was found in patients with cardiac manifestations of reflux disease (355.02 ± 4.75 ng/ml).
- 4. The relationship between BMI changes in patients with SpA and GERD and increased serum ghrelin levels was found, namely: in group II patients with overweight and obesity a direct correlation was found, and in group I patients with underweight an inverse correlation was fund.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tokudome T., Otani K., Miyazato M., Kangawa K. Ghrelin and the heart. Peptides. 2019; 111: 42-46.
- Napolitano T., Silvano S., Vieira A. et al. Role of ghrelin in pancreatic development and function. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2018; 20: 3-10.
- 3. Ukkola O. Ghrelin and atherosclerosis. Current opinion in lipidology. 2015; 26(4): 288-291.
- 4. Rodriguez A., Gómez-Ambrosi J., Catalán V. et al. Acylated and desacyl ghrelin stimulate lipid accumulation in human visceral adipocytes. International journal of obesity. 2009; 33(5): 541-552.
- Sangiao-Alvarellos S., Vazquez M.J., Varela L. et al. Central ghrelin regulates peripheral lipid metabolism in a growth hormoneindependent fashion. Endocrinology. 2009; 150(10): 4562-4574.
- 6. Peeters T.L. Ghrelin: a new player in the control of gastrointestinal functions. Gut. 2005; 54: 1638–1649.
- 7. Bredenoord A.J., Pandolfino J.E., Smout A.J. Gastroesophageal reflux disease. Lancet. 2013; 381: 949.
- 8. Kon'kova L.A., Kon'kov A.V. Gastroesophageal reflux: extra-oesophageal manifestations. Medical Bulletin of the Ministry of Internal Affairs. 2016; 2 (81): 247-50. (in Russian)
- 9. Katz P.O., Gerson L.B., Vela M.F. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 2013; 108: 308-328.
- 10. Sviridova T.N., Alekseev N.Yu., Kozlov Yu.S. Gastroesophageal reflux disease: method. Indications. Voronezh. 2009, 69 p. (in Russian)
- 11. WHO: Global Database on Body Mass Index. http://apps.who.int/bmi/ index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html [date access 14.08.2021]
- Lundell L.R., Dent J., Bennett J.R. et al. Endoscopic assessment of oesophagitis: clinical and functional correlates and further validation of the Los Angeles classification. Gut. 2013; 45(2): 172-180.
- 13. Nasoniov E.L. The 2016 EULAT guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of early arthritis. Scientific and practical rheumatology. 2017; 55(2): 138-150. (in Russian)
- WHO (2011). World Health Organization, Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/ publications/2010/9789241599979_eng.pdf. [date access 14.08.2021]

- 15. Chen J., Guo B., Guo Z. et al. Association of serum gastric inhibitory polypeptide and pancreatic polypeptide levels with prolonged esophageal acid exposure time in refractory gastroesophageal reflux. Medicine. 2019; 98: 23.
- Nahata M., Muto S., Oridate N. et al. Impaired ghrelin signaling is associated with gastrointestinal dysmotility in rats with gastroesophageal reflux disease. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2012; 303: 42–53.
- 17. Kraft E.N., Cervone D.T., Dyck D.J. Ghrelin stimulates fatty acid oxidation and inhibits lipolysis in isolated muscle from male rats. Physiological Reports. 2019; 7(7): e14028.

The study was performed within the framework of the scientific topics "Polymorbid Pathology of Digestive System Diseases, Features of Pathogenesis and the Possibility of Correction" (state registration number 0118U004365) researched by the Department of Propedeutics of Internal Diseases of State University "Uzhhorod National University" and "Clinical and Pathogenetic Features of Polymorbid Diseases in the Digestive System and Development of Differentiated Therapy Scheme in the Conditions of the COVID-19 Pandemic" (state registration number 0121U110177).

ORCID and contributionship:

Yelyzaveta S. Sirchak: 0000-0001-6738-0843 ^{A, F} Stanislav A. Tsioka: 0000-0002-2790-1357 ^{B, D, E} Andrij S. Chobej: 0000-0002-0700-5934 ^B Nelli V. Bedey: 0000-0002-8885-0258 ^B Inna S. Borisova: 0000-0003-4254-6004 ^C

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Yelyzaveta S. Sirchak

Uzhhorod national university 14 Universitetskaya st., 88000 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel: +380509761794 e-mail: sirchakliza777@gmail.com

Received: 28.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

A-Work concept and design, B-Data collection and analysis, C-Responsibility for statistical analysis,

 ${\bf D}-{\rm Writing}$ the article, ${\bf E}-{\rm Critical}$ review, ${\bf F}-{\rm Final}$ approval of the article

© creative commons

Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)
ORIGINAL ARTICLE

POTENTIAL RISKS OF THE SPREAD OF ANTIBIOTIC-RESISTANT MICROORGANISMS AND ANTIBIOTIC-RESISTANCE GENES IN POTABLE WATER – HUMAN ORGANISM CHAIN

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420112

Marianna V. Savenko, Maryna V. Kryvtsova, Ivan I. Skliar, Inesa I. Fohel UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: Determination of circulation interrelations between antibiotic-resistant microorganisms of *Enterobacteriaceae* family and their resistance genes in clinical strains and potable water samples taken in Uzhhorod and Uzhhorod district.

Materials and methods: We carried out generic identification of the microorganisms isolated from clinical samples of the oral cavity of 64 patients suffering from periodontal inflammatory diseases, and potable water samples taken from sources of public centralized and decentralized water supply; the isolated microorganisms were tested for antibiotic sensitivity by the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion method according to EUCAST. With the help of molecular-genetic methods, the total DNA of potable water was isolated and tested for the presence of the following genetic resistance determinants: carbapenems *bla*NDM; *bla*OXA48-like; tetracyclines *bla*Tet-M; cephalosporins *bla*CTX-M.

Results: In the microbiota of the clinical material and potable water samples, the same spectrum of microorganisms belonging to *Enterobacteriaceae* family dominated; the isolated bacteria showed a high resistance level to beta-lactam antibiotics and to natural antibiotic preparations. The highest level of resistance was established for microorganisms isolated from well water samples, where genetic resistance determinants to *bla*CTX-M cephalosporins and *bla*Tet tetracyclins were also revealed.

Conclusions: The obtained results proved high probability of the spread of antibiotic-resistant microorganisms and their genetic resistance determinants via potable water.

KEY WORDS: antibiotic resistance genes, oral cavity, potable water, water sources

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):987-992

INTRODUCTION

The wide spread of the use of antibiotics for various branches of medicine and economy and lack of any legally valid perfect system of regulation of reasonable use of antibiotic preparations have led to a growing level of antibiotic resistance [1].

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the demand for antimicrobial preparations soared up, which fact only worsened the situation with confronting the development of resistance to antibiotics [2-4]. The lack of efficient antimicrobial preparations throws the progress of medicine back for decades, increases the risk of growing of the number of incurable infectious diseases, and makes it impossible to perform many hi-tech surgeries [5, 6].

The spread of resistant strains in environmental objects (surface and soil waters, bottom deposits, wastewaters, soils) where a large-scale exchange with resistance determinants takes place between clinical strains and natural bacteria, attracts increasingly greater attention of researchers [7]. The spread of poly- and multiresistant bacteria, pharmaceuticals in environmental objects may serve as a potential source of entry of genetic resistance determinants to human organisms via food chains [8,9]. The existing out-dated water treatment facilities and imperfect potable water treatment techniques fail to interfere with the spread of genetic resistance determinants on their way to the customers, which causes heightened academic interest to study the possible spread of resistance genes via potable water [10].

THE AIM

The purpose of the given scientific paper is to determine the circulation interrelations of antibiotic-resistant microorganisms of *Enterobacteriaceae* genes and their resistance genes in clinical strains and potable water samples taken from sources of public centralized and decentralized water supply within the city of Uzhhorod and areas adjacent thereto.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Samples for microbiological study of tap-water were taken from 2 monitoring sites in Uzhhorod located in different parts of the city (48.632576, 22.283702; 48.622222, 22.250806), and from 3 sources of decentralized water supply (water wells) located in the village of Velyky Berezny (48.885283,22.452778), on the outskirts of the town of Perechyn (48.729388, 22.448340), and in the village of Storozhnytsia (48.600345, 22.238672). Clinical isolates were isolated from the oral cavities of patients suffering from periodontal inflammatory diseases (n=213). The microorganisms of Enterobacteriaceae family were identified with the study of morphological characteristics on Hottinger's broth, and their further differentiation was carried out on selective media (Ploskirev's, Endo's, bismuth sulphite agar). The generic and specific attribution of the microorganisms was performed with the help of biochemical tests (Enterotest 24 and Enterotest 16) made by Erba Lachema, the Czech Republic. The antibiotic sensitivity of the isolates was determined by by the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion method according to EUCAST (European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing). The isolates were tested for antibiotic sensitivity with the use of the following discs with antibiotics: ceftriaxon (30 mg), ampicillin (10 mg), ceftriaxon (30 μ g), meropenem (10 μ g), cefuroxim (30 μ g), imipenem (10 mg), amycacin (30 μ g), ciprofloxacin (5 µg), gentamycin (10 µg), levofloxacin (5 μg), norfloxacin (10 μg), gatifloxacin (5 μg), ofloxacin (2 μg), lomefloxacin (30 μg), tetracyclin (30 μg) and doxicycline (10 µg) made by Farmaktyv and HiMedia. As control test culture, Escherichia coli ATCC 25922 strain was used to check the quality of the media, discs with antibiotics, and the testing precision.

IDENTIFICATION OF GENETIC RESISTANCE MARKERS FROM METAGENOMIC DNA OF WATER SAMPLES

The water samples (500 ml - 1000 ml) were filtered through a sterilized membrane filter (Millipore, USA) with pore size 0.22 µm. Total DNA was extracted from the membrane filter with the help of modified method from hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) according to Andronov's method [11]. The isolated metagenomic water DNA was studied with the help of polymerase chain reaction for the presence of resistance genes, using Litex reagent set (Russia) to identify the following genetic determinants: carbapenems - blaNDM; blaOXA48-like; tetracyclines *bla*Tet-M; cephelosporines – *bla*CTX-M. The testing was carried out with the use of the DTPrime Amplifier (DNA Technology, Russia), according to the Manufacturer's Manual. The molecular genetic studies were performed on the basis of the private laboratory of Madicover Medical Centre, Lviv. The microbiological studies were carried out on the basis of the Microbiological Laboratory, Department of Genetics, Microbiology and Plant Physiology, Biological Faculty, Uzhhorod National University.

RESULTS

The spread of antibiotics via the food chain is an increasing problem of today. Globalization in the use of antibiotic substances in products of animal origin, migration of antibiotics and leftovers of pharmacological preparations in natural waters lead to the increase of the share of antimicrobial preparations in the environment.

The studies of microbiota of different biotopes of the

oral cavity of Uzhhorod residents showed that *Enterobacteriaceae* family bacteria characterized by resistance to a wide spectrum of antibiotic preparations were isolated in 30% cases. The specific spectrum of the microorganisms isolated from the oral cavity of 64 patients (the total number of the studied samples of biomaterial n=213) suffering from inflammatory diseases of periodontium tissues is presented in Figure 1.

Based on the results of the microbiological water analysis, domination of *Enterobacteriaceae* family bacteria was established for microbial associations of water samples taken from centralized and decentralized water facilities. Microorganisms of *Escherichia spp*, *Citrobacter spp*, and *Enterobacter spp* genera were observed in three out of the 12 water samples taken from centralized water supply systems; bacteria of *Citrobacter spp*, *Escherichia spp*, *Klebsiella spp*, and *Enterobacter spp* genera were found in five out of the 10 water samples taken from wells (Fig.2).

The spectrum of opportunistic microorganisms isolated from potable water samples and human organism indicates to a possibility of existence of common sources of bacterial entry and their migration, which constitutes a menace to the spread of genetic resistance determinants between humans and the environment.

The *Enterobacteriaceae* family microorganisms isolated from the oral cavity manifested a high level of resistance to antibiotic preparations. According to the analysis of the obtained antibiograms, the highest resistance level was established for macrolides, tetracyclines and unprotected beta-lactams (Fig.3).

The highest susceptibility indices were established for III-IV generation cephalosporins and II-III generation phthorchinolons.

The microorganisms isolated from central water supply sources showed the highest resistance to natural antibiotics and, compared with the bacteria isolated from well water, were susceptible to most of the tested antibiotics (Fig.4).

The enteric bacteria isolated from decentralized water supply sources were characterized by a high level of resistance to tetracyclines, aminoglycosides, unprotected beta-lactams and cephalosporins (Fig.5).

Following the research results, a similar generic spectrum of Gram-negative microorganisms was isolated from potable water samples and from the oral cavity, of which the most widely spread were bacteria of *Escherichia spp*, *Klebsiella spp*, *Citrobacter spp* and *Enterobacter spp* genera characterized by a similar antibiotic resistome, which indicated to a possible migration of microorganisms between the human organism and the environment.

Following the results of the molecular genetic studies, metagenomic DNA was isolated from potable water samples and tested for presence of the following antibiotic resistance genes: *bla*NDM; *bla*OXA48-like; *bla*Tet-M; and *bla*CTX-M.

It was established that no resistance genes were revealed in the well water samples from Velyky Berezny; this site is located in the high-mountain area which is referred to environmentally congenial regions. From total DNA of the well water



Fig.1. Specific spectrum of the microorganisms isolated from the oral cavity



Fig.2. Microorganisms isolated from water samples taken from centralized and decentralized water supply, the city of Uzhhorod.

located in Perechyn, *bla* Tet genes were isolated. The presence of genetic resistance determinants in the well water may have been caused by a number of different reasons, including undue sanitary state of the wells, pollution of the adjacent areas, ignoring the need of regular disinfection according to sanitary requirements, incorrect disinfection, etc. It is known that water disinfection with the use of chlorine may work as a trigger, enhancing the development of resistance to medicines [12].

From the well water samples taken in Storozhnytsia, *bla*CTX-M-type genes were isolated; this site is located in a more densely populated area than the previous ones, and it is located in breach of sanitary requirements – first of all, not above the subsurface water flow which causes regular pollution of the well.

In the water samples taken from centralized water supply sources, no genetic resistance determinants were revealed.

The obtained results have proved a significant spread of genetic resistance determinants in potable water used for household needs.

DISCUSSION

The increasing spread of antibiotic resistant microorganisms is causing a global menace to public health. The excessive use of antimicrobial preparations in various fields has caused a significant growth in the spread of antibiotics in different environments. The obtained data of microbiological studies indicated to the domination of the same spectrum of microbiota belonging to Enterobacteriaceae family in potable water and clinical samples. The isolated representatives of Gram-negative microorganisms (Citrobacter spp, Escherichia spp, Klebsiella spp and Enterobacter *spp*) were opportunistic bacteria, and as such they could be agents of infectious diseases; their availability in potable water sources indicates to the imperfection of the techniques used to treat potable water. The out-dated and worn water pipelines, and violation of the rules of arrangement and maintenance of water wells and individual water boreholes increase the risk of bacteria's entering potable water. Suchlike circulation of opportunistic microorganisms is







Fig. 3. Level of resistance of microorganisms isolated from human oral cavities

Fig.4. Level of resistance of microorganisms isolated from centralized water supply samples.



a source for the spread of genetic antibiotic resistance determinants.

According to the research results, the microorganisms isolated from clinical samples and water showed significant resistance to natural antibiotics, such as tetracycline, ampicillin and gentamycin, as well as to beta-lactam antibiotics. The highest susceptibility to antibiotics was registered among the enteric bacteria isolated from well water characterized by a high level of resistance to phthorchinolons (levofloxacin, ciprofloxaxin, lomefloxacin), beta-lactam antibiotics, and to natural antimicrobial preparations. The growth of the share of microorganisms resistant to new-generation antimicrobial preparations in decentralized water supply sources may be caused by the violation of disinfection processes, in particular incorrect calculation of application of disinfectants. An excessive amount of disinfectants, among which bleach powder is the most frequently used agent, may create favourable conditions for the exchange of resistance genes between bacteria by means of natural transformation [13, 14].

The obtained results of molecular genetic studies proved these assumptions, because it was in the water samples taken from the wells that genetic determinants of *bla*CTX-M and *bla*Tet resistance whose spread constitutes serious risks for human health were revealed.

Our previous studies indicated to the circulation of antibiotic resistant isolates with the water from natural ecosystems, in the doctor – patient chain, and via patients' and doctors' personal hygiene items [15,16]. The revealed regularities are of importance for the development of a perfect antibiotic resistance prevention system, and rational application of antibiotics and antiseptics [17] with due regard to their susceptibility, and search for alternative antimicrobial means [18].

The circulation of genetic resistance determinants in the food chain, in particular in water, opens the door for the humankind to return back to the pre-antibiotic era [19-21].

CONCLUSIONS

- 1) A spectrum of microorganisms similar to *Enterobacteriaceae* family was established for the contents of microbiota of potable water and clinical material samples, viz.: *Citrobacter spp, Escherichia spp, Klebsiella spp* and *Enterobacter spp.*
- 2) The reviewed resistomes of representatives of *Enterobacteriaceae* family revealed a high level of antibiotic resistance in decentralized water supply sources and in clinical samples.
- According to the results of molecular genetic studies, no genetic resistance determinants were established for water samples taken from centralized water supply sources, but cephalosporin – *bla*CTX-M and tetracycline – *bla*Tet resistant genes were revealed in well water samples.
- The obtained results proved the spread of antibiotic resistant microorganisms and their genetic determinants via potable water, and justified the expediency of strength-

ening of control over the spread of genetic resistance determinants in potable water supply sources.

REFERENCES

- Serwecińska L. Antimicrobials and antibiotic-resistant bacteria: a risk to the environment and to public health. Water. 2020; 12(12): 3313.
- 2. Ruiz J. Enhanced antibiotic resistance as a collateral COVID-19 pandemic effect? Journal of Hospital Infection. 2021; 107:114-115.
- 3. Ukuhor H. The interrelationships between antimicrobial resistance, COVID-19, past, and future pandemics. Journal of Infection and Public Health. 2021; 14(1):53-60.
- 4. Mazumder P., Kalamdhad A., Chaminda G. et al. Coalescence of coinfection and antimicrobial resistance with SARS-CoV-2 infection: The blues of post-COVID-19 world. Case Studies in Chemical and Environmental Engineering. 2021; 3:100093.
- Bungau S., Tit D., Behl T. et al. Aspects of excessive antibiotic consumption and environmental influences correlated with the occurrence of resistance to antimicrobial agents. Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health. 2021; 19: 100224.
- Yiek W., Coenen O., Nillesen M. et al. Outbreaks of healthcare-associated infections linked to water-containing hospital equipment: a literature review. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2021; 10(1):1-19
- 7. Amarasiri M., Sano D., Suzuki S. Understanding human health risks caused by antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) and antibiotic resistance genes (ARG) in water environments: Current knowledge and questions to be answered. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology. 2020; 50(19): 2016-2059.
- Tyagi N., Kumar A. Evaluation of recreational risks due to exposure of antibiotic-resistance bacteria from environmental water: A proposed framework. Journal of Environmental Management. 2021; 279:111626.
- 9. Burcea A., Boeraş I., Mihuţ C. et al. Adding the Mureş River Basin (Transylvania, Romania) to the list of hotspots with high contamination with pharmaceuticals. Sustainability. 2020; 12(23): 10197.
- Hu Y., Jiang L., Sun X. et al. Risk assessment of antibiotic resistance genes in the drinking water system. Science of the Total Environment. 2021; 800:149650.
- Andronov E., Pynaev A., Pershyna E. et al. Nauchno-metodicheskiye rekomendatsii po vydeleniyu vysokoochishchennykh preparatov DNK iz obyektov okruzhayushchey sredy. Sankt-Peterburg. VNIISKhM RASKhN. 2011, 23p. (in Russian)
- Liu S., Qu H., Yang D. et al. Chlorine disinfection increases both intracellular and extracellular antibiotic resistance genes in a full-scale wastewater treatment plant. Water research. 2018; 136: 131–136.
- Jia S., Shi P., Hu Q. et al. Bacterial community shift drives antibiotic resistance promotion during drinking water chlorination. Environmental science & technology. 2015; 49(20): 12271-12279.
- 14. Jin M., Liu L., Wang D. et al. Chlorine disinfection promotes the exchange of antibiotic resistance genes across bacterial genera by natural transformation. The ISME journal. 2020; 14(7): 1847-1856.
- Savenko M., Kryvtsova M. Urban aquatic ecosystems as a factor of the spread of antibiotic resistant microorganisms and resistance genes. Transylvanian Review of Systematical and Ecological Research. 2021; 23.2: 1-12.
- Savenko M., Kryvtsova M. Anthropogenic impact on the development of resistance to antibiotics in microorganisms of the Uzh river (Ukraine) Biol. Stud. 2020; 14 (3): 79–90.
- 17. Horzov L,, Kryvtsova M., Kostenko Y. et al. Screening studies of antimicrobial efficacy of antiseptics as one of the ways to prevent nosocomial infections in dentistry Journal of Stomatology. 2021; 74 (4): 243-248.

- Salamon I., Kryvtsova M., Bucko D. et al. Chemical characterization and antimicrobial activity of some essential oils after their industrial large-scale distillation. Journal of Microbiology, Biotechnology and Food Sciences. 2019; 8 (4):984-988.
- 19. Popa L., Gheorghe I., Barbu I. et al. Multidrug resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae ST101 clone survival chain from inpatients to hospital effluent after chlorine treatment. Frontiers in microbiology. 2021; 11: 3403.
- 20. Sanderson H., Fricker C., Brown R. et al. Antibiotic resistance genes as an emerging environmental contaminant. Environmental reviews. 2016; 24(2):205-218.
- 21. Berglund B. Environmental dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes and correlation to anthropogenic contamination with antibiotics. Infection ecology & epidemiology. 2015; 5(1): 28564.

ORCID and contributionship:

Marianna V. Savenko: 0000-0003-4434-182X^{A,B,D} Maryna V. Kryvtsova: 0000-0001-8454-2509^{B,E,F} Ivan I. Skliar: 0000-0001-8664-3952^C Inesa I. Fohel: 0000-0003-4127-1790^A

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Marianna V. Savenko Uzhhorod National University 32 Voloshina St., 88000 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel. +380994324377 e-mail: mariannasavenko7@gmail.com

Received: 24.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022

A – Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
 D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



ORIGINAL ARTICLE

IMPROVEMENT OF CARDIAC FUNCTION AFTER WEIGHT LOSS PROGRAM AMONG YOUNG WOMEN

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420113

Marianna I. Nemesh, Olga S. Palamarchuk, Oksana P. Krichfalushii, Volodymyr P. Feketa, Vasyl V. Kaliy SHEI "UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY", UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To determine the difference between body composition and hemodynamics indices at baseline and after the weight loss program.

Materials and methods: The subject of this study was 13 young women. The weight and body composition were measured by the bio-impedance method. Hemodynamics indices were measured by the method of the thoracic rheography. The measurement of body composition and indices of hemodynamics were performed at the beginning of the weight loss program and 2 months later. The participants underwent 45 minutes per day of moderate-intensity physical activity 3 times a week.

Results: The percentage of body fat decreased in $3.9\pm0.37\%$ from baseline (p=0.01) and the level of visceral fat - 1.54 ± 0.14 units (p=0.001) respectively. Indices of hemodynamics were improved after the weight loss program. Firstly, the index of cardiac output was reduced in 1.43 ± 1.09 l/min (p=0.019) after 2 months of the weight loss program. Secondly, the indices of peripheral resistance also have been improved. Moreover, the index of workload of left ventricle has decreased from 3.56 to 2.7 kg/m/m2 (p=0.035).

Conclusions: Our results demonstrated the improvement of indices of hemodynamics due to the normalization of body composition among young women after weight loss program.

KEY WORDS: body composition; weight loss; central hemodynamics

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):993-998

INTRODUCTION

Obesity continues to be a worldwide problem, which increases tremendously at the current time. Nowadays, obesity is not the only dilemma among adults, but the youth generation is also suffering from it. Ten percent of schoolaged children around the world are being overweight [1]. According to the WHO data in 2016, 39% of women and 39% of men aged 18 and over were overweight [2]. In particular, obesity is associated with diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular diseases, certain forms of cancer, sleep apnea, and other breathing disorders, etc. Obesity is defined by a body-mass index of 30 kg/m² or greater, but it does not take into account the level of skeletal muscle and adipose tissue distribution [3]. Previous researches showed that people with different levels of skeletal muscle and intra-abdominal fat could have similar BMI, but different metabolic effects on health [4]. For instance, visceral fat has a positive correlation with the metabolic abnormalities in comparison with fat in a lower part of the body, which has a negative connection with the metabolic disturbance. That is why, people with normal weight, but with central obesity have the same high risk of cardiovascular diseases as people with obesity or overweight with central obesity [5]. Moreover, central obesity could trigger the pathophysiological mechanism of insulin resistance. As a result, the young adult will be at a high risk to suffer from diabetes mellitus [6]. A lot of evidence suggests that physical activity could reduce the deteriorating influence of visceral fat on the human body. Skeletal muscles due to the physical activity, produce myokines that have anti-inflammatory effects on the cardiovascular system. For example, interleukin -6 (IL-6), which is increased after physical activity, is responsible for increasing glucose uptake and fat oxidation in muscles. Moreover, it increases glucose production during exercise in the liver and, enhances lipolysis in the adipose tissue [7].

The intercorrelation of muscle and adipose tissue in the human body could play an important role in its physical and functional condition.

THE AIM

Firstly, the aim of our study was to determine the body weight and its composition at the baseline and after a 2-month weight loss program. Secondly, to determine the values of hemodynamics indices at the baseline and after a 2-month of weight loss program. Thirdly, to find the connection between the indices of body composition and hemodynamics ones.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The subject of this study was 13 young women with age from 18 to 25, who studies on the medical faculty #2 of Uzhhorod national university. The participants did not have any acute and chronic diseases. Firstly, they were informed consent about the further procedures of the study. We followed all rules of the WMA Declaration of Helsinki in the research project. The weight, body mass index (BMI, kg/m²), the percentage of body fat (BF, %), the percentage of fat-free mass (FFM, %), and the index of visceral fat (VF, un.) were measured by bio-impedance analysis with using body-analizator Tanita BC-601.

Mean arterial pressure (MAP, mmHg), stroke volume (SV, ml/beat), stroke volume index (SVI, ml/m²/beat) cardiac output (CO, l/min), cardiac index (CI, l/min/m²), systemic vascular resistance (SVR, dynes-sec/cm⁻⁵), systemic vascular resistance index (SVRI, dynes-sec/cm⁻⁵), systemic vascular resistance index (WLV, kg/m), the workload of the left ventricle index (WLVI, kg/m/m²) were measured by the method of thoracic rheography. 'REOKOM' is the medical device, which we used for the measurement of hemodynamics indices.

The measurement of thoracic rheography requires 2 tape electrodes (one coil). One coil of potential electrodes should be placed around the neck, closer to the clavicle. Another one should be placed on the lower part of the chest, below the xiphoid process. The current electrodes should be placed around the head at the level of the forehead and above the left ankle joint. Since the rheograph is completed with double tape electrodes (coils), then in each of the four used in this case the coils will be involved only one tape [8]. Current cables of the remote unit of the RVG.1 rheograph (white marking) are connected to any of the tapes of the coil installed above the left ankle joint and to any of the tapes of the coil placed on the patient's head. Potential cables RVG.1.1 of the remote unit RVG.1 of the rheograph (red marking) are connected to the lower tape of the coil installed on the neck of the patient and to the upper tape of the coil installed on the patient's chest. The potential cables RVG.1.2 (green marking) are connected to one of the used potential electrodes using a special splitter, together with the corresponding potential cable of the first channel.

The measurement of body composition and indices of hemodynamics were performed at the beginning of the weight loss program and 2 months later. The participants underwent 45 minutes per day of moderate-intensity physical activity 3 times a week. They followed the individualized dietary strategy, which suggested a caloric deficit of 500 kcal/day.

Data were analyzed with a t-t for dependent samples and the multiple linear regression method. All statistical analyses were performed using the program Minitab.

RESULTS

Firstly, were performed the multiple linear regression to find the connection between BMI and the indices of body composition (table I).

Multiple linear regression was calculated to identify the connection between the dependent variable BMI and independent predictors BF, VF, FFM. Our regression model was statistically significant (p=0.001), the predicted R² for this model was 13.96%. The statistically significant connection BMI had only with VF (p=0.035). The coefficient of the visceral fat told us that increasing of visceral fat in 1 unit could lead to the increasing of BMI in 1.38 kg/m^2 (table II).

Regression Equation:

BMI = 20 + 0.16 BF+ 1.385 VF - 0.10 FFM

Our data showed that the average weight among participants was 79.38 ± 12.04 kg and BMI= 29.25 ± 3.66 kg/m², which was identified as overweight. The body weight and body composition changes were evaluated after 2 months of weight loss program and are presented in table III. To investigate this statistically, we calculated the difference by t-test dependent samples.

Participants lost a mean of 5.49 ± 2.02 kg (p=0.008). Furthermore, the percentage of BF decreased by $3.9\pm0.37\%$ from baseline (p=0.01) and the level of VF 1.54 ± 0.14 units (p=0.001) respectively. The data reveal significant enhancement in FFM – $4.88\pm0.32\%$ (p=0.001). Also, we observed changes for hemodynamics indices after the weight loss program (table VI).

DISCUSSION

It is well known that there is a sex difference according to fat distribution. In comparison to men women have a higher percentage of body fat, which mainly deposit in the subcutaneous area. That is why the fat, which is accumulated in the gluteal-femoral area has a positive influence as in the metabolic processes as in the cardiovascular system [9]. According to our data women had increased level of visceral fat. We could predict that this happened due to the low physical activity and junk food consumption. The loss weight program helps to reduce the level of visceral adipose tissue in 1.54 ± 0.14 units.

Our data also address that indices of hemodynamics were prone to improvement in participants. Firstly, we received the reduction of WLV in 1.65 ± 0.27 kg/m (p=0,024) after 2 months of the weight loss program. Secondly, the CI as the CO significantly decreased in 1.29 ± 0.56 l/min/m² and in $1,43\pm1,09$ l/min respectively (p=0,031; p=0,019). Thirdly, the indices of SVR and SVRI increased significantly after the weight loss program. SVR increased in 424 ± 36 dynessec/cm⁻⁵ and SVRI increased in 630 ± 146 dynes-sec/cm⁻⁵/ m². These results go beyond previous reports, showing that the weight loss program, which includes aerobic exercises and dietary intervention, produced clinically important and significant improvement of body composition and hemodynamic indices [10,11].

Increased BMI, which is related to overweight or obesity (OW/OB), is associated with hemodynamic overload. As a result, people with OW/OB are likely to have higher CO, due to enlarged stroke volume and an increase of heart rate [12]. According to our data, while participant lost their weight the index of CO reduced. Firstly, our results support the previous findings that weight and adipose tissue reduction may provide with the improvement of the left ventricular function by decreasing the volume of overload and CO [13]. Secondly, we could predict that LV geometry and its workload have a connection with hemodynamic

Table I. Regression Summary for dependent variable BMI

Model Summary S R-sq R-sq(adj) R-sq(pred) 1.86059 80.59% 74.12% 13.96%							
Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F-Value	P-Value		
Regression	3	129.376	43.1254	12.46	0.001		
BF, %	1	0.061	0.0612	0.02	0.897		
VF, un.	1	21.183	21.1834	6.12	0.035		
FFM, %	1	0.023	0.0229	0.01	0.937		
Error	9	31.156	3.4618				
Total	12	160.532					

Table II. Results of multiple linear regression according to the coefficients

Term	Coef	SE Coef	T-Val ue	P-Value	VIF
Constant	20	118	0.17	0.870	
BF, %	0.16	1.19	0.13	0.897	101.61
VF, un.	1.385	0.560	2,47	0.035	2.93
FF, %	-0.10	1.25	-0.08	0.937	101.37

Table III. Comparison of indices of body composition after the weight loss program

Body composition	baseline	after 2 month	p-value
Weight, kg	79.38±12.04	73.89±10.02	0.008
BMI, kg/m ²	29.25±3.66	27.6±3.11	0.001
BF, %	37.95±4.57	34.05±4.2	0.01
FFM, %	58.78±4.32	63.66±4	0.001
VF, units	6.77±1.64	5.23±1.78	0.001

Table VI. Comparison of hemodynamics indices after the weight loss program

Indices of hemodynamics	baseline	After 2 months	p-value
MAP, mm Hg	91.67±7.11	92.2±4.33	0.746
SVI, ml/m²/beat	44.84±14.90	40.22±15.19	0.441
CO, l/min	5.32±1.96	3.89±0.87	0.019
Cl, l/min/m ²	3.00±0.97	2.29±0.41	0.031
SVR, dynes-sec/cm⁻⁵	1388±418	1812±382	0.011
SVRI, dynes-sec/cm ⁻⁵ /m ²	2415+697	3045+551	0.028
WLV, kg/m	6.31±2.59	4.66±2.32	0.024
WLVI, kg/m/m ²	3.56±1.3	2.70±0.56	0.035

components due to the Frank-Startling law and non-hemodynamic components (body composition). That is why increasing of CO and disproportional increment of body size due to the adipose tissue could lead to augmentation of the index of WLV [14].

In our findings, we observed that OW participants were likely to have lower SVR in the presence of increased CO. To some extent, this scenario has a temporary adaptive mechanism for the prevention of an increase of blood pressure, but mainly it is insufficient [15]. Other studies showed a similar association between these hemodynamics indices [16]. There is a reason to suspect, that increased level of visceral fat and subcutaneous fat in the trunk decreases artery compliance [17]. Increased CO due to the augmented blood flow leads to the rising of preload. At the same time, the overproduction of adipocytokines by visceral fat reduces NO-mediated vasodilatation, which leads to an increase in blood pressure and afterload.

After the weight loss program, SVR increased, whereas CO reduced. We could hypothesize that reducing CO, respectively, leads to the increasing in SVR. To our mind, such changes in SVR talk about the improvement of the vasomotor activity after the weight loss program. We have not received a statistically significant difference according to the index MAP

(p=0.746). That is why, during the whole period of the weight loss program, women had constant MAP. The MAP was based on the increased level of CO and decreased level of SVR before the weight loss program. The same level of the MAP mainly was based on the CO, which has decreased, and the SVR, which has increased after the weight loss program. We could suppose, that the reduction of the visceral fat during the weight loss program has prevented the irreversible changes of the SVR, and has improved the vasomotor activity of the vessels.

The % of FFM mostly describes the physical person's activity. After 2-months of the weight loss program, the % FFM has been improved. The skeletal muscle pump facilitated the venous return and as a result, the myocardium requires less force for contraction [18]. Exercise training changes the geometry of the heart and improves the pump capacity of the heart [19]. Adaptive remodeling of the heart typically occurs with the preservation of the contractility function of the heart through the oxidative energy production and by omitting fat acid oxidation [20]. Steam from this, the index of WLV decreased significantly from 3.56 ± 1.3 to 2.70 ± 0.56 kg/m/m², so we could predict that the power of contraction of LV will be more economical.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. According to the results of the multiple linear regression, the reduction of the visceral fat will influence on the reduction of the BMI.
- 2. According to our data, body composition has been improved after the weight loss program. The visceral fat has reduced in 1.54±0.14 units and FFM has increased in 4.88±0.32 %.
- 3. The CO has decreased in 1,43±1,09 l/min and SVR has increased in 424±36 dynes-sec/cm⁵, which together have optimized the functional condition of the cardiovascular system.

REFERENCES

- 1. Lobstein T., Baur L., Uauy R. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health.Obesity reviews. 2004; 5:4-85.
- World Health Organization. Overweight and Obesity [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2018. www.who.int/gho/ncd/risk_factors/ overweight_obesity/obesity_adults/en/. [date access 14.06.2021]
- Chrysant S.G., Chrysant G.S. The single use of body mass index for the obesity paradox is misleading and should be used in conjunction with other obesity indices. Postgrad Med. 2019; 131(2):96-102. doi: 10.1080/00325481.2019.1568019.
- 4. Thomas E.L., Bell J.D. Body Fat: our own Janus. Physiology News. 2014; 96; 7-24.
- 5. Bosomworth N.J. Normal-weight central obesity: Unique hazard of the toxic waist. Canadian Family Physician. 2019; 65(6): 399-408.
- 6. Forkert E. C., Rendo-Urteaga T., Nascimento-Ferreira M.V. et al. Abdominal obesity and cardiometabolic risk in children and adolescents, are we aware of their relevance? Nutrire. 2016; 41(1): 15-23. doi:10.1186/s41110-016-0017-7.
- Pratesi A., Tarantini F., Di Bari M. Skeletal muscle: an endocrine organ. Clinical cases in mineral and bone metabolism. 2013; 10(1): 11-14. doi: 10.11138/ccmbm/2013.10.1.011.

- 8. Gundarov I.A., Pushkar Yu.T., Konstantinov E.N. Pokazateli central'noj gemodinamiki opridel'onnye tetrapolyarnoj grudnoj reografiej [On the standards of central hemodynamics, determined by tetrapolar thoracic rheography]. Ter. arh. 1983; 4: 26-32. (in Russian)
- 9. Karastergiou K., Smith S.R., Greenberg A.S., Fried S.K. Sex differences in human adipose tissues—the biology of pear shape. Biology of sex differences. 2012; 3(1):13-18. doi: 10.1186/2042-6410-3-13.
- Foster-Schubert K.E., Alfano C.M., Duggan C.R. et al. Effect of diet and exercise, alone or combined, on weight and body composition in overweight-to-obese postmenopausal women. Obesity. 2012; 20(8):1628-38.
- 11. Miller C.T., Fraser S.F., Levinger I. et al. The effects of exercise training in addition to energy restriction on functional capacities and body composition in obese adults during weight loss: a systematic review. PloS one. 2013; 8(11): e81692. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0081692.
- 12. Vasan R.S. Cardiac function and obesity. BMJ. 2003; 89(10): 1127-29.
- Kosmala W., O'Moore-Sullivan T., Plaksej R. et al. Improvement of left ventricular function by lifestyle intervention in obesity: contributions of weight loss and reduced insulin resistance. Diabetologia. 2009; 52(11): 2306-16.
- 14. De Simone G., Izzo R., De Luca N. et al. Left ventricular geometry in obesity: is it what we expect?. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases. 2013; 23(10): 905-12.
- 15. Kardassis D., Bech-Hanssen O., Schönander M. et al. Impact of body composition, fat distribution and sustained weight loss on cardiac function in obesity. International journal of cardiology. 2012; 159(2): 128-33.
- De Simone G., Devereux R.B., Kizer J.R. et al. Body composition and fat distribution influence systemic hemodynamics in the absence of obesity: the HyperGEN Study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2005; 81(4): 757-61.
- 17. Acree L.S., Montgomery P.S., Gardner A.W. The influence of obesity on arterial compliance in adult men and women. Vascular Medicine. 2007; 12(3): 183-88.
- Casey D.P., Hart E.C. Cardiovascular function in humans during exercise: role of the muscle pump. The Journal of physiology. 2008; 586(21): 5045-46.
- 19. Kemi O.J., Wisløff U. High-intensity aerobic exercise training improves the heart in health and disease. Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention. 2010; 30(1): 2-11.
- 20. Nystoriak M.A., Bhatnagar A. Cardiovascular effects and benefits of exercise. Frontiers in cardiovascular medicine. 2018; 5: 135-140.

The study was performed within the scientific theme "Functional state of the autonomic systems depending on the ratio of adipose and muscle tissue in normal and in pathology" (state registration number: 0118U000713)

ORCID and contributionship:

Marianna I. Nemesh: 0000-0001-8044-7053^{B-D,F} Olga S. Palamarchuk: 0000-0002-8236-040X ^{BC} Oksana P. Krichfalushii: 0000-0001-6326-5178 ^{BC} Volodymyr P. Feketa: 0000-0002-4951-4040 ^A Vasyl V. Kaliy: 0000-0001-5260-3282^A

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Marianna I. Nemesh Uzhhorod National University 3 Narodna Sq., 88000 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel: +380505598168 e-mail: marianna.nemesh@uzhnu.edu.ua

Received: 26.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
 D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ULTRAMORPHOMETRIC CHARACTERISTICS OF ACINI AND MICROVASCULATURE OF THE PANCREAS IN THE PRESENCE OF MODERATE DEHYDRATION

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420114

Viktor Yu. Kovchun, Vladyslav A. Smiianov , Anna V. Kovchun , Vladyslava V. Kachkovska, Vitalii Z. Sikora SUMY STATE UNIVERSITY, SUMY, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: The objective of our study was to evaluate the features of ultramorphometric characteristics of exocrine parenchyma and microvasculature of the pancreas in the presence of moderate dehydration by means of an experiment in laboratory rats.

Materials and methods: The experiment involved 20 mature white male rats divided into 2 groups: control and experimental (10 rats each). In the experimental group, moderate dehydration was simulated, i.e. the animals were deprived of water for 7 days, while the control rats were provided with a normal water supply during the study. Pancreatic parenchyma samples were fixed in phosphate-buffered glutaraldehyde solution and post-fixed in osmium tetroxide solution, dehydrated and embedded in a mixture of epoxy resins. Ultrastructural analysis was performed using JEOL JEM-1230 transmission electron microscope (Japan).

Results: Pancreatic electron microscopy in the presence of moderate dehydration demonstrated statistically significant changes in exocrinocytes area and exocrinocyte nucleus area which increased by 8.02% (p = 0.028) and 40.28% (p < 0.001), respectively. Among the vessels of microcirculation, the largest changes occurred in the capillaries: their lumen narrowed by 22.34% (p = 0.022) as compared with the control group. The cytoplasm of endothelial cells contained a large number of vacuoles and micropinocytotic vesicles. **Conclusions:** Among the organelles of exocrinocytes, mitochondria appeared the most vulnerable to the effects of dehydration. They demonstrated polymorphic changes: a part of the mitochondria was hypotrophic and had partially reduced cristae, and another part was hypertrophic.

KEY WORDS: pancreas, dehydration, ultrastructure, morphometry

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):998-1001

INTRODUCTION

Nowadays, water is considered not only a natural resource but also a factor having social significance, since the availability of sufficient amount of proper quality water is one of the main milestones of safe living conditions and development of a country [1]. Most countries of the world, including Ukraine, entered the XXI century with a set of environmental, global, and regional problems [2]. The most threatening among them are the depletion and deterioration of water resources, i.e. sources of drinking water. Today, about 1.1 billion people on Earth still do not have permanent, secure access to water supply [3]. Insufficient water intake causes a pathological condition that is accompanied by metabolic disorders and has significant consequences for population health and working capacity.

In recent decades, there has been a high growth rate of the digestive system and endocrine system diseases, which optimize the fluid volume in the body [4]. The main reasons for the development of these diseases are not only genetic factors but rather the lifestyle and external adverse factors, such as intoxication, radiation, gravity load and hypoxic stress, salts of heavy metals, injuries, etc. [5], to which the pancreas is very sensitive.

The issue of morphofunctional changes in the pancreas under the influence of various exogenous factors is important for both clinicians and morphologists. Despite the significant amount of work devoted to this problem, many issues still remain debatable, in particular, the changes in the pancreatic morphology under the influence of various types of dehydration. Taking into account the abovementioned facts, we can assume that experimental and clinical studies on the different types and degrees of dehydration will help clinicians predict the course of pancreatic diseases and provide adequate treatment.

THE AIM

The objective to study the features of ultramorphometric characteristics of acini and microvasculature of the pancreas in the presence of moderate dehydration by means of an experiment in mature laboratory rats.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

To achieve this objective, the experiment involved 20 mature white male rats kept in a stationary vivarium. The experimental study was performed in accordance with the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals Used for Experimental and Other Scientific Purposes (Strasbourg, 1986); the Declaration of Helsinki of



Fig. 1. Rat pancreatic capillary. Dehydration, Day 7. Endothelial cell cytoplasm (1), endothelial cell cytoplasmic processes (2), membrane structures (3). Contrast enhancement with uranyl acetate and lead citrate according to Reynolds method. x8000

Table I. The results of ultramorphometric studies of the pancreas in rats

Control group (n = 10)	Dehydration (n = 10)
983.4 ± 67.1	1058.8 ± 63.1
149.5 ± 3.1	161.5 ± 4.5
138.7 ± 4.7	146.5 ± 4.4
10.7 ± 0.4	15.01 ± 0.4
8.2 ± 0.9	10.2 ± 0.4
16.34 ± 0.49	14.49 ± 0.48
7.92 ± 0.28	6.15 ± 0.30
19.41 ± 0.59	15.89 ± 0.40
	Control group $(n = 10)$ 983.4 ± 67.1149.5 ± 3.1138.7 ± 4.710.7 ± 0.48.2 ± 0.916.34 ± 0.497.92 ± 0.2819.41 ± 0.59

Note: The resulting values were presented as $M \pm m$.

the General Assembly of the World Medical Association (1964–2000); the General Ethical Principles for Animal Experiments approved by the First National Congress on Bioethics (Kyiv, 2001); and the Law of Ukraine "On Protection of Animals From Cruelty" (2006).

Animals were divided into two groups: the control group (10 rats) and the experimental group (10 rats). In the experimental group, moderate dehydration was simulated according to the model of A. D. Sobolieva [6], i.e. the animals were deprived of water for 7 days. The control rats were provided with a normal water supply during the study. Upon reaching the required degree of dehydration, the animals were sacrificed using thiopental anesthesia overdose.

For ultrastructural examination, pancreatic samples were fixed in 4% phosphate-buffered glutaraldehyde solution and post-fixed in 1% OsO_4 solution, dehydrated, and embedded in a mixture of epoxy resins (epon and araldite). Ultrathin sections (40–60 nm) were performed on UMTP–6M ultramicrotome using glass knives. Contrast enhancement of ultramicrosections on copper grids was performed for 15 minutes with a 2% solution of uranyl ac-



Fig. 2. Rat pancreatic acinus. Dehydration, Day 7. Acinar lumen (1), secretory granules (2), hypotrophic mitochondria (3). Contrast enhancement with uranyl acetate and lead citrate according to Reynolds method. x8000

etate, followed by a lead citrate solution for 30 minutes according to Reynolds method. Ultrastructural analysis was performed using JEOL JEM-1230 transmission electron microscope (Japan). All measurements of ultrastructural components were performed using SEO Image Lab 2.0 electronic program. During the study, the following parameters were evaluated: pancreatic acini area, exocrinocytes area, exocrinocyte cytoplasm area, exocrinocyte nucleus area, the nuclear-cytoplasmic ratio of exocrinocytes, the inner diameter of arterioles, capillaries, and venules.

The results of ultramorphometric studies were analyzed by means of statistical methods using IBM SPSS Statistic 21 statistical program. The digital data were tested for normality of the distribution using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Mean values were presented as $M \pm m$. The Mann-Whitney test was used to compare the parameters in the experimental and control groups. Values of $p < 0.05 (\le 5\%)$ were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The microscopical study in the control rats revealed that the pancreatic parenchyma was represented mainly by exocrine tissue – conical pancreatic acini, with the apical parts directed towards the secretory ducts, where the intercalated ducts of the pancreas originate from. The average size of the pancreatic acini was 983.4 \pm 67.1 µm. In the acinar parenchyma, the islets of Langerhans of different shapes and sizes were seen. In the center of the pancreatic islets, there were β -cells that were localized close to each other and had oval or round shape and a light cytoplasm, while on the periphery of the islet, smaller and fewer α and D- cells were observed. The average size of the islets of Langerhans was 13934.1 \pm 688.3 µm. Endocrine cells were clearly separated from exocrine cells by connective tissue consisting of reticular, collagen, and elastic fibers.

On Day 7 of the experiment (upon reaching the average degree of dehydration), the cytoplasmic processes and cy-

toplasm of pancreatic capillary endothelial cells contained a large number of vacuoles and micropinocytotic vesicles. The luminal surface of endothelial cells had a significant number of cytoplasmic processes and reniform nodules. Endothelial cell nuclei had invaginations of the nuclear envelope and marginally placed chromatin (Fig. 1). Capillary lumens obtained irregular shape and significantly narrowed by 22.34% (p = 0.0001) vs. control group and contained thin membrane structures. Collagen fibers in the pericapillary zone generally maintained an orderly arrangement. The diameter of arterioles decreased by 11.32% (p = 0.0001), and the diameter of venules – by 18.12% (p = 0.0001) (Table I).

The lumens of the acini were narrowed and contained fine-grained secretory material. The acini area increased by 7.66% (p > 0.05) vs. the control group. The microvilli of the apical part of acinocytes were well visualized, but somewhat deformed. On the periphery of the apical cytoplasm, there were accumulations of electron-dense secretory granules of regular round shape; closer to the central part of the cell, large and irregularly shaped vacuoles were visualized. A part of mitochondria was hypotrophic and had partially reduced cristae; still, another part of mitochondria appeared to be hypertrophic (Fig. 2).

Exocrinocytes area and exocrinocyte cytoplasm area increased by 8.02% (p = 0.028) and 5.54% (p = 0.326). Exocrinocyte nucleus area and the nuclear-cytoplasmic ratio of exocrinocytes increased by 40.28% (p < 0.001) and 29.11% (p = 0.96) which is presented in Table I.

DISCUSSION

Today, there are a large number of scientific studies devoted to the study of the pathology of the pancreas, however, in the modern literature there are no systematized data on the direct anatomical and physiological features of the structure of this organ under the influence of various types of dehydration on the pancreatic parenchyma. The sources contain a lot of data on the influence of various factors on the structure of the pancreas, in particular, the group of authors P.N. Zamyatin, V.N. Likhman et al. [9] studied ultrastructural changes in pancreatic cells after modeling blunt trauma, the researchers noted changes in the structure of the pancreas, both dystrophic and destructive, revealed mitochondrial dysfunction in the form of focal lysis of membranes and granular endoplasmic reticulum, found that some of the mitochondria were hypotrophic and had partially reduced cristae, however, there were also those that were, on the contrary, hypertrophied.

A group of authors [10] studying the effect of opioids, such us nalbuphine, on the pancreatic parenchyma noted pronounced structural changes in the microvasculature in the form of micro- and macroangiopathy, followed by profound destructive changes that led to disorganization of the pancreatic tissue, which is consonant with our studies a decrease in the area of arterioles, venules and capillaries, the gaps of which have acquired an irregular shape.

Back in 2008, a group of researchers in their work studied the effect of heavy metal salts on the pancreatic parenchyma [12]. The authors noted pronounced morphological changes in the pancreas, the intensity of which was associated with the duration of the experiment, first of all, they found mitochondrial edema with a decrease in the number of cristae, vacuolization of cisternae of the granular endoplasmic reticulum, clarification of the nuclear matrix, and chromatin condensation, however, further studies in this direction were not carried out. We have revealed a similar relationship between changes in the structure of the pancreas depending on the duration of dehydration, with the progression of the process, the cytoplasmic processes of the endothelial cells of the pancreatic capillaries and their cytoplasm contained a large number of vacuoles and micropinocytic vesicles, the nuclei of endothelial cells were with invagination of the nuclear membrane and marginally located chromatin.

In 2017, data were published on the effect of changes in water and electrolyte balance on the morphogenesis of the organ of the gastrointestinal tract - tongue [12]. The authors noted destructive processes in the microvessels, which were full-blooded, the walls were edematous, and their lumens were enlarged, which is consonant with the results of our studies.

CONCLUSIONS

Analysis of the exocrine parenchyma in the presence of moderate dehydration demonstrated statistically significant changes in exocrinocytes area and exocrinocyte nucleus area which increased by 8.02% (p = 0.028) and 40.28% (p < 0.001), respectively.

Analysis of ultramorphometric characteristics of the pancreas showed a significant decrease in the diameter of arterioles, capillaries, and venules among the vessels of microcirculation, but the largest changes occurred in the capillaries: their lumen narrowed by 22.34% (p = 0.002) as compared with the control group. The cytoplasm of endothelial cells contained a large number of vacuoles and micropinocytotic vesicles.

Among the organelles of exocrinocytes, mitochondria appeared the most vulnerable to the effects of dehydration. They demonstrated polymorphic changes: a part of mitochondria was hypotrophic and had partially reduced cristae, and another part was hypertrophic.

Prospects for future research. It is planned to study the features of ultramorphometric parameters of the pancreas in the presence of cellular dehydration of various degrees.

REFERENCES

- 1. Zatserkovny V., Plichko L. Analysis system of the water management complex in Ukraine and the search for ways to improve. Science-based technologies. 2017;36(4): 358 367. doi: 10.18372/2310-5461.36.12236.
- 2. Paton B. National paradigm of sustainable development of Ukraine. ed. Paton B. State Institution "Institute of Economics of Nature Management and Sustainable Development of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", Kyiv. 2012, 72 p.
- 3. Khvesik M., Mandzik V. Water resources investment of the present and perspective of the future. Investments: practice and experience. 2009;1:1-8.

- 4. Dziuba O., Chepelevskaya L., Karamzina L. Current trends in the mortality of the working age population from diseases of the digestive system. Bulletin of social hygiene and health care organization of Ukraine. 2016;1(67):24-29.
- 5. Serdyuk A. Environmental safety: a hygienic view over the years. Preserving the health of the population of urban areas: scientific and practical aspects of the impact of environmental factors: materials intern. scientific-practical conf. 2007;7(4):37 44.
- 6. Soboleva A. The reaction of cells and tissues to dehydration. Novosibirsk: Science. 1975, 64p.
- 7. Lapach S., Chubenko A., Babich P. Statistical methods in biomedical research using Exel. Kiev: MORION. 2001, 155p.
- Kozlov A., Popov N. Medical statistics: textbook. Kharkov, publ. center of KhNU. 2006, 88p.
- 9. Zamyatin P. Likhman V. M., Nevzorova O. F. Changes in the ultrastructure of rat pancreatic cells after modeling blunt abdominal trauma of different strength. Kharkov School of Surgery. 2012;2:64-68.
- 10. Popik P. Morphological changes of the vessels of the pancreas in peritonitis caused by the introduction of nalbuphine in experiments. Bulletin of morphology. 2014;1:170–172.
- Romanyuk A.M., Kravets O.V. Influence of heavy metal salts on the ultrastructure of cells of the exocrine apparatus of the pancreasю Ukrainian Morphological Almanac. 2008;6(1): 134-135.
- 12. Davydova L., Tkach G., German S. et al. Peculiarities of morphogenesis of the language of rats when the water-electrolyte balance of the body is disturbed. Achievements of clinical and experimental medicine. 2017;1(3). doi: 10.11603/1811-2471.2017.v1.i3.7956).

ORCID and contributionship:

Viktor Yu. Kovchun: 0000-0002-9577-0272 ^{A-D, F} Vladislav A. Smiyanov: 0000-0001-8164-9706^{E, F} Anna V. Kovchun: 0000-0002-5856-8323 ^{C, E} Vladyslava V. Kachkovska: 0000-0002-9563-5425 ^{A, E, F} Vitalii Z. Sikor: 0000-0001-6545-8678 ^{A-F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Viktor Yu. Kovchun Sumy State University 38 SKD st., 40001 Sumy, Ukraine tel: +380971136927 e-mail: vu.kovchun@ukr.net

Received: 14.10.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

- A Work concept and design, B Data collection and analysis, C Responsibility for statistical analysis,
- D Writing the article, E Critical review, F Final approval of the article



ORIGINAL ARTICLE

ASSOCIATIONS OF POLYMORPHISMS NOS3-T-786C, MTHFR-C667T, P2RY12-T-744C, (GPIBA) -C482T AND GENE INTERACTIONS IN MACROANGIOPATHIES IN PATIENTS WITH COMBINED HYPERTENSION AND TYPE DIABETES MELLITUS 2

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420115

Eugene I. Shorikov, Olena V. Zaliavska, Dina V. Shorikova, Olga M. Nika, Pavlo E. Shorikov, Oksana S. Khukhlina BUKOVINIAN STATE MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, CHERNIVTSI, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To establish the role of allelic polymorphisms *NOS3-T-786C, MTHFR-C667T, P2RY12--744C, (GPIba)-C482T* in the development of vascular lesions in patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2.

Materials and methods: The study included 100 patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2 (main group) and 50 patients without type 2 diabetes (control group). Patients underwent echocardiography, color duplex scanning of extracranial, brachiocephalic and femoral vessels. The distribution of allelic polymorphisms was investigated by isolation DNA from leukocytes and polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

Results: The risk of vascular damages increases 2-fold when carrying all 4 risk alleles in monozygotic genotypes of polymorphic loci in patients with hypertension with concomitant type 2 diabetes (p<0,05). In gene-gene interaction, the values of contributions and directions of interaction between alleles of polymorphic loci are established (p<0,05). Genes create a paired hierarchy of interaction according to their functional activity; the largest contribution to the probable vascular damage depends on the allelic polymorphism *NOS3-786CT* (p<0,05), the lowest - on the allelic polymorphism *P2RY12-744CC (H2H2)*. The genetic polymorphism of the *MTHFR* gene is independent of the influence of other studied polymorphisms (p<0,05); the genes *P2RY12-744CT* and *GPIba 482CT* act synergistically with the gene *NOS3-786CT*, being in a weak negative interaction with each other. **Conclusions:** Phenotypic manifestations of endothelial dysfunction may be modified by allelic polymorphism of genes associated with endothelial and platelet functions with the risk of vascular complications.

KEY WORDS: arterial hypertension, diabetes mellitus type 2, angiopathy, candidate genes

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1002-1008

INTRODUCTION

Multifactorial endothelial damage is reflected by the presence of a significant number of biochemical markers, including a decrease in the synthesis of nitrogen monoxide and its metabolites [1]. Therefore, the gene that are responsible for the production of endothelial nitrogen monoxide synthase (NOS3) is considered a candidate gene for the development of hypertension (AH) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM) complications. [2]. Given the role of nitrogen monoxide in the involvment of vascular damage in the combined course of hypertension and type 2 diabetes, the study of the association of allelic polymorphism of the NO-synthase gene is important for predicting the severity of polypathology and the effectiveness of antihypertensive therapy.

Hyperhomocysteinemia is a proven risk factor for thrombosis [3]. A slight excess of homocysteine evels is much more common and is associated with mutations and polymorphisms in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene. (*MTHFR*) [4]. Carrying the *MTHFR* 677T allele under certain conditions may cause hyperhomocysteinemia and increase the risk of arterial thrombosis [5].

According to Aga Q.A.A. et al. [6], the contribution of genetic factors to the variability of platelet reactivity is about 30%. Functional evaluation of the effect of polymorphic variants of the GRIba gene on the rate of thrombosis was performed only in some small studies [7]. Other studies have shown that the occurrence of H2-haplotype is associated with increased platelet ADP dependent aggregation with different concentrations of inducers, which may be due to increased platelet ADP receptor expression [8]. The association of the haplotype of H2 presence with peripheral vascular thrombosis and the development of peripheral arterial damage in the absence of other influencing factors (smoking, weight gain, hyperlipidemia, etc.) was also determined [9].

THE AIM

The aim of the study was to establish the role of allelic polymorphisms *NOS3* - *T*-786*C*, *MTHFR* - *C*667*T*, *P2RY12* -*T*-744*C*, (*GPIb* α) - *C*482*T* in the development of vascular lesions of vessels with medium caliber in patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2.

Gene Poly-morphism		Genotype	Distribution of genotypes in the control group		p1 for χ2, p2 Fisher's	Distribution of genotypes in the main group		p1 for χ2, p2 Fisher's exact
			Ν	%	exact	Ν	%	
		-786CC	4	8		15	15	
NOS3	T-786C	-786CT	26	52	p1=0,25	72	72	p1<0,01
		-786TT	20	40	p2 0,00	13	13	pz<0,01
		667CC	21	42		19	19	
MTHFR	MTHFR C667T	667CT	25	50	p1=0,18 p2=0,26	69	69	p1<0,01 p2<0,01
		667TT	4	8		12	12	
		-744TT (H1H1)	25	50		37	37	
P2RY12 T-744C (H1/H2)	-744TC (H1H2)	22	44	p1=0,51 p2=0,73	53	53	p1=0,15 p2=0,21	
	-744CC (H2H2)	3	6		10	10		
GPIba C482T	482CC	16	32		4	4		
	C482T	482CT	30	60	p1=0,06 ·	86	86	p1<0,01
	482TT	4	8	— p2=0,00	10	10	- p2<0,01	

Table I. Distribution of gene polymorphisms and their correspondence to Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium

Note: Genotypes that are potential risk factors for vascular lesions in hypertension and type 2 diabetes are highlighted in bold

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study included 100 patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2 (main group) and 50 patients with hypertension without type 2 diabetes (control group). Verification of the diagnosis of hypertension was performed using the criteria recommended by the European Society of Hypertension and Cardiology, verification of diabetes was carried out on the basis of WHO criteria. All representatives belonged to the general population of Ukrainians in Chernivtsi region (Northern Bukovyna).

The distribution of alleles of polymorphic regions was investigated by isolation of genomic DNA from peripheral blood leukocytes and subsequent amplification by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) on the amplifier "Amply-4L". All patients underwent echocardiography, color duplex scanning of extracranial vessels, duplex scanning of brachiocephalic and femoral vessels on the EnVisor HD device (Philips, USA). Attention was paid to the presence of stenotic lesions of large vessels, assessment of intraluminal diameter of vessels and thickening of the complex of intima-media walls of large vessels for verification of macroangiopathies.

For statistical analysis of the obtained results we used a a programe packages Statistica for Windows 8.0 (Stat Soft inc., USA), WinPEPI 11.43 (School of Public Health and Community Medicine, Hebrew University, Israel), MDR 3.0.2 (Perelman School of Medicine of the University of Pennsylvania, USA), GMDR 0.7 (Department of Psychiatry and Neurobehavioral Sciences University of Virginia, USA). Values are presented in the frequencies (percentage of observations to the total number of subjects). DeFinetti online programs (https://ihg.gsf.de/cgi-bin/hw/hwa1.pl) (Institute of Human Genetics, Helmholtz Center, Munich, Germany) were used to study the associations of genetic polymorphisms. Comparison of the frequency of alleles and genotypes was performed using the criterion $\chi 2$ of maximum likelihood (ML $\chi 2$) and modification of the exact Fisher's test (mid-p). At level of p<0,05 discrepancies were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

At the initial stage of the study, the distribution of genotypes of polymorphisms of genes of 4 loci, respectively, according to the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in the main and control groups were calculated. The results of the compliance analysis are presented in table I.

In the control group there was no statistical deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. In contrast, the genotype distribution of the main group polymorphisms for the *NOS3*, *MTHFR* and *GPIba* genes was characterized by a probable deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, and no statistically significant deviation from equilibrium was found for the *P2RY12* gene polymorphism.

A monolocus analysis of the associations of alleles and genotypes of the corresponding polymorphisms with the risk of vascular damage of the elastic type in patients with hypertension and concomitant type 2 diabetes showed the presence of changes between the main and control groups. Tests of associations of allelic polymorphism T-786C of the NOS3 gene are presented in table II.

The variability of the -786C allele was associated with an increased risk (2.55-fold increase) (Table II) of large vessel damage in the examined patients compared with the control. The main group also differed in the level of

Simple frequency of alleles	The degree of heterozygosity	The degree of homozygosity	Allelic positivity	Linear trend (Armitage's test)
		Allele risk 2 (T)		
[1]<->[2]	[11]<->[12]	[11]<->[22]	[11]<->[12+22]	General OR
OR=0,49 95%CI=0,30-0,81	OR=0,74 95%CI=0,23-2,43	OR=0,17 95%CI=0,05-0,64	OR=0,49 95%Cl=0,16-1,57	OR=0,38
χ2=7,77 p=0,005	χ2=0,25 p=0,62	χ2=7,59 p=0,006	χ2=1,48 p=0,22	χ2=11,4 p<0,001
		Allele risk 1 (C)		
[2]<->[1]	[22]<->[12]	[22]<->[11]	[11+12]<->[22]	General OR
OR=2,02 95%CI=1,23-3,33	OR=4,27 95%Cl=1,86-9,77	OR=5,77 95%CI=1,56-21,28	OR=4,46 95%Cl=1,98-10,05	OR=2,55
χ2=7,77 p=0,005	χ2=12,58 p=0,003	χ2=7,59 p=0,006	χ2=14,16 p<0,001	χ2=11,4 p<0,001

Table II. Association of T-786C alleles of the NOS	3 gene in patients with macrova	scular lesions in hypertension and	diabetes mellitus compared with control
--	---------------------------------	------------------------------------	---

Table III. Association of C667T alleles of the MTHFR gene in patients with macrovascular lesions in hypertension and diabetes mellitus compared with control

Simple frequency of alleles	The degree of heterozygosity	The degree of homozygosity	Allelic positivity	Linear trend (Armitage's test)
		Allele risk 2 (T)		
[1]<->[2]	[11]<->[12]	[11]<->[22]	[11]<->[12+22]	General OR
OR=1,77 95%CI=1,18-2,65	OR=3,05 95%CI=1,59-5,6	OR=3,32 95%CI=1,17-9,44	OR=3,09 95%CI=1,63-5,84	OR=1,98
χ2=7,61	χ2=11,60	χ2=5,32	χ2=12,48	χ2=10,04
p=0,006	p=0,006	p=0,02	p<0,001	p=0,002
		Allele risk 1 (C)		
[2]<->[1]	[22]<->[12]	[22]<->[11]	[11+12]<->[22]	General OR
OR=0,57	OR=0,92	OR=0,30	OR=0,64	OR=0,49
95%CI=0,38-0,85	95%Cl=0,35-2,42	95%CI=0,11-0,86	95%CI=0,25-1,63	
χ2=7,61	χ2=0,53	χ2=5,32	χ2=0,89	χ2=10,04
p=0,006	p=0,86	p=0,02	p=0,35	p=0,002

Table IV. Association of T-744C (H1 / H2) alleles of the P2RY12 gene in patients with macrovascular lesions in hypertension and diabetes mellitus compared with controls

Simple frequency of alleles	The degree of heterozygosity	The degree of homozygosity	Allelic positivity	Linear trend (Armitage's test)
		Allele risk 2 (T) (H2		
[1]<->[2]	[11]<->[12]	[11]<->[22]	[11]<->[12+22]	General OR
OR=1,48 95%CI=0,88-2,49	OR=1,62 95%CI=0,80-3,31	OR=2,52 95%CI=0,56-9,01	OR=1,70 95%CI=0,86-3,39	OR=1,53
χ2=2,16 p=0,15	χ2=0,25 p=0,62	χ2=1,37 p=0,24	χ2=2,32 p=0,13	χ2=2,45 p=0,12
		Allele risk 1 (T)(H1)		
[2]<->[1]	[22]<->[12]	[22]<->[11]	[11+12]<->[22]	General OR
OR=0,68 95%CI=0,40-1,14	OR=0,72 95%CI=0,18-2,88	OR=0,44 95%CI=0,11-1,78	OR=0,57 95%Cl=0,15-2,19	OR=0,65
χ2=2,16 p=0,15	χ2=0,21 p=0,64	χ2=1,37 p=0,24	χ2=0,67 p=0,41	χ2=2,45 p=0,12

heterozygosity (OR = 4.27; 95% CI = 1,86 - 9,77; p<0,05) from the control, which explained the deviation of the frequency of genotypes from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

Analysis of the associations of alleles of the C667T polymorphic locus of the *MTHFR* gene showed a constant

difference in the "risk" allele of T in patients with hypertension with concomitant type 2 diabetes. Adjusted for the linear trend, the odds ratio (OR) is 1,98 (p = 0,002), table III. The model is also characterized by an increased degree of heterozygosity and the presence of allelic positivity in

Simple frequency of alleles	The degree of heterozygosity	The degree of homozygosity	Allelic positivity	Linear trend (Armitage's test)
		Allele risk 2 (T)		
[1]<->[2]	[11]<->[12]	[11]<->[22]	[11]<->[12+22]	General OR
OR=1,84 95%CI=1,13-3,00	OR=11,46 95%Cl=3,55-37,01	OR=10,00 95%CI=2,03-49,28	OR=11,29 95%Cl=3,53-36,15	OR=3,29
χ2=6,01	χ2=22,34	χ2=8,99	χ2=22,62	χ2=13,33
p=0,014	p<0,001	p=0,003	p<0,001	p<0,001
		Allele risk 1 (C)		
[2]<->[1]	[22]<->[12]	[22]<->[11]	[11+12]<->[22]	General OR
OR=0,54 95%CI=0,33-0,89	OR=1,15 95%CI=0,34-3,93	OR=0,10 95%CI=0,02-0,49	OR=0,78 95%CI=0,23-2,63	OR=0,29
χ2=6,01	χ2=0,05	χ2=8,99	χ2=0,16	χ2=13,33
p=0,014	p=0,83	p=0,003	p=0,69	p<0,001

Table VI. GRS for two-locus, three-locus, and four-locus models of vascular complications in patients with hypertension and diabetes type 2

Genes with polymorphic loci	OR and 95% CI	χ ² , p		
MTHFR	1,62 (0,50 – 5,32)	0,56; 0,46		
MTHFR+ NOS3	1,94 (0,80 – 4,60)	2,25; 0,13		
MTHFR+ P2RY12	1,73 (0,70 – 4,67)	1,36; 0,24		
MTHFR+GPIba	1,48 (0,61 – 3,80)	0,75;0,39		
NOS3+P2RY12	2,05 (0,83 – 5,46)	2,40; 0,12		
NOS3+GPIba	1,75 (0,73 – 4,45)	1,57; 0,21		
P2RY12+GPIba	1,54 (0,61 – 4,17)	0,81;0,37		
MTHFR+ NOS3+P2RY12	2,08 (0,96 – 4,71)	3,45;0,063		
MTHFR+ NOS3+GPIba	1,87 (0,87 – 4,11)	2,56;0,11		
NOS3+P2RY12+GPIba	1,91 (0,88 – 4,32)	2,65; 0,4		
MTHFR+P2RY12+GPIba	1,67 (0,76 – 3,79)	1,63;0,20		
MTHFR+NOS3+P2RY12+GPIba	2,07 (1,05 – 4,32)	3,96; 0,046		

Table VII. Models of gene-gene interactions in patients with vascular lesions of large caliber in the combined course of hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2

Combinations of polymorphisms in the model	Training balance accuracy	Testing balance accuracy	Test the significance of the model (sign (p) test)	Reproducibility of the model (CV consistency)	
MTHFR+NOS3+P2RY12+GPIba	0,82	0,76	9(0,011)	10/10	
NOS3+ P2RY12+GPIba	0,78	0,77	10(0,001)	10/10	

the main group (respectively 3,3 and 4,8 times at p<0,001).

The ratio of alleles of the ADP receptor gene (*T*-744*C*, *P2YR12*) in patients was quite uneven: in 63,5% \pm 3,15% of cases the presence of -744*T* allele, in 36,5% \pm 3,15% - -744*C*-allele (p<0.05). The distribution of genotypes in the main group (H1/H1; H1/H2; H2/H2) of carriers of this polymorphism was determined as follows: H1/H1 homozygotes accounted for 37,0% of cases, homozygotes with the presence of the "risk" allele - H2/H2 – 10,0 %, heterozygotes H1/H2 – 53,0% (p<0,05), table IV.

The frequency distribution of alleles of the platelet glycoprotein receptor gene (*C482T*, *GP1ba*) was more uniform than the alleles of the P2RY12 receptor. Thus, the *482C* allele was found in 90% of patients (its frequency in the group – 47,0 ± 1,8%), and the *482T* allele - in 96% of patients (total frequency in the group – 5,0 ± 1,8%). However, the analysis of associations of the *C482T* polymorphic locus of the *GPIba* gene revealed a probable excess of the T allele frequency in patients with hypertension with concomitant type 2 diabetes (OR = 3,29 in the trend test, increasing the degree of heterozygosity for the allele " risk ", increase in the degree of allelic positivity (p<0,001)), table V.

Thus, based on data analysis, it can be assumed that allelic polymorphisms of the *NOS3*, *MTHFR*, and *GPIba* genes can be considered as genetic markers of markers associated with vascular damage in the general cohort of patients with combined hypertension and type 2 diabetes.

Our monolocus analysis of allelic polymorphisms of four genes revealed a significant difference (p<0,05) in reducing the incidence of "protective" alleles and genotypes in pa-



Fig. 1. Changes in the GRS index depending on the frequency of interaction of polymorphic loci of genes responsible for endothelial dysfunction.

Note: GRS for the models with different number of loci (from 1 to 4). The estimation of risk of macrovascular damage in patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2 (OR (95% CI)).

tients with hypertension and diabetes with macrovascular lesions, but monolocus analysis of the frequency of "risk" alleles and genotypes found only a tendency to increase their frequency in patients of the main group (p > 0.05).

To validate gene interactions, analysis was performed using the Genetic Risc Score (GSR) interlocus conjugation model. According to this model, in the main and control group for the GPIb α gene the frequency of "risk" alleles was 53% and 38%, for the P2RY12 gene - 36% and 28%, for the NOS3 gene - 51% and 34%, for the MTHFR gene - 46% and 33%, with a total median frequency of 48,5% for the main group and 33,5% for the control group. On average, there were 1,33 alleles per person in the control group, and 1.86 alleles in the main group, which was in 1,42 folds greater (t = 3.07; p = 0,022; p = 0,04 by median Mood test). Thus, in contrast to the single-locus model of allelic polymorphism, carriers of "risky" allelic polymorphisms simultaneously for all 4 genes significantly (p<0,05) increases the likelihood of macrovascular complications, which depends on multilocus gene interaction. GRS values for complications dependent on genotype interactions were calculated from models of two, three and four-gene interactions. Indicators of the ratio of chances (OR) with confidence intervals and the corresponding frequencies of risk genotypes are given in table VI.

Thus, the overall risk of macrovascular complications in patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus 2 is a measure of the effect of a combination of polymorphisms of the four so-called "risky" alleles, of course, without considering the possible influence of additional polymorphisms or mutations in patients' genotypes.

Changes in the GRS index depending on the type of multiple model (including loci of models *MTHFR* (1 locus), *MTHFR* + *NOS3* (2 loci), *MTHFR* + *NOS3* + *P2RY12* (3 loci), *MTHFR* + *NOS3* + *P2RY12* + *GPIba* (4 loci)) are illustrated in fig. 1.

Given that the regions of the studied polymorphisms are located on different chromosomes, it is possible that there is an epistatic or complementary interaction of the genes included in our analysis with each other. To evaluate these types of interactions, namely, how mononucleotide polymorphisms affect each other's function, we modeled the interaction of nucleotide polymorphisms by the method of multifactorial dimensional reduction (MDR). According to the analysis of this method in the sample of sick and healthy people, the optimal models of combinations of gene interactions were determined, with the establishment of their accuracy and reproducibility. Forced Search Algorithm was used to analyze the interaction models, which assessed the nature of genotype combinations in the direction of the development of macrovascular complications in patients with hypertension and type II diabetes. As a result, we selected 2 models with the highest degree of reproducibility (10/10 - 100%) - for three loci of polymorphism and for four loci of polymorphism, table VII.

Thus, the risk of developing macrovascular complications in patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus type 2 associated with allelic polymorphism depends not only on the type of monolocus polymorphism, but has a more complex nature of dependence due to intergenic multidirectional interactions.

DISCUSSION

Analysis of current literature data on the association of different polymorphic markers of the eNOS gene and hypertension shows contradictions. For example, in a Canadian study, an association of the polymorphic allele -786T> C with the risk of developing hypertension was found, but in Japanese studies, the existence of this association was not confirmed [10]. The polymorphic variant of the *Glu298Asp* gene in the eNOS gene has been shown to be associated with the risk of acute myocardial infarction [11], coronary artery disease (CAD) [12], AH [13]. The minisatellite polymorphism eNOS 4a / 4b has been studied in detail. In the Chinese population, allele 4a is defined as an independent risk factor for atherosclerosis and diseases that are accompanied by impaired formation of nitrogen monoxide, including hypertension [14]. However, in another study, on the contrary, the protective role of the 4a allele in the development of stroke in patients with hypertension [15]. Genotypes *eNOS-786C* / *C* and allele *eNOS-922G* in case-control studies were more common in patients with hypertension compared with the control group [16].

An association with arterial thrombosis depending of the *C667T* polymorphism of the *MTHFR* gene has been found in Chinese populations [17], Turkish population [18], Polish population [19], in Italians [20].

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. The risk of vascular damages increases 2-fold when carrying all 4 risk alleles in monozygotic genotypes of polymorphic loci in patients with hypertension with concomitant type 2 diabetes (p<0,05).
- 2. In gene-gene interaction, the values of contributions and directions of interaction between alleles of polymorphic loci are established (p<0,05). Genes create a paired hierarchy of interaction according to their functional activity; the largest contribution to the probable vascular damage depends on the allelic polymorphism NOS3-786CT (p<0,05), the lowest - on the allelic polymorphism P2RY12-744CC (H2H2).
- 3. The genetic polymorphism of the *MTHFR* gene is independent of the influence of other studied polymorphisms (p<0,05); the genes *P2RY12-744CT* and *GPIbα 482CT* act synergistically with the gene *NOS3-786CT*, being in a weak negative interaction with each other.

REFERENCES

- 1. Nassereddine S., Hassani Idrissi H., Habbal R. et al. The polymorphism G894 T of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) gene is associated with susceptibility to essential hypertension (EH) in Morocco. BMC Med Genet. 2018; 19(1): 127.
- 2. Shoily S.S., Ahsan T., Fatema K. et al. A. Common genetic variants and pathways in diabetes and associated complications and vulnerability of populations with different ethnic origins. Sci Rep. 2021; 11(1): 7504.
- 3. Varlamos C., Pappas C., Kiouri E. et al. Hyperhomocysteinemia as the only risk factor in a young man presenting with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. J Cardiol Cases. 2020; 23(3): 112-114.
- 4. Yalım Z., Tutgun Onrat S., Alan S. et al. The effects of genetic polymorphisms and diabetes mellitus on the development of peripheral artery disease. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars. 2020; 48(5): 484-493.
- 5. Chita D.S., Tudor A., Christodorescu R. et al. MTHFR Gene Polymorphisms Prevalence and Cardiovascular Risk Factors Involved in Cardioembolic Stroke Type and Severity. Brain Sci. 2020; 10(8): 476.
- 6. Aga Q.A.A., Hasan M.K., Nassir K.F. et al. Prevalence and types of genetic polymorphisms of CYP2C19 and their effects on platelet aggregation inhibition by clopidogrel. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2020; 24(21): 11286-11294.

- Čeri A., Leniček Krleža J., Coen Herak D. et al. Role of platelet gene polymorphisms in ischemic pediatric stroke subtypes: a case-control study. Croat Med J. 2020; 61(1): 18-27.
- 8. Pandey C.P., Misra A., Negi M.P.S. et al. Aspirin & clopidogrel nonresponsiveness & its association with genetic polymorphisms in patients with myocardial infarction. Indian J Med Res. 2019; 150(1): 50-61.
- 9. Pina-Cabral L.B., Carvalhais V., Mesquita B. et al. Myocardial infarction before and after the age of 45: Possible role of platelet receptor polymorphisms. Rev Port Cardiol. 2018; 37(9): 727-735.
- 10. Förstermann U., Sessa W.C. Förstermann, U. Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. Eur Heart J. 2012; 33 (7): 829-837.
- 11. Zhu B., Si X., Gong Y. et al. An association between the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene G894T polymorphism and premature coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2017; 8(44): 77990-77998.
- Shabana S.S.U., Rehman A. Association Patterns of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Gene (NOS3) Variant Glu298Asp with Blood Pressure and Serum Lipid Levels in Subjects with Coronary Artery Disease from Pakistan. Ann Hum Genet. 2017; 81(4): 129-134.
- 13. Devendran A., Nampoothiri S., Shewade D.G. et al. Allele, Genotype and Haplotype Structures of Functional Polymorphic Variants in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase (eNOS), Angiotensinogen (ACE) and Aldosterone Synthase (CYP11B2) Genes in Healthy Pregnant Women of Indian Ethnicity. J Reprod Infertil. 2015; 16(4): 180-92.
- Hong Z., Pan L., Ma Z. et al. Combined effects of cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking and eNOS Glu298Asp polymorphism on blood pressure in Chinese male hypertensive subjects. Tob Induc Dis. 2019; 17: 59.
- 15. Yemişçi M., Sinici I., Ozkara H.A. et al. Protective role of 27bp repeat polymorphism in intron 4 of eNOS gene in lacunar infarction. Free Radic Res. 2009; 43(3): 272-279.
- Hussain M., Bilal A., Awan F.R. Pharmacogenetic study of ACE, AGT, CYP11B1, CYP11B2 and eNOS gene variants in hypertensive patients from Faisalabad, Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc. 2020; 70(4):624-629.
- 17. Gao J., Sun Y.F., Li Y.L. et al. Hyperhomocysteine, genetic polymorphism of methylenetetra-hydrofolate reductase in young adults with ischemic stroke. J Zhengzhou Univ Med Sci. 2008; 43: 570–573.
- Sazci A., Ergul E., Tuncer N. et al. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphisms are associated with ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke: Dual effect of MTHFR polymorphisms C677T and A1298C. Brain Res Bull. 2006; 71 (1-3): 45-50.
- 19. Goracy I., Cyryłowski L., Kaczmarczyk M. et al. C677T polymorphism of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene and the risk of ischemic stroke in Polish subjects. J Appl Genet. 2009; 50: 63–67.
- 20. Pezzini A., Grassi M., Del Zotto E. et al. Migraine mediates the influence of C677T MTHFR genotypes on ischemic stroke risk with a stroke-subtype effect. Stroke. 2007; 38:3145–3151.

This work is a fragment of the research work «Clinical, pathogenetic and pharmacotherapeutic features of internal diseases», registration number 0119U101344 (2019-2023).

ORCID and contributionship:

Eugene I. Shorikov: 0000-0003-3209-9706^{A,C} Olena V. Zaliavska: 0000-0001-7070-0625^{C,D} Dina V. Shorikova: 0000-0001-5470-9021^{A,D} Olga M. Nika: 0000-0003-3137-9386^B Pavlo E. Shorikov: 0000-0001-8987-5898^B Oksana S. Khukhlina: 0000-0003-2399-512X^{E,F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Dina V. Shorikova

Bukovinian State Medical University 2 Teatralnaya Square, 58002 Chernivtsi, Ukraine tel: +380505408561 e-mail: shorikova.dina@gmail.com

Received: 18.10.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,

D – Writing the article, **E** – Critical review, **F** – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

REVIEW ARTICLE

RESOURCES OF CARDIOLOGICAL CARE (ON THE EXAMPLE OF THE KYIV REGION OF UKRAINE)

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420116

Anatolii V. Ivaniuk¹, Borys M.Todurov²

¹KYIV REGIONAL CLINICAL HOSPITAL, CENTER FOR CARDIAC SURGERY, KYIV, UKRAINE ²HEART INSTITUTE OF MINISTRY OF HEALTH CARE OF UKRAINE, KYIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To analyze the network, resources of outpatient clinics in the Kyiv region (Ukraine) that provide cardiac care.

Materials and methods: With the help of the medical - statistical method the analysis of the network of outpatient clinics of the Kyiv region which render cardiological medical care and their resources in dynamics from 1995 to 2019 was carried out. During the analysis the methods of statistical grouping, compilation, generalization, statistical comparisonwere used. The materials for the analysis were the data of reporting statistical forms N^o 20 "Report of the treatment and prevention institution" and form N^o 17 "Report on medical staff" of the Kyiv region individual institutions and districts, as well as statistical directories of the information-analytical center.

Conclusions: On the basis of the analysis of the network, resources and activity of outpatient clinics of the Kyiv region that provide cardiac care the existing problems of this type of care were revealed. The provision of cardiac diagnostic tests over five years did not change, which is proved by analysis made. It is established that at the present stage of providing high-quality and affordable cardiac medical services within the existing system of cardiac outpatient care to the population of the Kyiv region has great difficulties and needs to be solved.

KEY WORDS: network, resources and activities of outpatient clinics; cardiac care provision

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1009-1012

INTRODUCTION

The leading role in maintaining and strengthening the health of the population belongs to outpatient care in which up to 90% of patients who seek medical care must begin and complete their treatment [1]. And, first of all, it concerns the availability and quality of cardiac care, including its high-tech types, as currently, diseases of the circulatory system (DCS) remain the leading cause of death and disability in most European countries, including Ukraine [2]. This determines their significant medical, social and socio-economic importance [3-5].

As the experience of many countries shows, the effectiveness of the cardiological service functioning, the provision of high quality medical aid depends on the use of promising organizational and advanced medical technologies, the level of training of highly professional personnel, their economic incentives [6].

Under Ukrainian current economic conditions, associated with the reduction of public investment opportunities, there is growing interest in alternative forms of social facilities financing. There are a lot of examples of such an alternative form of financing – this is public-private partnership.

An urgent problem of this country health care system is the need to move it to progressive models of development that ensure the structural efficiency of medical sector [7].

To solve this problem it is necessary to conduct a comprehensive analysis of outpatient clinics activities, evaluation of their experience. High cardiac morbidity requires the improvement of outpatient care facilities that provide cardiac aid, introduction of new organizational forms of medical care, introduction of advanced technologies.

THE AIM

The aim was to analyze the network, resources of outpatient clinics in Kyiv region that provide cardiac care.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

With the help of the medical - statistical method the analysis of the network of out-patient clinics of the Kyiv region which render cardiological medical care and their resources in dynamics from 1995 to 2019 is carried out. During the analysis the methods of statistical grouping, compilation, generalization, statistical comparison were used. The materials for the analysis were the data of reporting statistical forms N° 20 "Report of the treatment and prevention institution" and form $N^{\circ}17$ "Report on medical staff" of individual institutions and districts in the Kyiv region, as well as statistical directories of the information-analytical center.

REVIEW AND DISCUSSION

The analysis of the network, staffing of the cardiology service of Kyiv region in 2014-2019 showed that cardiac care for the

Table 1. Cardiology consulting rooms of Central District hos
--

J/	· ·			
Name of the region	Number of consulting rooms			
Kyiv region (total)	27			
District	24			
Bila Tserkva	1			
Boguslavsky	1			
Boryspil	1			
Borodyansky	1			
Brovarsky	2			
Vasylkivsky	1			
Vyshgorod	1			
Ivankivsky	1			
Kyiv-Sviatoshynskyi	2			
Makarivsky	1			
Myronivsky	1			
Obukhov	1			
Pereyaslav-Khmelnytsky	1			
Rokytnyansky	1			
Skvyrsky	1			
Tarashchansky	1			
Tetiivsky	2			
Fastivsky	1			
Bila Tserkva	2			
Irpin	1			
Fastiv City Hospital	1			
Regional institutions on the territory of Kyiv	1			
Region children's hospital №1 (Boyarka)	1			
Region children's hospital №2 (Bila Tserkva)	1			

population of the mentioned area is provided by the cardiological consulting rooms of Central District Hospitals (CDH) (Table I), which had 38 outpatient positions of cardiologists (by 01.01. 2019). During 2014 - 2019 there were no significant changes in the network of cardiac offices of the Kyiv region.

Thus, there are a total of 27 cardiology consulting rooms in the Kyiv region, and 24 of them are in the districts of the region and 3 in regional institutions.

In total, from 2014 to 2019, there were 102.75 positions of cardiologists in the Central District Hospitals, including 38.00 positions in outpatient clinics and 64.75 positions in hospitals (Table II).

There were no cardiologists' positions inStavyshche, Polissya districts and Rzhyshchiv by the end of 2018.

For 15 years (1995 – 2014) the number of cardiologists decreased from 108 persons in 1995 to 79 in2014 in the Kiev region, but then from 2014 to 2019 on the contrary it increased to 91 by 2019.

Dynamic analysis of the state of the cardiology network in the Kyiv region from 2014 to 2019 showed that the development of the material and technical base of the cardiology service in the Kyiv region is insufficient.

Besides In the Kyiv region there is also a downward trend in cardiac beds, which in 1995 numbered 1160, i. e. 6.1 per 10 thousand of population; in 2014 - 710, which corresponds to 4.08 per 10 thousand of population, and in 2019 year - 513, which corresponds to 2.97 per 10 thousand of population of the region. In fact, the reduction was almost 56%, i. e. in the Kyiv region every second cardiac bed was reduced.

From 29 districts of the Kyiv region 10 districts are equipped with minimal diagnostic equipment for the diagnosis of cardiac pathology (Table III).

In 14 districts there are no echocardiographs, in 16 districts they do not work, or there are no bicycle ergometers, and from 8 districts which have bicycle ergometers, in three they are 1982-1985 years of release. Only 3 districts of the region, Kyiv Regional Hospital №2 and Kyiv Regional Cardiology Dispensary, can perform daily ECG and blood pressure monitoring. Of the 15 districts, i.e. a half do not have the opportunity to conduct blood tests for lipids. Holter ECG and blood pressure monitoring of patients can be performed only in 4 districts of the region, Kyiv Regional Hospital N 2 and Kyiv Regional Cardiology Dispensary.

The dynamics of indicators of cardiological diagnostic tests for five years shows that almost nothing has changed for the better, and BEM and CRFC became less.

The Kyiv region of Ukraine remains practically the only one in the country where a cardiac surgery center which carries out methodical work with the network of cardiac Central District Hospitals.

For a number of years, cardiovascular diseases and exacerbations of their chronic forms occupy one of the leading places in the structure of the general morbidity of the population of Ukraine. Increasingly, cardiovascular diseases are registered in people of young working age, which causes significant economic damage. The proportion of diseases of the circulatory system remains stably high, and diseases of the circulatory system continue to occupy a leading place in the structure of total mortality of the population.

Therefore, the provision of highly specialized cardiological care to the population of the country and, in particular, the Kiev region should be one of the priority tasks of public health.

Improving medical care for patients with cardiovascular diseases will require equipping specialized medical and preventive institutions with medical diagnostic equipment, modernizing hospitals in medical and preventive institutions of a cardiological profile. increasing the volume of specialized (interventional and cardiac surgery) types of care for cardiological patients.

The use of all types of emergency care for cardiological patients (medication, endovascular, cardiac surgery) requires appropriate staffing and regulatory and methodological support.

.It is also necessary to improve the continuity in the provision of medical care at the outpatient and polyclinic stages, which will help reduce mortality and disability.

Table II. Number of outpatient positions of	of cardiologists in the Kyiv regio	n
---	------------------------------------	---

	Including in the polyclinic (outpat	ient clinic) dispensary, consultations				
Job title –	full-time employees	Position held				
Kyiv Region	38.00	35.75				
Districts	31.00	28.75				
Baryshivsky	0.25	0.25				
Bila Tserkva	1.00	1.00				
Boguslavsky	1.00	1.00				
Boryspil	1.50	1.00				
Borodyansky	1.00	1.00				
Brovarsky	2.00	2.00				
Vasylkivsky	1.75	1.75				
Volodarsky	0.50	0.50				
Vyshgorod	1.25	1.25				
Zgurivsky	0.50	0.50				
lvankivsky	1.00	1.00				
K-Sviatoshynsky	3.50	3.50				
Kagarlytsky	0.50	0.00				
Makarivsky	1.00	1.00				
Myronivsky	1.00	1.00				
Obukhov	0.50	0.50				
P-Khmelnytsky	1.00	1.00				
Polissya	0.00	0.00				
Rokytnyansky	1.00	1.00				
Skvyrsky	1.00	1.00				
Stavyshchansky	0.00	0.00				
Tarashchansky	0.50	0.50				
Tetiivsky	1.00	1.00				
Fastiv	1.00	1.00				
Yagotinsky	1.00	1.00				
Bila Tserkva , town	4.00	4.00				
Irpin, town and Bucha, town	1.50	1.50				
Berezan, town	0.00	0.00				
Rzhyshchiv	0.00	0.00				
Region hospital №2	2.50	2.50				
Region cardio dispensary	4.50	4.50				

Table III. Dynamics of indicators of provision of cardiological diagnostic examinations, 2014 - 2018

N	District	ECG	Ech	oCG	BI	M	PCCS		Holter		Angiography
		2014-2018	2014	2018	2014	2018	2014	2018	2014	2018	2014-1018
1	Total by districts	30	15	16	14	8	0	0	3	4	1
2	Total, regional	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	1
3	Total by district	32	17	18	16	10	3	1	6	6	2

CONCLUSIONS

It is established that at the present stage of providing high-quality cardiac medical services within the existing system of cardiac outpatient care to the population of the Kyiv region has great difficulties. The problem of organizing cardiac care for the rural population of Kyiv region does exist and needs to be solved.

Prospects for further research. The results obtained will be used in substantiation of conceptual directions of

improvement of cardiac outpatient care to the population of the Kyiv region and development of functional-organizational model of the regional center of cardiology and cardiac surgery on the principles of public-private partnership (PPP).

REFERENCES

- 1. The World Health Report 2008: Primary Health Care, Now More Than Ever. WHO. 2008, 563 p.
- 2. Maksimova T.M., Belov B.B. Rasprostranennost povedencheskikh faktorov riska I boleznej sistemy krovoobrashcheniya [Prevalence of behavioral risk factors and diseases of the circulatory system] Problemy socialnoj gigieny, zdravookhraneniya I istorii mediciny. 2014;1: 3-7 (In Russian)
- 3. Dudny`k S.V., Koshelya I.I. Xvoroby` sy`stemy` krovoobigu yak social`no-medy`chnaproblema. [Diseases of the circulatory system as a socio-medical problem].Ukraina. Zdorov'ya naciyi. 2017;3(44):20-21. (In Ukrainian)
- 4. Kovalenko V.M., Dorogoj A.P. Sercevo-sudy`nni xvoroby: medychnosocial`ne znachennya ta strategiya rozvy`tku kardiologiyi v Ukrayini [Kovalenko VM Dorogoy AP Cardiovascular diseases: medical and social significance and strategy of cardiology development in Ukraine] Ukrayins`ky`j kardiologichny`j zhurnal. 2016;(3):5-14. (In Ukrainian)
- 5. Terenda N.O. Smertnist` vid sercevo-sudynnyx zaxvoryuvan yak derzhavna problema [Terenda NO. Mortality from cardiovascular diseases as a state problem] Visny`k naukovy`h doslidzhen`. 2015; 4:11-13. (In Ukrainian)
- 6. Fedchyshyn N.Ye. Xvoroby systemy krovoobigu: dynamika poshyrenosti v Ukrayini ta Ternopil`s`kij oblasti [Diseases of the circulatory system: the dynamics of prevalence in Ukraine and Ternopil region]. Visnyk social`noyi gigiyeny` ta organizaciyi oxorony zdorov'ya Ukrayiny. 2013;1(55): 7-53. (In Ukrainian)
- 7. Sidney S., Quesenberry C.P. Jr., Jaffe M.G. et al. Recent Trends in Cardiovascular Mortality in the United States and Public Health Goals. JAMA Cardiol. 2016;1(5):594.

8. Troyan M.Yu. Organyzacyonno-ekonomycheskye napravlenyya reformyrovany`ya systemy zdravooxranenyya v Ukrayne na puty vyhoda yz demografycheskogo kryzysa [Organizational and economic directions of reforming the health care system in Ukraine on the way out of the demographic crisis] Mehanizm regulyuvannya ekonomiky. 2015;1:116-128. (In Ukrainian)

This article was carried out within the framework of research work No. of state registration 0120U100807 "Medico-social substantiation of optimization of the organization of medical care in the conditions of development of the public health system "(2020-2022).

ORCID and contributionship:

Anatolii V. Ivaniuk: 0000-0001-8539-6048 ^{B-D} Borys M. Todurov: 0000-0002-9618-032X ^{A, E, F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Anatolii V. Ivaniuk

Kyiv Regional Clinical Hospital 1 Baggovytovskaya St., 04107 Kyiv, Ukraine tel: (+38067) 23 15 756 e - mail: 2315756@gmail.com **Received:** 15.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
 D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article

REVIEW ARTICLE

LEGAL OBLIGATIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF HUMAN ORGANS AND TISSUES TRANSPLANTATION

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420117

Tereziia P. Popovych, Anatoliy M. Potapchuk, Oleksandr Ya. Rogach, Volodymyr V. Dzhuhan UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To highlight and analyze the nature of certain legal obligations occuring in the process of human organs and tissues transplantation, in particular, the following obligations: compliance with regulatory and medical requirements for organ and human tissues transplantation, obtaining the donor's consent for organs and tissues transplantation, organs or tissues transplantation on a non-commercial basis.

Materials and methods: Methodologically, this work is based on the system of methods, scientific approaches, techniques and principles with the help of which the realization of the research aim is carried out. There have been applied universal, general scientific and special legal methods.

Conclusions: Analyzed regulatory and medical requirements, indicate the complexity of the transplant process, as well as the need for strict compliance with established regulations and rules. For the whole complex transplant procedure, one of the key points is the donor's consent (disagreement) to remove anatomical materials from him. The obligation to perform organ or tissue transplantation on a non-commercial basis has a dual purpose: first, to prevent offenses and legal violations in this area; secondly, to determine as transparently and clearly as possible the list of costs incurred by the donor in connection with the organs and tissues removal and subject to reimbursement, the procedure for such reimbursement and its reasonable, acceptable and sufficient amount.

KEY WORDS: obligations, law, transplant, donor, recipient, donation

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1013-1018

INTRODUCTION

Several years of experience in transplantation have demonstrated the importance of this institute in medicine, as well as the need for its proper regulation at the level of international and national legislation [1]. At the present stage, transplantation of human organs and tissues should be an effective means of saving lives, restoring health and having a significant effect on the duration and quality of population life. As the medical procedure itself is complex in nature, the need to identify and further study the legal responsibilities of the transplant procedure is of particular importance. After all, they show the need for participants' increased responsibility and strict compliance with legal requirements in the relevant activities. Responsibilities allow us to emphasize the importance of acting in accordance with the existing legislation considering medical intervention. In this study, we will focus on the justification of certain legal obligations arising from the connections in the field of human organs and tissues transplantation.

THE AIM

The aim of the work is, therefore, to study and analyze the nature of certain legal obligations occuring in the process of human organs and tissues transplantation, in particular, the following obligations: compliance with regulatory and medical requirements for organ and human tissues transplantation, obtaining the donor's consent for organs and tissues transplantation, organs or tissues transplantation on a non-commercial basis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Methodologically, this work is based on the system of methods, scientific approaches, techniques and principles with the help of which the realization of the research aim is carried out. There have been applied universal, general scientific and special legal methods. In particular, the formal-legal method, which is used to study the internal form of legal phenomena and processes, allowed to formulate the concept of relevant legal obligations in the field of transplantation on the basis of generalization and identification of features. The object of the formal legal method is the sources of law at all levels, the law and the legal systems. In turn, the comparative law method, which involves comparing legal phenomena having similar properties, allowed us to identify common and different aspects that reveal the nature of our legal obligations within different national legal orders (based on a comparison of legal regulations of some foreign states, including Ukraine).

REVIEW AND DISCUSSION

Obligation to comply with regulatory and medical requirements for human organs and tissues transplantation . We

consider this responsibility to be one of the most important and fundamental, as it emphasizes the complexity of the transplant process, as well as the need to take into account legal requirements and medical indications for its proper implementation.

According to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine, removal of organs or tissues from a living donor for transplantation is possible only for the recipient treatment, as well as in the absence of the required organ or tissue of the deceased and other (alternative) treatment [2]. In turn, based on the Additional Protocol regulations of the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine on human organs and tissues transplantation, as well as the content of other international instruments, it is possible to identify the following requirements without which transplantation is impossible, namely:

1) removal of organs and tissues from a living donor is allowed only for the recipient therapeutic purposes, provided that the deceased does not have the required organ or tissue, as well as if there is no alternative method of treatment [3]; such a procedure can be used only after a careful assessment of the feasibility and effectiveness of other therapies [4];

2) transplantation intervention is possible only if professional duties are performed and professional standards are observed [3]; removal of organs and tissues should be carried out in appropriate places, in particular, in public or private medical institutions that are provided with the necessary personnel and equipment [5]; the doctor performing the transplant must have special medical knowledge and techniques through special training, education and practice [4]; relevant professionals should take all reasonable steps to minimize the health risks of transplant participants.

3) removal of organs and tissues is possible only in the absence of a serious risk to the life and health of the donor [3]; in case that such a risk still exists, removal may be carried out only when it is justified by the donor's motivation, family ties to the recipient and medical indications; at the same time, the state is allowed to prohibit such seizures [5];

4) the donor is provided with information about the purposes, nature, consequences and risks of organs and tissues removal, as well as his rights and guarantees provided by law;

5) for the organs and tissues removal from a deceased person it is necessary, first of all, to certify his death, as well as to obtain consent due to the prescribed by law [3]; organs and tissues removal from a deceased person is not allowed if there were obvious or previous objections, including taking into account the religious or philosophical beliefs of such person [5].

With regard to the death certificate of the deceased, whose organs and tissues will be removed for transplantation to the recipient, the Declaration of the World Medical Assembly on human organ transplantation requires the statement of two or more independent doctors (each of them) who do not participate in the transplantation procedure. At the same time, physicians should be guided by the scientific methods and criteria known at the time, as well as ethical requirements and professional standards [4]. According to the WHO Guidelines for Transplantation of Human Cells, Tissues and Organs, such rules, as well as the fact that doctors establishing the death of a person, should not be physicians of potential organs and tissues recipients, are aimed at preventing conflicts of interest between health professionals [6].

The above requirements that must be met during transplantation can be also found in national legislation. Thus, the Federal Law of Germany «On Donation, Collection and Transplantation of Organs and Tissues» establishes the following conditions under which it is possible to take organs and tissues from a living donor for transplantation to another person: first, the donor has reached adulthood and has legal capacity; secondly, the transplantion, according to the doctor, is able to support the recipient and cure him of a serious illness, prevent exasperations or alleviate symptoms; thirdly, the intervention must be performed by a physician [7].

Under Argentine federal law on transplantation, it can only be performed by a doctor or a team of doctors who are registered and authorized by the judicial authorities. For such doctors, their accreditation, training and experience in this field are examined . Organs and tissues removal from a living donor is possible only if he is 18 years old, and if the recipient is his blood relative or was adopted to the 4th generation, or a wife (husband), or a person who, without being a wife (husband), is in relationship with the donor for at least 3 years on an ongoing basis. In the case of underage donors, they may donate their organs and tissues with the prior consent of their legal representative and are recipients relatives. A doctor's opinion on such a possibility is also required for a transplant [8].

Therefore, the Tajikistan Republic legislation of presupposes the following: first, the transplant can be performed only for the recipient's health reasons and in case of the alternative treatment method absence, that is comparable in degree of effectiveness; secondly, the donor voluntarily and consciously agreed to donate organs and tissues; thirdly, the donor is warned about possible complications for his health after his organs and tissues removal; fourth, the donor has undergone a full medical examination and there is the medical council conclusion on the possibility of organs and tissues removal; fifth, the donor is warned about the consequences of his disagreement during the final period of organs and tissues preparation for transplantation. In the case of a living donor, the transplant must be genetically related to the recipient, except in the case of a bone marrow transplant [9].

As for Ukrainian legislation, transplantation is possible only if the necessary medical indications are provided, as well as the voluntary consent of an informed person with legal capacity is given: at the same time, medical evidences are established by the doctors council of that health care institution where the patient is being treated or being in dispensary. Withdrawal of anatomical materials from the donor is carried out only with the appropriate conclusion of the medical council, provided after a complete medical examination of the donor, and if the damage to his health is less than the danger to the recipient life [10].

OBLIGATION TO OBTAIN THE DONOR'S CONSENT FOR ORGANS AND TISSUES TRANSPLANTATION

To a greater extent, we will pay attention to the cases of obtaining consent for a posthumous transplant. Foreign practice in this regard has developed two main models (approaches) to the formation of the preconditions for its implementation:

1) «presumption of consent» (opt-out) (objection model) – according to which the removal and further organs and tissues use of the deceased is carried out provided that he has not objected to it during his life, or if such objections are not expressed by his relatives or legal representatives; this model is provided by the laws of Belarus, Israel, Spain, Austria, Great Britain and others;

2) «presumption of dissent» (opt-in) (informed consent model) – according to which the removal and further organs and tissues use of the deceased is carried out provided that he clearly expressed his informed consent to such actions after death, or if members of his family agree; thus, the lack of the donor or his relatives consent means the refusal of the transplant; this model is used, in particular, in the United States, Denmark, Ukraine, Portugal, Australia, Canada and other countries [11].

Under the opt-out model, states apply either «soft» or «hard» law. In the case of «soft» one – family members of the deceased may refuse to transplant his anatomical materials. In case of hard – organ transplantation is allowed for everyone who has not given up on it for life [12].

At the same time, the approaches we have given concerning giving consent are quite debatable. On the one hand, the presumption of consent approach can be justified by the fact that it helps to improve the coverage of needs for donor organs and tissues among the population of a country. On the other hand, let us agree with M. Laszewska-Helrigel that such a commitment cannot be justified by the public interest. The obligation of the state to protect the lives of recipients cannot be used as an excuse. The opt-in model better meets the needs of society. It does not impose any additional obligations on citizens. Moreover, the researcher adds, the experience of countries around the world does not prove a significant increase in the number of donors on the opt-out model. Other methods can be implied for this [13].

It should be added that for several decades, informed consent to medical intervention has been considered an international standard, enshrined in the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine, the European Charter of Patients «Rights, the World Medical Assembly's Declaration on Patients» Rights and a number of other international instruments. Yes, Art. 5 of the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine regulates the legality of any medical intervention only after voluntary and informed consent. The relevant consent may be revoked at any time by the person. Giving consent is preceded by the person receiving information about the purpose, nature, risks and consequences of the intervention. However, the Convention prohibits the organ or tissue removal from a person who is unable to consent. In this case, as an exception, prescribed by law, a regenerative tissue can be removed from such a person, if: first, the recipient of the donor is a brother or sister; second, there is no compatible donor who is able to give consent; third, transplantation aims to save the patient's life; fourth, there are no objections from a potential donor [2].

Therefore, the issue of consent (disagreement) for the transplantation of anatomical materials is stipulated in the national legislation on transplantation. After all, this is a key prerequisite for «starting» the process.

Swiss federal transplant law requires a lifelong donor to transplant after his or her death. If there is no such consent or disagreement, the medical institution must first ask the immediate relatives of the deceased whether they were aware of their consent for life. If such information is not known, the transplant may be performed with the consent of the deceased donor's close relatives. If there are no such relatives or they cannot be contacted, the transplant cannot be performed. Provided that the deceased left the decision to transplant his organs and tissues to a trustee, it is his will that must be accepted by the medical institution, and it has priority over the decision of close relatives [14].

Under German federal transplant law, a person has the right to consent to a transplant of his or her organs and tissues, to refuse to do so, and to transfer the right to make a decision in this regard to a trustee. Such consent may include the specification about certain organs and tissues. At the same time, consent to transplantation can be given to people who turned 16, and refusal – to those who turned 14 [7]. Interestingly, a person who turned 16 must indicate in his medical policy his readiness to become organs and tissues donor after death. Upon agreement, the potential donor receives a special certificate, which he undertakes to carry. If such a certificate is found in the documents of the deceased, it is possible to take organs and tissues without asking relatives [15]. At the same time, consent for organs and tissues transplant from a deceased donor may be given by his close relatives if they have had personal contact with the deceased during the last two years before death. This information is obtained by a doctor. Close relatives must still adhere to the deceased's will regarding his or her intended intention to become an organ and tissue donor. The doctor is obliged to inform the close relatives about this. In the event of a dispute between close relatives over a donation decision, they may be given a reasonable period of time to reconcile their positions. If they have not agreed on one decision, the differences can be considered by the court [16].

According to the law on transplantation in Belarus, a person who does not want to become a donor of his organs and tissues after death submits an application to the state health care organization. In the case of underage people, such a statement is submitted by their legal representatives. If the person is not able to make an informed decision due to health reasons, the statement of disagreement is submitted to the other spouse or close relative (parents, adoptive parents, children, siblings, grandparents, grandchildren). Moreover, public health organizations have the right to dispose deceased organs without his will or without his close relatives or legal representatives decision, if they have not shown in the manner, prescribed by law, their negative attitude to organ and tissue transplantation. Statements of refusal to be a donor are entered in a special Unified Register [17]. At the same time, before the organs and tissues collection from the donor, the employees of the state health care organization should check the information whether the authorized persons did not receive a statement of disagreement to participate in the transplant before death and whether they came from another spouse, close relatives or legal representatives of the statement of disagreement with organs and tissues donation of the deceased, addressed to the state health care organization or the State Committee of Forensic Science, after the death of the donor [18].

South African health law provides for the right of a person over the age of 16 to donate his or her organ or tissue in a will or in a document signed by him or her and at least two witnesses, or in an oral statement in the presence of at least two witnesses. Such a will or document should specify the institution or person of the recipient, as well as which organ or tissue can be used after death. Provided that no specific gifted person is identified, the donation will be considered invalid [19].

Ukrainian legislation establishes the possibility of seizing anatomical materials from an adult individual only in the presence of his voluntary and conscious consent to donate. Such consent shall be given in a written form. It should be noted that consent is given after the doctor has provided objective and accessible information to the potential donor about the possibility of complications for his health, as well as about his rights as a donor. With regard to posthumous donation, a note on the consent or disagreement of a person may, if he wishes, be included in the passport of a citizen of Ukraine and (or) a driver's license. An adult has the right to appoint an authorized representative, who after his death will agree to the removal of anatomical materials from his body. Such a representative must also give his or her voluntary consent to such authorization. If during his lifetime the person did not consent or disagree with the posthumous donation, did not appoint an authorized representative, consent to remove from his body anatomical materials for transplantation after determining his condition as irreversible, death is requested by the transplant coordinator from the other spouse or close relatives of the deceased. In the absence of the latter, consent to the seizure is requested from the person who undertook to bury the deceased [10].

OBLIGATION TO PERFORM ORGAN OR TISSUE TRANSPLANTATION ON A NON-COMMERCIAL BASIS

Adherence to the principle of de-commercialization in the process of transplantation is of paramount importance, es-

pecially in view of a number of international organizations that regularly record and publish reports and other news of human rights violations whose anatomical material has been the subject of commercial agreements. One of the means of counteracting such illegal actions should be the proper consolidation at the international and domestic levels of the obligation to perform transplantation on a non-commercial basis, ie without the purpose of obtaining financial or other benefits.

Thus, the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine clearly sets out the rule prohibiting financial gain from the human body or its parts (Article 21) [2]. The Additional Protocol to this Convention supplements this prohibition with possible exceptions. The point is that various payments are allowed that do not represent a financial benefit, in particular: compensation for loss of earnings and other costs of a living donor incurred through participation in the transplant procedure; compensation in case of unforeseen damage due to removal of organs and tissues from a living donor; payments for legitimate medical or related technical services provided in connection with transplantation [3].

Thus, today the problem of trade in human organs and tissues for transplantation is one of the leading and is the subject of attention and solution of the World Medical Assembly. In particular, in one of its resolutions WHA63.22, the international organization recommended that the following: to promote the system of altruistic donation of human organs and tissues and raise public awareness in this regard; to encourage health professionals to report on the practice of receiving financial benefits from transplantation; to ensure transparent and fair distribution of organs and tissues, as well as free access to transplantation; to promote the application of international best practices in transplantation to ensure the safety and effectiveness of donation; to conduct international cooperation in the collection of data on transplantation practice, etc [20].

The Istanbul Declaration on Transplant Tourism and Organ Trade is also dedicated to this issue. The primary purpose of transplantation should be to provide medical care to ensure the health of both the donor and the recipient, while financial gain or other material factors should not influence the decision to perform the procedure. In general, transplant tourism is the movement of organs, donors, recipients or transplant professionals across jurisdictional boundaries for the purpose of transplantation. It should be distinguished from medical tourism, which implies the importance of ensuring the interests and well-being of both the living donor and the recipient. While the medical «resource» used by transplant tourism is the exploited living donor [21].

Organ trafficking and transplant tourism, according to the Istanbul Declaration, must be banned because they do not respect the principles of justice, equality and respect for human dignity. The prohibition of such forms of activity should include, in particular: all forms of advertising, all forms of mediation, purchase and sale of organs, transplant tourism. It should also provide for penalties for such activities [22]. The WHO Guidelines for the Transplantation of Human Cells, Tissues and Organs (Principles 5, 7, 8) contain requirements for the non-financial benefit of transplantation. Particular attention should be paid to principle № 8, according to which all medical institutions and specialists should be prohibited from receiving any payment in excess of the reasonable amount of remuneration for services for transplantation and supply of human organs and tissues. To obtain this, health authorities should control the amount of fees for these services to prevent situations where such fees are a veiled form of organs and tissues remuneration. In addition, all institutions and individuals involved in the transplant process should be accountable for all payments associated with the provision of such services [6].

In addition, some researchers rightly emphasize the need to adopt at the UN level a single mandatory convention act that would prohibit commercial relations in the field of transplantation, as well as streamline the transplantation procedure [23].

For now, let's turn to the analysis of the relevant legal provisions of foreign countries, which establish the principle of de-commercialization in the implementation of transplantation. Thus, the Indian Law on Human Organ Transplantation of 1994 prohibits the human organs removal for commercial purposes; contains norms aimed at preventing the realization of such a goal; regulates the issue of brain death, after which it is possible to remove organs and tissues; establishes liability for violation of its requirements [24]. Article 143 of the Health Code of the Republic of Tajikistan [9] prohibits the human organs and tissues sale. Article 17 of the Federal Law of Germany on Transplantation explicitly prohibits trade in organs or tissues intended for therapeutic treatment. It is possible to obtain a reasonable reward for the measures necessary for the purpose of therapeutic treatment, in particular, for the removal, preservation, further processing, protection against infections, storage and transportation of organs or tissues [7]. By enshrining the obligation to de-commercialize transplantation, Swiss law allows for a symbolic gesture of gratitude that is not seen as a financial benefit or advantage [14].

Polish transplantation legislation stipulates that no payment, other material or personal benefits may be claimed or accepted for organs or tissues taken from a donor. Reimbursement of expenses incurred in connection with the transplant procedure is not a fee and does not constitute property or personal gain. In addition, the list of costs to be reimbursed and the procedure for such reimbursement are clearly defined. Article 20 of the Law of Ukraine «On the Application of Transplantation of Human Anatomical Materials» prohibits the conclusion or offer of contracts involving the purchase and sale of human anatomical materials. Advertising of human anatomical materials, except for social ones, aimed at promoting transplantation is also prohibited [25].

CONCLUSIONS

Thus, we have identified and researched the following legal obligations in the light human organs and tissues transplantation: compliance with regulatory and medical requirements for organs and tissues transplantation; obtaining the donor's consent for organs and tissues transplantation; organ or tissue transplantation on a non-commercial basis.

- 1. Analyzed regulatory and medical requirements, indicate the complexity of the transplant process, as well as the need for strict compliance with established regulations and rules. The legislator (at the international and national levels), setting mandatory requirements for transplantation, must first and foremost be guided by the principles of expediency and justification of their implementation in order to balance the rights of donors and recipients, maximize preservation and improve their quality of life.
- 2. For the whole complex transplant procedure, one of the key points is the donor's consent (disagreement) to remove anatomical materials from him. Each state chooses its own method (opt-in or opt-out model) and mechanisms for obtaining the necessary will of the person – the predominant is either individual or public interest.
- 3. The obligation to perform organ or tissue transplantation on a non-commercial basis has a dual purpose: first, to prevent offenses and legal violations in this area, as anatomical materials cannot be traded or enriched; secondly, to determine as transparently and clearly as possible the list of costs incurred by the donor in connection with the organs and tissues removal and subject to reimbursement, the procedure for such reimbursement and its reasonable, acceptable and sufficient amount. In the sense of the second mentioned goals, of course, it is also a necessary practice on the part of states to promote the development of human organs and tissues altruistic donation system and to raise public awareness in this regard.

REFERENCES

- 1. Rogach O., Potapchuk A., Popovych T. et al. Legal regulation of human organs and tissue transplantation: international and foreign experience. Wiadomości Lekarskie. 2021; 74(2): 2651-2658.
- 2. Konventsiia pro prava liudyny i biomedytsynu [Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine] 1997. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/994_334#Text. [date access 20.12.2021] (In Ukrainian).
- 3. Dodatkovyi protokol do Konventsii pro prava liudyny ta biomedytsynu shchodo transplantatsii orhaniv i tkanyn liudyny [Additional Protocol to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine on Transplantation of Human Organs and Tissues] 2002. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/994_684#Text. [date access 20.12.2021] (In Ukrainian).
- 4. Deklaratsiia stosovno transplantatsii liudskykh orhaniv [Declaration on Human Organ Transplantation] 1987. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/995_330#Text. [date access 20.12.2021] (In Ukrainian).
- 5. Rezoliutsiia (78)29 Komitetu Ministriv Rady Yevropy shchodo pryvedennia v vidpovidnist zakonodavstv derzhav-uchasnyts z pytan vyluchennia, peresadky i transplantatsii materialiv orhanizmu liudyny [Resolution (78) 29 of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on the approximation of the laws of the member states concerning the extraction, transplantation and transplantation of human material] from 11.05.1978. 1978. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/994_071#Text. [date access 20.12.2021] (In Ukrainian).

- 6. Kerivni pryntsypy VOOZ iz transplantatsii liudskykh klityn, tkanyn i orhaniv [WHO guidelines for transplantation of human cells, tissues and organs] from 2010. 2010. https://www.who.int/transplantation/Guiding_PrinciplesTransplantation_WHA63.22ru.pdf. [date access 20.12.2021] (In Ukrainian).
- Gesetz über die Spende, Entnahme und Übertragung von Organen und Geweben 1997. 1997. https://ec.europa.eu/anti-trafficking/sites/ antitrafficking/files/transplant_act_germany_de_1.pdf. [date access 20.12.2021]
- 8. Ley Justina (Argentina). 2018; 27.447. https://cdh.defensoria.org.ar/ wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/07/ley-justina-27447.pdf. [date access 20.12.2021]
- 9. Kodeks zdravoohraneniya Respubliki Tadzhikistan [Health Code of the Republic of Tajikistan] from 30.05.2017. № 1413. 2017. https://online. zakon.kz/Document/?doc_id=38514256#pos=6;-106. [date access 20.12.2021] (in Russian).
- 10. Pro zastosuvannia transplantatsii anatomichnykh materialiv liudyni [About application of transplantation of anatomic materials to the person]: Law of Ukraine from 17.05.2018 № 2427-VIII. 2018. https://zakon.rada.gov. ua/laws/show/2427-19#Text. [date access 20.12.2021] (In Ukrainian).
- 11. Anikina G.V. Pravove regulyuvannya posmertnogo donorstva v Ukrayini: suchasniy stan ta perspektivi rozvitku [Legal regulation of posthumous donation in Ukraine: current status and development prospects]. Unlversitetskl naukovl zapiski. 2018; (67): 81-92. (In Ukrainian).
- Shepherd L., O'Carroll R., Ferguson E. An international comparison of deceased and living organ donation/transplant rates in opt-in and opt-out systems: a panel study. BMC Medicine. 2014; 12. https:// bmcmedicine.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12916-014-0131-4. [date access 20.12.2021]
- 13. Łaszewska-Hellriegel M. ls Post-Mortem Organ Donation a Duty Towards Society and Can It Be Justified by Public Interest? Recent Bills to Amend the German Transplantation Law. Archiwum filozofii prawa i filozofii społecznej. 2020; 3: 53-65.
- Federal Act on the Transplantation of Organs, Tissues and Cells from 2004. 2044. https://fedlex.data.admin.ch/filestore/fedlex.data.admin. ch/eli/cc/2007/279/20160501/en/pdf-a/fedlex-data-admin-ch-eli-cc-2007-279-20160501-en-pdf-a.pdf. [date access 20.12.2021]
- 15. Bilera V.G.. Safronova E.V. Pravovye i eticheskiye problemy transplantatsii organov cheloveka [Legal and ethical problems of human organ transplantation]. Meditsinskoe pravo: teoriya i praktika. 2020; 2: 94-100. (in Russian).
- 16. Kiselova O.I. Administrativno-pravove regulyuvannya transplantatsiyi organiv i (abo) tkanin lyudini v Ukrayini i zarublzhnih krayinah [Administrative and legal regulation of transplantation of human organs and (or) tissues in Ukraine and foreign countries]. Pravovi gorizonti. 2018; 9: 46-51. (In Ukrainian).
- 17. Zakon Respubliki Belarus o transplantatsii organov i tkaney cheloveka [Law of the Republic of Belarus on transplantation of human organs and tissues] from 04.03.1997. № 28-3.1997. https://kodeksy-by.com/ zakon_rb_o_transplantatsii_organov_i_tkanej_cheloveka.htm. [date access 20.12.2021] (in Russian).
- Leshchuk S.P. Prezumptsiya soglasiya na eksplantatsiyu organov i (ili) tkaney cheloveka v Respublike Belarus [Presumption of consent to the explantation of human organs and (or) tissues in the Republic of Belarus]. Vestnik Nizhegorodskoy akademii MVD Rossii. 2018; 2: 213-218. (in Russian).

- 19. National Health Act of South Africa. 2003. № 61. https://www.gov.za/ sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/a61-03.pdf. [date access 20.12.2021]
- 20. Resolution WHA63.22 Human organ and tissue transplantation 2003. https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA63/A63_R22-en.pdf. [date access 20.12.2021]
- 21. Rudge C., Matesanz R., Delmonico F.L., Chapman J. International practices of organ donation. British Journal of Anaesthesia. 2012;108:48-55.
- 22. Stambulskaya deklaratsiya o transplantatsionnom turizme i torgovle organami ot 2008 goda [Istanbul Declaration on Transplant Tourism and Organ Trade from 2008]. Transplantology. 2009;1:56-59. (in Russian).
- 23. Pashkov V., Golovanova I., Noha P. Principle of serviceability and gratuitousness in transplantation? Wiadomości Lekarskie. 2016;3:565-568.
- 24. Turyanskiy Yu.I. Somatichni prava lyudini v suchasnly doktrinl konstitutslonalizmu: teoretiko-pravove doslidzhennya [Somatic human rights in the modern doctrine of constitutionalism: a theoretical and legal study]: dis. d-ra yurid. nauk; spets.: 12.00.01. Lviv. 2020, 482p. (In Ukrainian).
- 25. Ustawa o pobieraniu, przechowywaniu i przeszczepianiu komórek, tkanek i narządów od 01.07.2005 № 169. http://isap.sejm.gov.pl/isap. nsf/download.xsp/WDU20051691411/U/D20051411Lj.pdf. [date access 20.12.2021]

ORCID and contributionship:

Tereziia P. Popovych: 0000-0002-8333-3921 A, D, F Anatoliy M. Potapchuk: 0000-0001-9857-1407 A, D, F Oleksandr Ya. Rogach: 0000-0001-5125-288X ^{D-F} Volodymyr V. Dzhuhan: 0000-0001-7896-836X ^{B,D}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR Tereziia P. Popovych

Uzhhorod National University 3 Folk Sq., 88000 Uzhhorod, Ukraine tel: +380956261986 e-mail: buts_tereza@ukr.net.

Received: 03.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis, D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

REVIEW ARTICLE



HOLISTIC APPROACH IN COMMUNICATION SKILLS TEACHING OF MEDICAL STUDENTS

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420118

Lilia S. Babinets, Iryna O. Borovyk, Bogdan O. Migenko, Natalia Ye. Botsyuk, Neonila I. Korylchuk, Iryna M. Halabitska I. HORBACHEVSKY TERNOPIL NATIONAL MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, TERNOPIL, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To analyze the relevance of communicative competence in medical practice and to choose the best pedagogical methods by improve communication skills in future doctors through the use of a holistic approach in teaching.

Materials and methods: Sociological, informational and analytical research methods were used in the research.

Conclusions: The holistic direction in education promotes partnership between a student and a teacher, the achievement of mutual understanding and trust, better commitment and motivation to learn. The use of feedback forms helps to recognize and understand the needs and feelings of each student, work effectively with diversity, motivates the teacher to continuous self-development and self-improvement. Modern teaching methods such as working in small groups, Storytellling and role-play according to students are more valid in mastering the communicative competence of the future doctor.

KEY WORDS: holistic learning, communication skills, doctor's communicative competence

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1019-1021

INTRODUCTION

Educational processes in the era of globalization require the use of such learning technologies that would be aimed at forming a holistic picture of the world, preparing students for life in a dynamically changing environment [1,2]. The issue of a holistic approach in education in modern conditions has become very relevant. A student in holistic education is perceived as a holistic person in need of harmonious learning and development. The teacher does not focus only on the content of the subject, but pays attention to the relationship with students, preferring a partnership model of relations, recognizes and understands the needs and feelings of students, open to the views of each person with constructive resolution of conflicts arising from diversity, shows flexibility, ready for constant self-development and self-improvement [3,4]. The basic principles of holistic learning are: connectedness - the transition from a fragmentary approach in learning to an approach that creates connections at each level of learning; inclusion - application of a wide range of educational approaches for people with different needs; balance - recognition and support of complementary aspects of personality (for example, analytical and intuitive thinking) [3].

Acquisition by students of basic competencies that form a highly qualified specialist occupies a special place in the training of medical workers [5]. Communicative competence is one of the basic competencies of a doctor [6]. Competences are best learned using modern methods of education, taking into account holistic approaches that will include in the active learning process all participants, considering the individual needs of each student [7]. Therefore, we can confidently state the fact of the need to identify the most effective and efficient techniques for mastering communicative competence as a component of quality professional training of physicians.

THE AIM

The aim of this study was to analyze the relevance of communicative competence in medical practice and to choose the best pedagogical methods by improve communication skills in future doctors through the use of a holistic approach in teaching.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sociological, informational and analytical research methods were used in the research.

REVIEW AND DISCUSSION

Employees of the Department of Primary Health Care and General Practice-Family Medicine have developed and implemented in the educational process for fourthyear students of the Medical Faculty a selective subject of Communicative Skills in Medical Practice." According to the work program, the subject consists of 3 credits, the total number of hours – 90, of which – 30 hours of practical classes and 60 hours of individual work. Fourth-year students attended ten two-hour practical classes over two semesters. The first five lessons learn the basics of communication in medical practice: the definition of communication, the basic models of communication between doctor and patient, technology and basic counseling skills, communication barriers. The next five classes are devoted to studying the structure of counseling, working with different types of patients, informing bad news, motivational counseling and prevention of emotional burnout. Students were recommended to practice the acquired skills while performing practical work at clinical departments.

Because the study of selective subject was based on a holistic approach to learning, students were asked to complete an anonymous feedback form upon completion of the course. The questionnaire was compiled and agreed by the teachers of the department and included 10 items. The form contained questions related to students' impressions of studying the subject, preferences, needs for future learning and professional activities and wishes to optimize the study of the subject. The analysis of the survey revealed that 33 students (97.0 %) out of 34 respondents noted the importance of studying communication skills for the future doctor. To the question "Do you think that a doctor's communication skills are no less important than his professional qualifications?" 26 respondents answered yes, 8 - partially yes. According to students' thought, the most important parts of the subject are mastering the basic techniques of effective counseling - 30 (88.2 %), knowledge and adherence to the structure of counseling - 26 (76.5 %), the ability to have difficult conversations and inform bad news - 22 (64.7%), knowledge of the peculiarities of counseling "special" patients - 17 (50 %).

To the question "What format of studying the subject do you consider the most optimal?" only 5 students (14.7 %) indicated distance learning, 17 respondents (50 %) prefer traditional, live study of the subject and 12 respondents (35.3%) – for a mixed format of study.

Several questions of the questionnaire concerned the choice of acceptable methods of educational process. The majority, 29 students (85.3 %) noted the high efficiency of work in small groups in mastering the subject, 26 students (76.5 %) were impressed by the use in practical classes of storytelling, stories of clinical cases from real practice with emotional impact, motivational, cognitive sphere of the listener, 25 students (73.5 %) – for group work with a presentation on Google disk with the joint creation of a syllabus, 20 students (58.8 %) noted the role play as the best technique in mastering the subject. At the same time, only 8 respondents (23.5 %) showed commitment to solving situational problems and watching educational videos in practical classes.

Several items of the questionnaire contained questions related to the continuation of study and improvement of students' communicative competence. In the answers to the questionnaire, all respondents indicated the need to improve their communication skills in the future, and 32 students out of 34 (94.1 %) will recommend the study of selective subjects to their colleagues. The majority of students, 22 persons, consider it necessary to continue studying the prevention of emotional burnout of health professionals in the future. 18 students plan to improve their leadership skills. For 19 respondents it is important to continue studying the topics of empathy and humanity in the work of a physician. 19 respondents plan to study the peculiarities of communication in the work process with colleagues, nursing stuff, as well as with representatives of the health care facility administration. For 15 respondents, the study of the peculiarities of communication with critically ill patients in the provision of palliative care is considered promising.

To improve communicative competence, almost all respondents plan to study individually, using special literature, watching available videos on the Internet, passing free distance webinars and trainings. At the same time, 10 respondents (30.3 %) are going to attend thematic improvement courses in the future and only 4 (12.1 %) are ready to attend paid courses and trainings.

Thus, the successful acquisition of communication skills by students requires holistic approaches to learning, which involves the search and selection of new pedagogical methods and technologies [7,8]. Only in this case, mastering the communicative competence important for a medical worker will be effective and motivate the student to improve the acquired skills.

CONCLUSIONS

The holistic direction in education promotes partnership between a student and a teacher, the achievement of mutual understanding and trust, better commitment and maintaining motivation to learn. The use of feedback forms helps to recognize and understand the needs and feelings of each student, work effectively with diversity, motivates the teacher to continuous self-development and self-improvement. Modern teaching methods such as working in small groups, storytellling and role-playing according to students' thought are more valid in mastering the communicative competence of the future doctor.

In the future, we plan to develop objective tools and methods for assessing the acquired communication skills of the student.

REFERENCES

- Bowe C. M., Armstrong E. Assessment for Systems Learning: A Holistic Assessment Framework to Support Decision Making Across the Medical Education Continuum. Academic medicine : journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges. 2017;92(5): 585–592. doi:10.1097/ ACM.000000000001321.
- Helder H., Verbrugh H.S., de Vries M.J. Toward an holistic education in pathology and medicine. Journal of Medical Education. 1977;52(8):648-653. doi: 10.1097/00001888-197708000-00004.
- Mahmoudi S., Jafari E., Nasrabadi H.A., Liaghatdar M. Holistic Education: An Approach for 21 Century. International Education Studies. 2012; 5:178-186.
- Amankwah D. Handling Communication Skills: the Holistic approach. Conference: First National Conference and Workshop on Academic Writing/Communication Skills Programs in Ghanaian Higher Education At: University of Cape Coast, Cape Coast, Ghana, W/R. 2015, 403p.

- 5. Henry S.G., Holmboe E.S., Frankel R.M. Evidence-based competencies for improving communication skills in graduate medical education: a review with suggestions for implementation. Med Teach. 2013;35(5):395-403. doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2013.769677.
- Shochet R., King J., Levine R. et al. 'Thinking on my feet': an improvisation course to enhance students' confidence and responsiveness in the medical interview. Educ Prim Care. 2013;24(2):119-24. doi: 10.1080/1 4739879.2013.11493466.
- 7. Haq C., Steele D.J., Marchand L. et al. Integrating the art and science of medical practice: innovations in teaching medical communication skills. Family medicine. 2004; 36: 43–50.
- 8. Ali N.B., Pelletier S.R., Shields H.M. Innovative curriculum for secondyear Harvard-MIT medical students: practicing communication skills with volunteer patients giving immediate feedback. Adv Med Educ Pract. 2017;8:337-345. doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S135172.
- 9. Shochet R., King J., Levine R. et al. 'Thinking on my feet': an improvisation course to enhance students' confidence and responsiveness in the medical interview. Educ Prim Care. 2013;24(2):119-24. doi: 10.1080/1 4739879.2013.11493466.

ORCID and contributionship:

Lilia S. Babinets: 0000-0002-0560-1943 ^{A,B,D-F} Iryna. O. Borovyk: 0000-0003-0114-2935 ^{A,B,D-F} Bogdan O. Migenko: 0000-0003-2192-7238 ^{A,B,D-F} Natalia Ye. Botsyuk: 0000-0002-2959-1866 ^{A,B,D-F} Neonila I. Korylchuk: 0000-0002-1055-9292 ^{A,B,D-F} Iryna M. Halabitska: 0000-0002-9028-7230 ^{A,B,D-F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR Lilia S. Babinets

I. Horbachevsky Ternopil National Medical University 14 Kupchyns'ky St., 46400 Ternopil, Ukraine tel: +380673520743 e-mail: lilyababinets@gmail.com

Received: 18.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

- A Work concept and design, B Data collection and analysis, C Responsibility for statistical analysis,
- D Writing the article, E Critical review, F Final approval of the article

THE ROLE OF ADAPTIVE-STRESS RESPONSE IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF PERIODONTAL DISEASES

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420119

Taras I. Pupin, Zoriana M. Honta, Ihor V. Shylivskyy, Oksana M. Nemesh, Khrystyna B. Burda DANYLO HALYTSKY LVIV NATIONAL MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, LVIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: The purpose of this work is to analyze the literature data of scientific research of Ukrainian and foreign scientists to assess the pathogenetic mechanisms of the adaptive stress response to the condition of periodontal tissues.

Materials and methods: Bibliosematic and analytical methods were used in the trial. The materials of the trial are international experience in studying the pathogenetic mechanisms of the interaction of psycho-emotional disorders and the development of periodontal lesions.

Conclusions: Chronic stress and depression suppress the immune system, cause the hormonal imbalances, lead to metabolic disorders in tissues and increase the risk of dystrophic and inflammatory processes in periodontal tissues, which in turn lead to reduced masticatory function, tooth loss, severe emotional instability and significant reduction in quality of life. Psycho-emotional disorders in patients slow down the treatment of inflammatory processes in periodontal tissues and contribute to the early recurrence. Thus, the problem of studying the adaptive stress response of the organism requires further research for deeply understaningits role in the etiology and pathogenesis of dental diseases and justify effective treatment and prevention measures for its correction.

KEY WORDS: periodontal tissues, generalized periodontitis, psychoemotional stress, adaptation, maladaptation, psycho-emotional disorders

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1022-1025

INTRODUCTION

Modern man is under the constant influence of unfavourable factors, including natural, techno-genetic, informational and psychological ones. Experimental and clinical studies show that increased emotional impressibility affects the metabolic and physiological processes of organs and systems of the human body, in particular periodontal tissues, which leads to inflammatory-dystrophic changes [1-3]. Health condition often depends on a person's ability to adapt to environmental conditions, and the effectiveness of the regulatory function of adaptation depends on the state of the body and mind. Overstain of adaptive mechanisms leads to diseases in the case of intensive and long-term effects of stimuli on the human body. As a result, it develops a violation of homeostasis, starting a chain of adaptation, depending on the level of activity of adaptive reactions, which, in turn, occur at the cellular, subcellular and molecular levels in the form of resistance, and at high intensity and long-term negative influence leads to the development of maladaptation [4, 5]. In the case of maladaptation a violation of the higher autonomic centers of vasomotor regulation occurs, the tone of the parasympathetic division of the autonomic nervous system increases, which leads to a steady decrease in total peripheral vascular resistance [6-9]. In conditions of maladaptation, there is often a strengthening of personality qualities. In particular, the main clinical manifestation of the syndrome of psycho-emotional stress is anxiety of various degrees, which leads to increased stress reactions, the development of distress and various psychosomatic diseases [10].

THE AIM

The purpose of this work is to analyze the literature data of scientific research of Ukrainian and foreign scientists to assess the pathogenetic mechanisms of the adaptive stress response to the condition of periodontal tissues.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bibliosematic and analytical methods were used in the trial. The materials of the trial are international experience in studying the pathogenetic mechanisms of the interaction of psycho-emotional disorders and the development of periodontal lesions.

REVIEW AND DISCUSSION

The main biochemical and physiological changes in the body under stressful situations are determined mainly due to the action of adrenaline and noradrenaline. Unlike adrenaline, norepinephrine is produced not only by the adrenal glands but also by neurons in the sympathetic nervous system. Thus, the mobilization of the body's reserve capacity in stressful situations depends on its activity. The
parasympathetic nervous system helps to preserve and accumulate energy reserves. A person's reaction to psychological stressors is individual and depends on many factors - the general condition of the body, its psychological characteristics [12]. An important role in the development of metabolic and hemodynamic disorders during psychophysiological loading is played by the lack of such compounds as tocopherol acetate, retinol acetate, vitamins B and ascorbic acid, which may be explained by their participation in antiinflammatory, antioxidant, osteotropic, immunomodulatory, capillary-strengthening, membrane protective mechanisms of development in pathological process[13]. Excessive stress in combination with violation of any organs and tissues under the influence of irritants can lead to failure of adaptation, as prolonged increase in catecholamines and stress hormones leads to nitrogen imbalance, destruction of cellular structures, promoting to the development of trophic disorders [11, 14-16].

Diseases of the maxillofacial area are often considered separately from the patient's personality, and if their relationship to somatic health is still taken into account, then the psychological, socio-psychological and social aspects of dental pathology remain without proper attention from researchers and clinicians. At the same time, the involvement of psychophysiological factors in the development of any pathological process and their importance for therapeutic action no longer needs proofs, which necessitates a systematic, comprehensive, interdisciplinary approach to the diagnosis and treatment of human health disorders, including dental [17-20].

Chronic stress syndrome is especially dangerous at a young age, as most people are exposed to bad habits (smoking, drinking, etc.) that can affect oral health. Stress caused by psychosocial factors can violate the lifestyle and hygiene of the oral cavity and affect the microbial ecology of the periodontium [21].

While it is well established that chronic psychologic stress can have significant deleterious systemic effects, only in recent decades have begun to explore the biochemical, microbial, and physiologic impacts of chronic stress diseases on oral tissues. Currently, chronic stress is classified as a «risk indicator» for periodontal disease[1, 5].Modern scientific studies have proven the relationship between psychological stress and periodontal disease, as periodontal tissues are highly sensitive to stressors [22-24]. Clinicians consider appropriate to distinguish a separate nosological unit - «periodontal emotional stress syndrome» [25]. Many scientists study the influence of stress on the pathological process in periodontitis, the functional state of the brain in periodontitis, structural changes of periodontal nerves in its lesions and attach importance to such factors as emotional stress, chronic psycho-emotional stress affecting periodontal tissuetrophism [26-28].

In the pathogenesis of stress periodontal damage the reactions of the salivary glands have the sense, which respond by changing the secretion of hormones, mediators and other biologically active substances, which leads to changes in immune homeostasis of the oral cavity. Cytokines and other humoral mediators of inflammation are powerful activators of the central stress response. Glucocorticoids, which are released under their influence, can regulate the involvement of immune cells in inflamed tissues to help the body in coping with psychological stress [26, 29].

Increased secretion of steroid hormones, in particular cortisol, causes in the oral cavity: gangrenous ulcers under the influence of viruses and bacteria due to immune deficiency; temporomandibular bruxism - with grinding or clenching of teeth; dryness in the mouth due to decreased salivation; gingivitis due to poor hygiene (56% of young people surveyed said that stress affected their ability to brush their teeth effectively, both with a brush and floss) [30]. Due to its immunosuppressive effect, stress also leads to slow healing of connective and bone tissue, apical migration of connective epithelium and the formation of periodontal pockets [31]. It is also one of the reasons for increasing the processes of lipid peroxidation (LPO) and weakening antioxidant protection and hemocirculatory disorders, reducing the synthesis of the organic matrix and enhancing bone resorption [32, 33].

Activation of LPO is the main mechanism of stress lesions of periodontal tissues with disruption of cell and subcellular membranes, and hence cell metabolism in general. Stress activation of LPO also initiates the damage of connective tissue, which is the substrate of periodontium and is characterized by weakened, compared to other tissues, antioxidant protection [34-36]. Fibroblasts have affinity receptors for cortisol and respond to glucocorticoids by reducing the synthesis of collagen and glycosaminoglycans. Acute stress stimulates the degradation of connective tissue biopolymers, as evidenced by increased blood levels of oxyproline [37]. In addition, there is an increase in the activity of anti-inflammatory enzymes - NO synthase and cyclooxygenase-2, which leads to increased oxidative processes due to the production of peroxynitrite and the release of radicals in the synthesis of prostaglandins. The dependence of the levels of LPO products and periodontal tissue damage under stress on the nature of emotional response and typological features of the nervous system has been established. Under the influence of adverse environmental factors, the intensity of free radical processes increases sharply, the antioxidant defence system is gradually depleted, which leads to the development of inflammatory-dystrophic process in periodontal tissues [38].

Psycho-emotional stress causes microcirculatory disorders and metabolic disorders in periodontal tissues [34]. Vascular dilatation, which occurs under stress, contributes to the pathological deposition of blood, which leads to impaired blood supply to periodontal tissues [38, 39]. In turn, the spastic reaction of blood vessels restricts blood flow to the tissues and promotes the development of ischemic damage to periodontal tissues. Deterioration of blood supply to periodontal tissues is directly dependent not only on the severity of periodontitis, but also on the depth of autonomic disorders with a predominance of the sympathetic system [40].

An important intermediate link that implements the pathogenic effects of chronic psycho-emotional stress are autonomic disorders. There is a direct relationship between the functional state of the autonomic nervous system and the severity of periodontitis. A number of authors have found that one of the causes of diseases of the oral cavity is a combination of vascular changes with impaired autonomic regulation [17, 23]. The study of the dynamics of autonomic parameters in patients with generalized periodontitis shows an increase in sympathotonic activity of the higher nervous system and decrease it after treatment. Comparative evaluation of the complex of autonomic reactions revealed a connection between the activity of the sympathetic nervous system, disorders of psychoemotional state (decreased levels of health, activity and mood) with quantitative changes in ultrasound hemodynamics of the main vessels of the dental system in patients with generalized periodontitis [12, 40].

CONCLUSIONS

Chronic stress and depression suppress the immune system, cause the hormonal imbalances, lead to metabolic disorders in tissues and increase the risk of dystrophic and inflammatory processes in periodontal tissues, which in turn lead to reduced masticatory function, tooth loss, severe emotional instability and significant reduction in quality of life. Psycho-emotional disorders in patients slow down the treatment of inflammatory processes in periodontal tissues and contribute to the early recurrence. Thus, the problem of studying the adaptive stress response of the organism requires further research for deeply understaningits role in the etiology and pathogenesis of dental diseases and justify effective treatment and prevention measures for its correction.

REFERENCES

- 1. Decker A., Kapila Y., Wang H. The psychobiological links between chronic stress-related diseases, periodontal/peri-implant diseases, and wound healing. J. Periodontol 2000. 2021;87(1):94-106. doi: 10.1111/ prd.12381.
- 2. Qamber J.H., Shah B.G., Sajjad S. et al. Assessment of Oxidative Stress Markers in medical students in response to examination stress. P J M H S. 2018;12(2):804-806.
- Pavliuk T.V., Rozhko M.M., Panchak O.V. Otsinka stanu tkanyn parodonta v studentiv molodshykh kursiv medychnoho universytetu z riznymy rivniamy tryvozhnosti [Assessment of periodontal tissue in junior medical students with different levels of anxiety]. Halytskyi likarskyi visnyk. 2018;25(3):32-35. (In Ukrainian).
- 4. Kononova O.V. Vplyv psykhoemotsionalnoho stresu na stan tkanyn parodonta (ohliad literatury) [Effect of psychological stress on periodontal tissue (literature review)]. Visnyk problem biolohii i medytsyny. 2016;4:36-41. (In Ukrainian).
- 5. Hunina L.V., Nosach O.V. Metabolichni aspekty vplyvu fizychnykh navantazhen: oksydatyvnyi stres ta adaptatsiia [Metabolic aspects of the impact of physical activity: oxidative stress and adaptation]. Ukrainskyi zhurnal klinichnoi ta laboratornoi medytsyny. 2012;7(4):237-243. (In Ukrainian).
- 6. Jae S.Y., Bunsawat K., Fadel P.J. et al. Attenuated Heart Rate Recovery After Exercise Testing and Risk of Incident Hypertension in Men. Am. J. Hypertens. 2016;29;9:1103-8. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpw028.

- 7. Périard J.D., Travers G.J., Racinais S.et al. Cardiov.scular adaptations supporting human exercise-heat acclimation. Auton. Neurosci. 2016;196:52-62. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2016.02.002.
- 8. Westermaier T., Stetter C., Kunze E. et al. Controlled Hypercapnia Enhances Cerebral Blood Flow and Brain Tissue Oxygenation After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Results of a Phase 1 Study. Neurocri. Care. 2016;17:356-65. doi: 10.1007/s12028-016-0246-x.
- 9. Fuller B.F. The effects of stress-anxiety and coping styles on heart rate varialibity. Intern. J. Psychophysiol. 2017;12:81. doi: 10.1016/0167-8760(92)90045-d.
- Kokun O.M. Adaptatsiia ta adaptatsiini mozhlyvosti liudyny: prykladni aspekty [Adaptation and adaptive capabilities of man: applied aspects]. Psykhofiziolohiia. Medychna psykholohiia. Henetychna psykholohiia. 2005;5;4:77-85. (In Ukrainian).
- 11. Birmes P., Escande M., Gourdy P. et al. Biological factors of posttraumatic stress : neuroendocrine aspects. Encephale. 2020;26(6):55-61.
- Honta Z.M., Nemesh O.M., Shylivskyi I.V., Datsko V.A. Vplyv porushen nervovoi systemy na rozvytok zakhvoriuvan parodonta. Aktualnist ta istoriia rozvytku problem [Influence of nervous system disorders on the development of periodontal diseases. Relevance and history of the problem]. Implantolohiia Parodontolohiia Osteolohiia. 2012;3:75-78. (In Ukrainian).
- Averil J.R., Opton E.M., Lazarus R.S. Cross-cultural studies of psychophysiological responses during stress and emotion. J. Psychol. 2015;4:83-86. doi:10.1080/00207596908247258
- Liu S., Thomas S.G., Sasson Z. et al. Blood pressure reduction following prolonged exercise in young and middle-aged endurance athletes. Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol. 2013;20(6):956. doi: 10.1177/2047487312454759.
- 15. Matviichuk Kh.B., Skalat A.P., Skydanovych S.I. Vmist kortyzolu u krovi ta rotovii ridyni yak kryterii stresovoi reaktsii u khvorykh na heneralizovanyi parodontyt ta uskladnennia vyrazkovoi khvoroby dvanadtsiatypaloi kyshky [The Level of Cortisolinthe Blood and Oral Fluidasa Criterion of Stress Response in Patients with Generalized Periodontitis and Complications of Duodenal Ulcer]. Halytskyi likarskyi visnyk. 2015;1:42-45. (In Ukrainian).
- 16. Akcali A., Huck O., Tenenbaum H. et al. Periodontal diseases and stress: a brief review: J. Oral Rehabil. 2013;40(1):60-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2842.2012.02341.x
- 17. Pupin T.I., Nemesh O.M., Honta Z.M. et al. Suchasni aspekty likuvannia heneralizovanoho parodontytu v osib z somatychnoiu patolohieiu [Modern aspects of generalized periodontitis treatment in patients with a somatic pathology]. Zaporizkyi medychnyi zhurnal. 2020;1:222-226. doi: 10.14739/2310-1210.2020.1.194649. (In Ukrainian).
- Hamissi J., Kakaei S., Hamissi H. Psychological stress and periodontal disease. Pak. Oral Dental. J. 2010;30(2):464.
- Zabolotnyi T.D., Honta Z.M., Slaba O.M. Vplyv psykhosomatychnykh porushen na rozvytok zakhvoriuvan parodontu [Influence of psychosomatic disorders on the development of periodontal disease]. Parodontolohiia Implantolohiia Osteolohiia. 2007;2:69-71.(In Ukrainian).
- Peruzzo D.C., Benatti B.B., Antunes I.B. et.al. Chronic stress may modulate periodontal disease: astudyinrats. J. Periodontol. 2008;79:697-704. doi: 10.1902/jop.2008.070369.
- Linden G.J., Herzberg M.C. Periodontitis and systemic diseases: a record of discussions of working group 4 of the Joint EFP/AAP Workshop on Periodontitis and Systemic Diseases. J. Clin. Periodontol. 2013;84(4):3-20. doi: 10.1111/jcpe.12091.
- 22. Piasetska L.V., Luchynskyi M.A., Basista A.S. et. al. Elektrolitnyi sklad rotovoi ridyny patsiientiv iz zakhvoriuvanniamy parodonta zalezhno vid psykhofiziolohichnoho stanu [Electrolyte composition of oral fluid in patients with periodontal disease, depending on the psychophysiological condition]. Bukovynskyi medychnyi visnyk. 2018;3(87):78-83.(In Ukrainian).

- 23. Sukhovolets I.O. Rol psykhoemotsiinoho stresu u vynyknenni ta perebihu zapalno-dystrofichnykh zakhvoriuvan parodonta [The role of psycho-emotional stress in the occurrence and course of inflammatory-dystrophic periodontal diseases]. Visnyk naukovykh doslidzhen. 2013;2: 4–6. (In Ukrainian).
- 24. Kirjachkov Ju.Ju., Glazov A.Ju. Funkcional'noe sostojanie vegetativnoj nervnoj sistemy i kislorodnyj gomeostaz polosti rta pri hronicheskom generalizovannom parodontite [Functional state of the autonomic nervous system and oxygen homeostasis of the oral cavity in chronic generalized periodontitis]. Klinicheskaja stomatologija. 2010; 4:14-17. (In Russian).
- 25. Marko J. Periodontal emotional stress-syndrom. J. Periodontol. 2006;47:67-70. doi: 10.1902/jop.1976.47.2.67.
- 26. Keshava P.K., Sangeeta N.U. Stressing the stress in periodontal disease. J. Pharm. Biomed. Sci. 2013;26:345.
- 27. Melnichuk G., Kimak G.B. Stress as a provoking factor in the development of periodontal disease in young people and the impact of comprehensive treatment of generalized periodontitis on the level of stress resistance. Proceedings of the III international Scientific Forum of Scientifists «East-West». Vienna. 2019, 491p.
- 28. Duriahina L.Kh. Pokaznyky shvydkosti slynovydilennia, stan kyslotnoosnovnoi rivnovahy i mikrobiotsenozu porozhnyny rota v dynamitsi likuvannia khvorykh zi stomatolohichnoiu patolohiieiu, poiednanoiu z depresyvnym stanom [Indicators of the rate of salivation, the state of acid-base balance and microbiocenosis of the oral cavity in the dynamics of treatment of patients with dental pathology associated with depression]. Ukrainskyi stomatolohichnyi almanakh. 2013;6:21-26. (In Ukrainian).
- 29. Kononova O.V. Pokaznyky klitynnoi lanky imunitetu u khvorykh na heneralizovanyi parodontyt v umovakh psykhoemotsiinoho stresu [Indicators of cellular immunity in patients with generalized periodontitis under psycho-emotional stress]. Suchasna stomatolohiia. 2019;1:42-45. (In Ukrainian).
- Refulio Z., Rocafuerte M., Rosa M. et al. Assotiation among stress, salivary cortisol level, and chronic periodontitis. J. Periodontal Implant. Sci. 2013;43(2):96-100. doi: 10.5051/jpis.2013.43.2.96.
- Artese L., Piattelli A., Cardoso de Gouveia L.A. et al. Immunoexpression of angiogenesis, nitric oxide synthase, and proliferation markers in gingival samples of patients with aggressive and chronic periodontitis. J. Periodontol. 2010;81(5):718. doi: 10.1902/jop.2010.090524.
- 32. Esfahanian V., Shamami M.S., Shamami M.S. Relationship between osteoporosis and periodontal disease: review of the literature. J. Dent. 2012;9:256.
- Mazur I.P. Porushennia kistkovoho metabolizmu u khvorykh na heneralizovanyi parodontyt [Disorders of bone metabolism in patients with generalized periodontitis (clinical and experimental study]. Implantolohiia Parodontohiia Osteolohiia. 2012;2:70-74.(In Ukrainian).
- Rozova E.V., Gonchar O.A., Podgaeckaja O.E. et al. Reakcija mjagkih tkanej parodonta na ostryj immobilizacionnyj stress [Response of periodontal soft tissues to acute immobilization stress]. Visnyk stomatolohii. 2006; 2:15-18. (In Ukrainian).
- 35. Kimak H.B., Melnychuk H.M. Zminy pokaznykiv perekysnoho okysnennia lipidiv i perekysnoho okysnennia bilkiv u rotovii ridyni khvorykh na heneralizovanyi parodontyt molodykh osib vnaslidok kompleksnoho likuvannia [Changes in lipid peroxidation and protein peroxidation in the oral fluid of patients with generalized periodontitis in young people due to complex treatment]. Innovatsii stomatolohii. 2018;1:17-21.(In Ukrainian).

- 36. Pavliuk T.V., Rozhko M.M. Analiz deiakykh pokaznykiv oksydatyvnoho stresu v studentiv z pochatkovym-l stupenem heneralizovanoho parodontytu [Analysis of some indicators of oxidative stress in students with primary-l degree of generalized periodontitis]. Halytskyi likarskyi visnyk. 2018;25(4):33-36.(In Ukrainian).
- 37. Tarasenko L.M., Skrypnyk I.M., Neporada K.S. et al. Ushkodzhennia spoluchnotkanynnykh struktur yak providnyi patohenetychnyi mekhanizm stres-syndromu [Damage to connective tissue structures as a leading pathogenetic mechanism of stress syndrome]. Medychna khimiia. 2001; 3(2):26-30.(In Ukrainian).
- 38. Podhaietska O.Ye., Rozova K.V., Honchar O.O. et al. Vplyv intervalnykh hipoksychnykh trenuvan na ultrastrukturu, pro- ta antyoksydantnyi balans u m'iakykh tkanynakh parodonta za umov hostroho immobilizatsiinoho stresu [Influence of interval hypoxic training on ultrastructure, pro- and antioxidant balance in periodontal soft tissues under conditions of acute immobilization stress]. Fiziol. zhurn. 2007;53(1):33-40. (In Ukrainian).
- Nemesh O., Honta Z., Slaba O., Shylivskyi I. Pathogenetic mechanisms of comorbidity of systemic diseases and periodontal pathology. Wiadomosci Lekarskie. 2021;74(5):1262-1267. doi: 10.36740/WLek202105140.
- 40. Kirjachkov Ju.Ju., Glazov A.Ju. Funkcional'noe sostojanie vegetativnoj nervnoj sistemy i kislorodnyj gomeostaz polosti rta pri hronicheskom generalizovannom parodontite [Functional state of the autonomic nervous system and oxygen homeostasis of the oral cavity in chronic generalized periodontitis. Klinicheskaja stomatologija. 2010;4:14-17. (In Russian).

ORCID and contributionship:

Taras I. Pupin: 000-0002-6633-4020 ^{A,F} Zoriana M. Honta:0000-0001-9180-823X ^{A,D} Ihor V. Shylivskyy: 0000-0001-8544-1398 ^B Oksana M. Nemesh: 0000-0002-1768-8281 ^{B,D} Khrystyna B. Burda: 0000-0002-1454-3079 ^{B,F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Zoriana M. Honta Danylo Halytsky Lviv National Medical University 69 Pekarska st., 79010 Lviv, Ukraine tel: +380505905747 e-mail: zoryanagonta@gmail.com

Received: 25.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis, D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article

CURRENT APPROACHES TO DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF HIRSCHSPRUNG DISEASE IN NEWBORNS AND INFANTS (LITERATURE REVIEW AND FIRST-HAND EXPERIENCE)

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420120

Olga M. Gorbatyuk

SHUPYK NATIONAL HEALTHCARE UNIVERSITY OF UKRAINE, KYIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The aim: To analyze the current state of the issue of Hirschsprung disease in newborns and infants on the basis of literature data and first-hand experience. Conclusions: 1. Hirschsprung disease should be suspected in all newborns with late meconium passage. 2. The main methods of diagnosing Hirschsprung disease in newborns and infants are the assessment of anamnestic data, clinical manifestations and features of the clinical course of the pathology, contrast enema, morphological examination of rectal biopsies and immunohistochemistry for ACE. 3. The presence of enterocolitis in newborns and infants should raise suspicion of Hirschsprung disease. 4. Low intestinal obstruction, perforation of the cecum, ascending or terminal small intestine, and peritonitis in the first days of a child's life may be complications of Hirschsprung disease. 5. In newborns and infants, early diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease and timely surgical correction by one-stage surgery help improve treatment outcomes

KEY WORDS: Hirschsprung disease, newborns, diagnosis, transanal endorectal pull-through

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1026-1030

INTRODUCTION

Hirschsprung disease in newborns and infants is a complex problem of modern pediatric surgery. The improvement in the treatment of children with Hirschsprung disease in the last decade has been due to advances in understanding the etiology and pathogenesis of the disease, improving diagnostic methods and developing surgical methods of correction. Increased awareness of Hirschsprung disease and improved diagnosis have significantly reduced the age of detecting Hirschsprung disease in recent times, but there are often cases of late diagnosis of the disease in newborns. Thus, the issue of early diagnosis of this pathology and timely treatment of newborns and infants remains relevant today [1-3].

It is the late diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease in newborns that has necessitated a more in-depth study of this issue.

THE AIM

The aim is to analyze the current state of the issue of Hirschsprung disease in newborns and infants on the basis of literature data and first-hand experience.

REVIEW AND DISCUSSION

CURRENT VIEWS OF THE ETIOPATHOGENESIS OF HIRSCHSPRUNG DISEASE IN NEWBORNS A review of the literature indicates that the issues of etiology and pathogenesis of Hirschsprung disease are no longer considered controversial. The etiology of Hirschsprung disease is represented by cellular and molecular abnormalities in the enteric nervous system development and disorders of crest-derived cells migration to the intestinal tract. Neuroblasts first appear in the esophagus after the 5th week of gestation. These cells migrate in a craniocaudal direction into the intestine between 5 and 12 weeks of gestation. The form of Hirschsprung disease depends on the time and place of migrating neuroblast stop. An early delay in cell migration leads to an extensive aganglionosis [4, 5]. The pathogenesis of Hirschsprung disease is based on the obstruction of the narrow part of the large intestine, where peristaltic waves are not formed due to the absence of parasympathetic ganglion cells. Aganglionosis, cholinergic hyperinnervation, failure of nerve supply by nitric oxide synthase, disruption of interstitial cells of Cajal are all involved in the pathogenesis of Hirschsprung disease [4, 6]. There are many factors contributing to the development of Hirschsprung disease. These include extracellular matrix component damage, neurotrophic disorders, molecular damage to nerve cells, etc. [7]. Hirschsprung disease is a neurocristopathy, a tissue developmental anomaly due to defective migration of neural crest cells [5].

An increased risk of children being born with Hirschsprung disease among relatives of patients with this disease, association of Hirschsprung disease with other congenital anomalies (heart, central nervous system, genitourinary system), syndromes and chromosomal disorders (Waardenburg-Shah syndrome, Bardet-Biedl syndrome, Mowat-Wilson syndrome, Down syndrome) prove the presence of genetic factors in the etiopathogenesis of



Fig 1. Characteristic appearance of a newborn suspected of having Hirschsprung disease.



Fig 2. Toxic dilatation of the colon in Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis in a newborn child.

the disease. We have the clinical case of the boy T. with Hirschsprung disease, whose mother had an operation for a similar disease in her childhood. Today it is known that mutations in 10 genes are associated with Hirschsprung disease, among which the RET protooncogene, the glial cell line-derived neutrophilic factor (GDNF) gene, the neurturin (NRTN) gene, the endothelin receptor type B (EDNRB) gene, and the endothelin 3 (EDN3) gene are the most studied [8, 9, 10]. The increased risk of children being born with Hirschsprung disease among relatives of patients with this disease, association of Hirschsprung disease with other congenital malformations, syndromes and chromosomal abnormalities prove the presence of genetic factors in the pathogenesis of the disease.

CLINICAL FINDINGS

Hirschsprung disease in newborns is manifested by signs of low intestinal obstruction due to the presence of aganglionic segment of varying length of the distal colon: failure to pass meconium for 48 hours after birth, progressive bloating, vomiting bile, restlessness, enteral nutrition disorders, etc. [11]. Most newborns with Hirschsprung disease are usually full-term babies with delayed passage of meconium (more than 24 - 48 hours of life). The complicated course of Hirschsprung disease in newborns is manifested by enterocolitis and/or cecal perforation and peritonitis. Hirschsprung disease is often accompanied by loose stools, the presence of which indicates enterocolitis, which is the most common cause of mortality. The appearance of a newborn with Hirschsprung disease is shown in Figure 1.

Enterocolitis in Hirschsprung disease in newborns is a severe complication that can develop in the pre- and postoperative period. Approximately 5-42% of infants with Hirschsprung disease develop enterocolitis [12]. It is manifested by symptoms of fever, colic-like abdominal pain, intoxication, bloating, diarrhea, sometimes with blood. Despite numerous studies, there is still no complete understanding of the etiology of enterocolitis. There are the following theories in this regard:

- 1. Proximal colon distention, which leads to intestinal stasis, and even greater distention in dynamics, mucosal ischemia and bacterial invasion. However, this theory does not explain the occurrence of enterocolitis in the distal from stoma part of the intestine, or the histological finding of enterocolitis even in the aganglionic segment
- 2. Long-segment aganglionosis, which is common in newborns and characterized by a more pronounced proximal obstruction with greater pressure, increasing bacterial stasis and proximal distention. However, numerous studies indicate a correlation between aganglionic segment length and the prevalence of enterocolitis
- 3. Mucin production is significantly reduced in newborns, which leads to the intestinal mucosal barrier damage and bacterial translocation
- 4. Reduced production of secretory immunoglobulin A, which provides an immunological barrier in the gastrointestinal tract of the child, resistance to bacteria and eliminates bacterial translocation, that is, immature mucosal immunity in newborns
- 5. An increase in the number and activity of macrophages during inflammation of the intestinal wall leads to disruption of the interstitial cells of Cajal responsible for the rhythmic contractions of the intestinal peristaltic activity.

DIAGNOSIS

The diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease is based on X-ray examination of the colon, biopsy of the mucosa and submucosa of the rectum and colon, where aganglionosis, hypertrophied nerve fibers and hyperproduction of acetylcholinesterase (ACE) are detected. Microbiological study reveals Clostridium difficile in most cases [13]. Differential diagnostic search is performed with congenital



Fig. 3. Contrast enema radiograph in a newborn with Hirschsprung disease. Note the narrowed aganglionic segment -1, transition zone -2, and suprastenotic dilatation of the colon -3.

malformations of the small intestine (atresia, malrotation, meconium ileus), congenital malformations of the colon (rectal malformations, small left colon syndrome), hypothyroidism, sepsis, metabolic disorders, etc.

Extensive intestinal pneumatosis, dilatation of the colon can be seen on the plain radiograph of a newborn child with Hirschsprung disease. In case of evident enterocolitis, the signs of toxic dilatation of the colon can be found (Figure 2). Complicated Hirschsprung disease can be characterized by signs of low intestinal obstruction or intestinal perforation with free gas in the abdominal cavity [14, 15].

The signs of Hirschsprung disease during contrast enema are pathological narrowing of the distal colon, funnel-shaped transition zone and distention of the proximal colon (Figure 3). In some newborns (approximately 10%), funnel-shaped transition zone and proximal colonic distention may be indistinct. By 1 month of age, the risk of false-positive and false-negative results increases almost 3 times [1, 11]. Contrast enema in newborns is performed using water-soluble contrast at a dilution of 1:3 in the volume of 20 ml/kg. Excess contrast use should be avoided. The anterior and lateral X-ray films should be necessarily taken when filling the intestine and after defecation. The contrast material should be injected into the large intestine in small portions to gradually fill all its segments. The intestine is examined in different projections. The aganglionic segment is more easily seen in the lateral projection.

Contrast enema is a highly informative method of diagnosing Hirschsprung disease in newborns. It is important not to perform colon lavage and digital rectal examination before contrast enema, as this may contribute to radiographic distortion and give false-negative data [William J.Cochran. MSD Manual. 2019. Professional Edition].

It is important to note that full-thickness biopsy in newborns is technically sophisticated to perform, while



Fig. 4. Rectal mucosal biopsy sample shows the presence of numerous nerve fibers between crypts with high ACE activity, forming a dense network in some places. In the proper and muscular mucous plates there is also a dense network of thickened brightly colored tortuous cholinergic nerve fibers. Ganglia are absent.

rectal mucosal biopsy is a technically simple procedure. In addition, the absence of aganglionic cells in the distal section of the anal canal is a normal variant, thus a biopsy in newborns is performed 1 cm above the dentate line.

A classical morphological examination reveals the absence of ganglion cells in the nerve plexuses of the intermuscular and submucosal layers of the rectum when stained with hematoxylin-eosin.

Histochemical analysis of rectal mucosal biopsy reveals the presence of acetylene-positive hypertrophied nerve fibers, which confirms Hirschsprung disease (Fig. 3). Histochemical reaction to ACE for the diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease in newborns has a sensitivity of 91%, specificity of 100%, false-negative result is observed in 8% of cases.

Newborns, especially premature and not fully developed ones, can have reduced number of nerve fibers in the intestinal wall even in Hirschsprung disease, so a decrease in the level of ACE – positive fibers in newborns can lead to a false-negative result. However, despite these limitations, rectal biopsy is more sensitive and specific than contrast enema and anorectal manometry combined.

TREATMENT

Confirmation of the diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease is an indication for surgical treatment. Success in anesthesiology and resuscitation of newborns, successful developmental care have made it possible for pediatric surgeons to perform one-stage correction of Hirschsprung disease in an uncomplicated form of the disease and the absence of total aganglionosis. This involves pulling through the aganglionic segment, performing transanal resection and colorectal anastomosis, that is de la Torre procedure, which is today considered the gold standard in the surgical treat-



Fig. 5. Transanal mobilization of the rectum in Hirschsprung disease.



Fig. 6. Transrectal mobilization of the gut for resection.

ment of newborns and infants with Hirschsprung disease [16-18]. The main stages of the de la Torre procedure are presented in Figures 5, 6, 7.

Most medical institutions and centers today perform pull-through radical operation in the neonatal period with good results and a minimum number of complications. Since in newborns it is possible to quickly cope with the dilation of the colon by washing it, then during the operation the diameter of the pulled-through colon is almost normal, which makes it possible to apply an optimal anastomosis and promotes healing without dehiscence and infection. The main contraindications to primary transanal pull-through in newborns are the following:

- severe congenital anomalies;
- severe enterocolitis;
- severe dilatation of the proximal colon;

- serious general medical condition of a child, Radical one-stage surgical treatment of Hirschsprung disease by de la Torre in newborns and infants is becoming

more widespread and improves the results of treatment. The postoperative period in newborns and infants is mostly without complications, provided that appropriate surgical approach is adhered.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Hirschsprung disease should be suspected in all newborns with late meconium passage.
- 2. The main methods of diagnosing Hirschsprung disease in newborns and infants are the assessment of



Fig. 7. Direct colorectal anastomosis after transendorectal pull-through and colon resection in Hirschsprung disease.

anamnestic data, clinical manifestations and features of the clinical course of the pathology, contrast enema, morphological examination of rectal biopsies and immunohistochemistry for ACE.

- 3. The presence of enterocolitis in newborns and infants should raise suspicion of Hirschsprung disease.
- 4. Low intestinal obstruction, perforation of the cecum, ascending or terminal small intestine, and peritonitis in the first days of a child's life may be complications of Hirschsprung disease.
- 5. In newborns and infants, early diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease and timely surgical correction by one-stage surgery help improve treatment outcomes.

Directions for future research: immunohistochemical study of calretinin (calretinin is negative in Hirschsprung disease) and on the detection of nerve fibers containing nitric oxide (no nitric oxide in the aganglionic zone).

REFERENCES

- 1. Holschneider A.M., Puri P. et al. Hirschsprung's disease and Allied Disorders. 3rd. ed. New York, NY: Springer. 2008, 414p.
- 2. Bradnock T.J., Walker G.M. Evoluation in the management of Hirschsprung's disease in the UK and Ireland: a national survey of practice revisited. Ann R. Coll Surg. Engl. 2011; 93(1): 8-34.
- 3. Govoruhina O.A. Diagnostika i lechenie bolezni Girshprunga u detei na sovremennom etape [Diagnostics and treatment of Hirschsprung disease in children at the present time]. Novosti hirurgii [Surgery News]. 2017; 25(5): 510 – 517. (In Russian).
- 4. Gariepy C.E. Intestinal motility disorders and development of the enteric nervous system. Pediatr Res. 2001; 49(5): 605.

- 5. Butler Tjaden N.E., Trainor R.A. A development etiology and pathogenesis of Hirschsprung disease. Transl. Res. 2013; 13: 71 76.
- 6. Tam P.K., Garcia-Barcelo M. Molecular genetics of Hirschsprung's disease. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2004; 13 (4): 236.
- 7. Swenson O. Hirschsprung's disease: a review. Pediatrics. 2002; 109(5):914.
- Orphanet: Hirschsprung disease. 2021. https://www.orphan.net/consor/ cgi-bin/OC_Exp.php?Lng=GB & Expert=389. [date access 14.01.2021]
- 9. Amiel J., Sproat-Emison E., Garcia-Barcelo M. et al. Hirschsprung disease Consortium. Hirschsprung disease, associated syndromes and genetics: a review. J. Med.Genet. 2008; 45(1): 1 – 14.
- 10. Kim J.H., Yoon K.O., Kim J.K. et al. Novel mutations of RET gene in Korean patients with sporadic Hirschsprung's disease. J. Pediatr. Surg. 2006; 41(7): 1250.
- 11. Dasgupta R., Langer J.C. Hirschsprung disease. Curr Probl Surg. 2004; 41(12): 942.
- 12. Demehri F.R. Hirschsprung- associated enterocolitis: pathogenesis, treatment and prevention. Ped. Surg. Int. 2013;29(9): 873 881.
- 13. Yan Z., Poroyko V., Gu S. et al. Characterization of the intestinal microbiome of Hirschsprung's disease with and without enterocolitis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014; 445(2): 269.
- 14. Diamond I.R., Casadiego G., Traubici J. et al. The contrast enema for Hirschsprung disease: predictors of a false-positive result. J. Pediatr. Surg. 2007;42(5):792-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2006.12.031.
- 15. Diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease: a prospective, comparative accuracy study of common tests. J. Pediatr. 2005; 146(6): 787.
- 16. Spitz L., Coran A.G. et al. Operative Pediatric Surgery. 6th ed. London: Hodder Arnold. 2007, 1060p.

- Nasr A., Langer J.C. Evoluation of the technique in the transanal pullthrough of Hirschsprung's disease: effect of outcome. J.Pediatr.Surg. 2007; 42(1): 9-36.
- Somme S., Langer J.C. Primary versus staged pull-through for the treatment of Hirschsprung disease. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2004; 13(4): 249.
- 19. Puri P., Golvart M. Atlas detskoi operativnoi hirurgii [Atlas of Pediatric Operative Surgery]. M.: MEDpress-inform. 2009, 304p.

ORCID and contributionship:

Olga M. Gorbatyuk: 0000-0003-3970-8797 A,B,D-F

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR Olga M. Gorbatyuk

Shupyk National Healthcare University of Ukraine 9 Dorogoshitska st., 04112 Kyiv, Ukraine tel: +380503820641 e-mail: ol.gorbatyuk@gmail.com

Received: 23.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

A -Work concept and design, B - Data collection and analysis, C - Responsibility for statistical analysis,

 \mathbf{D} – Writing the article, \mathbf{E} – Critical review, \mathbf{F} – Final approval of the article



REVIEW ARTICLE

IMPLEMENTATION OF ENHANCED RECOVERY AFTER SURGERY PROTOCOL FOR METABOLIC SURGERY PATIENTS (LITERATURE REVIEW)

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420121

Viktoriia V. Yevsieieva¹, Ivan M. Todurov^{1,2}, Olexandr V. Perekhrestenko², Sergiy V. Kosiukhno³

SCIENTIFIC DEPARTMENT OF ANESTHESIOLOGY AND INTENSIVE CARE, STATE SCIENTIFIC INSTITUTION CENTER FOR INNOVATIVE MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF UKRAINE, KYIV, UKRAINE

²DEPARTMENT OF ENDOCRINE AND METABOLIC SURGERY, STATE SCIENTIFIC INSTITUTION CENTER FOR INNOVATIVE MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF UKRAINE, KYIV, UKRAINE

³DEPARTMENT OF MINIMALLY INVASIVE SURGERY, STATE SCIENTIFIC INSTITUTION CENTER FOR INNOVATIVE MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF UKRAINE, KYIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The article reviews the literature highlighting modern views on the issues of postoperative rehabilitation of patients after metabolic surgical interventions. The concept of accelerated postoperative recovery of patients is presented as a single integral system of principles, means and methods of multidisciplinary work in the perioperative period aimed at reducing the time of hospitalization of patients and reducing the financial costs of the healthcare system. The separate components of the protocol of accelerated postoperative recovery from the standpoint of evidence-based medicine are analyzed, an emphasis is made on its specificity in metabolic surgery. The key role of laparoscopic access at the present stage of development of metabolic surgery is emphasized. Specific risk factors have been identified in patients with obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome, which can affect the effectiveness and safety of surgical treatment, especially in conditions of early discharge from the hospital. Attention is focused on the extremely important, but still controversial positions of the protocol, requiring further research to form a better evidence base and clear practical recommendations. The promising directions of scientific research for improving both the system of accelerated postoperative recovery as a whole and its individual elements are demonstrated. Electronic databases of Scopus and PubMed were searched using keyword searches. The analysis of the literature has shown the feasibility of introducing, systemic use and further improvement of the protocol for accelerated postoperative recovery in metabolic surgery.

KEY WORDS: metabolic surgery, enhanced recovery after surgery

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1031-1038

INTRODUCTION

According to the WHO data, in 2016 the number of overweight adults in the world exceeded 1.9 bln persons (39% of population of our planet aged over 18), among whom 650 mln (13%) were suffering from obesity. The above statistical data coupled with catastrophic dynamics of this illness spread allowed the professionals to characterise the problem of overweight as a "non-infectious pandemic" of today's world [1].

The proven overall negative medical and social effects of obesity and related numerous illnesses and metabolic disorders (primarily cardiovascular pathologies and type 2 diabetes) [1,2] became a powerful impetus to develop new approaches to metabolic syndrome treatment.

One of the most effective modern methods of treatment of such patients is metabolic surgery. Metabolic surgery is a group of surgical procedures performed on gastrointestinal tract organs in order to change topographic anatomy thereof, digestion processes physiology and impacting incretin condition of gaster and intestines and allowing weight loss, correction of diseases collateral to obesity and metabolism disorders. At the same time, one of the main "target areas" of the above surgery became treatment of type 2 diabetes [3].

Over the last decade, metabolic surgery continued to demonstrate rapid and consistent evolution, where an important role had implementation of laparoscopic access to Enhanced Recovery After Surgery protocol (ERAS), among other achievements [4]. Development of ERAS became a logical result of fast-track surgery concept evolution proposed by Kehlet et al. in the 90s of the last century and used for colorectal surgery. Intensive research proving effectiveness (including cost-effectiveness) and safety of the above approach led to quite expeditious implementation of ERAS in practically all surgery areas [5].

According to the definition, ERAS (Enhanced Recovery After Surgery) is a multimodal integrated patient management system aimed at reducing postoperative stress, accelerating physical and psychological recovery, reducing financial burden on national healthcare systems, primarily by reducing the time of patients' stay in hospitals [6].

ERAS consist of separate elements (principles, means and methods of multidisciplinary management of patients during preoperative, intraoperative and postoperative periods), which due to their synergy ensure achieving the above goals. It is also worth noting that ERAS system is implemented according to the "all or nothing" principle, which means that it's proper functioning is possible only when implementing in practice all of its elements without any exceptions. First general recommendations on the use of ERAS in metabolic surgery, which were published in 2016 [6], are undoubtedly require close analysis mostly due to the specific nature of patients and goals of the metabolic surgery.

THE AIM

The aim of this study was to analyse the literature data highlighting modern views on the issues of postoperative rehabilitation of patients after metabolic surgical interventions.

REVIEW AND DISCUSSION

PREOPERATIVE PERIOD

INFORMATION, EDUCATIONAL AND CONSULTATIVE WORK WITH A PATIENT.

The main goal of preoperative period in ERAS system is comprehensive preparation of the patient for the surgery. The objective is to correct not only physical, but also mental condition of the patient via consultation and awareness-raising work with the patient, which is advisable to be commenced 2-3 months before surgery [5]. Such "early commencement" of information and educational support of potential candidates for surgical treatment is, on the one hand, explained by a broad range of issues, requiring to be addressed, and on the other hand, by mental particulars of patients most evident in type 2 diabetes patients. Such patients very often demonstrate cognitive disorders, poor attention and memory [7], anxiety at the stage of waiting for the surgery, which leads to the fact that they absorb only 10% of information provided by the doctor during a single consultation. Therefore, in view of the above, it seems logical to organise a series of consultations with repeated addressing of important issues whenever necessary.

During the preoperative period, a patient should receive comprehensive information on contemporary metabolic surgery procedures and on specific surgery planned to be conducted. A particular emphasis should be placed on the high level of safety of modern metabolic surgery, particulars of anaesthetic support, absence in most cases of the need for prolonged stay in a hospital, the possibility of solving most issues remotely with a 24/7 support by calling a designated contact telephone number, and the rules of conduct at home [8].

The expected positive effect of the surgery without omitting any possible complications and adverse effects of the surgery should be explained to the patient in details. There should be also further detailed discussion on the success factors of the surgery, realisation of which in many aspects relies on the actions of the patient, such as diet correction, particulars of postoperative monitoring, change of lifestyle, possible drug support for avoiding postoperative deficiency conditions [9].

At present, due to the lack of randomised clinical research, the positive impact of the above information and awareness-raising work with the patient on the rate of complications, duration of stay in a hospital, anxiety levels and mental discomfort, cannot be deemed proven. However, it can be stated with certainty that in the process of such interaction, preconditions for assessment and correction of patient's compliance, if necessary, are created. This is due to the fact, that many elements of ERAS at the preoperative stage that are aimed at improving patient's physical condition, concurrent diseases and prevention of perioperative complications, require specific actions to be taken by the patient on their own. Strive to follow all doctor's recommendations demonstrated by taking specific actions is the most evident proof of patient's readiness to work towards achieving the planned result [10].

PREOPERATIVE DIET AND WEIGHT LOSS.

Recommendations on weight loss as an element of metabolic surgery preparation seem logical due to several reasons. In particular, preoperative weight loss allows broadening the range of physical activity of the patient and the possibility to improve functional reserves of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems respectively [11]. Decrease of visceral fat in the abdominal cavity and size of the left part of liver facilitates visualisation of the operating field and the use of laparoscopic surgery technique [12]. Preoperative decrease of the body mass index and creation of potentially conducive conditions for the decrease of the surgery duration may be perceived to a certain extent both as prevention of rhabdomyolysis syndrome and venous thromboembolism [12].

The key instrument in excess weight loss is the low-calorie and very low-calorie diet with limiting daily energy value of meals up to 1,000–1,200 kcal and 800 kcal respectively and provision of energy needs of a patient by predominantly or solely with proteins for a period of 2 to 4 weeks [13]. At the same time, patients suffering from type 2 diabetes require specific attention due to increased risk of hypoglycaemia as a result of intake of standard doses of blood glucose lowering drugs [7].

In general, results of many research papers show that preoperative decrease of body mass index leads to significant decrease of the rate of early complications after the surgery and, in addition to the above, is a prognostic factor for more substantial weight loss during the following postoperative period [14].

PHYSICAL EXERCISES.

An important factor of preoperative preparation is physical exercises aimed at increasing functional reserves of the body in order to ensure quick recovery after the surgery-induced stress. Positive impact of physical exercises on the postoperative course is theoretically connected to the improvement of cardiovascular reserves (increase of systolic discharge and decrease of heart rate (HR)), improvement of endothelial function and oxygen consumption, increase of muscle mass [15].

Results of a range of randomised controlled research in the field of colorectal surgery proved a correlation between the physical exercises (4 to 8 weeks on average) and the decrease of postoperative complications, the hospital mortality, shortening the duration of inpatient treatment and physical rehabilitation of patients. At the same time, it is worth noting that in some papers the reliability of such a correlation is in fact denied [16].

The above non-homogeneity of the obtained results, lack of randomised clinical research in this area, doubts in the correctness of projection of the available data on the metabolic surgery, still do not allow reaching unambiguous conclusions on the exact impact of physical exercises on rapid postoperative recovery of such patients. It is worth pointing out among important, but still unsolved issues, insufficient structuring of training programs, the need to bring them in line with the physical capabilities of a specific patient, and organisation of professional control over the completion of the set exercises [16].

ALCOHOL AND SMOKING.

Strict recommendations regarding refraining from smoking at least 30 days prior to the surgery are based on very reliable evidence confirming significant increase of postoperative complications and mortality among smokers [17].

According to the results of numerous research papers, the negative impact of alcohol abuse (3 and more doses of 12 grams of ethanol each) on the course of postoperative period was also found, as well as improved treatment results in colorectal surgery when a patient refrained fully from alcohol consumption at least 1 month prior to the surgery. The particulars of patients and surgery procedures in the metabolic surgery requires much longer period (from 1 to 2 years) of refraining from alcohol consumption. However, confirmation or refutation of this hypothesis requires further research [18].

GLUCOCORTICOIDS.

Preoperative prescribing of glucocorticoids in the ERAS system is explained by its anti-inflammatory and antiemetic action. A number of research papers demonstrated that use thereof leads to decrease of surgical complications rate and the duration of inpatient treatment of patients. At the same time, in order to prevent postoperative nausea and vomiting, it is deemed sufficient to perform bolus injection of 2.5–5 mg of dexamethasone 90 minutes prior to administration of general anaesthesia [19]. However, according to the actual data, such doses of drugs are not enough to suppress the systemic inflammatory response syndrome after surgery. At the same time, use of 8–10 mg

of dexamethasone leads to significantly increased risk of hypoglycaemia and, as a result, infectious postoperative complications. Contra-insular effects of glucocorticoids are especially important to consider in respect of type 2 diabetes patients and substantiate the need of systematic monitoring of proper correction of hypoglycaemia level for such patients during the perioperative period [20]. In general, the particulars of patients in metabolic surgery call for the need to conduct further research aimed at performing objective assessment of the risks and benefits of preoperative administration of glucocorticoids.

CARBOHYDRATES LOAD.

Utilisation of carbohydrates load method consisting in consumption of 200–300 ml of isosmolar sweet drinks 2-3 hours prior to the surgery is aimed at reducing the phenomenon of postoperative insulin resistance and protein loss. According to the results of a number of meta-analyses, such approach allows reducing the duration of stay in a hospital after "large-scale" abdominal surgeries [21].

In addition, the need and potential risks of carbohydrates load used for type 2 diabetes patients is of particular interest. A series of conducted research proved that the above patients demonstrated the same time of gastric emptying as patients without diabetes and without the increase of the aspiration complications rate. However, postprandial peak levels of glycaemia among type 2 diabetes patients were significantly higher, and the time of glucose levels regression to the initial levels was longer (up to 180 minutes) than demonstrated by patients without carbohydrate metabolism disorders [22].

The above issues also require further study, in particular in respect of impact of the carbohydrates load on the rate of postoperative complications among patients suffering from diabetes – in particular among patients suffering from gastrointestinal forms of diabetic autonomic neuropathy, who may have significantly longer time of gastric emptying [23].

PREOPERATIVE FASTING.

Approaches to patient food intake immediately prior to the surgery in the context of ERAS are becoming more liberal. Data of actual research demonstrate that food intake 6 hours and 300 ml of liquid 2 hours prior to the administration of anaesthesia does not increase the gastric volume and does not significantly affects the acidity of the residual gastric content in comparison with patients who fasted throughout the night prior to the surgery [21]. Identical data were obtained also from baseline studies when comparing sub-populations of type 2 diabetes patients (including those with gastrointestinal neuropathy) and patients without diabetes. Therefore, the hypothesis on the increased risk of aspiration complications occurrence due to liberalisation of food intake regime prior to the surgery, is now considered to be effectively refuted.

However, contemporary original literature sources still indicate the need to conduct further research, especially in respect of diabetes patients in order to form recommendations with higher level of evidence reliability [24].

INTRAOPERATIVE PERIOD

LAPAROSCOPIC SURGERY

Prioritisation of laparoscopic access in bariatric/metabolic surgery is now deemed to be a proven fact and is explained by lower rate of postoperative complications, reduced duration of stay in a hospital and recovery period, significantly lower levels of postoperative pains and better cosmetic effect in comparison with "open" surgeries. Discussion on potential advantages of "open" surgery related to the possibility of tactile dissection and more unobstructed performance of supporting procedures, was essentially closed in the beginning of the XXI century. Since 2011 and till now, almost 100% of metabolic surgeries in the world are performed laparoscopically. Possible problems at the stage of mastering the techniques, especially in respect of patients with morbid super-obesity, can be eliminated very quickly by gaining experience. Significant impact of carboxypneumoperitoneum on the duration of postoperative recovery also was not proven [25].

At present, minimally invasive surgery techniques actually became central and key element of ERAS, which allow realising its main principles to the fullest extent [25].

NASOGASTRIC INTUBATION

Routine use of nasogastric tubes in order to prevent failure of gaster sutures and gastroenteric anastomosis, postoperative gastrostasis, enteroparesis, was deemed to be quite appropriate until recently. However, according to the results of the latest research that included also bariatric patient population, placing nasogastric tube does not lead to a decrease in the rate of the above complications, does not significantly affect the duration of recovery of active vermicular movement and passage, and does not reduce the period of patients' stay in a hospital. Moreover, according to some authors, use of gastric tubes during a postoperative period facilitates nausea occurrence rate, increased rate of bronchopulmonary and intra-abdominal complications [26].

Therefore, at present the optimal approach in ERAS system is the utilisation of gastric tubes when needed, predominantly only in an intraoperative manner with following removal thereof immediately after the completion of the surgery [26].

ABDOMINAL DRAINAGE

The practice of routine (mandatory, preventive) abdominal drainage, which was traditionally based on the need of early diagnostics of intraabdominal complications (primarily failure of stapler sutures line or anastomosis and postoperative bleeding), now is reasonably questioned [27]. A number of authors demonstrated that routine use of drainage in meta-

bolic surgery not only does not decrease, but on the contrary increases the rate of the above complications, repeated surgery and hospitalisations, creates preconditions for occurrence of inflammatory processes in the abdominal area [27] while not affecting significantly the rate of early infection occurrence. At the same time, absence of pathological discharge through the drainage from the abdominal cavity cannot reliably eliminate the possibility of postoperative complications.

Even though the level and quality of evidence still do not allow reaching unambiguous conclusions on the expedience of preventive drainage of patient abdominal cavity after metabolic surgeries, at present there is a quite high possibility of the fact that approaches to drainage will become more selective and indications for use thereof will be significantly limited [28].

STANDARDISATION OF ANAESTHETIC PROTOCOL

Comprehensive use of ERAS is possible only if certain standardised principles of anaesthetic management of a patient throughout the surgery are complied with. At present, the key principles include positioning of a patient on the operating table with elevation of the upper body (reverse Trendelenburg position or "beach chair position"), which, especially in the event of pneumoperitoneum, improves breathing biomechanics, allows avoiding using opioids of prolonged effect, which in turn allows avoiding adverse effects associated with the use thereof (including the so-called "opioid paradox" and drug addiction), adherence to the strategy of restrictive targeted infusion therapy in order to safeguard the patient from hypervolemia [29]. No less important is also the infiltration of trocar puncture sites of the abdominal wall with local anaesthetics and using the regional anaesthesia methods (in particular, TAP- and RS-blocks), prevention of intraoperative hypothermia (including heating of carbon dioxide for pneumoperitoneum), controlling the depth of anaesthesia via conducting Bispectral index monitoring [30].

At the same time, in respect of options for the regional anaesthesia, it is worth note the following. Even though according to the ERAS, the most optimal procedure for performing "open" abdominal surgeries is still deemed to be thoracic epidural analgesia, the use of this method in the metabolic surgery is significantly limited due to quite high rate of complications caused as a result thereof. At the same time, findings of a number of scientific papers allow us to conclude that while using laparoscopic access, the safe and efficient alternative to the above anaesthesia option is the use of multilevel afferent blocks of the abdominal wall, which can be performed under ultrasound or laparoscopic control. The data obtained require further confirmation in randomised clinical research [31, 32].

POSTOPERATIVE PERIOD

EARLY PATIENT ACTIVATION AND THROMBOPROPHYLAXIS.

In view of the rapid increase in the number of metabolic surgeries performed annually around the globe, it can be said that even considering low overall level of mortality, the number of deaths in contemporary metabolic surgery makes tens of thousands of cases [33]. Among those deaths, over 50% are due to thromboembolic complications. Taking into account the fact that ERAS provides for shortening the duration of stay in a hospital, the majority of venous thromboembolic episodes currently occur at the ambulatory stage, most often during the first month after the surgery [33]. Therefore, the issue of thromboprophylaxis in the metabolic surgery undoubtedly remains pertinent.

It is worth noting that for patients suffering from obesity and metabolic syndrome, a characteristic pathogenetic feature is a prothrombotic state. This dictates the need for in-depth assessment of patients prior to the surgery and individual assessment of venous thromboembolic episodes occurrence risks. The optimal strategy is aimed at prevention of the above complications among those patients and at present comes to the combination of mechanical compression (compression stockings/socks or intermittent pneumatic compression of the lower extremities) and using drugs for prevention of such episodes during implementation of ERSA protocols (laparoscopic surgery and patient early activation within 4-6 hours after the surgery). Preventive use of cava filters did not prove decrease in the venous thromboembolic episodes rate among obese patients and therefore is considered impractical at present [34].

In-depth study of pharmacological prevention of thromboembolic complications has proven the advantage of low molecular weight heparin drugs (the most studied among those drugs is deemed to be enoxaparin) over the use of unfractionated heparin. According to the current recommendations, drug-based prevention of venous thromboembolic episodes for obese patients is advisable to commence 12–36 hours prior to the surgery with the first postoperative administration of enoxaparin not earlier than 6 hours after the surgery and maintaining the administration intervals of 12 hours (twice a day). A single subcutaneous dose of the drug in metabolic surgery is 3,000–4,000 anti-Xa IU for patients within the VTE lowrisk group, and 4,000–6,000 anti-Xa IU for patients within the VTE high-risk group [35].

The issue of using low molecular weight heparin drugs is still subject to discussion. Advocates of prolonged thromboprophylaxis (up to 28 days of postoperative period) substantiate their position by significant (from 0.3 to 2.2%) increase of venous thromboembolic episodes rate during the period from 7 to 30 day after the surgery [33].

At the same time, recent research papers do not show the increased rate of the above complications when using so-called "restrictive" prevention strategy utilising low molecular weight heparin drugs only during the hospital stage (1-3 days) when utilising comprehensive ERAS principles. Among those principles, the biggest role has laparoscopic access, reducing the duration of the surgery and patient early activation (within 4-6 hours after the surgery) [4].

European recommendations of perioperative prevention of venous thromboembolic episodes when performing surgery on obese patients state that optimal duration of administration of low molecular weight heparin drugs for the majority of patients, with due regard of the above contradictions, is 10–15 days [34].

Prospects of solving the above problem may be related to individualisation of the thromboprophylaxis programme, which is based on achieving anti-factor Xa target preventive levels for each specific patient and utilisation of Xa factor selective inhibitors [35].

MULTIMODAL ANALGESIA

Multimodal analgesia within the ERAS system provides for utilisation of a combination of simultaneous systemic and regional mechanisms for pain management, synergistic interaction between which leads to significant increase of analgesic effect and allows administering lower doses of each of the pharmacological agents compared to other modes of analgesia.

Such approach, which is based on different-level (peripheral and central) effect on forming and transmission of pain impulse, allows reducing the risks of side effects of each specific drug and minimising or avoiding at all administration of opioid analgesics [36]. An important factor in ERAS system is objective assessment of the pain syndrome acuity using contemporary graded scales for assessment thereof, since being guided solely by patient's subjective sensation leads in most cases to underestimation of the pain and essentially makes it impossible to implement an important *pre-emptive* principle (proactive analgesia) [36].

Basic analgesia during early postoperative period according to the multimodal analgesia protocol is achieved via a combination of paracetamol (daily dose of up to 4 g/day) and one of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (selective or non-selective) [37]. No less important for ensuring "pain comfort" after the surgery are the above-mentioned regional afferent blocks of the abdominal wall [31]. When analgesia level is insufficient, it is appropriate to use opioids for pain relief (the so-called "rescue analgesia"). At the same time, the decision to use opioid analgesics in the metabolic surgery must be carefully weighed with due regard for its suppressive effect on the respiratory centre (especially for patients with obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome. It is advisable to move as early as possible from parenteral to oral administration of analgesics in order to decrease the rate of catheter-caused or infectious complications [36].

PREVENTION OF POSTOPERATIVE NAUSEA/VOMITING

Postoperative nausea is a significant problem in the metabolic surgery affecting, according to the data of various authors, 18–82% of patients and quite often is the cause of repeated hospitalisation or postponement of discharge from a hospital [38]. Current research and practical recommendations developed based on thereof, are focused on multimodal approach to prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting using a combination of antiemetic drugs based on assessment of risk factors for each specific patient [39]. The above strategy provides for prioritised use of propofol for induction and maintenance of anaesthesia, minimisation of opioids utilisation (including implementation of non-opioid protocol) during and after the surgery, restrictive option of infusion therapy [39]. Randomised clinical research conducted in the recent years on the use of antiemetic drugs evidence significant advantages of preventive use of haloperidol/dexamethasone/ondansetron combination in comparison with combination of only two drugs or monotherapy [39].

It is worth noting that despite compiled systematic best practices, the problem of postoperative nausea and vomiting in the metabolic surgery remains far from the final solution and requires further study.

FOOD INTAKE DURING POSTOPERATIVE PERIOD

ERAS system in the abdominal surgery field stipulates renewal of oral food intake as soon as possible: renewal of water intake – in 2-3 hours after the end of the surgery, consumption of liquid and semi-liquid food – on the first postoperative day with a gradual concentration of food density throughout several weeks or months. According to the results of recent studies, such an approach ensures reducing the perioperative stress, the rate of postoperative complications and mortality, facilitates rapid recovery of peristaltic action of the intestinal tract, shortens the duration of inpatient treatment [40].

Even though the above principles are currently being actively implemented in the metabolic surgery, the majority of authors acknowledge that for complete understanding of the risk/benefit balance of early renewal of food intake, further conduct of randomised clinical research is necessary [4].

It is worth noting that type 2 diabetes patients require more careful attention during the food intake renewal stages, since combination of early incretin (proinsular) effects of the surgery, decrease of body weight, forced diet and food intake regime may significantly affect the carbohydrate metabolism regulation. All of the above, especially in view of administration of anti-diabetic drugs without proper correction of its dosage and treatment regimen, may lead to undesirable hypoglycaemia episodes [40]. Therefore, careful glycaemia monitoring and addition into the multidisciplinary team of an endocrinologist, are important factors of the overall success within ERAS system.

CONCLUSIONS

Implementation of modern approaches allowed for significant improvement of the results of metabolic surgeries and bringing it as close as possible to the concept of "oneday surgery". Indeed, as contemporary literature sources analysis shows, the duration of hospitalisation in modern metabolic surgery centres is within the range of 1 to 3 days, while sometimes patients are even discharged on the same day of the surgery. Such reduction of time of stay in the hospital and transition to "remote patient follow-up", on the one hand, fits perfectly the essence of the ERAS and becomes even more relevant amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, while on the other hand, puts forth even more strict requirements to the quality of hospital care services. At the same time, specific features of type 2 diabetes patients indicate the need for their separation into a specific group. This is important because the above-mentioned patients face additional inherent perioperative risks, which may, inter alia, be related to the implementation of both individual elements of ERAS and ERAS system as a whole.

REFERENCES

- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC) (2017). Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 1289 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet, 390 (10113), 2627–2642. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32129-3
- 2. GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, et al. Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(1):13-27. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1614362.
- 3. Rubino F, Nathan DM, Eckel RH, et al. Metabolic Surgery in the Treatment Algorithm for Type 2 Diabetes: A Joint Statement by International Diabetes Organizations. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(6):861-877. doi:10.2337/dc16-0236.
- Thorell A, MacCormick AD, Awad S, et al. Guidelines for Perioperative Care in Bariatric Surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Society Recommendations. World J Surg. 2016;40(9):2065-2083. doi:10.1007/ s00268-016-3492-3.
- Smith TW Jr, Wang X, Singer MA, Godellas CV, Vaince FT. Enhanced recovery after surgery: A clinical review of implementation across multiple surgical subspecialties. Am J Surg. 2020;219(3):530-534. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2019.11.009.
- 6. Ljungqvist O, Scott M, Fearon KC. Enhanced Recovery After Surgery: A Review. JAMA Surg. 2017;152(3):292-298. doi:10.1001/ jamasurg.2016.4952.
- Mallorquí-Bagué N, Lozano-Madrid M, Toledo E, et al. Type 2 diabetes and cognitive impairment in an older population with overweight or obesity and metabolic syndrome: baseline cross-sectional analysis of the PREDIMED-plus study. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):16128. Published 2018 Oct 31. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-33843-8.
- Neuberg M, Blanchet MC, Gignoux B, Frering V. Connected Surveillance for Detection of Complications After Early Discharge from Bariatric Surgery. Obes Surg. 2020;30(11):4669-4674. doi:10.1007/s11695-020-04817-5.
- 9. Roman M, Monaghan A, Serraino GF, et al. Meta-analysis of the influence of lifestyle changes for preoperative weight loss on surgical outcomes. Br J Surg. 2019;106(3):181-189. doi:10.1002/bjs.11001.
- Mahoney ST, Strassle PD, Farrell TM, Duke MC. Does Lower Level of Education and Health Literacy Affect Successful Outcomes in Bariatric Surgery? J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2019;29(8):1011-1015. doi:10.1089/lap.2018.0806.
- 11. Karimian S, Stein J, Bauer B, Teupe C. Improvement of impaired diastolic left ventricular function after diet-induced weight reduction in severe obesity. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2017;10:19-25. Published 2017 Jan 7. doi:10.2147/DMS0.S124541.
- Romeijn MM, Kolen AM, Holthuijsen DDB, et al. Effectiveness of a Low-Calorie Diet for Liver Volume Reduction Prior to Bariatric Surgery: a Systematic Review [published online ahead of print, 2020 Nov 2]. Obes Surg. 2020;10.1007/s11695-020-05070-6. doi:10.1007/s11695-020-05070-6.

- 13. Naseer F, Shabbir A, Livingstone B, Price R, Syn NL, Flannery O. The Efficacy of Energy-Restricted Diets in Achieving Preoperative Weight Loss for Bariatric Patients: a Systematic Review. Obes Surg. 2018;28(11):3678-3690. doi:10.1007/s11695-018-3451-1.
- 14. Stefura, T., Droś, J., Kacprzyk, A. et al. Influence of Preoperative Weight Loss on Outcomes of Bariatric Surgery for Patients Under the Enhanced Recovery After Surgery Protocol. OBES SURG 29, 1134–1141 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-018-03660-z.
- 15. Pouwels S, Sanches EE, Cagiltay E, Severin R, Philips SA. Perioperative Exercise Therapy in Bariatric Surgery: Improving Patient Outcomes. Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity : Targets and Therapy. 2020;13:1813-1823. DOI: 10.2147/dmso.s215157.
- Steffens D, Beckenkamp PR, Young J, Solomon M, da Silva TM, Hancock MJ. Is preoperative physical activity level of patients undergoing cancer surgery associated with postoperative outcomes? A systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(4):510–518. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2018.10.063.
- Yuce TK, Khorfan R, Soper NJ, et al. Post-Operative Complications and Readmissions Associated with Smoking Following Bariatric Surgery. J Gastrointest Surg. 2020;24(3):525-530. doi:10.1007/s11605-019-04488-3.
- Nath B, Li Y, Carroll JE, Szabo G, Tseng JF, Shah SA. Alcohol exposure as a risk factor for adverse outcomes in elective surgery. J Gastrointest Surg. 2010;14(11):1732-1741. doi:10.1007/s11605-010-1350-4.
- Gan TJ, Belani KG, Bergese S, et al. Fourth Consensus Guidelines for the Management of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting [published correction appears in Anesth Analg. 2020 Nov;131(5):e241]. Anesth Analg. 2020;131(2):411-448. doi:10.1213/ANE.000000000004833.
- Tien M, Gan TJ, Dhakal I, et al. The effect of anti-emetic doses of dexamethasone on postoperative blood glucose levels in non-diabetic and diabetic patients: a prospective randomised controlled study. Anaesthesia. 2016;71(9):1037-1043. doi:10.1111/anae.13544.
- 21. Abola RE, Gan TJ. Preoperative Fasting Guidelines: Why Are We Not Following Them?: The Time to Act Is NOW. Anesth Analg. 2017;124(4):1041-1043. doi:10.1213/ANE.000000000001964.
- 22. Talutis SD, Lee SY, Cheng D, Rosenkranz P, Alexanian SM, McAneny D. The impact of preoperative carbohydrate loading on patients with type II diabetes in an enhanced recovery after surgery protocol. Am J Surg. 2020;220(4):999-1003. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2020.03.032.
- 23. Marathe CS, Jones KL, Wu T, Rayner CK, Horowitz M. Gastrointestinal autonomic neuropathy in diabetes. Auton Neurosci. 2020;229:102718. doi:10.1016/j.autneu.2020.102718.
- 24. Simon P, Pietsch UC, Oesemann R, Dietrich A, Wrigge H. Präoperative Flüssigkeitskarenz in der bariatrischen Chirurgie [Preoperative fasting period of fluids in bariatric surgery]. Anaesthesist. 2017;66(7):500-505. doi:10.1007/s00101-017-0314-4.
- 25. Welbourn R, Hollyman M, Kinsman R, et al. Bariatric Surgery Worldwide: Baseline Demographic Description and One-Year Outcomes from the Fourth IFSO Global Registry Report 2018. Obes Surg. 2019;29(3):782-795. doi:10.1007/s11695-018-3593-1.
- 26. Visioni A, Shah R, Gabriel E, Attwood K, Kukar M, Nurkin S. Enhanced Recovery After Surgery for Noncolorectal Surgery?: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Major Abdominal Surgery. Ann Surg. 2018;267(1):57-65. doi:10.1097/SLA.00000000002267.
- 27. Seyfried S. Weiterhin keine Evidenz für Drainagen in der Bariatrie [Still no evidence for drains in bariatric surgery]. Chirurg. 2020 Aug;91(8):670-675. German. doi: 10.1007/s00104-020-01171-1.
- 28. Gray EC, Dawoud F, Janelle M, Hodge M. Drain Placement During Bariatric Surgery, Helpful or Harmful?. Am Surg. 2020;86(8):971-975. doi:10.1177/0003134820942168.

- 29. De Baerdemaeker L, Margarson M. Best anaesthetic drug strategy for morbidly obese patients. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2016;29(1):119-128. doi:10.1097/AC0.00000000000286.
- Chiang MH, Wu SC, Hsu SW, Chin JC. Bispectral Index and non-Bispectral Index anesthetic protocols on postoperative recovery outcomes. Minerva Anestesiol. 2018;84(2):216-228. doi:10.23736/ S0375-9393.17.12033-X.
- 31. Emile SH, Abdel-Razik MA, Elbahrawy K, et al. Impact of Ultrasound-Guided Transversus Abdominis Plane Block on Postoperative Pain and Early Outcome After Laparoscopic Bariatric Surgery: a Randomized Double-Blinded Controlled Trial. Obes Surg. 2019;29(5):1534-1541. doi:10.1007/s11695-019-03720-y.
- 32. Ruiz-Tovar J, Garcia A, Ferrigni C, et al. Laparoscopic-Guided Transversus Abdominis Plane (TAP) Block as Part of Multimodal Analgesia in Laparoscopic Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Within an Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Program: a Prospective Randomized Clinical Trial. Obes Surg. 2018;28(11):3374-3379. doi:10.1007/s11695-018-3376-8.
- 33. White GE, Courcoulas AP, King WC, et al. Mortality after bariatric surgery: findings from a 7-year multicenter cohort study. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2019;15(10):1755-1765. doi:10.1016/j.soard.2019.08.015.
- Venclauskas L, Maleckas A, Arcelus JI; ESA VTE Guidelines Task Force. European guidelines on perioperative venous thromboembolism prophylaxis: Surgery in the obese patient. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2018;35(2):147-153. doi:10.1097/EJA.000000000000703.
- 35. Steele KE, Canner J, Prokopowicz G, et al. The EFFORT trial: Preoperative enoxaparin versus postoperative fondaparinux for thromboprophylaxis in bariatric surgical patients: a randomized double-blind pilot trial. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2015;11(3):672-683. doi: 10.1016/j.soard.2014.10.003.
- 36. Ramirez MF, Kamdar BB, Cata JP. Optimizing Perioperative Use of Opioids: A Multimodal Approach. Curr Anesthesiol Rep. 2020;10(4):404-415. doi:10.1007/s40140-020-00413-6.
- 37. Lee Y, Yu J, Doumouras AG, et al. Intravenous Acetaminophen Versus Placebo in Post-bariatric Surgery Multimodal Pain Management: a Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Obes Surg. 2019;29(4):1420-1428. doi:10.1007/s11695-019-03732-8.
- 38. Ziemann-Gimmel P, Schumann R, English W, Morton J, Wadhwa A. Preventing Nausea and Vomiting After Bariatric Surgery: Is the Apfel Risk Prediction Score Enough to Guide Prophylaxis?. Obes Surg. 2020;30(10):4138-4140. doi:10.1007/s11695-020-04682.
- Gan TJ, Belani KG, Bergese S, et al. Fourth Consensus Guidelines for the Management of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting [published correction appears in Anesth Analg. 2020 Nov;131(5):e241]. Anesth Analg. 2020;131(2):411-448. doi:10.1213/ANE.000000000004833.
- 40. Suhl E, Anderson-Haynes SE, Mulla C, Patti ME. Medical nutrition therapy for post-bariatric hypoglycemia: practical insights. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2017;13(5):888-896. doi:10.1016/j.soard.2017.01.025.

The work has been performed within the framework of two academic research papers of the State Scientific Institution "Centre for Innovative Medical Technologies of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", namely:

1. "The role and place of laparoscopic surgery in treatment of patients suffering from metabolic syndrome in ERAS protocols", registration number: 0120U105158.

2. "Comprehensive development of innovative minimally invasive methods in surgery with utilisation in practical and training programmes", registration number: 0120U105160.

ORCID and contributionship:

Viktoriia V. Yevsieieva: 0000-0002-5812-487X^{B-D} Ivan M. Todurov: 0000-0001-6170-6056^{A,E-F} Olexandr V. Perekhrestenko: 0000-0002-8240-7095^{A-E} Sergiy V. Kosiukhno: 0000-0002-2950-9279^{B-D}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Viktoriia V. Yevsieieva

Scientific Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, State Scientific Institution Center for Innovative Medical Technologies of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine tel: +380504408286 e-mail: doc-evv@outlook.com

Received: 04.03.2021 Accepted: 21.10.2021

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

CASE STUDY: MAJOR DUODENAL PAPILLA CANCER COMPLICATED BY ACUTE PARACANCROTIC NECROTIZING PANCREATITIS

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420122

Olexii I. Dronov, Inna O. Kovalska, Andrii I. Horlach, Lyudmila V. Levchenko, Ivanna A. Shchyhel BOGOMOLETS NATIONAL MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, KYIV, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

The given paper describes a case of treating adenocarcinoma of the papilla of Vater diagnosed as the cause after an episode of acute pancreatitis. The etiology of acute pancreatitis was considered idiopathic until the onset of complaints caused by tumor growth. The volume of radical surgery has changed intraoperatively due to the detection of infected limited necrotic clusters, didn't diagnosed both laboratory and instrumentally. Pathomorphological conclusion: considering clinical data, low-grade (G3) adenocarcinoma of the major duodenal papilla, which developed from pre-existing tubular villous adenoma of the duodenum or intraampullary papillary neoplasia (IAPN). Predicting the early detection of MNPs after AP episode requires further research by improving imaging techniques, introducing new non-invasive techniques and investigating circulating biomarkers. The scope of surgery for patients with clinically significant complications of tumor growth and identified competing diagnosis at the target site should be individually decided and weighed. Infected pancreatitis in the late stages requires careful diagnosis.

KEY WORDS: pancreatitis, periampullary tumor, idiopathic pancreatitis

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1039-1042

INTRODUCTION

While the leading position in the etiology of acute pancreatitis (AP) is occupied by gallstones and alcohol, rarer causes of the disease, such as drugs, trauma, congenital features of the pancreatic duct, tumors, etc., require additional measures for achieving best clinical outcome and prevention in standard diagnosis and treatment. The frequency of detection of malignant neoplasms of the pancreas and periampullary zone (MNP) as a cause of pancreatitis according to various sources varies from 1 to 10% [1-9].

Analyzing the probable predictors of MNP development [5,6], the pathophysiology of AP development in patients with later detected MNP can be considered in two ways:

A) Already developed tumor tissue, being associated with the pancreatic duct, obstructively initiates the development of AP, with treatment and diagnosis being stopped at inflammatory changes, postponing the standard way of treatment and follow-up depending on the severity of AP. Kimura et al. [6] also reported the release of specific chemical mediators during the growth and development of tumor tissue that trigger inflammatory changes in the gland.

B) Damage to the tissue of the pancreas after the acquisition of inflammatory changes in the form of a single or recurrent episode of AP, or the development of chronic pancreatitis, which can be considered as oncogenetic changes. [10]

Peculiarities of acute pancreatitis (AP) manifestation in the presence of pancreatic tumors and anatomical structures located in the area of papilla of Vater has not been reliably studied. The main mechanism of AP is driven by tumor obstruction of the main pancreatic duct (MPD), which leads to the release of enzymes into the pancreatic tissue (PT), while Pelletie et al. argue that with slow growth of pancreatic tumors, compression of MPD does not occur, as a result, AP develops less common.

MNPs diagnosed a few months after the first episode of AP are manifested by a resectable stage of the disease. However, in some cases timely diagnosis of MNP is delayed due to initially incorrect diagnosis, which worsens survival.

AP in pancreatic cancer is more common in patients older than 40 years with no alcohol abuse and gallstones in past medical history (4). Published studies reveal an increase in the 5-year survival rate of patients with a history of pancreatic cancer and a primary episode of AP by 16-23% compared with patients without an epizode. (5) Predicting the early detection of MNPs after AP episode requires further research by improving imaging techniques, introducing new non-invasive techniques and investigating circulating biomarkers.

The given paper describes a case of treating adenocarcinoma of the papilla of Vater diagnosed as the cause after an episode of acute pancreatitis.

CASE REPORT

Female patient I, born in 1954, was hospitalized in the surgical department at the clinical base of the General Surgery Department №1, Bogomolets National Medical







Fig 2. MRHPG after temporary biliary stenting.



Fig 3. CT scan three months after radical surgery.

University, due to urgent indications with complaints of skin yellowing and sclera and fever up to 38 C with moderate pain in the epigastrium with a previous diagnosis of mechanical jaundice and cholangitis.

From the anamnesis it was known that four months ago before the patient was hospitalized for acute pancreatitis for 17 days. Following the protocol volume of examinations, alimentary, biliary and hypertriglyceride genesis of the attack was then excluded. The diagnosis was: Acute idiopathic necrotizing pancreatitis, moderate severity; acute fluid collections. Conservative pancreatotropic therapy was performed according to the protocol and dosing regimens. Due to prolonged febrile fever and elevated levels of C-reactive protein (143.6 mg / l) and procalcitonin (1.7 IU) amid sonographic dynamic monitoring, the patient received two courses of antibiotic therapy with further improvement and reduction of C-reactive protein (CRP) and procalcitonin. After the treatment the patient's condition improved without invasive intervention and the patient was discharged for outpatient treatment with a predicted formation of walled-off necrosis. CT of the abdominal organs and FGDS were suggested among a number of other recommendations. Over the next four months before hospitalization with the mechanical jaundice, the patient was not examined for unknown reasons.

In reference to the episode of mechanical jaundice, at the time of hospitalization hyperbilirubinemia up to 258 μ mol / l with elevated levels of transaminases (ALT - 480 U / l, AST - 425 U / l) was detected. The level of C-reactive protein was 114 mg / l.

Ultrasound examination of the abdominal cavity and pelvis revealed signs of ectasia of the common bile duct, enlarged pancreatic head, diffuse changes in the liver parenchyma and pancreatic tissue, without free fluid in the abdomen and pelvis.

According to the absolute indications for therapeutic and diagnostic purposes, after instrumental and laboratory examination with a diagnosis of mechanical jaundice and cholangitis endoscopic papillosphincterotomy, EPST were performed. Endoscopically - in the area of the mouth of the p.Vateri growth of the type of "cauliflower", the tumor-like formation extends to the distal choledochus. Choledoch stenting with 8.5 Fr plastic stent and p.Vateri biopsy were performed. The patient was diagnosed with p.Vateri tumor complicated by mechanical jaundice and cholangitis. According to morphological data after endoscopic biopsy villous adenoma p.Vateri was diagnosed.

Amid further therapy after normalization of bilirubin level the patient underwent MRI of the abdominal cavity (Fig. 1). Thus, in Vater's papilla there is a a formation of 23x17 mm, which exophytically penetrates into the lumen of the duodenum, moderately heterogeneous contrast. The distal segments of the choledochus and virsung duct are amputated in the thickness of the formation (Fig.2). The virsung duct is moderately ectasified to 4.5 mm.

After symptomatic treatment, the patient's condition improved; she was diagnosed with: Vater's papilla neoplasm. (Histologically villous adenoma P.Vateri). Mechanical jaundice. Acute cholangitis, Grade I (Tokyo Guidelines 2018). Partial obstruction of the duodenum. Acute necrotic pancreatitis, Walled-off necrosis. (disease duration - 4 months.) Aterosclerosis of the aorta and coronary vessels. Hypertension stage II, grade 1, risk 3, high. CI I. Diabetes mellitus, stage of compensation, insulin independent variant.

Then, surgical treatment was planned as the next stage in the treatment of the disease after one month of endobiliary stenting with general condition considered as satisfactory and normalization of C-reactive protein and procalcitonin. Due to inability to reliably exclude the malignant nature of the tumor and the description of MRI images, it was planned to perform pancreatoduodenal Whipple resection. However, the volume of surgery was changed intraoperatively due to the detection of infected limited necrotic clusters. The following procedures were performed: Papillectomy, cholecystectomy, hepaticojejunostomy on the Brown loop, pancreatic necrosectomy, sanitation and drainage of the abdominal cavity, drainage of the omental sac. Intraoperatively: a tumor of the major duodenal papilla was contoured through the duodenum, covering the duodenum and disrupting the passage through it. In the area of the distal part of the pancreas, a demarcated

cluster was revealed: pancreatic sequesters were removed, necrosis affected the body and tail of the pancreas.

Intraoperative culture of pancreatic sequestration detected K.oxytoca * 10^5, sensitive to gentamicin, ceftazidime, ceftazidime-avibactam, cefepime, amikacin, levofloxacin, meropenem. Intraoperative culture of bile and endobilar stent found E. coli * 10^6, E. faecalis * 10^5, Kl. pneumoniae * 10^5 sensitive to gentamicin, ceftazidime-aviabactam, meropenem.

Intraoperative express biopsy was performed: Vater's papilla adenocarcinoma.

Microscopic description of the surgical macropreparation:

"Duodenal wall tissue with complexes of invasive tumor, formed by layers of epithelioid and focal elongated cells with signs of significant pleomorphism / atypia. In some areas, the formation of single glandular cribrous structures is determined by tumor cells, which corresponds to low-differentiated G3 adenocarcinoma. The tissue of invasive neoplasia directly borders on the exophytic epithelial formation of tubular-villi / papillary structure with the presence of intraepithelial neoplasia / dysplasia of the intestinal type of low and high degree, corresponding to tubular villous adenoma or intraampullary papillary neoplasia.

Pathomorphological conclusion: considering clinical data, low-grade (G3) adenocarcinoma of the major duodenal papilla, which developed from pre-existing tubular villous adenoma of the duodenum or intraampullary papillary neoplasia (IAPN).

During further inpatient treatment, the patient received antibiotic therapy with amikacin intravenously. The postoperative period was complicated by the development of gallbladder bed abscess: in 10 days after surgery, according to CT with intravenous amplification, there was visualized limited accumulation of fluid content 53x39mm in the gallbladder bed, which spread to the parenchyma of Sg4b \ Sg5 contrasting. Puncture and drainage of the abscess under ultrasound control were performed. According to the microbiological study, E. coli * 10 7 , Kl.pneumoniae * 10 7 , sensitive to meropenem were detected: sanation and antibiotic therapy were performed with further condition improvement.

Diagnosis: Cancer of the major duodenal papilla pT-3NxM0 G3 (low-grade adenocarcinoma amid IAPN) II stage cl.group 2, Partial duodenal obstruction. Cholangitis. Acute necrotic paracancrous infected pancreatitis. Walledoff necrosis. (The duration of the disease was 5 months). Gallbladder bed abscess (condition after ultrasound puncture and drainage) IHD: cardiosclerosis of the aorta and coronary vessels. Hypertension stage II, grade 1, risk 3, high. CI I. Type 2 diabetes mellitus, stage of compensation, non-insulin dependent variant.

After the treatment, the patient was discharged from the hospital in a satisfactory condition. The condition improved and complaints leveled. The postoperative period lasted 28 bed-days.

Further on, the patient received three cycles of adjuvant chemotherapy Gemcitabine / Capecitabine, further treatment was discontinued due to the development of toxic hepatitis. Three months and one year after radical surgical treatment, CT control was performed with no recurrence detected (Fig. 3).

Problems in the diagnosis and timely initiation of MNP therapy may be related to the simplified post-hospital management of patients with acute pancreatitis who have suffered from its mild form. Konur and co-authors [4] comparing the severity of Balthazar of AP in patients with and without MNP, reported a mild disease in more than 80% of patients with MNP. Similar conclusions can be drawn for patients with AP who did not undergo surgery or whose condition improved significantly during the minimally invasive procedure. However, in a study by Shaoyun et al. [1], 83% of patients with AP and MNP underwent surgery, including tumor biopsy. Even if there is no history of gallstone disease and alimentary genesis, hypertriglyceridemia or surgery, patients are rarely re-examined, being limited to such preventive measures as, strict adherence to prescribed diet and enzyme replacement therapy. And in the case of diagnosed gallstones or hypertriglyceridemia, subsequent treatment and follow-up examination after discharge from the hospital have certain limitations due to the focus on a particular metabolic pathology. The authors suggest a greater prevalence of AP on the background of MNP due to problems with additional examination of patients with AP in the anamnesis. The same features can explain variation in the prevalence of idiopathic pancreatitis, which occupies up to 10% in the etiology of AP [8]. Routine ultrasound during inpatient treatment of patients and after treatment of AP and assessment of pancreatic size without clear visualization of the tumor in some cases can distort the conclusion amid patients' absence of measured cancer markers and other instrumental research methods. Kimura et al. [6] report that MNP cannot be ruled out even if the main pancreatic duct does not dilate in patients with acute pancreatitis, and that induction of AP in patients with MNP is not limited to spread to the main duct / its obstruction. Accordingly, the pathophysiology of this etiological factor is considered today.

In a cohort study held in 2018 [9], among almost 50,000 patients with AP, only 1.1% were diagnosed with MNP after the disease, and more than half (56%) of them in the period from two months to five years. The characteristics of the patients in this study indicate the presence of concomitant pathology and alcohol abuse in most patients, and the etiology is not related to gallstones (58%). Among the patients studied, the number of recurrent episodes of AP was also indicated, and among them 99% of those with recurrence of AP in the next two years were diagnosed with MNP – i.e. undiagnosed MNPs caused recurrent episodes of "idiopathic" AP.

What are the ways of choosing the right amount of surgery for this group of patients, when periampullary malignancy and the consequences of necrotic infected pancreatitis are simultaneously diagnosed? Given that infected limited necrotic accumulations were detected in the patient only during surgery, with normal levels of CRP and procalcitonin, as well as absent in the description of preoperative MRI signs of infection, the amount of radical intervention was changed, i.e. limited. The erroneous exclusion of infection of pancreatic necrosis in the preoperative period could be explained by lower body reactivity due to the age - normal values of CRP and procalcitonin were accompanied by a satisfactory assessment of the general condition. The lack of MRI data for infection can be explained by the incorrectly chosen method of instrumental diagnosis, when the primary task was to confirm the tumor process. Individual approach, vigilance in the initial diagnosis and weighted risk assessment [11] play a key role in this case.

CONCLUSIONS

The case study describes the experience in treatment of malignant neoplasms of the major duodenal papilla in the patient with previous paracancrotic pancreatitis.

In the given case, loss of one of the instrumental types of follow-up examination (endoscopy), not indicated to the patients with idiopathic acute pancreatitis on admission, emphasizes the importance of increased diagnostic attention during outpatient or inpatient management of patients with the most common pancreatic disease.

The question of absolute indications for endoscopic interventions in patients with acute pancreatitis remains open. In the absence of signs of choledochal obstruction and gallstone disease over the initial hospitalization, endoscopic examination would be crucial in the early detection of a major duodenal papilla tumor, and as it later became clear, the etiology of the acute pancreatitis attack.

Predicting the early detection of MNP amid AP requires further research by improving imaging techniques, introducing new non-invasive techniques, investigating circulating biomarkers, revising clinical strategy.

The scope of surgery for patients with clinically significant complications of tumor growth and identified competing diagnosis at the target site should be individually decided and weighed.

REFERENCES

- 1. Li S., Tian B. Acute pancreatitis in patients with pancreatic cancer. Timing of surgery and survival duration Medicine (Baltimore). 2017; 96(3) doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005908.
- Minato Y., Kamisawa T., Tabata T. et al. Pancreatic cancer causing acute pancreatitis: a comparative study with cancer patients without pancreatitis and pancreatitis patients without cancer., J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2013;20:628–633. doi: 10.1007/s00534-013-0598-y.
- Gayam V., Sidhu J.S., Mandal A. et al. National Trends and Hospitalizations Related to Pancreatic Cancer in Acute Pancreatitis Patients: A Nationwide Inpatient Sample Study. Cureus. 2019;11(7): e5155. doi: 10.7759/ cureus.5155.
- 4. Konur S., Ozkahraman A., Surmeli N. et al. The Severity of Acute Pancreatitis According to Modified Balthazar Classification in Patients With Pancreatic Cancer. Tumori Journal. 2020;106(5):356-361. doi: 10.1177/0300891620948961.

- 5. Kirkegard J., Mortensen F.V., Heide-Jorgensen U., Cronin-Fenton D. Predictors of underlying pancreatic cancer in patients with acute pancreatitis: a Danish nationwide cohort study, HPB. 2020;22(4):553-562. doi: 10.1016/j.hpb.2019.08.013.
- Kimura Y., Kikuyama M., Kodama Y. Acute pancreatitis as a possible indicator of pancreatic cancer: the importance of mass detection. Intern Med. 2015; 54: 2109–2114. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.54.4068.
- Tummala P., Tariq S.H., Chibnall J.T. et al. Clinical predictors of pancreatic carcinoma causing acute pancreatitis. Pancreas. 2013; 42: 108–113. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318254f473.
- 8. Lee J.K., Enns R. Review of idiopathic pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13(47):6296-6313. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i47.6296.
- 9. Sadr-Azodi O., Oskarsson V., Discacciati A. et al. Pancreatic Cancer Following Acute Pancreatitis: A Population-based Matched Cohort Study Am J Gastroenterol. 2018; 113:1711–1719. doi: 10.1038/s41395-018-0255-9.
- Carriere C., Young A.L., Gunn J.R. et al. Acute pancreatitis accelerates initiation and progression to pancreatic cancer in mice expressing oncogenic Kras in the nestin cell lineage. PLoS ONE. 2011;6:e27725. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027725.
- 11. Kovalenko Z.A., Egorov V.I., Petrov R.V. et al. Rezektabel'naya periampulyarnaya opukhol'u patsienta, perenesshego ostryi pankreatit. Kakuyu operatsiyu vybrat'? [Resectable periampullary tumor in patients with previous pancreatitis. What type of surgical procedure to choose?]. Khirurgiia (Mosk). 2021;(6):5-9. doi:10.17116/hirurgia20210615.

ORCID and contributionship:

Olexii I. Dronov: 0000-0003-4033-3195^{*E,F*} *Inna O. Kovalska: 0000-0002-6264-2928*^{*A,B,E,F*} *Andrii I. Horlach: 0000-0003-4330-4904*^{*A,B,D*} *Lyudmila V. Levchenko: 0000-0003-1356-6647*^{*B,D*} *Ivanna A. Shchyhel: 0000-0002-1672-8149*^{*A,B,D*}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Ivanna A. Shchyhel Bogomolets National Medical University 13 Taras Shevchenko blv., 01601 Kyiv, Ukraine tel: +380681180580 e-mail: Ringoo3110@gmail.com

Received: 10.11.2021 **Accepted:** 30.03.2022



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article

ASEPTIC MENINGITIS AS AN EXTRAHEPATIC MANIFESTATION OF HEPATITIS C: A CLINICAL CASE PRESENTATIONIN A WHITE YOUNG FEMALE EUROPEAN ADULT

DOI: 10.36740/WLek20220420123

Olena Ye. Fartushna¹, Maria M. Prokopiv², Victoria Y. Krylova², Svitlana V. Rohoza², Hanna V. Palahuta³, Yana Y. Hnepa³, Yevhen M. Fartushnyi¹

¹UKRAINIAN MILITARY MEDICAL ACADEMY, KYIV, UKRAINE ²O. O. BOGOMOLETS NATIONAL MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, KYIV, UKRAINE ³STATE UNIVERSITY "UZHHOROD NATIONAL UNIVERSITY", UZHHOROD, UKRAINE

ABSTRACT

We aimed to provide a clinical case presentation of aseptic meningitis as an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis C. A 28-year-old ladyhas been admitted to the Regional Clinical Center of Neurosurgery and Neurology, Uzhhorod City, Ukraine, with mild meningeal signs and symptoms upon admission. Complex neurological, clinical, laboratory, and imaging examination was performed within 24 hours of admission. Mononuclear pleocytosis of the cerebrospinal fluid and positive express test on HCV were discovered. The patient was treated and showed full recovery. Specific neurological features of aseptic meningitis as an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis C in a young white adult were reported, described, and analyzed.

KEY WORDS: meningitis; extrahepatic; hepatitis C; HCV

Wiad Lek. 2022;75(4 p2):1043-1046

INTRODUCTION

An estimated up to 3% of the world's population is living with hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection [1]. Being one of the main causes of chronic liver disorders, such as progressive liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, liver failure, and hepatocellular carcinoma, HCV is also responsible for extrahepatic manifestations involving the skin, kidneys, salivary glands, eyes, thyroid, cerebrovascular, and immune systems [2-6] The severity of liver damage due to the disease doesn't correlate with extrahepatic manifestation [7] but the mortality rate is higher in HCV patients with extrahepatic complications [8-11]. However, little to no data are published about aseptic meningitis as an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis C [12].

Worldwide, the hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is a leading cause of liver-related mortality, causing about 700 000 deaths each year [13]. An estimated 71.1 million people are chronically infected with HCV [14, 15].

THE AIM

We aimed to provide a clinical case presentation of aseptic meningitis as an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis Cin a white young female European adult.

CLINICAL CASE

We have provided a complex clinical, neurological, laboratory, and instrumental analysis of an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis Cin a white young female European adult admitted to the Regional Clinical Center of Neurosurgery and Neurology, Uzhhorod City, Ukraine.

A twenty-eight-yers-oldlady presented to the primary care physician complainingof intense headache, photosensitivity, severe general weakness, dizziness, and nausea. Considered herselfsick for about 2 weeks, when she rapidly developed a headache, general weakness, and mild fever up to 37.5° Celsius. Received outpatient care, with little improvement. A week ago the intensity of the headache increased dramatically. The patient turned tothe Regional Clinical Center of Neurosurgery and Neurology and was hospitalized to clarify the diagnosis.

MEDICAL HISTORY

The patient's allergic history is negative and she has had no blood transfusions in the last 5 years. The patient does not smoke and does not take any recreational drugs or medications. Tuberculosis, typhoid and paratyphoid dysfunction, dysentery, malaria, venous diseases, and HIV infection were excluded. Hepatitis C since 2016.Denies any surgical interventions. There was no family history of any neurological disorder.

VITALS UPON ADMISSION

Upon admission to the department, the patient showed a normal general condition. The respiratory rate was 16

breaths per minute, oxygen saturation was 99%, and blood pressure was 110/70 mm Hg. A heart rate of 70 beats per minute and a temperature of 36.6° C.

CLINICAL EXAMINATION

The skin and visible mucous membranes were clean, heaving a healthy appearance, pinkish. Moderate facial hyperemia. Peripheral lymph nodes were not palpable. Vesicular respiration in the lungs, no wheezing. The liver was slightly enlarged +2 cm. There were no traces of non-drug injections. No edema. The abdomen was soft and painless on palpation.

NEUROLOGICAL STATUS

The patient was conscious and available for productive contact. Understood the addressed language and followed instructions. Anxious, low mood. Own language was preserved. Meningeal signspresented questionable stiffness in the occipital muscles. Eye slits D = S, pupils D = S. Movements of the eyeballs were in full. No diplopia. The face was symmetrical. Swallowing was not disturbed. The pharyngeal reflex and muscle tone in the extremities were preserved. Muscle strength in the extremities was diffusely reduced to 4.5 points. Tendon reflexes from the arms were high, and symmetrical, from the legs were high also, D = S.Left pathological carpal reflex was present. Surface sensitivity was not impaired. Pelvic functions with no issues. The patient was unsteady in Romberg's posture but the gaitwas intact.

LABORATORY AND INSTRUMENTAL EXAMINATION RESULTS

MRIof the brain upon admission was without pathological changes. Cerebrospinal fluid on TORCH infection was negative. Cerebrospinal fluid analysis: protein 0.38, glucose - 2.80, cell count 120 (57% lymphocyte, 43% neutrophil), erythrocyte 8-10, light yellow color, slightly cloudy. Cerebrospinal fluid samples were found positive for HCV RNA by polymerase chain reaction. Bacteriological analysis of cerebrospinal fluid - negative.Express test on HCV - positive. Blood for borreliosis - negative.

Within three days after admission: General cerebrospinal fluid analysis: protein 0.69, glucose - 4.20, cell count 199 (98% lymphocyte, 2% neutrophil), erythrocyte 20-30, color light yellow, slightly cloudy;MRI of the brain: signs of intravenous hypotension.

DIAGNOSIS

Aseptic meningitis as an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis C with mild paresis of the third pair of the right craniocerebral nerve, cephalic, and asthenic syndrome.

DISCHARGE

After treatment, clinical and laboratory improvements were noted: no complaints were voiced, and meningeal signs were not detected. However, mononuclear pleocytosis of the cerebrospinal fluid and an increased ALT persisted. The patient was discharged from the hospital in good condition under the supervision of a neurologist and an infectious disease specialist at the place of residence.

DISCUSSION

HCV has a large public health impact across the world. The prevalence of infection is soaringin lower and middle-income countries. The highest is in Egypt 4.4-15.0%, Gabon 4.9-11.2%, Uzbekistan 11.3%, Cameroon 4.9-13.8%, Mongolia 9.6-10.8%, Pakistan 6.8%, Nigeria 3.1–8.4%, and Georgia 6.7% [16]. In contrast, in high-income countries, the prevalence of chronic HCV is below 2% [17, 18].

HCV infections are mainly caused by high-risk exposures and behaviors among specific populations (men who have sex with men, intravenous drug users, people with multiple sexual partners, people who had cosmetic practicessuch as tattooing, people who had blood transfusions, blood products, or organ donations, unsterile dental equipment, etc).No vaccine against hepatitis C exists and no effective pre- or post-exposure prophylaxis is available [1]. However, viral eradication reduces the rate of extrahepatic deaths significantly[19-21].

Reported extrahepatic manifestations of HCV represent a wide spectrum of disorders, such as mixed cryoglobulinemia, associated vasculitis with multi-organpathology, porphyria cutanea tarda, lichen planus, autoimmune and/or lymphoproliferative disorders, fatigue, depression, cognitive impairment, insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus, accelerated atherosclerosis, cardiovascular, renal, central nervous system diseases, and increased cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality [22-26]. However, data about meningitis as an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis C is very limited [12, 27].

HCV infection is an independent predictorof stroke and cerebrovascular death [28]. HCV viral load is independently associated withearly, asymptomatic carotid atherosclerosis [29]. However, there are only single reports of incidence of acute aseptic meningitis as an extrahepatic manifestation of hepatitis C [12, 27].

Viral meningitis is the most common form of meningitis worldwide [30]. Viral infection causes the inflammation of the meninges with an associated abnormal cell count in the cerebrospinal fluid [31]. Appropriate and timely evaluation is critical. As in the above-described clinical case, meningitis typically presents with the acute onset of fever, headache, photophobia, neck stiffness, nausea, vomiting, and signs of meningeal irritation [32]. Enteroviruses (Coxsackie or Echovirus groups) are the most common cause of viral meningitis across all age groups [33]. Herpes viruses that cause meningitis include herpes simplex virus 1 and 2, varicella-zoster virus, cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, and human herpesvirus 6. Other viral causes include adenovirus, lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus, influenza, parainfluenza, and mumps [33]. Arboviruses that can cause viral meningitis include West Nile virus, Zika, chikungunya, dengue, LaCross, Saint Louise encephalitis, Powassan, and eastern equine encephalitis virus [32]. The flavivirus family (HCV) is very rarely mentioned in the literature as the etiological agent of meningitis [34, 35].

CONCLUSIONS

HCV infection can cause significant extrahepatic manifestations and should beconsidered a systemic disease rather than a single (liver)disease [24]. Over 30 different conditions have been associated with chronic HCV infection. In general, the appearance of extrahepatic manifestations of HCV infection is unpredictable. The severity of these disorders does not necessarily correlate with theseverity of hepatic disease because even in cases of quietlyactive chronic hepatitis, as in the presented clinical case, a substantial interruption of healthand quality of life can occur. HCV should be considered in differential diagnoses of patients with meningitis.

REFERENCES

- 1. Averhoff F.M., Glass N., Holtzman D. Global burden of hepatitis C: considerations for healthcare providers in the United States. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;55(1):S10-5. doi: 10.1093/cid/cis361.
- 2. Cacoub P., Saadoun D. Extrahepatic Manifestations of Chronic HCV Infection. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(11):1038-1052. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMra2033539.
- 3. Moosavy S.H., Davoodian P., Nazarnezhad M.A. et al. Epidemiology, transmission, diagnosis, and outcome of Hepatitis C virus infection. Electron Physician. 2017;9(10):5646-5656. doi: 10.19082/5646.
- 4. Viganò M., Colombo M. Extrahepatic Manifestations of Hepatitis C Virus. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2015;44(4):775-91. doi: 10.1016/j. gtc.2015.07.006.
- 5. Prokopiv M.M., Slabkiy G.O., Fartushna O.Y. Prospective analysis of the epidemiology of cerebrovascular disease and stroke among the adult population of Kyiv City, Ukraine. Wiad. Lek. 2021;74(10):2599-2604. doi: 10.36740/WLek202110213.
- 6. Fartushna O.Ye., Vinychuk S.M. Tranzytorni ishemichni ataky [Transient Ischemic Attacks]. Kyiv: PH «Avitsena». 2014, 216 p. (in Ukrainian).
- 7. Extrahepatic Manifestations of Hepatitis C Virus Infection. By Lucija Virović Jukić and Dominik Kralj. 2017. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.70728.
- 8. Lee M.H., Yang H.I., Lu S.N. et al. R.E.V.E.A.L.-HCV Study Group. Chronic hepatitis C virus infection increases mortality from hepatic and extrahepatic diseases: a community-based long-term prospective study. J Infect Dis. 2012;206(4):469-77. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jis385.
- 9. Maasoumy B., Wedemeyer H. Natural history of acute and chronic hepatitis C. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;26(4):401-12. doi: 10.1016/j.bpg.2012.09.009.
- Omland L.H., Jepsen P., Krarup H. et al. DANVIR Cohort Study. Increased mortality among persons infected with hepatitis C virus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;9(1):71-8. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.09.014.
- 11. Uto H., Stuver S.O., Hayashi K. et al. Increased rate of death related to presence of viremia among hepatitis C virus antibody-positive subjects in a community-based cohort study. Hepatology. 2009;50(2):393-9. doi: 10.1002/hep.23002.
- 12. Lee T.H., Lee K.O., Kim Y.S. et al. Cryptococcal meningitis in a patient with chronic hepatitis C treated with pegylated-interferon and ribavirin. Korean J Intern Med. 2014;29(3):370-374. doi:10.3904/kjim.2014.29.3.370.

- 13. Lanini S., Easterbrook P.J., Zumla A. et al. Hepatitis C: global epidemiology and strategies for control. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2016;22(10):833-838. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2016.07.035.
- 14. Schillie S., Wester C., Osborne M. et al. CDC Recommendations for Hepatitis C Screening Among Adults - the United States, 2020. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2020;69(2):1-17. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.rr6902a1.
- 15. Spearman C.W., Dusheiko G.M., Hellard M. et al. Lancet. 2019;394(10207):1451-1466. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32320-7.
- 16. Petruzziello A., Marigliano S., Loquercio G. et al. Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: An update of the distribution and circulation of hepatitis C virus genotypes. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(34):7824-40. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i34.7824.
- 17. Ott J.J., Stevens G.A., Groeger J. et al. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection: new estimates of age-specific HBsAg seroprevalence and endemicity. Vaccine. 2012;30(12):2212-9. doi: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2011.12.116.
- Gower E., Estes C., Blach S. et al. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol. 2014;61(1):S45-57. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.07.027.
- Backus L.I., Boothroyd D.B., Phillips B.R. et al. A sustained virologic response reduces risk of all-cause mortality in patients with hepatitis C. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;9(6):509-516.e1. doi: 10.1016/j. cgh.2011.03.004.
- Hsu Y.C., Lin J.T., Ho H.J. et al. Antiviral treatment for hepatitis C virus infection is associated with improved renal and cardiovascular outcomes in diabetic patients. Hepatology. 2014;59(4):1293-302. doi: 10.1002/ hep.26892.
- 21. Kawamura Y., Ikeda K., Arase Y. et al. Viral elimination reduces incidence of malignant lymphoma in patients with hepatitis C. Am J Med. 2007;120(12):1034-41. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2007.06.022.
- 22. Cacoub P., Comarmond C., Domont F. et al. Extrahepatic manifestations of chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Ther Adv Infect Dis. 2016;3(1):3-14. doi:10.1177/2049936115585942.
- Basanets A.V., Ostapenko T.A., Cherkesov V.V. et al. Sudden cardiac death at workplace. Ukrainian Journal of occupational health. 2014;2(39):13– 20. doi:10.33573/ujoh2014.02.013.
- 24. Kuna L., Jakab J., Smolic R. et al. HCV extrahepatic manifestations. J Clin TranslHepatol 2019;7(2):172–182. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2018.00049.
- 25. Fartushna O.Ye., Prokopiv M.M. Aktual'nist' problemy tserebrovaskulyarnykh zakhvoryuvan', tranzytornykh ishemichnykh atak ta vdoskonalennya yikh diahnostyky v systemi okhorony zdorov'ya v Ukrayini [Actuality of the problem of cerebrovascular diseases, transient ischemic attacks, and improvement of their diagnostics in the health care system in Ukraine]. Problemy viys'kovoyi okhorony pratsi: Zb. nauk. prats' Ukrayins'koyi viys'kovo-medychnoyi akademiyi [Problems in military health care. Collection of Science of the Ukrainian Military Medical Academy]. Kyiv: UMMA. 2007;19:335-342. (In Ukrainian).
- 26. Flores-Chávez A., Carrion J.A., Forns X. et al. Extrahepatic manifestations associated with Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Infection. Rev Esp Sanid Penit. 2017;19(3):87-97. doi: 10.4321/S1575-06202017000300004.
- 27. Malyy V.P., Nartov P.V. Seroznyy menynhyt kak redkaya forma vnepechenochnykh proyavlenyy khronycheskoho vyrusnoho hepatyta C [Aseptic meningitis as a rare form of extrahepatic manifestations of chronic viral hepatitis C. Clinical immunology]. Clinical immunology. Allergology. Infectology: a publication for practitioners. 2011;2 (41):59-60 (In Russian).
- 28. Adinolfi L.E., Restivo L., Zampino R. et al.Chronic HCV infection is a risk of atherosclerosis. Role of HCV and HCV-related steatosis. Atherosclerosis. 2012;221:496–502. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.01.051.

- 29. Liao C.C., Su T.C., Sung F.C. et al. Does hepatitis C virus infectionincrease the risk for stroke? A population-based cohort study. PLoS One. 2012;7:e31527. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031527.
- 30. McGill F., Griffiths M.J., Solomon T. Viral meningitis: current issues in diagnosis and treatment. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2017;30(2):248-256.
- 31. Logan S.A., MacMahon E. Viral meningitis. BMJ. 2008;336(7634):36-40.
- Wright W.F., Pinto C.N., Palisoc K. et al. Viral (aseptic) meningitis: A review. J Neurol Sci. 2019;398:176-183.
- 33. Mijovic H., Sadarangani M. To LP or not to LP? Identifying the Etiology of Pediatric Meningitis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2019;38(1):39-42.
- Silva Marinho P.E., Kroon E.G. Flaviviruses as agents of childhood central nervous system infections in Brazil. New Microbes New Infect. 2019;30:100539. doi: 10.1016/j.nmni.2019.100539.
- Ministério da Saúde (Brasil). Meningite—casos confirmados notificados no sistema de informação de agravos de notificação, Brasil. http:// tabnet.datasus.gov.br/cgi/tabcgi.exe?sinannet/cnv/meninbr.def[date access 20.10.2021]

ORCID and contributionship:

Olena Y. Fartushna: 0000-0002-4641-0836^{A,B,D-F} Maria M. Prokopiv: 0000-0001-5467-3946^{A, D-F} Victoria Y. Krylova: 0000-0002-3029-3663^{E,F} Svitlana V. Rohoza: 0000-0002-4867-0340^{E,F} Hanna V. Palahuta: 0000-0001-7348-4390^{A,B,E,F} Yana Y. Hnepa: 0000-0002-0276-1466^{D,E,F} Yevhen M. Fartushnyy: 0000-0002-5199-5373 ^{D-F}

Conflict of interest:

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR

Olena Ye. Fartushna Ukrainian Military Medical Academy 24 Melnikova St., 04050 Kyiv, Ukraine tel: +380 (97) 7911003

e-mail: olena.y.fartushna@gmail.com

Received: 02.11.2021 Accepted: 30.03.2022

A - Work concept and design, B – Data collection and analysis, C – Responsibility for statistical analysis,
D – Writing the article, E – Critical review, F – Final approval of the article



Article published on-line and available in open access are published under Creative Common Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)